Email Correspondence between Ian Cameron / Aberdeenshire Council / Big Lottery
Personal Statement
I recognise the need to create a ‘Timeline’ to track the information being supplied… During the course of the Freedom of Information requests that I have made, there have been substantial problems with the safety of every reply (except two), to the questions that I’ve asked…  It is this failure to provide satisfactory answer’s that has led to the succession of creating another Freedom of Information request… and that has been the nature of this investigation…
There is repetition in this report for good reason, it’s designed as a reference document and can either be ‘skim read’, or read in more detail as a chronological account. 

The repetition helps to remind us at each point in time what the important matters of relevance are. 
Before reading this report, it is important to understand what Aberdeenshire Council’s rhetoric is on prevention and detection of fraud and corruption... this report will detail that it indeed... is only rhetoric...
Aberdeenshire Council: Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud and Corruption
“Aberdeenshire Council aims to provide an excellent standard of service but as a public body responsible for the funds raised from both local and national taxation it has an over-riding duty to ensure propriety and accountability in all matters.  The Council is determined to protect itself and the public from fraud and corruption and is committed to the rigorous maintenance of a strategy for the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption which will provide a framework for:”

- encouraging fraud deterrence and prevention

- raising awareness of fraud and corruption and promoting their detection

- performing investigations and facilitating recovery

- invoking disciplinary proceedings and referral to Police and/or Procurator Fiscal
a)In the majority of cases, it is the diligence of employees and the alertness and good citizenship of the public at large that enables detection to occur
b)The Council will be robust in dealing with any financial malpractice, and can be expected to deal timeously and firmly with any person who attempts to defraud the Council or who engages in corrupt practices, whether they are Councillors, employees, consultants, contractors or other suppliers, benefit claimants, tenants or unrelated third parties.
(...Click here to read Policy Document in full...)
Aberdeenshire Council: Whistle-blowing Policy

POLICY STATEMENT - Aberdeenshire Council recognises the importance of openness and honesty in carrying out its functions and this is reflected in the Council’s Aims, which make reference to the requirement to be Open and Honest, Responsible and Reliable, Trusting and Trustworthy. 

This Policy and Procedure relating to the Public Disclosure Act 1998 is a further demonstration of the Council’s intention to encourage a culture of openness by ensuring that its employees have a robust procedure for raising genuine concerns about all aspects of malpractice at work without fear of recrimination or victimisation.

Aberdeenshire Council will treat all matters raised under this policy seriously.
1.General Statement - In any large organisation providing a wide range of services, employing large numbers of people there is potential for malpractice or misadministration.  Aberdeenshire Council is no exception.
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Council Whistle-blowing Policy)
… I send an FOI request to Aberdeenshire Council to see if Aberdeenshire Council employee Roy Young has also supplied Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre with sports equipment... one if his Council places of work...
01 Sep 05 (FOI Enquiry #1 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (Aberdeenshire)… Dear Sir or Madam: Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (Aberdeenshire): I would be grateful if you could send me a full and complete list of all items purchased by Aberdeenshire Council for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (Aberdeenshire), for equipment procured through a company called “Tout Tele” operated by Roy Young. If you have copies of receipts for equipment purchased from this company these should be included with the other information. Please treat this request in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Yours faithfully, Ian Cameron 1

02 Sep 05 (FOI Enquiry #1 to Aberdeenshire Council) no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian… [ACE/31372] Huntly Nordic Ski Club (Aberdeenshire)… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/31372] Huntly Nordic Ski Club (Aberdeenshire)' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail. 1

Supplier Agreement Discrepancy
12 Sep 05 http://www.salomonnordic.com/ I discovered that the Franchise for Salomon is held by Aberdeenshire Council, Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, Management Committee, Hill of Haugh, Huntly. AB54 5NZ
(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page ii)
Roy Young is an Instructor and employee of Aberdeenshire Council at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… (He is also ‘named’ on the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre Website as an Instructor there... http://hnoc.nordicski.org.uk/Contact/contact.htm)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page iii)
Roy Young’s private company “Tout Tele” supplied us (Huntly Hillwalking Club), with the ‘Salomon’ Snow Shoes…
(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page i)
(I misunderstand the use of the word ‘Franchise’… Salomon use the terminology ‘Franchise’ on their Website… hence why I use it… I should be referencing it as a ‘Supplier Agreement’)
Amazingly in November 2007, I re-check the Salomon Website and use the Dealer Locator to discover that the Salomon Supply agreement is now held by ‘Tout Tele’... and not Aberdeenshire Council anymore as it was previously in 2005!
(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page iib)
With astonishment,  by the end of 2008, I re-check the Salomon Website once again and use the Dealer Locator to discover that the Salomon Supply agreement has reverted once again and is now held by Aberdeenshire Council... and not ‘Tout Tele’ anymore as it was previously in 2007!
(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page iic)
What exactly happened within Aberdeenshire Council to take the supply agreement off their employee Roy Young... and take it under the control of Aberdeenshire Council in Stonehaven? For me something happened behind the scenes... but what?
16 Sep 05 (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... Dear Sir Madam Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (Aberdeenshire) I would be grateful if you could send me a full and complete list of all Franchises held either under the auspices of Aberdeenshire Council or held by employees of Aberdeenshire Council working at and using the address of... Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Hill of Haugh Huntly Aberdeenshire AB54 8NZ… The time frame to consider relative to the enquiry should be from the first day of opening of the centre. This should also include any franchise set up prior to the centre opening for business. To clarify... it should also include details of any Franchise that were held in the past and are now no longer held by or under the name of Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. If you have any receipts and procurement details of any item or piece of equipment subsequently sold on to a Company called... "Tout Tele" Wilmount Huntly Aberdeenshire AB54 8BW (Proprietor: Roy Young) ... from a subsequent Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Franchise (requested above past or present), these should be included with the other information. Also... can you provide details of procurement and receipts for the following items held at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (if these are not included in the above). Mountain Bikes Rollerblades Snow Shoes Roller Ski's. Please treat this request in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

FOI Request to Check Supplier Agreements

I make a second FOI request to Aberdeenshire Council to determine if Roy Young has used a Council supplier to obtain the Salomon Snow Shoes to sell on through his own business or… if he has set up supplier agreements using the Council’s premises without Aberdeenshire Council knowledge or permission.

16 Sep 05 (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council) no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian… [ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.

21 Sep 05 Peter Thorn (Secretary Huntly Nordic Ski Club) to Simon Beeson, Roy Young, Hilary Musgrave, Clair Newman, Alan Telford cc Sandy Thorn (Duty Manager Huntly Nordic Ski Centre), Claudia Zeiske, Nick May… Subject Awards for All – Information… Dear Committee, I'm just letting you know I have received a letter from the Big Lottery Fund informing me that they have had a request for disclosure of information about our two Awards for All grants. This is under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 which came into force in Jan 2005. No personnel or bank details have been disclosed. There is nothing to concern to concern or worry you. All our Awards for All awards have all been correctly administered & recorded. I have an idea who is requesting this information but no idea what their possible concerns are. Peter 
My Investigation Initiates Public Damage to my Reputation

Below this email from Peter Thorn 21 Sep 05, were pasted 3 emails from Nick May (Chairman) to Ian requesting dates for an EGM within the Hillwalking Club – 01 Sep 05, 06 Sep 05 and 14 Sep 05 directly inferring my name as the person requesting information from the Big Lottery.
My belief is, that this has been done to cause damage to my reputation… this becomes evident in the future (18 Aug 06), as I receive information back from a ‘Personal Data’ Subject Access Request from the Big Lottery where I discover that I have been slandered by Andrew Miller, Sports Development Officer at Aberdeenshire Council with untruths… of which, this is turned into libel by Officer’s at the Big Lottery, by being documented and circulated around Big Lottery personnel who are involved with my complaint. I believe this defamation of my good character has been made with wilful intent and is a perversion of the course of natural justice.
(At this stage of the information, I’m not aware of the intimate involvement of Andrew Miller, Sports Development Officer at Aberdeenshire Council with the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club or his close personal involvement with Roy Young and their manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts for the supply of equipment.)

The Big Lottery aspect of my investigation is a separate aspect of Roy Young’s business dealings which are relevant, where he is both co-ordinating a Big Lottery application for money and then putting 80% of it through his own business… (background information to this can be read further down at 07 Apr 06)
21 Sep 05 Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation to Ian… [ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) Acknowledgement Applicants Name:  Ian Cameron Applicants Address: cameronaberdeen@hotmail.com Dear Mr Cameron I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 16/09/05 We received your request for information on 16/09/05. This is being treated as a request under Section 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, and accordingly the Council will respond in terms of the legislation as soon as possible and in any event within 20 working days of receipt of your letter. We will undertake a full search for the information which you have requested, and will also advise you if this information is not held by us.  Please contact me as the officer responsible for co-ordinating your request if you have any further queries.   At this stage please see under noted the Council’s Review Procedures which also apply in the event of delay in dealing with your request. Yours sincerely Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation 1

21 Sep 05 recreation@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian… [ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your request for information dated 16/09/05. Please see the attached acknowledgement letter. In order to respond to your request I would be grateful if you could clarify what you mean when you refer to 'franchises held either under the auspices of Aberdeenshire Council or held by employees of Aberdeenshire Council working at or using the address of Huntly ski centre'. The Centre was formally run as a grant-aided trust, but is now operated by Aberdeenshire Council. The term 'franchise' suggests commercial operations. If you could provide an indication of the type of information you are looking for it will help us to find the information you require. I shall look forward to hearing from you. If you would like to discuss this please give me a call on 01224 665351. Thank you Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation 1
21 Sep 05 Ian to recreation@aberdeenshire.gov.uk… [ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council)…FAO Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Research Dear Ms Shirriffs Thanks for your reply. It's very much appreciated. My questions are quite clear, though if you are in doubt please send full details of all franchises and commercial activities operated by Aberdeenshire Council through Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, or by employees of Aberdeenshire Council working at and using the address of... Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Hill of Haugh Huntly Aberdeenshire AB54 8NZ. Once I have the information. We could perhaps set up a meeting and I'll discuss the background to the request. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron 1

I still refer to the terminology wrongly as a ‘Franchise’ when I should be asking for ‘Supplier Agreements’ and also misunderstand the process by suggesting a meeting… I realise later that I have a learning curve to go through regarding FOI protocol.
26 Sep 05 Received details of FOI Enquiry #1 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/31372] (It does state on this letter heading that the reference number is ACE/31113)… From Alex Stephen, Principal Accountant… Confirming that they hold the following information… 2 x Receipts from Roy Young, Tout Tele to Aberdeenshire Council. Invoice #1 to Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Date 28 Nov 03 PO: JC 866655 for 12x Roller Ski (Skate Marwe) Unit Price £120 Total £1,440 and 4x Roller Ski (Classic Marwe) Unit Price £150 Total £600 Balance = £2,040… Invoice #2 to Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Date 02 Nov 01 PO: JC 741077 for 2x Used Mountain Bikes Unit Price £60 Total £120 Balance = £120
Employee Supplying his Employer / Place of Work
I receive a reply to FOI#1 from Alex Stephen, Principal Accountant confirming that they hold 2x receipts from Roy Young’s company ‘Tout Tele’… The first is for 12x Roller Ski’s = £1,440 and 4x Roller Ski’s = £600… also… that Roy Young has been able to sell 2x ‘Used Mountain Bikes’ to his employer… all being supplied to his place of work – the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre.

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page vii)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page viii)
02 Oct 05 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Sir or Madam: I would be grateful if you send me the names of all staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre since its establishment. Please include with this information start dates and terms of appointment, including current staff. If possible please specify the nature of the roles undertaken by each individual, and the extent of their responsibilities. Can you also clarify the nature of the relationship between Huntly Nordic Ski Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club, including any charges made by the centre to the club for use of its facilities eg storing equipment, using the track / centre buildings etc. Please treat this request in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Regards Ian Cameron 1
Propriety and the Awarding of Council Contracts

I realise there may be impropriety regarding the awarding of council contracts for equipment at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… and that it may extend deeper than 1 employee.
I have been told in the past 09 Oct 03 that Andrew Miller, the Sports Development Officer for Aberdeenshire Council, is responsible for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre development and procurement (also detailed in Point 12 ACE/32775 02 Dec 05)
09 Oct 03 Nick to Ian (from internal Hillwalking Club Email)… Snow Shoes… Ian, Roy Young has just told me that the best person to contact regarding sharing access to Ski Centre equipment is Andrew.Miller@Aberdeenshire.gov.uk   Andy is the Sports development officer for Aberdeenshire and is the person behind the new ski centre improvements. Nick May, Chairman Huntly Hillwalking Club
Point 12 You requested details of the member of staff who procured the mountain bikes from Changing Gear in Huntly. The mountain bikes were procured by our Sports Development and Projects Officer, based at Gordon House, Inverurie.
Andrew Miller is also a private member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club which uses the Councils facility Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… as is Roy Young, who was a founder member of the private Nordic Ski Club.
Andrew Miller has also personally benefited from a Big Lottery grant awarded to Huntly Nordic Ski Club, providing full expenditure (inclusive of Flights to Norway, Accommodation, Meals, Nordic Ski Instruction and Qualification costs to receive BASI Nordic Ski Instructors certification)… Other private Nordic Ski Club members that went on this course were Roy Young’s wife local GP Dr. Eileen Cosgrove and 2 other Aberdeenshire Council staff members at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Duty Manager Sandy Thorn and Instructor Jayne Osgood.
http://www.nordicgeek.co.uk/wordpress/wp-admin/docs/Newsletter21.pdf 
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page x)
There’s no reference to training all the Council Staff members in the application form to the Big Lottery AAS/3/010177358… they are mentioned as private Ski Club members.
The inter-connection between the Council run Ski Centre and the privately managed Huntly Nordic Ski Club also extends as follows… The Duty Manager for the Centre is Sandy Thorn… her husband Peter Thorn is the private Ski Club’s Secretary.

It has been stated by Sandy Thorn in the 2005 AGM Minutes, that the private Ski Club is “under no obligation” to pay for the use of the Council facility… (I hadn’t realised that it was Council policy to offer all Clubs free use of facilities in return for assistance given to operate that facility?... I considered making an FOI request to ask how many Clubs in the Aberdeenshire area have this arrangement in place and if all North East Clubs have been made aware of the opportunity for complimentary use of Council facilities in return of favour.)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page ix)
I realise that, by the nature of the way in which the information is coming out… and the reputation of Aberdeenshire Council in having a “defensive as well as secretive attitude” as opposed to a transparent one, encouraged by the Freedom of Information laws… (To be proven later by the Council raising a Citation at the Court of Session in Edinburgh to withhold information requested in FOI3 03 Jul 06)…
… I therefore, need to confirm the names of the staff at the Ski Centre (particularly Roy Young), and probe into the nature of the relationship between the Councils facility and the private Ski Club…
I submit a third FOI3 request on 02 Oct 05…
02 Oct 05 Ian to info@thinicesports.com Edinburgh… Fischer Franchise in Aberdeenshire / Aberdeen City… Thin Ice Sports Ltd. Rab Reid 9 Elliot Road, Colinton Scotland - EH14 I DU Edinburgh Dear Sir or Madam I'm writing after finding you on the Official Fischer Website. I'm interested in finding out who the local Fischer dealers are in Aberdeenshire (or Aberdeen City). I'd be grateful for any help regarding this. Thanking you in advance Ian Cameron
The Fischer Agreement

I contact the Fischer Distributor Thin Ice Sports in Edinburgh (sole UK agents for Fischer Nordic equipment), to check who the local supplier’s are in Aberdeen /Aberdeenshire…
http://www.thinicesports.com 
They reply naming 2 outlets… Braemar Mountain Sports and Roy Young at ‘Tout Tele’ c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly ! … Clearly from this… I discover that Roy Young has been setting up Supplier Agreements for his private business using his employer and place of work to front the arrangement (This important factor will be referred to later as more information comes out)  (reference Inventory of Moveable Equipment held at the Centre in particular the quantity of ski equipment)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page ii)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xiii)
This must also follow for Salomon as they have named Salomon (14 Oct 05) as a ‘Tout Tele’ supplier!
(I also check with Marwe, manufacturers in Finland Ref: receipts for Roller Ski’s mentioned in FOI1… but receive no information through the reply
03 Oct 05 Rab Reid Thin Ice to Ian… Fischer Franchise in Aberdeenshire / Aberdeen City… Hello Please try Braemar Mountain Sports in Braemar for Fischer Nordic equipment or Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly. Thanks for your enquiry. Rab Reid Sales & Marketing Director Thin Ice Sports Ltd

info@thinicesports.com www.thinicesports.com
03 Oct 05 (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council) no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian… [ACE/33953] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/33953] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.
  My     This typing error (below), makes me question who wrote the FOI2 reply…
14 Oct 05 recreation@aberdeenshire.gov.uk Joanna Shirriffs to Ian… [ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (Received details of FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron, Please see attached letter. Regards, Joanna Shirriffs… Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 - (“The Act”) Applicants Name: Ian Cameron Applicants Address: cameronaberdeen@hotmail.com Dear Mr Cameron I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 16 September 2005, regarding Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. In your request you ask for a full and complete list of all franchises held either under the auspices of Aberdeenshire Council or held by employees of Aberdeenshire Council working at or using the address of the Ski Centre. Aberdeenshire Council took over the operation of Huntly Nordic Ski Centre in June 1999, prior to which the Centre was run by an arms-length, independent Management Committee. We are unaware of any franchises held by the Centre Management Committee prior to 1999, other than the fact that the Management Committee itself operated the Centre on behalf of Aberdeenshire Council from the inception of the facility in 1995, until June 1999. The Centre has trading agreements with various equipment suppliers, necessary to keep the core business of the Ski Centre operational (tuition, club and public use). None of these trading agreements could be construed as a franchise. They are simply normal arrangements, in line with those of any other Council supplier. The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company. I can also confirm that no equipment, previously owned by Aberdeenshire Council or the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Management Committee has ever been sold on to ‘Tout Tele’. In your request you also ask for details of procurement and receipts for a number of items held at the Nordic Ski Centre. As the items you refer to are purchased infrequently, the following information relates to purchases made between January and March 2004, with the help of funding from the Big Lottery Fund (formerly the New Opportunities Fund). The purchases were made following a small scale tendering process whereby shops and businesses in Aviemore, Portsmouth, Edinburgh and Huntly were contacted and asked to provide prices: Mountain bikes – purchased from Changing Gear Bike Shop, Granary Street, Huntly Rollerblades – purchased from Changing Gear Bike Shop, Granary Street, Huntly Roller Skis – purchased from Tout Tele, Wilmount, Huntly The snow shoes held at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre were purchased by the Huntly Hillwalking Club and remain in their ownership. For convenience, and to support a local club, the snow shoes are stored at the Nordic Ski Centre on behalf of the Hillwalking Club. As the snow shoes were not purchased by the Council we do not hold any information relating to their purchase. I have copies of purchase orders for the Mountain bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Skis. I will forward these to you at the address you provided in your email. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours sincerely Joanna Shirriffs Project Coordinator Education & Recreation
Aberdeenshire Council and The Fischer Contradiction
I receive a reply to FOI2… the Council state that they have supplier agreements in place… but don’t name them… 
… In Point 14 ACE 32775 02 Dec 05 FOI3, Aberdeenshire Council state that Fischer, Salomon and Orian are Aberdeenshire Council Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Suppliers !? 
“Point 14 You requested details of all equipment suppliers used by Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The list of suppliers is as follows: Fischer, Salomon, Orion, Changing Gear, Tout Tele”
This contradicts the following 3 points…

· “arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”FOI2
· information given by the Fischer Distributor Thin Ice Sports in Edinburgh… they clearly state that the Fischer supplier agreement is held by Roy Young at ‘Tout Tele’ c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly not Aberdeenshire Council.
· what they say in FOI2 reply about the Fischer supplier agreement… 
“There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre.”
The Fischer Invoices
“There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre.”
Fischer won’t be sending invoices for ‘Tout Tele’ by accident to the Ski Centre… they send them there because the Supplier Agreement was set up that way by Roy Young in the first place, taking full advantage of his employer and it’s employee’s…
The Salomon Agreement 
I ask the following question…

“If you have any receipts and procurement details of any item or piece of equipment subsequently sold on to a Company called... "Tout Tele" Wilmount, Huntly Aberdeenshire AB54 8BW (Proprietor: Roy Young) ... from a subsequent Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Franchise (requested above past or present), these should be included with the other information”

… and get the following answer…

“I can also confirm that no equipment, previously owned by Aberdeenshire Council or the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Management Committee has ever been sold on to ‘Tout Tele’”
The Salomon Supplier Agreement is set up under the Council’s name and address and the Council have officially stated that Salomon is one of their suppliers… yet… Roy Young manages to use this agreement to obtain Salomon Snow Shoes to subsequently sell on to Huntly Hillwalking Club under his business name ‘Tout Tele’… Aberdeenshire Council clearly state here that, no equipment from their Salomon Supplier Agreement has been sold on to Tout Tele...
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page ii)
Looking at Appendix 1 (Page xxvi) supplied to me on 08 Aug 06… Equipment is sourced for the Council allegedly from ‘Salomon Taylor Made Ltd’ at a similar time as the Snow Shoes supplied by Tout Tele to the Hillwalking Club... 
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxvi)
23 Dec 03
Boots

Salomon Taylor Made
Huntly Nordic Ski Centre

20 Feb 04
Bindings

Salomon Taylor Made
Huntly Nordic Ski Centre

19 Mar 04
Snow Shoes
Salomon Taylor Made
Tout Tele
(As with the Fischer agreement above, initially they say it is a “Tout Tele” supplier 14 Oct 05, then contradict themselves by saying it’s one of their suppliers)

“The Ski Centre does hold an account with Salomon that is used for purchasing hire equipment. Some of this equipment is sold on as second hand goods at the end of the ski season. In the past the Centre has sold a very limited range of entry level Salomon ski equipment and other ancillary items, such as ski wax.”

The contradiction…

“arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”
By November 2007, the Salomon Agreement has reverted, and despite Aberdeenshire Council stating that Salomon is one of their suppliers... has now become employee Roy Young’s sole agreement held in the name ‘Tout Tele’ at Roy Young’s home address in Gladstone Road, Huntly!... This suggests to me that Aberdeenshire Council attempted to mislead me when they stated it was their account set up by them... the Salomon agreement has always been employee Roy Young’s account and as with the Fischer account, he set them both up to gain advantage at taxpayers’ expense using his employer’s business address, the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre to do so.

(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page iii)
The worst aspect of this is the deceit in which Aberdeenshire Council have tried to mislead the truth and provide false information... the question would be, why would employee Roy Young be able to ‘wrestle off’ a supply agreement from Aberdeenshire Council which the Council has stated it uses to obtain equipment with...
... the Council would be losing an extreme advantage by handing this over to their employee... I consider, does this also mean Aberdeenshire Council now buy Salomon equipment from Roy Young? As they state Aberdeenshire Council need to purchase hire equipment... as per the Sustainable Purchasing Policy... they will buy it locally.
“The Ski Centre does hold an account with Salomon that is used for purchasing hire equipment.”
With astonishment,  by the end of 2008, I re-check the Salomon Website once again and use the Dealer Locator to discover that the Salomon Supply agreement has reverted once again and is now held by Aberdeenshire Council... and not ‘Tout Tele’ anymore as it was previously in 2007!
(Click here to see Document - Appendix Page iic)
What exactly happened within Aberdeenshire Council to take the supply agreement off their employee Roy Young... and take it under the control of Aberdeenshire Council in Stonehaven? For me something happened behind the scenes... but what?
Aberdeenshire Council’s Close Working Relationship with its Employee Roy Young, the Use of Council Staff and the Rules…
In describing the nature of the relationship between Roy Young and Aberdeenshire Council they state the following…

“The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company. FOI1 Reply 26 Sep 05 [ACE/31372]

Aberdeenshire Council employee contracts include the following statement…
 “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. FOI2 Reply 02 Dec 05 [ACE/32775]
There is a clear conflict between the rules of employment…. and the explanation given about the “close working relationship” with Roy Young… it’s employee.

· Using Council staff members to facilitate the running of his company by receiving deliveries on his behalf is against the employee contract rules.

· “Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is ‘simply for convenience’ and at ‘arms length’?”

· To be able to tender during the procurement process and supply equipment to his place of work also breaks the rules, as he would be using knowledge and information concerning council business and materials.

· Indeed Roy Young, as an employee and Instructor at the Ski Centre will be in a position to recommend the requisition of equipment… and be able to specify items that he can subsequently supply through his private business… and therefore tender for it accordingly. The safety of this setup is further questioned as Andrew Miller, responsible for procurement at the Centre, is involved with Roy Young on a personal level with the Ski Club and going on private training trips to Norway with Roy Young’s wife Dr Eileen Cosgrove.
01 Nov 05 Sarah Collie, Education & Recreation, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian… (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Sir I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 2/10/05 requesting information relating to Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. We confirm that the Council holds the following information, which we believe satisfies your request, and which is enclosed. We have provided information clarifying the relationship between Huntly Nordic Ski Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club. The staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre are on various contracts, from permanent part-time to relief and the starts dates vary from January 1999 to September 2005.  We are unable to provide the names of the staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre as this would be a breach of the Data Protection Act 1998. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours faithfully Sarah Collie Admin Assistant Education & Recreation
Aberdeenshire Council’s Refusal to Provide Names using an Exemption Clause to Withhold Information
I disagree with this decision and believe amongst other things that, the identity of employees of public bodies should not be kept secret from the taxpayers who pay for their service… I don’t agree that a person’s name is personal information about their private life, when they are acting in an official and work capacity for a public body.
01 Nov 05 Sarah Collie, Education & Recreation, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian… (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre – Response to Freedom of Information Request 31 October 2005 The nature of agreement between the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre & the Huntly Nordic Ski Club is as follows: The Club is integral to the development of the facility.  The Club and the Council have a joint partnership to make a success of the Centre.  The Club gets free lets of the Centre in return for the substantial voluntary work done in support of the Centre by Club members. In practise the Club puts in a large number of volunteer hours – keeping the track clean and weed free (very labour intensive), pisting the trails in the Forest (five to six hours for two people per grooming), voluntary coaching of the Junior Development Squad (at least seven people seven hours per session, seven sessions a year), lots of man hours on open day, volunteer coaches on Club night (helps to bring extra people into the sport and boosts kit sales). The Club voluntarily pays over half its fees for Club nights (£2 per adult & £1 per child), and on race days the cost of trophies is subtracted and the remaining race fees spit 50/50.  The recent races gave the Centre about £80 income, plus a considerable amount of hot drink and confectionary sales. The Centre could not possibly afford to buy in the kind of support they get from the Club, and would struggle to function without it. Responsibilities of Aberdeenshire Council: Provide a centre, fit for purpose for Nordic skiing, Staff the centre including instructors for the running of coaching sessions, minimum 3 days per week, Stock the facility, Provide a base for the HNSC and associated interests at no charge. Allow access to the facility for Club nights and squad training sessions. Responsibilities of Huntly Nordic Ski Club: Offer volunteer support to the development of the centre and Nordic skiing, including hosting of events, coached activity and assistance towards the general upkeep of the facility. Provide a framework for training for the development of volunteers and instructors at club nights, Provide paid and volunteer instructors to run the Aberdeenshire Nordic Development Squad, Host and Open Day for the general public usually in November each year, Assist develop a series of activities as part of an events strategy for the centre, including the Scottish RollerSki Championships.

Aberdeenshire Council’s - Abuse of Position and Manipulation of Public Funds...
It is stated here in Sarah Collies answer regarding the relationship between Aberdeenshire Council and the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club that...

“Responsibilities of Huntly Nordic Ski Club: Offer volunteer support to the development of the centre and nordic skiing, including hosting of events, coached activity and assistance towards the general upkeep of the facility. Provide a framework for training for the development of volunteers and instructors at club nights, Provide paid and volunteer instructors to run the Aberdeenshire Nordic Development Squad, Host and Open Day for the general public usually in November each year, Assist develop a series of activities as part of an events strategy for the centre, including the Scottish RollerSki Championships.”
Yet… in August 2007, Aberdeenshire Council advertise for 3x Relief Leisure Attendants at £6.95-£7.27 per hour… required on an “as and when” basis at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Ski Centre Ref EL11872
(Click here to see Job Advert - Appendix Page l)
I looked at Aberdeenshire Council’s Jobs webpage… but these jobs were not advertised there… I suspect already filled.
Sarah Collie told me in the answer above 01 Nov 05 that the Nordic Ski Clubs responsibility was to offer volunteer support to the development of the centre when it is needed…

This job advertisement completely breaks the agreement that was made to give the Ski Club free access…

“The Club gets free lets of the Centre in return for the substantial voluntary work done in support of the Centre by Club members.”
… indeed, if the 3 posts have been filled by Huntly Nordic Ski Club members, there will be a serious conflict of interest in the fairness of awarding these jobs, especially considering the nature of the relationship between Council Nordic Ski Centre employees Andrew Miller, Sandy Thorn, Roy Young and Jayne Osgood who are also private members of the Ski Club… 
… they would now be paid employee’s for something they had agreed to do for free.

This should be investigated to determine if private ski club members got the jobs and if they did, the terms of the agreement that was made has now been broken… and should be void, making private Huntly Nordic Ski Club members liable to pay for the use of Council facilities just like every other organisation has to in Aberdeenshire.
Update 10th January 2008:

I have since discovered who filled the 3 posts advertised… they were…

Andrew Young 
– Roy Young’s son and 

Huntly Nordic Ski Club member

Olwen Thorn 
– Sandy Thorn’s daughter and 
Huntly Nordic Ski Club member

Alex Standen 
- 



Huntly Nordic Ski Club member

Aberdeenshire Council’s – The Admission that Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre is Unviable...
This document highlights the following incredible admission...

"The Centre could not possibly afford to buy in the kind of support they get from the Club, and would struggle to function without it."
... this is a clear statement by Aberdeenshire Council that the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre has been setup for use by a select few, without whom the investment is unviable, indicating that it is a "Personal Agenda" of self interested Aberdeenshire Council employee’s that is driving more money into the Centre... and depriving funds from all other sports facilities in the Town.

If the Annual Accounts of the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre are analysed, it can be seen that the Centre is failing to attract visitors and continues to drain resources which would be better / more wisely spent on the facilities in the town that the people from Huntly do use such as the Market Muir.
Aberdeenshire Council... and the Double Standard it Applies...
When the Friends of the Market Muir complete the first stage of improvements to the Pavilion at the Market Muir - (highlighted in the report as needing attention during the consultation period of the pre-sale of the land by Aberdeenshire Council to Tesco's Supermarket)... astonishingly Aberdeenshire Council's reaction is to increase the fees it charges for its use!

This is utterly disgusting in light of the comments made by Duty Manager of Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre Sandy Thorn (Ski Club AGM Nov 2005), stating that the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club members are "under no obligation to pay for the use of Aberdeenshire Council's Ski Centre"!
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page ix)

Aberdeenshire Council have stated themselves in ACE/33953 FOI #3 reply 01 Nov 05 that ...
"The Club gets free lets of the Centre in return for the substantial voluntary work done in support of the Centre by Club members."
(Click Here to See Relationship Outdoor Centre versus Club)
This proves without doubt that a double standard is being applied unfairly by Aberdeenshire Council by way of a public injustice... after the Friends of the Market Muir provide substantial financial and voluntary assistance to create a facility that the majority of the town’s people use in one form or another.

It can be fairly said that the people of Huntly do not use the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and are being treated with contempt by Aberdeenshire Council.

“Responsibilities of Aberdeenshire Council: Provide a base for the HNSC and associated interests at no charge. Allow access to the facility for Club nights and squad training sessions.”
How many other private clubs in Aberdeenshire are the Council “responsible” to provide bases for at no charge? Is this a new precedent that has now been set… and can all clubs now demand the same thing from Aberdeenshire Council?

03 Nov 05 Huntly Nordic Ski Club Minutes AGM 2005… Secretary’s Report… Peter Thorn then made the aware that an individual from outside the club has made approaches to Awards for All & Aberdeenshire Council under the Freedom of Information Act 2003 about our previous grants and also the relationship of the Club to the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. Awards for All have specifically asked for extra information on why and where we purchased equipment. A letter has been sent in reply. The Secretary reassured the meeting that there was nothing to be concerned about. Alan Telford proposed in light of the recent questions raised about the spending of our grants that we in future obtain written quotes for any items in excess of £500. Peter Thorn informed the meeting that there was no such requirement from Awards for All, in fact they gave no guidance or restrictions on how and where equipment was sourced. The meeting agreed that Alan’s suggestions be followed for everyone’s protection in the future. Andy Miller informed the meeting that work on the downhill mat starts Monday 14th November and will be completed early December Andy Miller informed the meeting that Club’s co-operative relationship with Centre was agreed when the Club was formed in 1998 and has been reinforced with the subsequent Big Lottery developments at Centre and that this agreement is not affected by the recent review of club use of Council facilities. Sandy Thorn informed meeting that Club already pays half race fees and Club Night moneys to the Centre even although it is under no obligation to do so.
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page ix)
In relation to the fact that the answer’s received in FOI2… succeeded in creating more question’s… I submit further questions referring to FOI2…

04 Nov 05 Ian to Joanna Shirriffs... (FOI Enquiry #2 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Dear Ms Shirriffs ACE 32775 - Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, I refer to your letter of 14 October 2005, It is crucial in the interest of clarity that you number your responses corresponding to each point below. Can you please provide me with: 1. Details of Aberdeenshire Council’s employment policy with regard to council staff owning and operating a private business and/or company.  This should include details of Aberdeenshire Council’s employment policy regarding council staff owning and operating a private business and/or company that subsequently supplies Aberdeenshire Council with equipment which is directly related to the employee’s job and place of work within the Council. 2. Details of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding staff operating a private business / company from council premises during Aberdeenshire Council’s working hours of business using other council staff to facilitate in the running of that business. 3. Details of Aberdeenshire Council’s general policy regarding tendering contracts for purchasing equipment. 4. Details of the tendering process that procured the Mountain Bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Ski’s purchased between January and March 2004, with the help of funding from the Big Lottery Fund (formerly the New Opportunities Fund).  If written details of the tendering process in this instance are not available please can you confirm that these purchases were made in accordance with documented Council tendering policy and with proper authority? 5. Details of all members of staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre since the Council took over the operation of the Centre in June 1999… ref [ACE/33953] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. 6. Detail of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding accepting invoices which do not detail VAT (Invoices to Aberdeenshire Council from Roy Young’s company Tout Tele contained no reference to VAT.) 7. Detail of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding supporting private groups providing free storage facilities for their equipment and underline any liability issues regarding Aberdeenshire Council’s ‘Duty of Care’ following any incident/accident involving the equipment stored.  Can you also provide details of any legal disclaimers required from these private groups relative to storing their equipment and support why no charges are made for the use of Council premises? Other issues… Your letter says only one Tout Tele supplier, Fischer, has its trading address as Roy Young, “Tout Tele” c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Based on this answer, the Salomon Franchise is therefore assumed to be held by Roy Young’s company “Tout Tele” and you say occasional deliveries for Tout Tele are made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. 8. Can you confirm that the Salomon Franchise is “NOT” held under the Aberdeenshire Council address of Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Management Committee? http://www.salomonnordic.com (You have stated that only 1 Tout Tele franchise operates from the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Address) If you confirm that the Salomon franchise is subsequently held by Aberdeenshire Council, Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Management Committee … 9. Can you explain why equipment sourced through this franchise has then been taken and sold on through Roy Young’s company Tout Tele to Huntly Hillwalking Club (18th March 2004). (My original question was ‘If you have any receipts and procurement details of any item or piece of equipment sourced through an Aberdeenshire Council / Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Management Committee Franchise… and subsequently sold on to a company called “Tout Tele”, Wilmount, Huntly. Aberdeenshire AB54 8BW (Proprietor: Roy Young)… that this information should be included with the other information. You confirmed that no equipment previously owned by Aberdeenshire Council / Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Management Committee has ever been sold on to ‘Tout Tele’.) You kindly provided receipts as requested for ancillary equipment associated with Mountain Bikes and Roller blades (supplied by Changing Gear) and Roller Ski’s (supplied by Roy Young’s company  ‘Tout Tele’). 10. I did not receive details of Mountain Bikes purchased for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre from Roy Young’s company ‘Tout Tele’ (Order Number JC741077).  Can you please send them as soon as possible? And answer why these were not included with reference to failure to provide information under FOI (Scotland) Act 2002. I received copies of receipts for Mountain Bikes that I requested… But they do not detail the quantity of bikes bought on the receipts. 11. Can you detail how many Mountain Bikes were bought by Aberdeenshire Council from Changing Gear in Huntly. PO No 844850 and PO No 845138 12. Can you detail which member of Aberdeenshire Council staff was authorised and who did procure the Mountain Bikes on these two Purchase Orders. 13. Can you define what “Arms Length” means relative to an Aberdeenshire Council employee’s operation of a private business from Council premises are during council working hours using Aberdeenshire Council staff to facilitate such a business? You say Huntly Nordic Ski Centre has trading agreements with various equipment suppliers… 14. Can you please send me details of all these suppliers? 15. Can you provide a complete inventory of all sports equipment held at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Please treat this request in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Yours sincerely, Ian Cameron
04 Nov 05 Ian to Sarah Collie, Admin Assistant, Education & Recreation, Aberdeenshire Council... (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Ms Collie I refer to paragraph 4 of your letter, in particular the sentence: 'We are unable to provide the names of the staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre as this would be a breach of the Data Protection Act 1998'. I do not agree that names and dates of appointment of staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council constitutes 'personal information' under the terms of the 1998 Data Protection Act. Please note, I am not asking for any 'personal information' about the staff at the centre, merely who has been employed there and the dates they were employed there. I would ask that you reconsider your response to my request as a matter of urgency. Regards, Ian Cameron
I ask Aberdeenshire Council to review their decision

07 Nov 05 Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron I write to acknowledge receipt of your e-mail of 4 November. This will be treated as a request for a review of the Council's response to your request ACE/33953 for information about the names of staff employed at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The Council's internal review procedure provides for a Review Panel of senior officers to consider written submissions from both sides. My colleague, Robin Taylor, will be in touch with you to ask if you want to provide a submission to the Review Panel. You are entitled to have the decision of the Review Panel sent to you within 20 working days of my receipt of your e-mail. As it was received in this office on 4 November, 20 working days means that my reply with the decision of the Review Panel will be sent to you no later than Friday 2 December. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol Clerk to Review Panel.

07 Nov 05 Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #2 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron I write to acknowledge receipt of your e-mail of 4 November regarding your request ACE/32775 for various pieces of information relating to Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. From my reading of your e-mail, you are seeking further information and clarification of the response which you have received from Joanna Shirriffs, and I do not take this to be a request for a review of the Council's handling of your request for information at this stage. I therefore propose to note your e-mail meantime and will take no action to arrange a review. If you remain dissatisfied with any further response which you receive from Ms Shirriffs and then wish to proceed to the formal review stage, please let me know in due course. As I have already indicated to you, your separate request ACE/33953 is being treated as a request for a formal review. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol Clerk to Review Panel

09 Nov 05 Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council (Direct Dial 01224 665175) to Ian… Freedom of Information Review – Nordic Ski Centre (ACE32775) (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Ref LG/63/25 RT/LS… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your email dated 04 Nov 05 concerning the above matter. I confirm that this is being treated as a request for clarification of matters previously raised and as such is not being treated as a request for a Review at this stage. If you would wish your request to be treated as a Review and to be considered by the Council’s Review Panel perhaps you could let me know. Yours Sincerely Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor

09 Nov 05 Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council (Direct Dial 01224 665175) to Ian… Freedom of Information Review – Nordic Ski Centre (ACE33953) (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Ref LG/63/24 RT/LS… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your email of 04 Nov 05 requesting the Council to reconsider its decision to refuse to provide you with the names of staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Nordic Ski Centre. A Review Panel has been convened for the afternoon of 30 Nov 05. The Council has agreed that the presentation to the Review Panel shall be by way of written submissions and accordingly it would be helpful if you could forward any additional submissions or other information which you would wish to present in support of your case to me by 17:00hrs on Wednesday 23 Nov 05, If you have any further queries regarding this matter please let me know. Yours Sincerely Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor

10 Nov 05 Ian to Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council... (FOI Enquiry #2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Nicol, Thank you for your reply on Monday 7th November. My email was extensive which I apologise to you for, as it may not have been obvious where the problems were. It was primarily stimulated by unsatisfactory answers given by Joanna Shirriffs to FOI request ACE/32775 Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Depending on Joanna Shirriffs reply I will contact you again, (as you suggest), if there is a failure to provide the answers after a second opportunity. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

01 Dec 05 Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (ACE33953) (FOI Enquiry #3 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Ref FOI/1 AN/CK… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to my email of 7th November 2005, in connection with the above matter and now write to advise you of the decision of the FOI Review Panel relating to your request ACE/33953 for information about the names of staff employed at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The Panel met on Wednesday 30th November 2005 and found in favour of the authority. I attach the Decision Notice from the Panel and a Statement of Reasons. I hope that this will make it clear how the Panel arrived at their judgement. Yours Sincerely Alistair Nicol Clerk to Review Panel. Decision Notice – Section 21 (5) FOISA Application by Ian Cameron… Dear Mr Cameron, In accordance with Section 21(1) of the Act, the Review Panel of Aberdeenshire Council have considered your application for a Requirement for Review received by Aberdeenshire Council on 4th November 2005. In accordance with Section 21(5) of the Act, the Review Panel of Aberdeenshire Council have considered your application for a Requirement for Review received by Aberdeenshire Council on 4th November 2005. In accordance with Section 21(5) of the Act, the Review Panel herewith gives Notice in writing , that the original decision complained of is, in their view, a correct decision. The Review Panel therefore write to inform you that the original decision is being upheld. A statement of the reasons for the decision as required by Section 21(5) of the Act is appended. Yours Sincerely Alistair Nicol Clerk to Review Panel Aberdeenshire Council 1st December 2005 Statement of Reasons The Review Panel noted that the information sought by the applicant was personal information relating to Council employees. The Review Panel considered that this information would constitute personal data falling within the exemption contained in Section 38(1)(b) of the Act relating to personal information. The Review Panel decided that, as this was an absolute exemption, the request should be refused.

Aberdeenshire Council’s FOI Review Panel upholds their decision considering that releasing names of employee’s would “constitute personal data falling within the exemption contained in Section 38(1)(b) of the Act relating to personal information”
02 Dec 05 recreation@aberdeenshire.gov.uk Joanna Shirriffs to Ian… [ACE/32775] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre (Received details of FOI Enquiry #2 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) Applicants Name:  Ian Cameron Applicants Address:  ‘Hamewith’, Lennox Terrace, Huntly, Aberdeenshire, AB54 8HG… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your email of 4 November 2005 that refers to my previous letter to you of 14 October 2005 regarding the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. I will respond to each of the points you raised in turn: Points 1 & 2 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s employment policy with regard to Council staff owning and operating a private business and/or company, including companies that supply equipment to Aberdeenshire Council. You also requested details of Aberdeenshire Council’s employment policy regarding staff operating a private business during working hours with the Council, including using Council staff to help with the running of the business. “Aberdeenshire Council’s employee contracts include the following statement: “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. There are no other documents that refer to Aberdeenshire Council’s policy with respect to employees owning and operating private businesses. Point 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations. Point 4 You asked for details of the tendering process that procured the Mountain Bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Skis purchased between January and March 2004. I provided you with details of the procurement process for these items of equipment in my letter of 14 October 2005. Under the terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, Aberdeenshire Council is not required to comply with a request for information that is a repeated request. I can confirm that the purchases were made in accordance with Aberdeenshire Council procurement policy and with proper authority. Point 5 You requested details of all members of staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre since the Council took over operation of the Centre in June 1999. You requested this information from the Council on 4 October 2005, and my colleague, Sarah Collie, wrote to you on 1 November 2005 explaining that the Council would not provide you with the information requested as the information was deemed to be personal data under the Data Protection Act 1998. You requested a review of the decision not to release the information requested and the Review Panel heard your case on 30 November 2005. You will be aware that the Review Panel upheld the Authority’s decision not to release the information. Point 6 You requested details of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding accepting invoices that do not detail VAT. Aberdeenshire Council accepts invoices from non-VAT registered companies. Invoices from non-VAT registered companies do not include VAT. Point 7 You requested details of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding supporting private groups by providing free storage facilities. I can confirm that there is no written policy regarding the provision of storage facilities for private groups. However, the Council does aim to assist voluntary clubs and organisations that are delivering local opportunities for sport and physical activity and, where appropriate, free storage of equipment in council premises is provided. Other examples include storage of specialist sport equipment in school sports halls. I can also confirm that the Council would not be liable for any accident or incident that resulted simply from using equipment that Aberdeenshire Council has stored.  Point 8 I can confirm that Huntly Nordic Ski Centre does not hold a Salomon franchise. The Ski Centre does hold an account with Salomon that is used for purchasing hire equipment. Some of this equipment is sold on as second hand goods at the end of the ski season. In the past the Centre has sold a very limited range of entry level Salomon ski equipment and other ancillary items, such as ski wax.  Point 9 Aberdeenshire Council does not hold a Salomon franchise and has not sold Salomon equipment to Tout Tele, which has then been sold on to Huntly Hillwalking Club Point 10 Two second-hand children’s Mountain Bikes were purchased from Tout Tele in 2001 for the sum of £120. These bikes were later sold on. As the bikes are no longer in the possession of the Ski Centre this purchase was overlooked when we responded to your letter of 16 September 2005. I apologise for the oversight and enclose a copy of the purchase order. Point 11 I can confirm that 23 Mountain bikes were bought by Aberdeenshire Council from Changing Gear in Huntly (PO 844850 & 845138). Point 12 You requested details of the member of staff who procured the mountain bikes from Changing Gear in Huntly. The mountain bikes were procured by our Sports Development and Projects Officer, based at Gordon House, Inverurie. Point 13 I provided a clear definition of the arms length relationship between Tout Tele and the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre in my letter of October 14 2005. Under the terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, Aberdeenshire Council is not required to comply with a request for information that is a repeated request. Point 14 You requested details of all equipment suppliers used by Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The list of suppliers is as follows: Fischer, Salomon, Orion, Changing Gear, Tout Tele Point 15 You requested a complete inventory of all sports equipment held at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. I enclose a copy of the inventory of movable equipment and property held at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, which includes all sports equipment. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours sincerely Joanna Shirriffs Project Coordinator Education & Recreation

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xi)
Point 4

In FOI2 [ACE 32775] I asked for…

Question 4. Details of the tendering process that procured the Mountain Bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Ski’s purchased between January and March 2004, with the help of funding from the Big Lottery Fund (formerly the New Opportunities Fund).  If written details of the tendering process in this instance are not available please can you confirm that these purchases were made in accordance with documented Council tendering policy and with proper authority? 

With reference to the answer given in Point 3…

Answer 3.You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.
… I should have been supplied with written quotations… I wasn’t… I was given a vague reply and told that the Council does not have to comply with a request which is a repeat request
Answer 4. You asked for details of the tendering process that procured the Mountain Bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Skis purchased between January and March 2004. I provided you with details of the procurement process for these items of equipment in my letter of 14 October 2005. Under the terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, Aberdeenshire Council is not required to comply with a request for information that is a repeated request. I can confirm that the purchases were made in accordance with Aberdeenshire Council procurement policy and with proper authority.
The information I was given in the past was only the Invoices for the equipment, therefore not a repeat request. I should have been given the two written quotations to show ‘best value’ as stated in the Council’s procurement policy…
VAT Fraud
VAT Fraud

The general term 'fraud' has a wide significance and there is no simple definition which covers the full range of conduct to which it may be applied. Fraud (in relation to the Revenue) includes, in its various forms, falsification with an intention to deceive and this may be present even as a mere conscious understatement in, or omission from, a return or accounts.

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/manuals/emmanual/EM5105.htm 
It states on the Direct.gov.uk website that… you might know that a business is not declaring all the VAT they’re charging, or you might think that they’re not because they:

· offer goods for sale at substantially below market value 

· If a bill shows a separate amount for VAT, it must also show the 9-digit VAT registration number of the business.
Point 6
I ask about VAT…
Question 6. Detail of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding accepting invoices which do not detail VAT (Invoices to Aberdeenshire Council from Roy Young’s company Tout Tele contained no reference to VAT.) (Click here to see Document Appendix Page vii)

Aberdeenshire Council confirm…

Answer 6. You requested details of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding accepting invoices that do not detail VAT. Aberdeenshire Council accepts invoices from non-VAT registered companies. Invoices from non-VAT registered companies do not include VAT.
This makes me suspicious about a receipt submitted to the Big Lottery by Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’… where he does charge VAT on a Total amount of £2,160.24… but doesn’t document his company VAT Registration Number on his Invoice. 
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page iv)
It states clearly on the Government Website relating to VAT Fraud that “If a bill shows a separate amount for VAT, it must also show the 9 digit VAT Registration number of the business”
http://www.direct.gov.uk/MoneyTaxAndBenefits/Taxes/ContactOrDealWithTheInlandRevenue/ContactOrDealWithIrArticles/fs/en?CONTENT_ID=10010579&chk=KPU9JS 
This Invoice was one of 3 Invoices given to the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club (HNSC) totaling £4,000.17… (the other 2 don’t detail VAT See Document Appendix

Page v
 and vi)…  and formed part of a Lottery application where:

*Roy Young was a founder member of HNSClub
*Roy Young was Treasurer of HNSClub when the first application was made (AAS/2/010017491)

http://www.c-f.org.uk/cgi-fund/a4a/scotland/moredetails.pl?urn=AAS/2/010017491
*Roy Young co-ordinated the application for the first grant as applicant

*Roy Young was one of three Committee members authorised to sign cheques on behalf of HNSClub
*Roy Young signed the contract of 'Terms and Condition' to ensure the grant was completed to the letter of the 'Awards for All Scotland' rules.

*Roy Young subsequently purchased equipment to the value of £4,000.17 (from the successful Awards for All Scotland grant of £5,000) through his own company Tout Tele.
*Roy Young is responsible as sole owner of Tout Tele and Treasurer of Huntly Nordic Ski Club to produce Annual accounts for both sides therefore able to run an illegal VAT receipt through the Ski Club without detection.

*Roy Young subsequently benefits from using the equipment bought.
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xv to xviii)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xix to xxi)
From this, Roy Young is both co-ordinating a Lottery application and putting the money through his own business.
I consider the VAT threshold of +/-£58,000 and the fact that both he and his wife own a property in Whistler, British Columbia, (famous for the quality of it’s Snow Shoeing Trails) which he may possibly gain income from… and balance it against the fact that, he is a full time employee of Aberdeenshire Council, I’ve never seen his company ‘Tout Tele’ advertised to the general Huntly town’s people and surrounding area as a sports equipment business and also the fact that he doesn’t operate the company from a shop premises in the town… therefore turning over an excess of £58,000 would be unlikely.
Then I consider the quantity of Salomon and Fischer equipment held in the Inventory at Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre (Click here to see Document Appendix Page xi to xiv)… and realise it may be possible that he has generated income over the £58,000 level.

The quantities are considerable:
39 pairs
Junior Boots
Salomon
(Inventory dated 31st March 2005)
76 pairs
Adult Boots
Salomon/Fischer
(See Document Pages xi to xiv)
85 pairs
Junior Skis

Fischer




65 pairs
Adult Skis


Fischer




51 pairs
3 Pin Leather Boots

Unknown





25 pairs
Touring Ski’s

Unknown





  7 pairs
Telemark Ski’s

Unknown





12 pairs
Marwe Skate Rollers 
Marwe




  4 pairs
Marwe Classic Rollers 
Marwe





  6 pairs 
Red Classic Rollers

Swenor





  3 pairs
Classic Rollers

Various






  4 pairs
Classic Rollers

Various





              138
Poles


Various






39
Roller Poles

Various






  3
Ski Bags


Fischer





24
Roller Blades

Unknown

It’s this quantity of Salomon and Fischer equipment that surprises me in light of the information and the contradictions surrounding the supplier agreements discussed above… and leads me to further question the personal relationship between Andrew Miller and Roy Young…
It has been said already in answer to FOI2, that 'nordic ski equipment' has been bought by Aberdeenshire Council from Roy Young… to date the only receipts supplied are for 16x Roller Ski’s.
“The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment…”
… they have also already claimed that Ski equipment had been delivered for ‘Tout Tele’ from Fischer and Salomon to the Centre…

“arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”FOI2
When asked later in FOI #5 27 Sep 06, Aberdeenshire Council state that …

“We do not hold any information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 Jul 06”
I understand financial records such as receipts for 265 pairs of ski’s and boot’s must be kept for 7 years by law. It has been stated here that no financial records for these purchases have been kept. In light of the personal ‘connections’ at Aberdeenshire Councils Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre… it doesn’t surprise me that these receipts have now been lost.

It has additionally been said on 27 Sep 06 by David Wright, Recreation Manager that…

“Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear”

Therefore they must have all the financial records for all these ski’s and boots.
This statement also infers that additional equipment is being replaced/supplied on top of the 265 pairs of skis and boots mentioned on the current inventory on an ongoing basis and if there’s a finite life of between 2-3 years, this means +/- 40-50 pairs of ski’s and boots are being replaced/supplied every year.
If the information given in the Aberdeenshire Council’s Sustainable Purchasing/Buy Local Policy is correct, then Roy Young will be supplying it!

Since Duty Manager Sandy Thorn has signed the Inventory of Moveable Equipment dated March 2005… and it has already been stated that the staff at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Ski Centre are also purchasing equipment from Tout Tele and helping out the operation of the business by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of Roy Young’s Tout Tele… there is now no way of verifying that all items detailed on the Inventory have ever existed…

A Criminal Investigation will need to be undertaken to determine that a white collar, paper exercise in creative accounting isn’t taking place at Aberdeenshire Council’s Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Ski Centre.

Point 7
Answer 7. You requested details of Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding supporting private groups by providing free storage facilities. I can confirm that there is no written policy regarding the provision of storage facilities for private groups. However, the Council does aim to assist voluntary clubs and organisations that are delivering local opportunities for sport and physical activity and, where appropriate, free storage of equipment in council premises is provided. Other examples include storage of specialist sport equipment in school sports halls. I can also confirm that the Council would not be liable for any accident or incident that resulted simply from using equipment that Aberdeenshire Council has stored.
“Council does aim to assist voluntary clubs and organisations that are delivering local opportunities for sport and physical activity and, where appropriate, free storage of equipment in council premises is provided.”
Although the Council state that they aim to help groups, with the idea that opportunities for sport and physical activity are delivered… in the case of the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club, I know that this isn’t completely true…

A young teenage boy, after being at an open day at the Centre,  approached the Ski Club, (sometime in the third / fourth quarter of 2005), asking if he could join and take part in Nordic Skiing with the club… he was told that to join the club, he would have to join the “Youth Development Squad”… but currently there were no vacancies, however they would take his name and put it on a waiting list… the boy was T. Paxton, Whitestones House, Rothiemay.

The Ski Club at this stage (November 2005) hadn’t been passed through “Disclosure Scotland”… (ref: AGM Minutes 2005), and the ‘Youth Development Squad’ members were the children of the private Adult members.

It is not clear that by training so many instructors (6), with their third Lottery grant AAS/3/010177358, whether the group will open membership up to young aspiring skiers or whether the Youth Development Squad will remain open to Adult member’s children only.
(Awards for All Scotland HNSClub Press Release Press & Journal 3rd Grant)
http://www.thisisnorthscotland.co.uk/displayNode.jsp?nodeId=149664&command
=displayContent&sourceNode=149490&contentPK=13451977&folderPk=85696
Therefore, opportunities are not (to my knowledge), currently open for Youth Development of outside children of non-member parents.

Huntly Nordic Ski Club have made 3 successful applications to the Big Lottery Body, Awards for All Scotland totalling £12,980… all applications were based primarily on equipment etc to support “Youth Development”… in other words… their own children.
The Big Lottery state on their website that they… “Want to help people work for the interests of their community, encourage activities which are open to everyone who wants to join in, get more people involved in local groups and that they will support local projects that improve people’s opportunities, welfare and environment, especially those who are most disadvantaged in the community.”
Huntly Nordic Ski Club is a Private Club, a prospective member must submit an application form providing their details… then wait to hear whether their application has been approved… or not.
http://www.nordicgeek.co.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2009/HNSCIndMembForm.pdf
To be vetted in this way, contradicts and goes against the principals of the spirit in which funding has been set out and given to them by the Big Lottery.
Point 10
Question 10. I did not receive details of Mountain Bikes purchased for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre from Roy Young’s company ‘Tout Tele’ (Order Number JC741077).  Can you please send them as soon as possible? And answer why these were not included with reference to failure to provide information under FOI (Scotland) Act 2002. I received copies of receipts for Mountain Bikes that I requested… But they do not detail the quantity of bikes bought on the receipts.
Answer 10. Two second-hand children’s Mountain Bikes were purchased from Tout Tele in 2001 for the sum of £120. These bikes were later sold on. As the bikes are no longer in the possession of the Ski Centre this purchase was overlooked when we responded to your letter of 16 September 2005. I apologise for the oversight and enclose a copy of the purchase order.
After questioning, Aberdeenshire Council confirm that they failed to provide information when it was requested… and apologise for it. 

I also consider asking how many other employee’s are allowed to sell their second hand equipment to their place of work and their employer (Aberdeenshire Council).

Point 13
I ask for a definition of the expression “Arms Length”… as an Engineer it literally means a little under 1 meter to me…

Question 10. Can you define what “Arms Length” means relative to an Aberdeenshire Council employee’s operation of a private business from Council premises are during council working hours using Aberdeenshire Council staff to facilitate such a business?
Aberdeenshire Council I assume, either misunderstand the question or don’t want to answer it… I favour the second reason.
In the interpretation of the answer that they did give, I disagree that they provided a clear definition.
Answer 13. I provided a clear definition of the arms length relationship between Tout Tele and the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre in my letter of October 14 2005. Under the terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, Aberdeenshire Council is not required to comply with a request for information that is a repeated request.
19 Dec 05 Ian to Scottish Information Commissioner, Kinburn Castle, Doubledykes Road,St Andrews. Fife. KY16 9BS… Dear Sir / Madam HUNTLY NORDIC SKI CENTRE… Please see the attached letter dated 1st December 2005 from the Clerk to the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council. This refers to a request dated 2nd October 2005 in which I asked Aberdeenshire Council for: (1) The names of all staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic Ski Centre since its establishment. (2) The start dates and terms of appointment of the staff (including the current staff). (3) The nature of the role undertaken by each member of staff and the extent of their responsibilities… You will see form Mr Nicol’s letter of 1st December 2005 that after review, the panel have upheld the Council’s decision not to supply the information I requested. This is on the basis that they consider the information I asked for was personal information relating to Council employees, and as such falls within the exemption contained in Section 38(1)(b) of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. I do not agree with the decision of Aberdeenshire Council in relation to my request. Can I ask that you formally review the Council’s decision and let me know the outcome of your deliberations in due course. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

I write to Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner to Complain about the decision to withhold information using an exemption clause, (The Data Protection Act), and ask him to review the decision

13 Jan 06 Pauline Keith, Administrator FOI Commission to Ian… Letter… Ref: 200600082… Dear Mr Cameron, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER – PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL… I am writing to acknowledge receipt of your letter of 19 December 2005, appealing for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner. This is as a result of your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with your request for information. Your application will be dealt with by Jill Anderson, one of our Freedom of Information Officers. She will contact you soon. Yours Sincerely Pauline Keith

13 Jan 06 Letter Pauline Keith, Administrator, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol Our Ref: 200600082... Dear Mr Nicol, - APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT: lan Cameron - I am writing to advise you that lan Cameron, Huntly has applied for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner as he is dissatisfied with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with his request for information. The application to the Commissioner relates to information requested regarding refusal to disclose details about employees. The application will be considered by Jill Anderson on behalf of the Commissioner and she will contact you soon to confirm whether the application is valid and, as a result, whether an investigation will be carried out. Yours sincerely Pauline Keith
16 Jan 06 Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission to Ian… Letter… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Mr Cameron, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER – PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL… I refer to your letter of 19 December 2005, applying for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner. This follows your dissatisfaction with the notice from Aberdeenshire Council of 1 December 2005 refusing to release information to you under the terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). In terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA), I must now ensure that your application for a decision is valid. To do so I must consider the following (1) Whether your case can be considered under FOISA (2) The correspondence which has passed between you and Aberdeenshire Council (3) Any appropriate time limits which must have been complied with. In order to validate your application I should be obliged if you would send me the following documents. A copy of the original response that you received from Aberdeenshire Council, in response to your initial application for information. Should you have any queries in the meantime, please contact me and I will be happy to answer any questions you may have. Yours Sincerely Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer

24 Jan 06 Ian to Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info … FW: Re: [ACE/33953] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Ms Anderson, Thank you for taking the time to review my complaint and for your letter dated 16th January 2006. In your letter, you have requested a copy of the original response which I received from Aberdeenshire Council in reply to my initial application for information. I did not receive a signed original paper copy by Post... but did receive an email with the letter of reply attached from Sarah Collie, Admin Assistant, Education and Recreation, Aberdeenshire Council... Please find both attached. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron (attached details of email sent 01 Nov 05)

25 Jan 06 Ian to Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info … FW: Re: [ACE/33953] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Ms Anderson, Dear Ms Anderson, I'm writing again after considering that I should have included some further information in my email 24th January 2006, relative to your request on 16th January 2006. Please find below, the correspondence after my initial request for information was declined. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron (included emails from 04 Nov 05 and 07 Nov 05)

25 Jan 06 Letter Jill Walker (nee Anderson) to Alastair Nicol Our Ref: 200600082/JA... Dear Mr Nicol, - APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT: lan Cameron - The Scottish Information Commissioner received an application from Mr lan Cameron on 21 December 2005 requesting a decision from him. This follows from Mr Cameron's dissatisfaction with the notice he received from Aberdeenshire Council of 1 December 2005 refusing the release of information in respect of the staff employed at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. In order that I may fully investigate this matter, I am inviting you to comment on the matters raised by the applicant and on the application as a whole, in terms of section 49(3) of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. The applicant is dissatisfied that Aberdeenshire Council have not provided him with details of the names of the staff that the Council employ at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre and the role undertaken by each member of staff and the extent of their responsibilities. The applicant had also been seeking information on the start dates and terms of appointment of the staff (including the current staff). (1) Copies of any information withheld from Mr Cameron, including the information requested. (2) Confirmation of what exemption(s) of the Act you relied on to withhold the information from Mr Cameron, together with an analysis of the exemption and the analysis of the public interest test if applicable. (3) Any internal documents, including emails, memos, minutes of meetings that related to the initial response to Mr Cameron's application of 2 October 2005. (4) Any internal documents, including emails, memos, minutes of meetings that related to the review process being carried out. - When you forward this information to me, please also include a Schedule of Documents listing the information sent. All documents should be named and numbered. If there has been partial release, two copies of the information, one unedited and one showing what was released should be provided. If you have obtained legal advice either in respect of your duties under the Act or in connection with or in contemplation of legal proceedings under or arising out of the Act, you are under no obligation to provide me with a copy of that advice, although you may choose to do so. If the advice you have received supports the way in which you have dealt with the request for information from the applicant, then providing me with a copy of the advice may assist your case. During the investigation you may be asked to consider a settlement between you and the applicant. This may involve an element of compromise between you and the applicant but will only be reached with the express consent of both parties. Should settlement be reached I will produce information on the settlement setting out the terms of the agreement. At the end of the investigation, and if settlement has not been reached, the Commissioner will issue a Decision Notice, setting out his final decision in relation to the application. Both you and the applicant will receive a copy of this Notice. Should the Commissioner find that you have failed to comply with the Act, he will state this in his decision and confirm what steps you require to take to meet the terms of the Act. Should he decide that you have not failed in your obligations under the Act, he will confirm this in his Decision Notice. Please note that under section 50 of the Act, the Commissioner may give a Scottish public authority a formal Information Notice requiring the authority to provide such information as is reasonably required for the purposes of determining whether it is complying with the Act. Failure to comply with an Information Notice can be referred to the Court of Session by the Commissioner and the Court can treat the failure as contempt of court. This letter is not a formal Information Notice, but if you fail to comply with this request for information, the Commissioner may choose to issue a formal notice. To allow my investigation to proceed without undue delay I require your comments and the information detailed above by 8 February 2006. Should you have any queries in the meantime please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334 464610. Yours Sincerely Jill Walker (nee Anderson)
25 Jan 06 Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission to Ian… Letter… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Mr Cameron, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER – PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL… I refer to our letter of 13 January 2006 acknowledging receipt of your application for a decision from the Commissioner relating to your request for information concerning the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Having considered your application, I can confirm that your request is valid in terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 the (‘Act’). This letter gives you some information about what will happen next. Please read it carefully. A full investigation will now be carried out into your case. I have been nominated by the Scottish Information Commissioner (Kevin Dunion), as investigating officer and will be your point of contact for the duration of the investigation. The investigation may take some time but you will be kept informed throughout. I will contact Aberdeenshire Council to advise them of the commencement of this investigation, to request their comments on the matter and to ask them to forward all information relating to the case. During the investigation you may be asked to consider a settlement between you and Aberdeenshire Council. This may involve an element of compromise between you and Aberdeenshire Council but will only be reached with the express consent of both parties. As part of the settlement agreement you would be required to withdraw your application. Should settlement be reached I will produce information on the settlement setting out the terms of the agreement. At the end of the investigation, and if settlement has not been reached, the Commissioner will issue a Decision Notice, setting out his final decision in relation to your application. Both you and Aberdeenshire Council will receive a copy of this Notice. Should the Commissioner find that Aberdeenshire Council has failed to comply with the Act, he will state this in his decision and confirm what steps they require to take to meet the terms of the Act. Should he decide that Aberdeenshire Council has not failed in its obligations under the Act, he will confirm this in his Decision Notice. Should you o Aberdeenshire Council wish to contest the Commissioner’s decision, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Details about the investigation (ie the case number, the name of the public authority involved and the type of information requested) will be made available on the Commissioner’s website. Once a decision as been reached, a copy of the decision notice will be made available on the website. The decision notice will name you as the applicant. In some limited cases, the Commissioner may agree to withhold your name from the version of the decision which appears on the website. As a Scottish public authority, the Commissioner has a duty to respond to information requests made under the Act. This means it is possible that he will receive a request asking him to release your name. If this happens, the Commissioner will usually release this information unless there are good reasons for withholding it. If you feel there are valid reasons for your name to be withheld either from the version of the decision notice to appear on the website or in response to a request under the Act, please let me know within the next three weeks. Should you have any queries please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334 464610. Yours Sincerely Jill Anderson.
Jill Anderson at the Scottish Information Commission acknowledges the conflict of information and informs me that a review of Aberdeenshire Council’s decision is valid.

27 Jan 06 Letter Alastair Nicol to Jill Walker (nee Anderson) Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/AB Your Ref: 200600082/JA... Dear Ms Anderson, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT - IAN CAMERON - I acknowledge receipt of your letter of 25 January, 2006, advising that the Scottish Information Commissioner is investigating an application from Mr lan Cameron for information relating to the names of staff employed at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, which has been refused by Aberdeenshire Council. I have put in hand arrangements to collate the information which you have requested and will endeavour to reply to you by your requested deadline of 8 February, 2006. This will, of course, depend on the appropriate officers not being on holiday. If it appears that I will need additional time to respond to you, I will contact you again. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol
24 Mar 06 Letter Stephen Dunmore, Chief Executive, Big Lottery Fund, 1 Plough Place London EC4A 1 DE to Ian… Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your letters of 17 February to Tamar Collis and Nick Blake. Our investigation into your allegations against Huntly Nordic Ski Club is still in train and I will write to you separately once it is complete. In the meantime I am writing in response to the matters you raise in your letter to Tamar Collis and the emails and correspondence you attached. I will deal with these matters in the order they arise in your correspondence. 1. That you did not receive an answer to your question about who is responsible for the external audit of A4A “Because the funding for A4A Scotland originates from several different distributors (and is distributed by Big Lottery Fund on their behalf), the audit responsibility does not fall to one single body. The National Audit Office audits accounts relating to projects falling within the remit of Big Lottery Fund or other England-only or UK-wide distributors. The Auditor General for Scotland would audit accounts relating to projects falling within the remit of Scottish distributors (for example, Sport Scotland).” 2. That you did not receive a response to your Freedom of Information request of 29 September. I note that Robert Holland has already apologised for this and I reiterate his apology. 3. That we mistakenly thought the Secretary of Huntly Nordic Ski Club (Peter Thorn) rather than the Treasurer (Roy Young) was involved in Tout Tele. Having read your original email of 31 Oct 2005, it is clear that you refer to 'Mr X' as the treasurer of Huntly Nordic Ski Club and not the secretary. I am sorry that we mistakenly wrote to the club alleging Peter Thorn's involvement rather than the Roy Young's. I apologise for this error. We will be writing to Peter Thorn separately to apologise and will copy that letter to Aberdeenshire Council, Tout Tele and Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre to inform them of our error. 4. That as a direct result of our mistake, Peter Thorn inferred that you had been asking questions of Huntly Hillwalking Club and Aberdeenshire Council. Whilst I sympathise with your position and it could be argued that if we had not mistaken Peter Thorn for Roy Young, then Peter Thorn may never have been copied in on the correspondence, it does not follow that any inferences, drawn by Peter Thorn (or anyone else for that matter) are our responsibility. Chris Holloway's correspondence with the club makes no mention of either the Hillwalking Club or Aberdeen Council, nor does it provide any information by which you as an individual may be identified. cannot, therefore, accept your assertion that Peter Thorn made these inferences as a result of our error. 5. That Peter Thorn's inferences are libellous. This would be a matter on which you may wish to seek your own legal advice. 6. That, due to our mistake, Peter Thorn has forwarded his emails on with the purpose of causing harm to your reputation and the forwarding of these inferences was an abuse of process. As discussed above, we do not consider that we are responsible for any inferences that third parties may draw about the identity of complainants and so this cannot be considered an abuse of our process. You cannot be identified from these emails and therefore there cannot be any harm to your reputation. 7. That we did not respond to your Freedom of Information request of 11 November 2005 for full details of the award to Huntly Nordic Ski Club's recent award. The Freedom of Information Act exempts information that is already in the public domain and so it was entirely appropriate for Daniel Wood to direct you to the website where we publicise full details of the award. 8. That we did not respond to your Freedom of Information request of 11 November 2005 for a copy of the application form within the 20-day limit. Robert Holland has already apologised for this oversight in his email of 18 November and I would like to add my apologies to his. Your request should have been immediately redirected to the Freedom of Information email address. Staff have been reminded of this for future reference. 9. That we did not send you a copy of the A4A complaint process. There is not a separate Awards for All Scotland complaint process. As explained in Michelle Wilson's email of 18 Jan 2006, the Big Lottery Fund's complaint procedure covers Awards for All. Although the A4A Scotland programme is only available in Scotland, it is administered by the Big Lottery Fund on behalf of the other Lottery distributors and uses the same complaint procedure as other Big Lottery Fund programmes. You were sent the correct complaint process I note that the complaint procedure was not available on the Awards for All website. I am sorry that this was the case and can confirm that this will be rectified when the new, redesigned Awards for All website is launched in April. 10. That we misunderstood your request for a copy of the complaint process to be treated as a Fol request. In your previous email about our complaint process (to Chris Holloway on 29 September and Michelle Wilson on 3 October) you asked how to complain about the actions of a project. This falls outside the remit of our complaints process, which looks at complaints about the Big Lottery Fund, and you were advised (in Michelle's email of 3 October) to write to Nick Blake, Head of Internal Audit, who is the correct point of contact for allegations about the actions of projects. When you again requested a copy of the complaint process with regard to making a complaint about an award, and asked that if necessary it should be treated as an Fol request, it was not clear to the officer what information you were requesting under Fol. You had already been given information about how to complain about a project, and the process for complaints about our own actions is in the public domain and therefore exempt from Fol, so she thought that you wanted information about a project, which is why she gave you an explanation of how to apply for that under FoI I am sorry for this misunderstanding but do not believe it affected the information about the complaint process that was supplied to you. 11. That there was no link to the Freedom of Information contact details on the A4A site. I note that Robert Holland has already apologised for this and I reiterate that apology. I can confirm that a link from the A4A site to our Freedom of Information obligations and contact details will be added at the same time as the customer complaint details when the new site is launched in April. 12. That Rob Holland's response to you on 31 January was the first time you received information inside the 20 working day period. I have already acknowledged and apologise unreservedly for the fact that you have not received the high standard of service we usually deliver in respect of two Freedom of Information requests (points 2 and 8 above). However, three other requests were responded to within 20 working days, as follows ​ Your first request, made on 30 August, was responded to on 20 September, well within the 20 day period. Your request, on 5 November, for clarification and a copy of an invoice if it existed, received a reply on 7 November. Your final request of 18 January to Chris Holloway received a response on 31 January. So, whilst I acknowledge and have apologised for the fact that on two occasions we failed to provide you with information within the 20 day period, I cannot agree with your assertion that you only once received information within the timeframe… Conclusion… In summary, it is clear that you have not received the quality of service that we aim to provide. You have been subject to unacceptable delays, misunderstandings and a lack of clarity in some of our responses to you. I apologise for this and can assure you that steps are being taken to prevent this happening in future, both through updating the Awards for All website and also reminding staff of their obligations under the Freedom of Information Act. However, for the reasons explained in point 4 above, I cannot uphold the main thrust of your complaint, namely that through our misunderstanding you have been subject to libellous inferences. If you are not happy with the way I have reviewed your complaint, you may refer it to the Independent Complaint Reviewer, who can be contacted at: Independent Complaint Reviewer, C/o Lottery Forum, PO BOX 52727 London EC4P 4WN Yours Sincerely Stephen Dunmore, Chief Executive Big Lottery.
Big Lottery Chief Executive Whitewashes Complaint
Stephen Dunmore, Chief Executive Big Lottery catalogues the incompetence of his personnel but is unaware that my name has already been publicly associated as discussed above 21 Sep 05…
24 Mar 06 Letter Stephen Dunmore, Chief Executive, Big Lottery Fund, 1 Plough Place London EC4A 1 DE to Peter Thorn, Secretary Huntly Nordic Ski Club cc Aberdeenshire Council, Tout Tele and Ian… Dear Mr Thorn, I am writing to apologise for a mistake we made last November, when we contacted your club asking for information in relation to your involvement with the organisation Tout Tele. This was a misunderstanding on our part and we have in fact at no time received any allegations that you may have been involved with Tout Tele. I would like to apologise for any confusion and distress this has caused. I note that you copied your email reply to us to Aberdeen Council, Tout Tele and Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and I do the same, for their information, with this apology. I have also been asked to copy this to the individual who originally contacted us about Tout Tele & Huntly Nordic Ski Club. Yours Sincerely Stephen Dunmore
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxii)
I check on whether Stephen Dunmore Chief Executive, Big Lottery Fund did in fact forward a copy of an apology (24 Mar 06) to Aberdeenshire Council to correct the error’s made by his body… using FOI Request #4 (detailed below [ACE/56522] 26 May 06
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxiii)
… According to Aberdeenshire Council… they have no record of any letter being sent, further more… they have contacted the Big Lottery who also have no record of this Letter of apology (14 Jun 06)… it would appear that the Chief Executive of the Big Lottery Fund Stephen Dunmore, has not been as dutiful or honest as he should have been… my complaints have been ‘whitewashed’ and disregarded at the highest level.
05 Apr 06 Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info to Ian… Re: Appeal for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Mr Cameron, I write with reference to your appeal to the Scottish Information Commissioner for a decision regarding your information request to Aberdeenshire Council concerning information about Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre. In the correspondence that you sent to the Commissioner with your letter of appeal there is a letter dated 1 December 2005 from Alastair Nicol, in this letter Mr Nicol refers to an email he sent to you on 7 November 2005, do you have a copy of this email?  If you do have a copy of the email I would be grateful if you would forward it to me. I look forward to hearing from you by 12 April 2006. Sincerely Jill Anderson Freedom of Information Officer
05 Apr 06 Ian to Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info … Re: Appeal for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner… Ref: 200600082/JA…Dear Ms Anderson, Thank you for your email. Please find the letter requested from Alastair Nicol, dated 07 Nov05, below. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

07 Apr 06 Ian to Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info … DPA Advice – Audit Scotland/OIC…Dear Ms Anderson, Following our telephone conversation yesterday I’m writing to confirm some technical advice I made reference to through the course of our chat. This extract came from a Technical Bulletin issued by Audit Scotland to Public bodies. I believe this advice would have also been issued to Aberdeenshire Council. BEGINS Freedom of information The Scottish Information Commissioner has issued a briefing on the personal information exemption provided by section 38 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Section 38 is classified as being part absolute and part qualified. • there is an absolute exemption where the person making the request has asked for information about themselves, as this falls under the remit of the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA). • where the person making the request has asked for information about a third party, who has exercised their right under section 10 of the DPA to issue a notice to a data controller preventing the processing of certain personal information, the exemption is qualified and therefore subject to the public interest test. • where the person making the request has asked for information about a third party, there is an absolute exemption if the disclosure would breach any of the eight Data Protection Principles set out in the DPA. The DPA is regulated by the Office of the Information Commissioner (OIC) and according to the OIC, the first Data Protection Principle (which requires that personal data is processed fairly and lawfully) is the key issue when considering an application for third party data. Personal data is defined in the DPA as information which relates to a living individual from which that individual can be identified. The view of the OIC is that information which is about the home or family life of an individual, personal finances or personal references is likely to deserve protection. By contrast where an individual is acting in an official or work capacity, information relating to this part of a person's life should normally be provided. I’m not sure if this advice from Audit Scotland/OIC will I’m not sure if this advice from Audit Scotland/OIC will have any baring on your investigation, but it was the last paragraph that drew my attention. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

I make reference to advice given in a technical bulletin issued by Audit Scotland to Public Bodies in addition to a conversation I had by telephone with Jill Anderson about section 38 of the Data Protection Act.
(Below is an account of the pre-history leading up to the initiation of this investigation… The dates mentioned in this email refer to a separate report issued by me to Angela Oritsijafor, Audit Manager at the Big Lottery…)
07 Apr 06 Letter… Ian to Angela Oritsijafor, Audit Manager, Big Lottery Fund, 5th Floor, 1 Plough Place, London EC4A 1 DE… Dear Ms Oritsijafor, Firstly apologise for the delay in my response to your questions emailed 22nd March 2006. Question: 1 You state that Roy Young approached a member(s) of the Huntly Hill walking Club about submitting a grant application. Was this member approached prior to submission of the successful 2003 award to Huntly Hillwalking Club (AAS/3/010088244) or after submission of the above application but in respect of a subsequent/future application? Answer: Before the submission. For references to email dates please check the folder I’ve enclosed with this letter. This folder contains all the emails I have in chronological order and was produced as a result of an EGM that was held on 11 Nov 05. I firstly need to detail what the connections are before I go into the history of our application. The Chairman of Huntly Hillwalking Club (HHC) Nick May and his wife Claudia Zeiske are also members of Huntly Nordic Ski Club (HNSkiClub)… and personal friends of Roy Young. Claudia Zeiske’s full time occupation is to raise funds for Arts through grant applications and sponsorships 12 Dec 04… her income, is subsequently derived from commissions from those grants. She fronts an organisation called Fine Funds http://www.finefunds.com/ and also Deveron Arts http://www.deveron-arts.com/ Claudia Zeiske has been behind several Awards for All applications to the Huntly area… the ones I am aware of are… 3x Deveron Arts 1x Drumblade Primary School where she was a committee member 1x Huntly Writers with Committee members of Deveron Arts http://www.deveron-arts.com/people.htm 1x the 1st HNSkiClubs application when they joined the HNSkiClubs in first quarter 2001 as club members (See comment 12 Dec 04) http://www.huntly.net/nordicski/docs/Newsletter6.htm 1x Huntly Hillwalking Club Ms Zeiske is the applicant of the HHC grant therefore any questions about this grant are likely to be shared with Roy Young and HNSkiClub where they are also active members. (I say this as information has already been shared by Nick May and HNSkiClub 28 Sep 05 when it shouldn’t have been.) At our Club AGM on 13th November 2002… HHC Chairman’s Wife Claudia Zeiske, addressed the meeting with a proposition… would and could our club make an application to Awards for All Scotland on behalf of the HNSkiClub. She explained that, due to the fact that HNSkiClub had already received a grant for the maximum £5,000 with another application in the pipeline, she said she had been asked by Roy Young of HNSkiClub to ask HHC to make an application to procure Snow Shoes. Claudia Zeiske explained that HNSkiClub already had a second application submitted and wanted more equipment, but would be unlikely to receive more funding for it. I was club Secretary at the time and have to say that we were taken by surprise somewhat, but agreed that we would try to help another local club out when they asked for help. Claudia Zeiske then suggested that HHC could consider a list of items that would benefit HHC. I had already organised a Winter Skills Course with a leading climber Andy Nisbet http://www.boatofgarten.com/nisbet/ . (Andy had provided us with a list of equipment that we needed, Helmets, Ice Axes, Crampons Rope, Harnesses etc for this Winter Skills Course… most of which none of us had… therefore, the obvious addition to the Snow Shoes was this list given by Andy.) A second club GPS had been suggested in the past by the Treasurer so that was added and maps were suggested, but what scale and what coverage wasn’t discussed. The maps arose from a suggestion by Claudia Zeiske and in my mind when they were suggested, were a bad idea. Maps are the primary piece of safety equipment you should have while in the mountains… everyone should have their own map. They are damaged easily, get wet etc and need replacement from time to time. I tasked myself to check prices of equipment and replied by email 6 days after the AGM on 19 Nov 02… but was told later that it was the more detailed 1:25:000 maps and it wasn’t just the maps covering the mountains, it was all 159 maps covering Scotland 08 Sep 03… It was the last sentence in an email sent by the local bookshop owner Annie Lamb on 08 Sep 03 that made me suspicious as to the connection/reason why we were buying so many maps. (Hill walkers rarely use 1:25:000 scale maps, because generally there is too much detail and often more than 1 map is required to cover a walk.) £1,000 of maps for no specific use is a lot of money… that said they are kept in the local library and I believe are referenced by library users from time to time. I have to say I bought into the application as I believed in good faith, that we could provide more opportunity to our members, I have never been involved in anything like this before… I did my best to facilitate our application but, in hindsight, the equipment is rarely used and has been in my opinion a waste of Lottery money. (In my period of office Nov 2001 to Nov 2005, I was in charge of controlling the issue of equipment.) With that hindsight, I now fully agree with the sentiments of the clubs Treasurer Brian Shanks in his email of 09 Jan 03 (He had left the 13 Nov 02 AGM early and hadn’t heard the initial proposal to apply for Lottery money). There were question marks over the procurement of Snow Shoes… Snow Shoes are not for sale in any outdoor shop that I know of in Scotland specifically because the conditions for Snow Shoeing do not exist in our country, so the request was viewed with an element of surprise by all of us who know from experience what winters in Scotland are like. Our Treasurer again mentioned on 09 Jan 03, 12 Jan 03, 06 Sep 03, 08 Sep 03 do we have to buy Snow Shoes and are we under an obligation to get them for the HNSkiClub. This was a sentiment that was shared by other members including myself. Another aspect of the Snow Shoes was their varying price… first we were told by Roy Young that they were £80 on 03 Oct 03… then they were £88 on 17 Nov 03… then they were £70 on 08 Dec 03 and finally they were £69.18 on 03 Feb 04 ? Claudia Zeiske sent off for the application form and ball started rolling. It was soon realised that our club structure was in complete disarray. The only thing that identified us as a club was a bank account held under the name ‘Huntly Ski & Hillwalking Club’. As Secretary, I had a prodigious effort to get the club structured to a point which would be acceptable to Awards for All to identify us as a bona fide group. I have since read on current Lottery application forms, that membership or affiliation to a governing body must be in place… HHC were not affiliated to any governing body at the time of the application and this was never questioned by Awards for All staff. (As you read through the folder, you’ll see exactly what happened with regard to this, writing constitution, bank account etc) On 04 Sep 03 I was emailed by Claudia to say we had been successful… none of us had expected that our application would go through. The procurement process was kicked into action and a meeting was held on 18 Sep 03 to discuss how we would go about it. Since Roy Young had asked us to make a grant application on his behalf, we decided that he should source the Snow Shoes that he wanted… and we would refund the agreed amount. In return for HHC applying for a grant on behalf of Roy Young and HNSkiClub, I believed having read the Awards for All literature, that the “spirit” in which lottery money was allocated to groups was such that it was to be used as a community resource… The reality is… This in fact is not true. In my efforts, I have been told that it is unreasonable for me to consider that any reciprocal arrangement can be made. As far as HNSkiClub equipment goes, HHC are wrong to think that we can have access to the now +/-£13,000 of Lottery money that they have received in one form or another… see emails 06 Oct 03, 08 Jul 05 through to 05 Aug 05, 19 Aug 05. This was hard for me to stomach, as I’d put so much effort into the application that we had made… clearly providing help was a one way street. Also there was a serious contradiction to their current position which is saying it was unreasonable to share equipment… I’d written a draft email 06 Oct 03 to Roy Young requesting a reciprocal arrangement and agreement was given by Nick May and the rest of the committee that asking for this was acceptable. (See their following emails 07 – 09 Oct 03). There is certainly plenty of rhetoric about sharing equipment, as I’ve cross checked what has been written in the HNSkiClub applications but that’s all it is. (see page 137). What you’ll find in reality is, that both HNSkiClub and HHC will not provide equipment for the community to use… both say that you will have to become a member of the clubs before access is given. (I believe people can use HNSkiClubs equipment on a Nordic Ski Centre open day… but that’s it) 19 Sep 03, 12 Jul 05. We didn’t make an application because HHC wanted equipment (See 06 Oct 03) … HHC application was made for Roy Young and HNSkiClub. To be honest, I felt as if I’d been taken advantage of by a small group of self interested people, motivated by personal agendas. The main problem… On 18 Mar 04 Roy Young submits a receipt to us for 8 sets of Snow Shoes (see page 77)… however, instead of the receipt coming from an Outdoor Supplier such as “Snow & Rock”… it is in fact a Word Template Document with Roy Young’s own home address and company name ‘Tout Tele’ that none of us knew about apart from Nick May the Chairman and his wife Claudia Zeiske 19 Nov 04. I wasn’t happy at all about this fact, to both canvas HHC to make an application on his behalf to then put the business through his own company was completely unacceptable to me… (regardless to how much discount was given). However I let the fact pass. On 17 Apr 04 I gave a draft copy of my ‘End of Award Report’ to the HHC Committee to approve prior to submission. After being read by both Nick May and Claudia Zeiske, they told me that it was a good report, but I should remove a comment (No 3) made at the bottom of the Accounts (see page 76) which referenced the history of the procurement of the Snow Shoes. They told me that this wasn’t true and that the Lottery didn’t need that kind of detail. This was the first time that I suspected that wilful dishonesty was taking place and that all wasn’t as clear cut as it should have been. At this point, I was now in a Catch 22 situation and decided not to submit my report until I could get the facts straight. I indeed never did submit my report to Awards for All. Nick May and Claudia Zeiske made an End of Award Report submission after a meeting that we held on 06 Feb 05… I never saw what was written by them. Our AGM was held on 17 Nov 04 and in my Secretary’s Report (Version #1 page 81) I detailed exactly what had happened through my term of Office as usual. Again Nick May and Claudia Zeiske challenged me saying what I’d written wasn’t true 19 Nov 04. The Treasurer Brian Shanks is in agreement with me (see 25 Nov 04), but Nick May now suggests that “he had asked Roy Young and the grant application was nothing to do with him”… at this point I knew this wasn’t true… having documented all the correspondence up to this point.19 Nov 04 & 29 Nov 04 By 03 Dec 04 the Treasurer has been ‘turned’ and the first of 3 Deveron Arts Committee members (also HHC club members) is engaged (Maureen Ross 03 Dec 04) to get me to change my Secretary’s Report which I have now published to our Club Website as Webmaster (as I did with all my reports). Indeed, at this point I’d heard that Maureen had commented to a member that “if the Lottery find out, they’ll want the money back”… it was this comment that made me realise for the first time how serious this business really was and, that I had been used in the middle of it to sign the contract to ensure our grant was completed honestly… when it wasn’t. This was also the reason why they wanted my report removed from the internet. Realising that things were going “Pete Tong” and that club members were being successfully canvassed by Nick May, I changed my report to Version #2 (page 83) to maintain the stability of the club. By the 12 Feb 06 I am again being told to change my Secretary’s Report… by 16 Mar 05, I reluctantly make the change (Version #3 page 85) but again ask the question, “How did the application come about in the first place if Roy Young and the HNSkiClub had nothing to do with it?” The answer I got from Claudia Zeiske 16 Mar 05 was clearly fabricated and I couldn’t believe that I was being taken for a fool. I’m now convinced of the dishonesty by this time and take some time to consider what I should do about it. (This was with reference to what had been documented so far). After some time, I re-addressed the sharing of equipment 08 Jul 05 and events start to degenerate (as discussed above). Through 2005, I’d lost my spirit for the role of Secretary and although I’d created membership cards I hadn’t issued them. The Treasurer had asked me for a card and I obliged by emailing what I’d done… he then forwarded it on to Claudia Zeiske who proceeded to print off and send each member a Membership Card. At this point, I felt it was necessary to email the membership and explain why I hadn’t produced the cards 10 Aug 05. From this point on, I come under pressure, being emailed by the other 2 Deveron Arts Committee members who were also HHC members Raye Marcus 10 Aug 05 and Jenny Lodge 16 Aug 05. http://www.deveron-arts.com/people.htm (Maureen Ross being the first detailed above.) At this point Nick May demands a committee meeting which I can’t attend… the meeting goes ahead in any case on 12 Aug 05 in my absence, baring in mind I’m the one who’s making the complaint and I’m not at it. They say they will have a second meeting with me… but that doesn’t happen. Instead, the result of the 12 Aug 05 meeting is I am issued with a letter stating that I have to resign as Secretary with immediate effect 30 Aug 05… though it is my belief that this was not the decision of that meeting, but the result of an email I’d sent the Treasurer on the 23 Aug 05. This is the point I realise that their more to this than meets the eye and I start to employ FOI legislation to check on various elements of reservation that I have regarding the safety of Awards for All grants which had been Awarded to HNSkiClub. Out of the replies from Big Lottery, I discovered the business dealings of Roy Young were not only restricted to the Snow Shoes he’d asked us to get… but are central to my complaint made to Nick Blake on 17 Feb 06 (please see that letter for details). It maybe worth noting here that the story widens. Roy Young is an employee of the local authority Aberdeenshire Council and part of his job is working at Aberdeenshire Council Nordic Ski facility in Huntly as an Instructor. http://www.huntly.net/hnoc/Contact/contact.htm As an expert in Auditing, you may be surprised by answers given to me by Aberdeenshire Council 14 Oct 05 and 02 Dec 05 The Snow Shoes were Salomon Snow Shoes. Aberdeenshire Council state that Roy Young has the Salomon Franchise and delivery’s are made to the Ski Centre for convenience? If you go to Salomon Nordic Website http://www.salomonnordic.com/ … navigate to find a store… Europe… Scotland… Nordic… Zone… Aberdeenshire… you’ll discover 1 franchise… held by the local authority - Aberdeenshire Council Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, Management Committee. Aberdeenshire Council have denied twice about having this franchise yet Salomon clearly state “Please note: not all the retailers will stock all of the products you see in the Salomon Websites. We recommend that you contact the store to confirm that they have the product you require before going to the store” On the reply 14 Oct 05, they do admit to a Fischer Franchise that has been set up by Roy Young which should not be addressed under the Council’s facility and state that this will be changed… but then go on to say that they have a an account with Fischer and Salomon in their reply 02 Dec 05… this confuses me? Currently I have an appeal 200600082 lodged with the Scottish Information Commissioner regarding Aberdeenshire’s refusal to provide names 25 Jan 06. I am aware of a previously tested case http://www.hmcourts-service.gov.uk/judgmentsfiles/j2136/durant-v-fsa.htm Once a decision has been made, I will continue to re-check the unsatisfactory answers given by Aberdeenshire Council. The connection here is the Salomon Snow Shoes were bought using Lottery money. On 11 Nov 05, we had an EGM to discuss the Altercation which was now firmly established. Prior to this meeting I had asked Nick May, Chairman for an Agenda so I could prepare accordingly. I was given an agenda 25 Oct 05 1. General discussion of the HHC Awards for All grant. 2. AOCB… When we had the meeting, I discovered there was an Agenda which was 1. Meeting to be finished by 21:00hrs 2. Ian to Speak for no longer than 30 minutes. 3. Anyone else to briefly present their own views 4. Any questions to be kept until everyone has an opportunity to speak 5. After that, decide what actions to be taken 6. Vote as necessary. To begin I had some questions for the HHC committee, but was refused by the Chairman to ask them. After speaking for 30 minutes, I was only half way through explaining the problems… and I was told to stop speaking that my time was up, that they had heard enough and that I’d made a poor job of summarising my complaint. I said that I was only half way through explaining and that what I had to say was important, but again, I was overruled. After the EGM, I asked for a minutes of the meeting… and was given a series of 5 question and answers… there was no representation of my complaint…. 09 Dec 05 Before the EGM took place I knew I hadn’t a chance, as the HHC membership had been canvassed before the meeting by both the Treasurer and the Chairman 16 Sep 05, 04 Oct 05. On 12 Oct 05 I gave dates of my availability regards my working commitments… Nick May subsequently organised the AGM to be held the third week of November 07 Nov 05 when I wasn’t at home. AGM has never been held in the third week of the month to my knowledge. The EGM was a ‘whitewash’ and the AGM was planned for when I wouldn’t be there. Conclusion: 1 Huntly Hillwalking Club has broken it’s contract by making a dishonest application for funds on behalf of another group. 2 That the Personal Agenda’s of HHC Chairman Nick May and his wife Claudia Zeiske have hi-jacked the Hillwalking Club in order to preserve their interests with Roy Young, Huntly Nordic Ski Club and Annie Lamb at Orbs bookshop. 3 That the spirit in which Lottery money is given to groups to promote community life has been lost, with an elite few commanding large resources for their own benefit. 4 That Lottery money has been allocated to a group which rarely use the equipment bought. 5 The Snow Shoes have never been used by HNSkiClub, however, funds were directed through Roy Youngs company Tout Tele providing that company with business under the pretence that HNSkiClub wanted/needed the Snow Shoes for use… Question: 2 Are you suggesting in your letter that Roy Young may have approached a member(s) to persuade the Huntly Hill walking Club to submit a grant application for funding intended to benefit beneficiaries other than those listed on the application form (e.g. Hill walking club members)?  Answer: See answer to question 1  Question: 3 Who were/are the actual beneficiaries of the above grant, Huntly Hillwalking club members or Huntly Nordic Ski Club members? Answer: The Snow Shoes were procured for the HNSkiClub to be kept by them down at the local authorities Aberdeenshire Councils facility Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre. The idea was, if Hillwalking Club members wanted to use the Snow Shoes, they would need to go there to get them. The rest of the equipment bought with the HHC grant was centrally distributed and logged by myself (see page 89). I was aware of a problem that existed with Lottery money given to a local band ‘Drumblade Brass Band’… Brass instruments bought with lottery money were distributed, and over time have disappeared. They kept no account of who got what, band members came and went and Lottery money meant to provide opportunity to the community has been lost. I was determined that that wouldn’t happen with our equipment. The Maps are kept at the local library as public reference only. After the EGM 11 Nov 05, the Snow Shoes were removed from the local authority’s Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre and taken back into HHC custodianship. Question: 4 The above grant was provided to fund winter walking equipment and explorer maps:- who supplied the items/where were they purchased from? - does Huntly Hill walking Club still have these items and are they in use by club members? Answer: See answers to 1 and 3 above also answer number 6 below. The ‘End of Award Report’ that I never submitted has all this information clearly defined. Question: 5 What is the agreed process for purchasing club equipment? For example is it necessary to source quotations, review alternative suppliers and agree a provider at a committee meeting? Is this process, if it exists, documented (e.g. committee minutes)? Answer: A meeting was held detailed 18 Sep 03, where decisions were made about who would do what. Claudia Zeiske and Nick May had already from the word go said that equipment would be sourced as locally as possible. This meant that best price may not be achieved as this factor is the governing reason. The Treasurer did question whether the local bookshop would be the cheapest place to buy £1,000 worth of maps 08 Sep 03, but was “shot down” by Nick May 12 Sep 03. I have already raised my doubts about the reasons for procuring Maps from the local bookshop above in question1. Snow shoe procurement has been discussed above question 1. Mountaineering equipment… after the AGM 13 Nov 02, I tasked myself to check prices with an outdoor supplier Tiso’s in Aberdeen. I priced everything taking into account that we would get approximately 10% discount 19 Nov 02. The application was made with these costs in mind. When the grant was successful, I contacted other outdoor shops to see if we could get a better discount since it was a bulk purchase. (see page 69, 70). I managed to secure 20% discount at Craigdon Mountain Sports and extra money was saved as a result. Awards for All as far as I know were not informed of this additional saving/change to our spending. Question: 6 Who completed the End of Grant report for the above grant? And at the time of completing the report had the equipment been purchased and was in use by club members? Answer: I completed the original End of Grant Report, (please find attached and on pages 79, 76, 71, 72, 77, 68). I’ve detailed what happened in question 1 but will paste in here again FYI… “On 17 Apr 04 I gave a draft copy of my ‘End of Award Report’ to the HHC Committee to approve prior to submission. After being read by both Nick May and Claudia Zeiske, they told me that it was a good report, but I should remove a comment (No 3) made at the bottom of the Accounts (see page 76) which referenced the history of the procurement of the Snow Shoes. They told me that this wasn’t true and that the Lottery didn’t need that kind of detail. This was the first time that I suspected that wilful dishonesty was taking place and that all wasn’t as clear as it should have been. At this point, I was now in a Catch 22 situation and decided not to submit my report until I could get the facts straight. I indeed never did submit my report to Awards for All. Nick May and Claudia Zeiske made an End of Award Report submission after a meeting that we held on 06 Feb 05… I never saw what was written by them.” I do realise that I have provided a lot of information here and respect that this may take you some time to investigate. I am due to leave for Norway on 10th April returning 25th April… then to Holland on 29th April returning 7th May. I am frequently away from home on work assignment and apologise that I have taken some time to issue this reply to you. If you email me in the first instance, I will telephone you in reply to answer any further questions regarding what I’ve sent so far. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

16 May 06 Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info to Ian… Appeal for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner… Dear Mr Cameron, I write with reference to your appeal to the Scottish Information Commissioner for a decision regarding your information request to Aberdeenshire Council concerning information about Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre. As you are aware I am investigating your case at the moment.  I have a quick question which I hope you can answer for me. In your original information request to the Council you stated that you wanted information relating to the start dates and terms of appointment of the staff (including the current staff), I am seeking clarification from you as to what specifically you meant by terms of appointment? Also what information did you expect would be covered by “terms of appointment”? I look forward to hearing from you by 19 May 2006. Sincerely Jill Anderson Freedom of Information Officer

17 May 06 Ian to Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info … Appeal for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner… Dear Ms Anderson, Thanks for your email regarding clarification. I can see that you might think that I'm asking about "Terms" of a Contract... this is not my question. What I mean by "Terms" of appointment is the fixed period of time between start and termination of an employment period. The information I expect to receive is for example... John Smith was employed between October 1998 to April 2002. I hope this clarifies your question. The last time we spoke, you gave an estimation that Kevin Dunion may have a decision by mid May... would it be possible for you to update your estimate and give me a guide as to when the Scottish Information Commissioner may be in a position to consider my appeal? Best Regards Ian Cameron

19 May 06 Jill Anderson, Freedom of Information Officer FOI Commission enquiries@itspublicknowledge.info to Ian… Decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner… Dear Mr Cameron, I write with reference to your application to the Scottish Information Commissioner for a decision in relation to your information request to Aberdeenshire Council.  Your decision was approved by the Scottish Information Commissioner yesterday and will be sent out in the post to you today. Sincerely Jill Anderson Freedom of Information Officer
Kevin Dunion accepts the findings of the investigation made by Jill Anderson and issues his decision in my favour… 
…the decision is published on the Scottish Information Commission’s Website…

24 May 06 Published on website Decision Scottish Information Commissioner http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp Decision 084/2006 – Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council Request for information relating to details of those employed at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre and the                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              between Huntly - Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club – information partially withheld on the basis of section 38(1)(b) of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 – personal information – decision partially upheld by the Commissioner Request for information relating to details of those employed at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre and the relationship between Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club. Applicant: Mr Ian Cameron, Authority: Aberdeenshire Council, Case No: 200600082, Decision Date: 18 May 2006 - Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner – Facts - Mr Cameron submitted an information request to Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) for various pieces of information relating to those employed by the Council at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre (the Centre). Mr Cameron also sought information about the relationship between Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club. The Council disclosed some information to Mr Cameron regarding the relationship between Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club. The Council did not disclose any information to Mr Cameron in relation to those employed at the Centre by the Council on the basis that the information constituted personal data and was exempt in terms of section 38(1)(b) of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). The decision was upheld by the Council on review and Mr Cameron applied to the Commissioner for a decision. - Outcome - The Commissioner found that the Council had complied with Part 1 of FOISA and had applied the exemption under section 38(1)(b) correctly in relation to some of the information it withheld from Mr Cameron. However, the Commissioner found that the Council had not complied with Part 1 of FOISA, in that it had wrongly applied the exemption under section 38(1)(b) to some of the information requested by Mr Cameron. The Commissioner requires the Council to disclose the names, job titles and job descriptions of the employees of the Council at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre. – Appeal - Should either Mr Cameron or the Council wish to appeal against this decision, there is an appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days of receipt of this notice. – Background - 1. On 2 October 2005, Mr Cameron submitted an information request to the Council for the following information: a. Names of all staff employed by the Council at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre (the Centre) since its establishment. b.The start dates and terms of appointment including current staff. c. The nature of the roles undertaken by each individual and the extent of their responsibilities. (Mr Cameron asked for this information “if possible”). d. Clarification on the nature of the relationship between the Centre and the Huntly Nordic Ski Club (the Club), including any charges made by the Centre to the Club for use of its facilities. 2. The Council responded to Mr Cameron on 1 November 2005, indicating that it held the information that Mr Cameron was seeking. The Council disclosed information to Mr Cameron regarding the relationship between the Centre and the Club. The Council withheld the remaining information from Mr Cameron on the basis that it was exempt under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA. 3. Mr Cameron submitted a request for review of the Council’s decision on 4 November 2005. 4. The Council responded to Mr Cameron on 1 December 2005, upholding the decision that it had made in response to his original request. 5. On 21 December 2005, Mr Cameron applied to me for a decision as to whether the Council had breached Part 1 of FOISA in withholding the information. The case was subsequently allocated to an investigating officer. - The Investigation - 6. Mr Cameron’s appeal was validated by establishing that he had made a valid information request to a Scottish public authority under FOISA and had appealed to me only after asking the Council to review its response to his request. - 7. A letter was sent by the investigating officer to the Council on 25 January 2006, asking for its comments on Mr Cameron’s application in terms of section 49(3)(a) of FOISA. The Council was asked to provide, amongst other items, a copy of the information which had been withheld and a detailed analysis of its use of the exemption under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA. - Submissions from the Council - 8. As indicated previously, the Council has relied on the exemption under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA for withholding part of the information sought by Mr Cameron. 9. I will consider the Council’s reasoning for relying on this exemption further in the section on Analysis and Findings below. - Submissions from Mr Cameron - 10. In his submissions to my Office, Mr Cameron provided details of information he had accessed from a Technical Bulletin issued by Audit Scotland to public bodies. This information concerns a briefing provided by my Office in relation to the exemption under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA, and briefings issued by the Information Commissioner’s Office in respect of the data protection principles contained in the Data Protection Act 1998. - The Commissioner’s Analysis and Findings - 11. In its response to my Office, the Council provided a copy of the information that it had withheld from Mr Cameron (i.e., details of the names, job title, employment status, start dates and terms of appointment of staff employed by the Council at the Centre), together with an explanation of the exemption under section 38(1)(b) that it was relying on in not disclosing the information to Mr Cameron. The Council also provided other documentation which had been requested by the investigating officer. 12. The Council is relying on the exemption contained in section 38(1)(b) as read in conjunction with section 38(2)(a)(i) to withhold the information from Mr Cameron. This is an absolute exemption, which means that there is no requirement for the Council to consider the public interest test contained in section 2(1)(b) of FOISA. - The application of section 38(1)(b) – personal information - 13. In order for the Council to be able to rely on the exemption under section 38(1)(b), as read in conjunction with section 38(2)(a)(i), it must show that the information which has been requested is personal data for the purposes of the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and that release of the information would breach any of the data protection principles. In this case, the Council has argued that to release the information would breach the first data protection principle, which states that the processing of data must be fair and lawful and, in particular, that information shall not be processed unless at least one of the conditions in Schedule 2 of the DPA is met. - 14. It should be noted that the first data protection principle also states that, in the case of sensitive personal data, at least one of the conditions in Schedule 3 must be met. In this case, having considered the definition of sensitive personal data in section 2 of the DPA, I am satisfied that the personal data in question is not sensitive personal data. Therefore, I am not required to consider whether any of the conditions in Schedule 3 can be met. 15. In justifying its reliance on the exemption under section 38(1)(b), the Council has submitted that information about an employee’s terms and conditions of appointment, which would normally include starting date, hours worked and details of salary grade, is clearly personal information. The Council contend that staff would not normally expect this level of detail to be public knowledge. 16. The Council contend that disclosure of the information would therefore contravene the first data protection principle, presumably on the basis that the release of the information would be unfair. The Council have not argued that the release of the information would be unlawful, but has advised that its position is that none of the conditions in Schedule 2 are met. 17. In considering the application of the exemption, I first have to establish whether the information sought by Mr Cameron is personal data as defined in section 1(1) of the DPA. The information being sought by Mr Cameron are the names of the staff at the Centre employed by the Council, their start dates and terms of appointment, the nature of their roles and the extent of their responsibilities. 18. Section 1(1) of the DPA defines personal data as “data which relate to a living individual who can be identified – (a) from those data, or (b) from those data and other information which is in the possession of, or is likely to come into the possession of the data controller or any other person in respect of the individual”. 19. I also have to bear in mind the effect that the Court of Appeal case of Durant v Financial Services Authority [2003] EWCA 1746 had on the interpretation of the definition of personal data under section 1(1) of the DPA. This case highlighted that for information to be personal information it must relate to an individual, be biographical in respect of the individual concerned to a significant extent and must have that individual at its focus – in short it must affect the individual’s privacy. 20. Having looked at the information which has been withheld from Mr Cameron, I am satisfied that the following information is personal data within the definition contained in section 1(1) of the DPA: the names of the staff at the Centre employed by the Council, their start dates and terms of appointment. I am satisfied that this information relates to individual employees, is biographical in a significant sense, in that it would allow identification of individual employees and their positions within the ski centre. I am satisfied that the focus of the information is the employees as that is the subject matter of the information. 21. However, I am not satisfied that the nature of their roles or the extent of the employees’ responsibilities is personal data. I take the view that this information relates to the post and not to the individual (see paragraphs 32 et seq. below). 22. As I am satisfied that the names of the staff at the Centre employed by the Council, their start dates and terms of appointment information is personal data, I am now required to go on to consider whether any of the data protection principles would be breached if this information were to be disclosed. 23. As mentioned above, the Council has submitted that it believes that if the information were to be disclosed it would breach the first principle of the DPA 1998. 24. In considering whether release of the information would breach any of the data protection principles, I have taken into account the submissions from the Council. In its submissions, the Council has contended that staff would not normally expect this level of detail to be public knowledge. The Council has also asserted that none of the conditions in Schedule 2 of the DPA 1998 have been met and as such it is the Council’s contention that to disclose this information would not amount to fair and lawful processing. - Names of the employees - 25. During the investigation, the investigating officer identified that, in the case of four members of staff employed at the Centre, their names and job titles appear on the website for the Centre. 26. I am satisfied that the names of employees is personal data particularly as, in this case, the names will be released in conjunction with other information which will identify the employees. However, I am also satisfied that disclosure of the names of the staff at the Centre would not breach the first data protection principle of the DPA. Information about members of staff is already available on the website for the Centre and is therefore in the public domain. As such, I do not accept that it would be against the expectation of the employees that names could be made publicly available in response to an information request under FOISA. I have also taken into account the fact that this information relates to individuals in their professional capacity. I therefore take the view that it would be fair for this information to be released. 27. As already mentioned, the Council has not argued that the release of the information would be unlawful. I will therefore now go on to consider the conditions contained in Schedule 2 of the DPA. 28. Schedule 2 of the DPA sets out a number of different conditions, at least one of which must be complied with if the processing of data is to be carried out in line with the first data protection principle. For example, processing may (subject to the other tests contained in the first data protection principle) be carried out if the data subject has given his consent to the processing, if the processing is necessary for the performance of a contract or to protect the vital interests of the data subject. 29. I do not intend to list or comment on all of the conditions contained in Schedule 2, except to say that from the information provided to my by the Council, I am satisfied that the data subjects have not consented to the processing and that the only condition which, in my view, could possibly apply is condition 6(1). 30. Condition 6(1) reads as follows: “The processing is necessary for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued by the data controller or by the third party or parties to whom the data are disclosed, except where the processing is unwarranted in any particular case by reason of prejudice to the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the data subject.” 31. Before deciding whether condition 6(1) can be met, I must first of all consider whether Mr Cameron has a legitimate interest in receiving the information about the employees. If I find that Mr Cameron does have a legitimate interest in receiving this information, I must then balance his interests against the interests of the employees. 32. From Mr Cameron’s submissions, it is clear that he believes that he has a right to receive the information he has requested on the basis that the information is about an individual acting in an official or work capacity. 33. I take a broad view of the test in condition 6(1). I am of the view that as FOISA gives members of the public the right, in law, to make an information request to a public authority, then a person making an information request has legitimate interests to that information, subject of course to the balancing exercise which must be carried out in the latter part of condition 6(1) and subject to the exemptions contained in Part 2 of FOISA. Given that I am satisfied that Mr Cameron has legitimate interests in making the information request and that for Mr Cameron to receive the information the processing of the information would be necessary, I will go on to consider the interests of the employees. 34. When considering whether the release of the information would be fair, I did not accept that the employees would not have an expectation that their names would be made public. As a result, I cannot accept that the processing (i.e. the release of the names to Mr Cameron) is unwarranted by reason of prejudice to the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the employees. 35. I am therefore satisfied that the condition 6.1 in Schedule 2 of the DPA would be fulfilled if this information were to be released; the Council would be processing the information for a legitimate purpose under FOISA in order to comply with its obligations under FOISA. I do not accept that to disclose the names of the remaining staff would amount to unfair or unlawful processing. I am therefore not satisfied that the Council has relied on the exemption under section 38(1)(b) correctly in withholding the names of the employees. Start dates and terms of appointment 36. However, I take a different view in relation to the start date and terms of appointment of the employees. As noted earlier, although information relating to a person’s official or work capacity should normally be released (in that the release would not breach the first data protection principle), information which is about the home or family life of an individual, personal finances or personal references is likely to deserve protection. 37. Mr Cameron has asked for the start dates of the employees and their terms of employment. I felt that the phrase “terms of appointment” was unclear and asked Mr Cameron to clarify what he had meant by this. I am satisfied that his view of the phrase “terms of appointment” accords with that of the Council in that the phrase means the start and end date of a person’s employment. 38. I accept the submission by the Council that the employees would not have an expectation that this level of detail would be made publicly available and that, accordingly, the release of this information would be not be fair in terms of the first data protection principle. This detail of information, although it does relate to a person’s employment, moves away from being information which is purely about a person’s professional life and crosses over with a person’s private life. 39. While the employees would no doubt have an expectation that their start and end dates would be held by the Council for the purposes of their personnel records, I do not believe they would expect this information to be made publicly available. I am satisfied that the release of this information would not be fair and that it would therefore breach the first data protection principle of the DPA. In coming to this decision I have taken into account the fact that the employees in question are not particularly senior in the Council. The more senior the employees, the more likely it is that I will order release of information about their employment on the basis that the release of the information is fair. 40. Given that I have found that the release of the information is unfair, I am not required to go on to consider the lawfulness of the release of the information (in any event the Council did not advance any arguments in relation to lawfulness) or whether the processing would breach any of the conditions in Schedule 2 to the DPA. I am therefore satisfied that in relation to the start dates and terms of appointment of the employees (as defined above), the Council has relied on the exemption under section 38(1)(b) correctly. The roles undertaken by the employees and the extent of their responsibilities 41. During the investigation, the investigating officer noted that the Council had not released any information to Mr Cameron in response to his request for information about the nature of the roles undertaken by each individual and the extent of their responsibilities. It would appear that this part of Mr Cameron’s request was not responded to because he had used the words “if possible” in relation to this information. 42. The investigating officer asked the Council to comment on this and the Council asserted that the fact that Mr Cameron had used the words “if possible” led it to draw the inference that this aspect of Mr Cameron’s information request was not his first priority. However, I take the view that the use of the words “if possible” is in recognition of the fact that Mr Cameron was unsure whether he was entitled to receive this information under FOISA and that this part of the request should have been dealt with in the same way as the other parts of his request. 43. I note that, in discussion with the investigating officer, the Council has confirmed that it holds job descriptions for some of the staff at the Centre and that, as it does not consider these job descriptions to be personal data, it would be happy to release those job descriptions to Mr Cameron. I am satisfied that the provision of the job descriptions to Mr Cameron will deal with this part of his request. – Decision - I find that, in withholding information about the start dates and terms of appointment of the employees, Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) dealt with Mr Cameron’s request for information in accordance with Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). I find that the exemption in section 38(1)(b) was relied upon correctly by Aberdeenshire Council in withholding this information. However, I find that, in withholding the names of the employees, the Council did not deal with Mr Cameron’s request for information in accordance with Part 1 of FOISA. I find that the exemption in section 38(1)(b) was not relied upon correctly by Aberdeenshire Council in withholding this information. I also find that in failing to provide copies of job descriptions to Mr Cameron, the Council did not deal with Mr Cameron’s request for information in accordance with Part 1 of FOISA in that it failed to supply the information to him within the 20 working days set down by section 10(1) of FOISA. I require the Council to disclose the information relating to the names of those employed by the Council at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre, together with their job titles. I also require the Council to provide Mr Cameron with copies of the job descriptions for the posts held by the employees at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre where such a job description exists. When releasing the information, the Council must make it clear to Mr Cameron which employee or employees have the job which the job description relates to. I require the Council to disclose this information to Mr Cameron within 42 days of the date of this decision notice. Kevin Dunion Scottish Information Commissioner 18 May 2006
25 May 06 Aberdeen Press & Journal – Newspaper Report Titled…COUNCIL IS ORDERED TO RELEASE STAFF DETAILS AFTER REQUEST - PAUL GALLAGHER – Scotland's information commissioner has ordered Aberdeenshire Council to release details about staff working at the Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre. The local authority initially refused a request to give the names, job titles and job descriptions of its staff at the centre, on the grounds that this amounted to personal information. The applicant appealed to the commissioner, Kevin Dunion, who has concluded that the authority breached the act after deciding that details of the jobs did not constitute personal data. He has now instructed the council to pass the information to the applicant, Ian Cameron. Mr Dunion has found that the council did, however, comply with the act in withholding information about the employees' starting dates and terms of appointment. He has concluded that these details would impinge on the workers' personal lives and that disclosure would be particularly unfair as they were relatively junior staff. Mr Cameron approached the commissioner after he appealed the council's decision and it stood by its verdict. Mr Dunion concluded that names, start dates and appointment terms were personal data that could allow identification of individual employees. He did not take the same view of the nature of their roles, nor the extent of their responsibilities. The names and job titles of four council staff members were found to be on the centre's website, meaning they were already in the public domain, and Mr Dunion decided it would not be "against the expectation" of employees for their names to be made available in response to a freedom of information request. An Aberdeenshire Council spokesman said yesterday it was unlikely that the authority would appeal against the commissioner's verdict. The commissioner's report does not give the reasons for Mr Cameron's request and he could not be contacted for comment yesterday.

26 May 06 (FOI Enquiry #4 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... Big Lottery, London… Dear Sir / Madam, A letter dated 24th March 2006 was sent to Aberdeenshire Council from the Chief Executive of the Big Lottery Fund in London, Stephen Dunmore. Can you tell me when the letter was received at Aberdeenshire Council... 1. Who received the letter, and if they passed it onwards, then who to? 2. What action was taken with respect to the contents of the letter and it's inferences? 3. Did Aberdeenshire Council subsequently contact the Big Lottery Fund for any clarification regarding the letter? 4. Was a reply subsequently sent (at any time), to Stephen Dunmore, Chief Executive of Big Lottery Fund on receipt of the letter? 5. Was the letter highlighted to Stephen Dunmore's counterpart Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council and if so was the question asked "why is the 'Chief Executive' of the Big Lottery Fund in London writing to Aberdeenshire Council" and not a Big Lottery Fund official normally tasked with such matters? Please include all documentation relative to the 5 questions above, eg Reports, Emails, Letter's, Action's taken. Please treat this request in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Regards Ian Cameron
I submit FOI4 to check whether the Chief Executive of the Big Lottery did in fact copy a letter of apology to Aberdeenshire Council as he said he would… (discussed already)
26 May 06 (FOI Enquiry #4 to Aberdeenshire Council) no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian... [ACE/56522] Big Lottery, London… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/56522] Big Lottery, London' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.

30 May 06 Letter published Aberdeen Press & Journal - Freedom of Information - SIR, - I write regarding your piece headed "Council is ordered to release staff details after request" (the Press and Journal, May 25). Using exemption clauses as an excuse to hold on to information that should be published demonstrates that Aberdeenshire Council is failing to comply with and embrace the spirit of the freedom of information legislation that has been introduced. Furthermore, a demonstration of incompetence and disorganisation is shown to exist within Aberdeenshire Council by the fact that, in this case, the names of employees were published already and available in the public domain of the council's Huntly Nordic and Outdoor Ski Centre website. Additionally, the question is asked: should the identity of employees of public bodies be kept secret from the taxpayers who pay for their service? Ian Cameron
The article published in the Aberdeen Press & Journal newspaper on 25 May 06 mentioned that I was unavailable for comment… I make a decision to express my views on the matter by way of a letter sent to the Editor of the newspaper.

14 Jun 06 (FOI Enquiry #4 to Aberdeenshire Council) education@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian... [ACE/56522] Big Lottery, London… Dear Mr Cameron, Please find attached a reply to your earlier FOI request. Could you require a paper version of this letter, please let us know and we will send one out to you. Regards. Aberdeenshire Council & Recreation

14 Jun 06 (FOI Enquiry #4 to Aberdeenshire Council) foi.er@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian... [ACE/56522] Big Lottery, London… Information Not Held Notice Applicants Name: Ian Cameron Applicants Address: cameronaberdeen@hotmail.com Dear Mr Cameron I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 26 May 2006 requesting information on a letter sent to the Council dated 24 March 2006 from Stephen Dunmore of the Big Lottery Fund. We received your request for information on 26 May 2006.  We have undertaken a full search for the information which you have requested, and I now write to confirm that this information is not held by us. In addition, as part of our search, the Council did make direct contact with the Big Lottery Fund with regard to the aforementioned letter.  The Big Lottery Fund also carried out a search for us but they too, were also unable to find any reference to the letter. In terms of Section 17(I) of the Act, where Aberdeenshire Council receives a request for information by virtue of Section 1(1) of the Act, and concludes that it does not hold the information requested, then the Council must notify the person making the request in writing, within 20 working days of receipt of the request for information. If you are dissatisfied with this response, please refer to the additional information attached. Yours sincerely, Elaine L Duffy Admin Officer (Support Services) Direct Dial 01224 665517
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxiii)
I receive a reply to FOI4 stating that Aberdeenshire Council did not receive a copy of a letter of apology from the Chief Executive of the Big Lottery Stephen Dunmore… further more, they said they contacted the Big Lottery in London… and they were also unable to find any reference to the letter…
01 Jul 06 (FOI Enquiry #4 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... ACE/56522 Big Lottery, London… Dear Sir / Madam, Thank you very much for supplying an answer to a recent FOI request that I've made - (detailed below). I would be grateful if you could please supply an original paper copy signed with an original signature ie not a photocopy of a signature. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron
I ask for an original, signed copy of Aberdeenshire Council’s reply to FOI4…
03 Jul 06 FORM 14.7 - Form of Citation in Appeal - CITATION - Date: 3 July 2006 To: lan Cameron, Hamewith, Lennox Terrace, Huntly, Aberdeenshire, AB54 8HG -    APPEAL TO THE COURT OF SESSION UNDER FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002 SECTION 56     BY    ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL, WOODHILL HOUSE, WESTBURN ROAD, ABERDEEN APPELLANT AGAINST - A DECISION OF THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER, COMMUNICATED TO THE APPELLANT ON 18 MAY 2006 IN HER MAJESTY'S NAME AND AUTHORITY, and in the name and authority of the Lords, I David H Kidd, Solicitor, for the Appellant, serve the attached Appeal and Interlocutor of the Court on you. The Interlocutor requires you, if so advised, to lodge answers to the Appeal. If you intend to lodge answers to the Appeal you must lodge them at the Office of Court, Court of Session, 2 Parliament Square, Edinburgh EH1 1RQ within 20 days after the date of service on you of the Appeal. The date of service is the date stated at the top of this Citation unless service has been by post in which case the date of service is the day after that date. IF YOU ARE UNCERTAIN ABOUT THE EFFECT OF THIS CITATION, you should consult a solicitor, Citizens Advice Bureau or other local advice agency or adviser immediately. Signed David H Kidd Biggart Baillie Solicitor for the Appellant, 7 Castle Street, Edinburgh, EH2 3AP

Edinburgh 28 June 2006 The Lords grant warrant for service of a copy of the Appeal, together with a copy of this interlocutor, upon the parties designed in the Schedule for Service annexed to the Appeal and upon the Scottish Ministers, Victoria Quay, Edinburgh and appoint them to lodge Answers thereto, if so advised, within twenty days after such service.

The decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner dated 18 May 2006 is appended to this Appeal. The appellant appeals against the foregoing decision on the following ground: GROUNDS OF APPEAL In holding that the applicant had, in terms of paragraph 6 of schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act 1998 a 'legitimate interest' in obtaining the names of employees of the appellants, the Commissioner erred in law. As the Commissioner correctly recognised (paragraphs 20 and 26 of his decision), the names of the employees in question were 'personal data' in terms of section 1 of the 1998 Act; and, as he further correctly recognised (paragraph 22 of his decision), it was therefore necessary to consider whether disclosure of those names would, in the circumstances, be in breach of the first data protection principle set out in paragraph 1 of schedule 1 of the 1998 Act. As was, correctly, implicit in the Commissioner's decision, unless a finding that such a disclosure would not be in breach could properly be made, the Commissioner could not lawfully order the appellants to disclose that information; because it would be exempt from disclosure in terms of section 38 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. The Commissioner further correctly recognised (paragraphs 28 and 29 of his decision) that, in the circumstances of the case, disclosure would be in breach of the first data protection principle unless it was "necessary for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued by ... [the applicant]" in terms of paragraph 6 of schedule 2 of the 1998 Act; and he accordingly correctly directed his attention to that question. In answering that question, however, the Commissioner erred in law. Paragraph 6 of schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act 1998 requires an objective test. The question is not whether the person seeking the information in question has sought it under the 2002 Act, nor whether they regard themselves as having such an interest. It is whether they actually have such an interest. The Commissioner however held (paragraph 33) that, because the applicant had a right to ask for the information, he by reason of that fact alone had a legitimate interest in the information. He did fiot apply any objective test. He did not identify any actual, as opposed to supposed, interest in the information. The approach of the Commissioner gave no content to the requirement in question, whether for the purposes of requests under the 2002 Act or for the purposes of issues arising under the 1998 Act, as it is to the effect that any person seeking personal data necessarily has a legitimate interest in that information and would accordingly satisfy that requirement. It would offend Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, because the purpose of the limitations on the right to disclose personal data to a third party is to protect the data subject's right to privacy under that article (Directive 95/46/EC, preamble and Article 1.1; Osterreichischer Rundfunk and Others, 2003 EUECJ C138/01). The decision complained of should accordingly be quashed insofar as requiring the appellants to disclose the names of any of their employees. IN RESPECT WHEREOF David H Kidd Biggart Baillie 7 Castle Street Edinburgh Solicitor for Appellant  SCHEDULE FOR SERVICE AND INTIMATION Respondent: Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner, Kinburn Castle, Doubledykes Road, St Andrews, Fife, KY169DS Party having an interest: Ian Cameron, Hamewith, Lennox Terrace, Huntly, Aberdeenshire, AB54 8HG 
Aberdeenshire Council Risk Taxpayers Money to Remain Secretive Defending Court of Session Decision
On the 42nd day of the appeal time limit, Aberdeenshire Council issue a Citation challenging the decision made by Kevin Dunion at the Court of Session in Edinburgh, (referencing me as a witness)… using/referencing European Law to state that the process wasn’t adhered to properly and that I, Ian Cameron was never asked if I had ‘legitimate interest’ in receiving the information…

… I was under the impression that a person asking a question using the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 was not required to state “why” they wanted that information… however, when it comes to exemption clauses it would seem that “reason” does have to be given… this has not been made clear in the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002.
I also realise for the first time that the Law’s of our Country are superseded by European Law…
“terms of paragraph 6 of schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act 1998 a 'legitimate interest' in obtaining the names of employees of the appellants, the Commissioner erred in law”
“It would offend Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, because the purpose of the limitations on the right to disclose personal data to a third party is to protect the data subject's right to privacy under that article (Directive 95/46/EC, preamble and Article 1.1; Osterreichischer Rundfunk and Others, 2003 EUECJ C138/01).”

It is clear from this report that I have put together that I have “legitimate interest”… 

…in matters of ‘Criminal Law’ it is clearly defined that we have the Police to rely on to investigate wrong doing and law breaking… in matters of ‘Civil Law’ however, it is not clearly defined who is responsible for investigating matters of Law breaking and impropriety… in such ‘Civil Law’ cases it is very difficult/impossible to get the Police interested until Criminality is proven.

I consider the reason’s why Aberdeenshire Council found it necessary to challenge Kevin Dunion’s decision… and if there are underlying reason’s for doing so?…

My consideration factors in the use of taxpayers’ money to hire top Edinburgh Lawyer’s Biggart Baillie… and the decision by Aberdeenshire Council to risk so much of our taxpayers money doing so… I consider sending an FOI request to see what the immediate cost actually was to the taxpayer to expose how serious.
I also give consideration to whether Alan Campbell CBE, Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council has been informed of the content/subject matter of inquiry of my previous FOI requests and whether he’s been kept up-to-date with the contradictory reply’s made in return by Aberdeenshire Council staff?

… and realise that the staff being investigated are the ones providing the reply’s to my FOI requests (08 Aug 06)… 
“In order to provide you with the information you are looking for, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have complied the following list, which contains formal records augmented by the recollection of officers.”
I therefore conclude my own opinion about whether Alan Campbell is being informed… then a story breaks in the local Newspaper the Press & Journal (13th November 2006), regarding the outgoing Director of Education & Recreation Department… Sohail Faruqi. After only 16 months in his £91,698 per annum job he leaves for ‘personal and family reasons’… but receives a payout worth £90,000! This is absolutely alarming to tax payers. To leave for personal and family reasons and receive a sum of that size over a short time period doesn’t add up. The Press & Journal request the reasons for this departure, but find their request blocked by Aberdeenshire Council citing Data Protection Laws.
This is despite claiming the following...

“Aberdeenshire Council has regard to the public interest in the information it holds, and to the value of openness and transparency. In recognition of the public's wider rights to obtain information from all public authorities under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, Aberdeenshire Council presents this Publication Scheme to foster greater public understanding about what the Council does, how it operates, how it fulfils its many roles and how the public may participate in its functions.”
(Click here...Aberdeenshire Council - Freedom of Information)
Subsequent to this, two community councils are demanding answers from Aberdeenshire Council over the departure of its former Education and Recreation boss. Newtonhill, Muchalls and Cammachmore Community Council and Turriff and District Community Council lodge a complaint with Audit Scotland
It is then realised by me, that Alan Campbell is due to retire and up until now has remained relatively clear of negative reporting. His position will carry an honour such as a Knighthood (to go with his CBE) for services to the public if he can remain unaccountable until his retirement - rewarded for a job badly done.
The School Inspection Report is due in January 2007 - A £90,000 ‘Golden Goodbye’ would indicate that an agreement has been made ‘of some kind’ between Aberdeenshire Council and Faruqi, otherwise he wouldn’t receive such a substantial sum of money from a cash strapped organisation as Aberdeenshire Council… but an agreement on what? What was Faruqi recommending? That the Management Team at Aberdeenshire Council department of Education and Recreation were ineffective… that’s certainly the findings of this report and the opinion of the parents of children in Aboyne, who have been made to fund a private Science Teacher for their children, as Aberdeenshire Council can’t provide one indeed they are currently (on this date) over 80 teachers short in Aberdeenshire.
http://www.thisisnorthscotland.co.uk/displayNode.jsp?nodeId=149235&command=displayContent&sourceNode=149218&contentPK=15976761&moduleName=InternalSearch&formname=sidebarsearch 
Amazingly Sohail Faruqi is re-employed again by Aberdeen City Council... how did that happen?
http://www.pressandjournal.co.uk/Article.aspx/594347
18 Apr 08 Aberdeen Press & Journal... by Emma Christie... Questions raised over former shire council official’s new job - Employee who left with £90,000 pay-off after 16 months lands post with neighbouring local authority Sohail Faruqi: new job... A TOP official who controversially left a north-east local authority with a £90,000 pay-off has landed a high-salary job at a neighbouring council, the Press and Journal can reveal. Sohail Faruqi was director of education at Aberdeenshire Council for 16 months before dramatically quitting in October 2006, citing personal and family reasons. The council faced a barrage of criticism at the time for its refusal to reveal why he was handed such a generous severance deal. And last night, concerned councillors questioned his recent appointment to a senior role at Aberdeen City Council, which will have its affairs investigated by a powerful watchdog next month. It is understood Mr Faruqi now earns about £50,000 a year as a change manager at the city council’s continuous improvement service. The service covers a range of areas including service design and management, scrutiny and audit, corporate communications and rent collection. It aims to drive forward change within the council, and also influences public-sector reform and shared services issues. The city council has had to deal with a storm of protest since it announced £27million of budget cuts, with leisure facilities and services for the disabled and elderly among the hardest hit. Last night, Labour councillor Willie Young said he was surprised the city council would employ someone who had left a neighbouring authority under such unusual circumstances. The Bridge of Don councillor said it might alarm the city’s council tax payers. Conservative Torry and Ferryhill councillor Alan Donnelly also has concerns. He said: “I would certainly like to know whether his CV was closely analysed. I hope when he was interviewed they looked at the reasons why he left Aberdeenshire Council after a relatively short time with a large golden handshake. “If they haven't, I'll be asking questions.” Mr Faruqi took up the post as director of education and recreation at Aberdeenshire Council in June 2005, with a salary of £91,698. He left in October 2006, to be replaced two months later by current director Bruce Robertson. Eyebrows But the pay-off he received – equivalent to £5,625 for every month he worked – caused outrage. Councillors had unanimously agreed to give him the settlement during a private meeting, but then refused to comment on either the decision or the circumstances surrounding his departure. At the time, Gordon Liberal Democrat MP Malcolm Bruce said the size of the payout had “raised eyebrows” and called for the council to clarify how it was set. SNP MSP for Banff and Buchan, Stewart Stevenson, asked the authority’s chief executive to explain the decision, despite issues of confidentiality. Turriff and District Community Council and Newtonhill, Muchalls and Cammachmore Community Council complained to Audit Scotland. Former chairman of the Newtonhill group, Ian Mollison, said the reason for the pay-off had “simply not been explained” despite concerns. But he was keen to stress they had never attacked Mr Faruqi’s character. The message of goodwill was reiterated by North Kincardine councillor Carl Nelson, although he admitted he would “perhaps have been surprised” if Mr Faruqi had been appointed to an education post. Last night, a spokes-woman for Audit Scotland said an investigation into Mr Faruqi’s departure had concluded the council’s decisions were “properly made”.
09 Jul 06 Ian to pj.newsdesk@ajl.co.uk Press and Journal… Aberdeenshire Council - Appeal Against Decision - Court of Session, Edinburgh… Dear Sir / Madam, Recently you published details of a decision made by the Scottish Information Commissioner instructing Aberdeenshire Council to release information to myself. 

http://www.thisisnorthscotland.co.uk/displayNode.jsp?nodeId=149235&command=displayContent&sourceNode=149218&contentPK=14524786&moduleName=InternalSearch&formname=sidebarsearch  Scottish Information Commissioner's Decision

http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/appealsdecisions/decisions/Documents/decision6084.htm Aberdeenshire Council had commented at the time that they would be unlikely to appeal against the decision. I was unavailable for comment at the time this article went to press, but did write a letter to you commenting on the decision... (Titled "Freedom of Information")

 http://www.thisisnorthscotland.co.uk/displayNode.jsp?nodeId=149666&command=displayContent&sourceNode=149347&contentPK=14546005 I have just received a Citation from the Court of Session in Edinburgh stating that Aberdeenshire Council will contest the decision and have lodged an appeal... see attached PDF Document Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron
I realise that as an individual, I am up against a brick wall… and need to start generating some ‘Public Interest’ in the case… the initial story 25 May 06 run by the Aberdeen Press & Journal newspaper was picked up by a reporter (Paul Gallagher) from the Scottish Information Commissioner’s Website… and had nothing to do with me.
I decline however to make a comment at this stage…

09 Jul 06 Claire Elliot, Aberdeenshire reporter Press and Journal claire.elliot@ajl.co.uk to Ian… Appeal… Dear Mr Cameron, My name is Claire Elliot. I'm a reporter with the Press and Journal. Thank you for your email informing us that Aberdeenshire Council plans to appeal the decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner to release information to yourself. Please can you call me on 01224 343171. Yours sincerely Claire Elliot Aberdeenshire reporter Press and Journal

09 Jul 06 Ian to Claire Elliot, Aberdeenshire reporter Press and Journal claire.elliot@ajl.co.uk … Re. Appeal… Dear Ms Elliot, I wouldn't like to make a comment at this stage of the process. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

10 Jul 06 Aberdeen Press & Journal – Newspaper Report Titled…Council to contest names order – by Claire Elliot – Aberdeenshire Council is to contest an order from the Scottish information commissioner to release details about staff working at a north-east ski centre. The authority initially refused a request to give the names, job titles and job descriptions of its staff at the Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre, on the grounds that it amounted to personal information. The applicant, Ian Cameron, appealed to the commissioner, Kevin Dunion, who concluded that the authority breached the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, after deciding that details of the jobs did not constitute personal data. He instructed the council to pass the information to Mr Cameron. The Aberdeenshire Council has now lodged an appeal against the decision - just weeks after a spokesman said it was unlikely the authority would appeal. Mr Dunion concluded that names, start dates and appointment terms were personal data that could allow identification of individual employees. Mr Dunion did not, however, take the same view of the nature of their roles, nor the extent of their responsibilities. The names and job titles of four council staff members were found to be on the centre's website, which meant they were already in the public domain, and Mr Dunion decided it would not be "against the expectation" of employees for their names to be made available in response to a freedom of information request. The commissioner's report did not give the reasons for Mr Cameron's request. Mr Cameron yesterday refused to comment
11 Jul 06 Letter Ian to The Director of Law and Administration, Aberdeenshire Council, Woodhill House, Westburn Road, Aberdeen. AB16 5GB… Data Protection Act 1998 – Subject Access Request Application Form - http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/online/legal.asp Further information given to identify locating data…”All correspondence between Alan Campbell, The Law & Administration Department, Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre, Roy Young, Andrew Miller, Sandy Thorn, The office of the Scottish Information Commissioner, Edinburgh Solicitors Biggart Baillie, any internal correspondence relating to the Freedom of Information requests which I have submitted to Aberdeenshire Council and correspondence received from Huntly Nordic Ski Club & The Big Lottery.
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxiv)
After Aberdeenshire Council stated they would be unlikely to challenge the Freedom of Information Commissioners decision… then issuing a Citation to appear at the Court of Session… I decide to make a request for all information/data containing reference to my name.

14 Jul 06 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/62286]… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Dear Sir / Madam, With reference to Aberdeenshire Council (AC) procurement policy… can you provide me with the following information relative to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at AC Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre. 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed below (submitted to AC during the procurement/tendering process) 2. Detail who the successful supplier was for each item detailed below 3. Provide all receipts / invoices relative to each item detailed below… 39 (pairs) Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 (pairs) Adult Boots (Salomon / Fischer), 85 (pairs)
Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 (pairs)
Adult Skis (Fischer), 51 (pairs)
3 Pin Leather Boots, 25 (pairs) Touring Skis, 7 (pairs) Telemark Skis, 12 (pairs) Marwe Skate Rollers (Marwe), 4 (pairs) Marwe Classic Rollers (Marwe), 6 (pairs) Red Classic Rollers (Swenor), 3 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 4 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 138 Poles(Various), 39 Roller Poles (Various), 3 Ski Bags (Fischer), 24 Rollers Blades, 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant), 49 Helmets, 1 Nordic Track, 1 Fitness Machine, 6 Child Snow Tubes, 10 Adult Snow Tubes… Please treat this request in accordance of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron
I submit FOI5 to check what information Aberdeenshire Council hold on the procurement of equipment held at the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre (written quotations)… this is with reference to my previous request being unanswered in FOI2… 

…and my interest in finding out where the Salomon and Fischer Ski’s and Boots detailed on the Inventory of Equipment held in the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre came from?
14 Jul 06 no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  to Ian… (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/62286] Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/62286] Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.
14 Jul 06 Letter Andrew Lawson, Information Security, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian… Data Protection Act, Subject Access Request… Dear Mr Cameron, I acknowledge receipt of your Data Protection, Subject Access Request. The information sought, within the Subject Access Request, does not relate to personal information for which you are the subject. This request therefore does not fall under Data Protection but would fall under Freedom of Information. I have therefore passed your request onto the relevant department to deal with as a Freedom of Information request. I have returned your cheque (enclosed) Yours Sincerely Andrew Lawson, Information Security.
Aberdeenshire Council IT Department Disregard the Laws of the Data Protection Act (1998) and Aim to Mislead with Intent
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxv)
Aberdeenshire Council policy states that, a reply should be made within 40 days of receiving an application for a ‘Subject Access Request’.

I believe that I have filled their form out correctly...

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxiv)
… but Andrew Lawson at Aberdeenshire Council informs me that my request (the official completed Subject Access Request application form), does not fall under Data Protection and therefore refers it as an FOI request to the ‘relevant department’… but doesn’t state what department that is… I don’t agree with this, but wait to see what information is supplied before questioning Andrew Lawson’s judgement… 

My cheque (#000399) made payable to Aberdeenshire Council for £10 is returned to me with this letter…

The ‘Subject Access Request’ Form that I have filled in is located on an Aberdeenshire Council webpage which leaves no doubt as to what this Form is for…
“Advice for members of the public enquiring about their rights under the Data Protection Act 1998 and / or requesting access to personal data held about them (i.e. making a Subject Access Request) :”
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/online/legal.asp
... therefore no mistake can be made by Andrew Lawson, however, he still tries to mislead me with intent by stating that the form I've filled in is a Freedom of Information request ! even when it states clearly on the advice form...
“How do you ask to see your information? You must complete a “Subject Access Application” form available at Aberdeenshire Council offices or from the address shown at the end of this leaflet.”
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/online/sar_advice.pdf 

My question is, does Andrew Lawson do this with every Subject Access Request Form... or has he been instructed from someone at a higher level to corrupt the process due to the nature of the information that would have to be released? Who would have the authority to instruct Andrew Lawson to break the law? And why would Andrew Lawson then do just that?
(Nearly 1.5 years later on November 2007... I still haven’t received any further answer!.. whitewashed and ignored)
17 Jul 06 Letter from Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commissioner to Ian… Ref: 200600082… Dear Mr Cameron, Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner - 084/2006 Aberdeenshire Council As you will be aware, Aberdeenshire Council has appealed against the decision of the Commissioner ordering it to release to you the names of its employees at the Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre. I am writing to update you with what is happening here. The Commissioner and I are meeting with Counsel on Thursday to discuss the case, after which the Commissioner will decide whether to defend the appeal. I will contact you after the meeting to let you know what has been agreed. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations

Failure to Provide Information Within the Time Period
28 Jul 06 This is the 20th working day since I made the following request…

01 Jul 06 (FOI Enquiry #4 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... ACE/56522 Big Lottery, London… Dear Sir / Madam, Thank you very much for supplying an answer to a recent FOI request that I've made - (detailed below). I would be grateful if you could please supply an original paper copy signed with an original signature ie not a photocopy of a signature. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron
… and eventually receive it 40 days later on 10 Aug 06… (by any standard, this is an unacceptable length of time to wait for a copy of an original signed document)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxiii)
31 Jul 06 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #6 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Annual Reports… Dear Sir / Madam, Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre, I would be grateful if you could provide me with copies of all Annual Reports, (including Financial Reports), for Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre since the beginning of its operation by Aberdeenshire Council. Please treat this request in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron
Personal Agenda of Andrew Miller... at the Expense of Local Sporting Facilities

I submit FOI6 to see the Annual Reports… to check if there is any information there that can be cross checked against the FOI answers I’ve received in the past… and to see what the financial status/income is with regard to the idiosyncrasy of continual investment of £100,000’s being made in the Centre at the expense of other sporting facilities in the Town (Huntly). These other sporting facilities are being closed by Aberdeenshire Council as they, in parallel cut costs. I am interested to see if Andrew Miller has a ‘Personal Agenda’ with regard to Sports Development in Huntly. He is the point of contact within Aberdeenshire Council for applications to the ‘New Opportunities Fund’… 
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/funding/lottery/nof.asp
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxiii)
The Huntly Nordic Ski Centre have received 2 grants from this source £312,750 during 2003-2004 and £350,000 in July 2005. The Annual Accounts reflect little change in usage and continually detail the same losses in each year of operation – The lottery grants have made little difference and have not been capitalised on.
£312,750

http://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/pub_grants_list_nof04.pdf 
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxiv)
£350,000

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxv)
As a local, I can confirm that the general town’s people don’t identify with the Nordic Ski Centre with only a handful associated to the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club; (including Andrew Miller as a private member), using it on an occasional basis. One third of the centres income comes from internal Aberdeenshire Council users such as School’s +/- £5,000.
After the successful community petition preventing Aberdeenshire Council from selling the Rugby and Football pitches in the town at the Market Muir to a leading national Supermarket, Tesco… problems are highlighted with the current facilities there. Aberdeenshire Council state that, they will only provide assistance to the community of 20% of the money raised by the community. Consequently, a local body is formed by the town’s people called Friends of the Market Muir… 
After attending one of the Friends of the Market Muir meetings, I am aware no assistance has been offered to apply for New Opportunities Funding.

Friends of the Market Muir http://www.huntly.net/community/groups/details.php?name=Friends+of+the+Market+Muir 

As well as the Market Muir, Aberdeenshire Council announce that they also have no funding to maintain the operation of the Cooper Park. The Cooper Park contains the towns only Tennis Courts, Trampolines, Table Tennis, Crazy Golf etc… and they subsequently close it.
Again, local town’s people have to find the investment required to open the facility if the community want access. At a local Huntly Community Council meeting 20 Apr 06, Chairwoman Hilda Lumsden-Gill issued members with a photocopy of a letter from a member of the public, Peter Rawlings with his proposals for the opening and rejuvenation of Cooper Park.

Following discussion, members agreed that it was a prospect for the Cooper Park and a proposal that HCC (Huntly Community Council) should fully support.

http://www.huntly.net/community/HCC_Minutes/HCC%20April%202006%20Minutes.htm
The local Boys League Football and Huntly Rugby Club both use the Market Muir and without doubt Andrew Miller as Sports Development Officer in my opinion, should have identified that at least one of the grants to the Ski Centre should have been directed at the facilities local town’s people use regularly, rather than to an elite few with an ability to manipulate large amounts of Grant funding for such a small group of users.

The Annual Accounts for the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre confirm this.
Andrew Miller's personal agenda is then detailed explicitly without equivocation on the Huntly Nordic Ski Club's website in an article regarding 'Ski Centre Developments'


"Work starts in October & should be finished by the end of the year. 
It has been a long wait & although we haven't ended up with 
all we 
hoped for, it is still a lot more than many of us ever expected. A lot 
of people have contributed in some way to the project but the 
real driving force behind it all is Andy Miller. He definitely went 
beyond the call of duty, we all owe Andy a lot of thanks"
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xlvii)
This article without question demonstrates that Andrew Miller has abused his position as Sports
Development Officer at Aberdeenshire Council to achieve an individual goal and satisfy the personal 
agenda that he has as a private member of Huntly Nordic Ski Club "He definitely went beyond the call of duty". The context and use of the word "we" within this statement proves this.

It has to be remembered at this stage that Andrew Miller is Aberdeenshire Council's point of contact for applications to the ‘New Opportunities Fund’… 

http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/funding/lottery/nof.asp
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxiii)
Although Applications are submitted to the Education & Recreation Committee for New Opportunities Funding... decisions made at those committee meetings are made by Councillor's on recommendation... and not through any investigative work done by the Councillor's themselves into the projects proposed. 

It states in the "Assessment of Facilities Proposals" Appendix 4 Nordic Ski Centre, Huntly - Estimated Cost £403,300 dated 29 Aug 02, that... 
"This is the only project under consideration for the 5%-10% allocation for outdoor activities... Officer's Assessment - Very Good (This is the only project that fits the requirement to include adventurous activities)."
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 4)
I question which Officer proposed this as the only project under consideration that fits the requirement? 

It also states in this document under MARR area... 
"The Area Committee was keen to see a spread of projects but the Chair has accepted that two priorities were asked for these are... Priority 1- Huntly Nordic Ski Centre" Priority 2 - Alford Academy Games Hall Extension"
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 1)
The Chair accepted that two priorities were asked for... who is asking for the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre to be Priority #1 ?
This proves to me that Aberdeenshire Council Area Committee is subject to manipulation and are ineffective in identifying when they are being manipulated.

Who was asking for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre to be priority #1 ?

Andrew Miller extends his ability to direct funding for Huntly Nordic Ski Club by setting up significant sponsorship of free flights to Norway and back with a local airline City Star...

"Travel to races in Norway has been helped by City Star Airlines providing free flights from Aberdeen to Norway & Andy Miller is owed a great deal of thanks for arranging this sponsorship"
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xlviii)
It would appear that sports investment in Huntly by Aberdeenshire Council only means one thing... the Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre.
When the Friends of the Market Muir complete the first stage of improvements to the Pavilion at the Market Muir - (highlighted in the report as needing attention during the consultation period of the pre-sale of the land by Aberdeenshire Council to Tesco's Supermarket)... astonishingly Aberdeenshire Council's reaction is to increase the fees it charges for its use!

This is utterly disgusting in light of the comments made by Duty Manager of Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre Sandy Thorn (Ski Club AGM Nov 2005), stating that the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club members are "under no obligation to pay for the use of Aberdeenshire Council's Ski Centre"!
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page ix)

Aberdeenshire Council have stated in ACE/33953 FOI #3 reply 01 Nov 05 that ...
"The Club gets free lets of the Centre in return for the substantial voluntary work done in support of the Centre by Club members."
(Click Here to See Relationship Outdoor Centre versus Club)
This also proves without doubt that a double standard is being applied unfairly by Aberdeenshire Council by way of a public injustice... after the Friends of the Market Muir provide substantial financial and voluntary assistance to create a facility that the majority of the towns people use in one form or another.

This document also highlights the following incredible admission...

"The Centre could not possibly afford to buy in the kind of support they get from the Club, and would struggle to function without it."
... this is a clear statement by Aberdeenshire Council that the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre has been setup for use by a select few, without whom the investment is unviable, indicating that it is a "Personal Agenda" that is driving more money into the Centre... and depriving funds from all other sports facilities in the Town.

Andrew Miller’s compromised objectivity is not only realised by me… but also realised by Angela Oritsejafor, Audit Manager at Big Lottery, London in an email to Nick Blake, Head of Internal Audit at Big Lottery in London. Angela Oritsejafor, recognises Andrew Miller may not be a reliable source of information (internal email 29 Jun 06)

“2. No dispute has been raised on the live grant held by Huntly Nordic Ski Centre to send six ski instructors to Norway although it is noted that Rona followed up on the queries with Aberdeenshire council. My only concern with Rona's follow up, however, is that although it was undertaken with a council employee, the Sport's Development Manager, he also is one of the six who we funded to go off to Norway, it could be argued that his objectivity would be compromised and is unlikely to offer an unbiased opinion of the value of the grant funded project.”
Disregard and Misuse of Ski Equipment Supplied using Big Lottery Grants / Aberdeenshire Council / Taxpayers Money
In the same Newsletter explicitly detailing without equivocation Andrew Miller's personal agenda published on Huntly Nordic Ski Club's website titled 'Ski Centre Developments'...

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xlvii)
... a warning is published to junior members regarding the construction of 'Grind Rails' around the Nordic Ski Track using the new Opportunities Fund grants...
"A grind rail or two will be appearing in places on the roller ski track but these will be positioned so as not to be a hazard to skiers. Before certain younger members get any ideas I will take this opportunity to let them know that the grind rails are not for rollerskis however tempting - YOU KNOW WHO YOU ARE BOYS!!!!"

This warning however is disregarded and members of the Junior Development Squad are pictured on the internet showing little regard for the equipment that they have been given free use of, at facilities that they have also been given free access to as Nordic Ski Club members.

(Click here - Equipment Abuse Photographs - Appendix Page xliv)
This breach of trust and disdain for a unique and biased contract which has been setup by Aberdeenshire Council with Huntly Nordic Ski Club manifests its moral unhealthiness with the disrespect shown by these junior members.

It's little wonder that David Wright, Recreation Manager claims equipment has to be replaced on a 2-3 year cycle due to its finite life... it's clear that it has to be replaced because it's being severely misused at taxpayers’ expense.

Since Roy Young, employee at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre (and private ski club member) 
Click here to see Document Appendix Page iii HNOC Employee List 

…is also supplying Roller Ski's to the Centre...

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page vii)
...it would be difficult to prove his effectiveness to enforce the duty of care required by users of the Roller Ski's at the Centre...

(Click here - Equipment Abuse Photographs - Appendix Page xliv)
31 Jul 06 no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  to Ian… (FOI Enquiry #6 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/63745] Annual Reports… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/63745] Annual Reports' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.
08 Aug 06 From recreation@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Re: [ACE/62286] Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Dear Mr Cameron, Please find a reply to your Freedom of Information request relating to the inventory of the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre (below). Contact details are contained within the letter should you require them. We have also posted a paper copy of this letter to the postal address provided. If we can help further, please let us know. Aberdeenshire Education & Recreation

08 Aug 06 From David Wright, Recreation Manager foi.er@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council)… ACE/62286 Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Applicants Name : Ian Cameron Date: 8 August 2006 - Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your request for information from Aberdeenshire Council dated 14 July 2006 relating to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. We confirm that the Council holds the following information, which we believe satisfies your request. In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose. In order to provide you with the information you are looking for, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have complied the following list, which contains formal records augmented by the recollection of officers. Point 1 39 (pairs) Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 (pairs) Adult Boots (Salomon / Fischer), 85 (pairs) Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 (pairs) Adult Skis (Fischer), 25 (pairs) Touring Skis - The Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre does not have a range of suppliers for skis and boots which it can call upon to tender due to the nature of the market and often has to go direct to the often sole importer of goods, such as SALOMON, FISCHER and SWIX (Orion).  Details of suppliers and prices are included in Appendix 1. Point 2 7 (pairs) Telemark Skis, 51 (pairs) 3 Pin Leather Boots The telemark boots and skis were inherited from Grampian Regional Council stock.  There are no records of these purchases from the former local authority. Point 3 12 (pairs) Marwe Skate Rollers (Marwe), 4 (pairs) Marwe Classic Rollers (Marwe) There was a budget of £4000 set aside from Lottery funding for the Marwe roller skis. These were bought from Tout Tele as they were the local supplier and also based upon cost.  Competitive prices were obtained by telephone and on the internet before placing the order. (Appendix 1) Point 4 6 (pairs) Red Classic Rollers (Swenor), 3 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 4 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various) The 6 Swenor and 7 other classic equipment were bought by the Ski Centre Management Committee prior to the Council taking over the management of the ski slope.  There are no formal records that we are aware of. Point 5 138 Poles (Various), 39Roller Poles (Various) Appendix 2 shows a breakdown of poles ordered.  Other poles purchased previously by the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre are likely to have come from the same sole importer or, if another make, from the sole importer.  There are no records of these transactions as they are more than 5 years old and records are not normally retained after this period. Point 6 3 Ski Bags (Fischer) There are no formal records for this purchase as they were purchased over 5 years ago.  However they are part of a pack of bags bought for moving class equipment to the Clashindarroch and some were for resale by the Ski Centre. Point 7 24 Roller Blades These Roller Blades were purchased from Changing Gear (Appendix 1). Point 8 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant) The most recent purchases came from the local shop Changing Gear, based upon several criteria - value for money, the ability to offer a service contract and buy local policy.  Originally a budget of £4400 was set for 10 bikes, given previous history of buying cheaper bikes, which do not stand up to the punishment.  However, on speaking to Changing Gear and buying end of year ranges, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre were able to buy 23 bikes in total, (Appendix 1) Point 9 49 Helmets Some 24 helmets were also purchased from Changing Gear as part of an overall package and were "budget" priced helmets, ranging between £10 - £30 based upon what was in stock.  Cycle helmets range from about £12 for the cheapest and £100, (Appendix 1) Point 10 1 Nordic Track Fitness Machine The Nordic Track machine was donated by Nordic Track before 1996. This is one machine; not a Nordic Track machine and a separate Fitness machine. Point 11 6 Child Snow Tubes, 10 Adult Tubes The Child and the Adult tubes where purchased from Snowbusiness and Impact, (Appendix 1). Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours sincerely, David Wright Recreation Manager (Also attached to this email Appendix 1 and 2)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxvi)    
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxvii)
Contradiction in Aberdeenshire Council Procurement Policy


I receive a reply to FOI 5 made on 14 Jul 06… 

Previously, Point 3 answer of my second FOI request 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 had stated the following…

Point 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.

… I’m now told that the following is the policy…
In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose.
There is a clear contradiction here… firstly the Policy did change in 2006, where the revised level of £10,000 was introduced… but Aberdeenshire Council are trying to imply that the new £10k policy applied prior to it’s introduction in 2006…
They also state that Officers must show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations below the £60,000 limit… then they avoid answering the question by generalising In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements etc and never address the question 14 Jul 06 asking for competitive written quotations.
In their reply here, they supply no written quotations despite them saying it’s required by Officer’s and fail to answer my request for this information.
I know that the Scottish Executive have a written Procurement Policy Manual “Scottish Procurement Directorate”  which references European Rules regarding Procurement (known as “EC Procurement Directives”… 

The Scottish Executive Procurement Policy Manual - “Scottish Procurement Directorate”

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/1265/0009539.pdf 
Almost every single public body I have researched on the Internet, have a procurement policies which are subject to 2-3 written quotations for amounts ‘between’ £2,000 to £10,000.

I have previously asked Aberdeenshire Council for a copy of their Procurement Policy… but wasn’t given it, only a brief description… 
04 Nov 05 Question 3. Details of Aberdeenshire Council’s general policy regarding tendering contracts for purchasing equipment. 
02 Dec 05 Answer 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.
They have a website specifically for procurement… but don’t state what their policy is on it…

http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/about/purchasing/index.asp 

Aberdeenshire Council Admit to Breaching Financial Laws by Keeping Improper Financial Records
In Point 5, Aberdeenshire Council admit that they do not keep proper financial records...

“Point 5 138 Poles (Various), 39Roller Poles (Various) Appendix 2 shows a breakdown of poles ordered.  Other poles purchased previously by the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre are likely to have come from the same sole importer or, if another make, from the sole importer.  There are no records of these transactions as they are more than 5 years old and records are not normally retained after this period”.
The Law states that Aberdeenshire Council is required to keep proper records for 7 years !

... and continues by saying 
“the government, through agencies such as the HM Revenue & Customs (which deals with VAT), want to make sure they are collecting the necessary tax incurred by your business and they are entitled to inspect your financial records at any time, so it is essential that you take the time to maintain your records properly” 

What Aberdeenshire Council are doing here is lying... and doing it badly.
Huge Gap in the Information Supplied and Failure to Provide Information
I have a look at the ‘Inventory of Moveable Equipment’ supplied to me in ACE 32775 02 Dec 05… (Click here to see Document Appendix Pages xi to xiv) and I’m particularly interested in the Salomon and Fischer Ski’s and Boots (detailed earlier) especially the quantities of equipment… with singular reference to Roy Young’s setting up of ‘Tout Tele’ Fischer supplier agreements at the Centre and the contradiction of Salomon and Fischer being initially a ‘Tout Tele’ supplier then an Aberdeenshire Council supplier.
In the answer to FOI 5 (above)… only 74 pairs of boots and 28 pairs of ski’s were accounted for in Appendix 1 and 2 supplied… leaving 41 pairs of boots and 147 ski’s left unaccounted for. (Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxvi) and (Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxvii)
Furthermore, no receipts/invoices are supplied to back up the purchases from the companies named.

The Fischer Ski Bags

It states in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property, that the ‘date of acquisition’ of the 3x Fischer Ski Bags was 2003… (Click here to see Document Appendix Page xiii)
Aberdeenshire Council’s answer FOI 5 states that…

“There are no formal records for this purchase as they were purchased over 5 years ago. However they are part of a pack of bags bought for moving class equipment to the Clashindarroch and some were for resale by the Ski Centre” 
There is a clear contradiction in the information that’s being supplied here…? Firstly that the date of acquisition has changed and secondly that the ‘pack of bags’ referred to here, have not been recorded in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment.
The Contradiction of the ‘Buy Local’ Policy 

It is stated in the ACE/62286 reply that Aberdeenshire Council has a ‘Buy Local’ policy… I ask for the written text of the policy (17 Aug 06), given to all Officer’s to support this claim… I’m interested in the conflict where on one hand “Officer’s have to show best value” (02 Dec 05 ACE/32775) and the other hand a ‘Buy Local Policy’ which would imply that “Best Value” is not sought?

Later I receive a reply to FOI#5 part 2 27 Sep 06, enclosing a copy of the ‘Sustainable Purchasing Policy’… however this document is dated 10 Nov 05… the equipment I am specifically asking about is dated on the ‘Inventory of Moveable Equipment’ as ‘Various’… and the Inventory itself is dated 31 Mar 05… this means I’ve been given a document which has no relevance to the equipment I’m asking about… and that it hasn’t been defined when the equipment in question was actually bought, as they also state in the 27 Sep 06 reply that there is no additional information regarding the purchase of 265 ski’s and boot’s – what they are saying here is that, they don’t hold the receipts/invoices.
Again, I’m being supplied with dishonest information by Aberdeenshire Council and again they are succeeding in failing to answer my questions appropriately and demonstrate that they are breaking the law by not keeping proper financial records for 7 years.
Fischer Racquetline Limited

Of the companies listed in Appendix 1 and 2 of the information supplied in 08 Aug 06 ACE/62286… I make a cross check with Company listings on the Companies House Website
http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk//index.shtml
I find no reference to Fischer Racquetline Limited… I then make an internet search, and unusually I also find no reference to this company.
I know that the Fischer Distributor is based in Edinburgh (Thin Ice Sports Ltd), and have previously been told that 2 Fischer Suppliers are located in the Aberdeenshire area… Braemar Mountain Sports and Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’ c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre…

This reply tells me of their ‘Buy Local’ Policy. With a Fischer supplier agreement setup at an Aberdeenshire Council facility by their employee Roy Young, I find it unusual that a company Fischer Racquetline Limited is therefore involved in the procurement of Fischer Ski equipment. I had asked for receipts to back up the information given… but this was ignored and no receipts to prove the purchase are apparently held by Aberdeenshire Council.
In FOI#5 part 2 reply 27 Sep 06, it is now stated that Fischer Racquetline Ltd was superseded by Thin Ice Sports Ltd in Edinburgh… but they vaguely say about 3 to 4 years ago… the safety of this answer is questionable and needs to be clarified.
In Appendix 1 (Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxvi), it states that the last item bought from Fischer Racquetline Limited was Sprint Crown Skis on 20 Jan 04

When asked for the VAT registration number for Fischer Racquetline Limited… Aberdeenshire Council don’t provide it… they provide details for Thin Ice Sports instead 27 Sep 06? Ie they again avoid answering the question and provide misleading information.

Fischer Racquetline Limited… Determination of Existence…
· Checked Companies House website... a Limited company such as Fischer Racquetline Limited will be listed there... it isn’t

· Complete a thorough Internet search – no results for Fischer Racquetline Limited found

· Checked the Soltex catalogues for the predecessor company to Thin Ice Sports... the company which pre-deceased Fischer Racquetline Limited was Mast-Co Ltd based in Reading

· Visit Braemar Mountain Sports and confirm that the predecessor supplier/distributor of Fischer before Thin Ice Sports was Mast-Co Ltd... They add by saying they’ve had the Fischer supply agreement since 1996 and have never heard of Fischer Racquetline Limited. (Rab Reid states only 2 agreements are in the Aberdeen/Aberdeenshire area and they are held by Council employee Roy Young’s Tout Tele and Braemar Mountain Sports)

· When Braemar Mountain Sports were asked if they had been given an opportunity to quote on any selection tendering process by Aberdeenshire Council under its buy local policy... they state that Aberdeenshire Council have never approached them to tender for equipment supply contracts.

· Aberdeenshire Council claim, trying to falsely mislead (Fischer Racquetline Limited address is Thin Ice Sports Address in Edinburgh and the VAT # is the Fischer factory in Austria’s VAT #) that they now hold no information regarding Fischer Racquetline Limited despite by law being required to keep proper financial records for 7 years (where the VAT # and trading address would be found).

“the government, through agencies such as the HM Revenue & Customs (which deals with VAT), want to make sure they are collecting the necessary tax incurred by your business and they are entitled to inspect your financial records at any time, so it is essential that you take the time to maintain your records properly” 
· When asked for Invoices/Receipts of equipment held on the 31 Mar 05 Inventory of Moveable Equipment at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, Aberdeenshire Council only provide information in a spreadsheet on Appendix 1 detailing only 54 sets of skis bought from Fischer Racquetline Limited...

... but 150 sets of skis and 76 pairs of boots Salomon/Fischer are detailed on the Inventory... therefore, 172 Fischer items have been left unaccounted for. There must be invoices for this quantity of equipment totalling approximately £30,000.

· I actually believe that the name Fischer Racquetline Limited is a play on words... Salomon ski equipment is actually called Salomon Taylor Made... as well as skis, they also make Golf equipment... Fischer have a line in Tennis racquets... and I believe that Aberdeenshire Council employees have created this name along the same lines.

Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement of Equipment from Employee Roy Young’s Company ‘Tout Tele’

In the procurement process of 12 Marwe Skate Rollers and 4 Marwe Classic Rollers from employee Roy Youngs company ‘Tout Tele’, it is stated in the 08 Aug 06 ACE/62286 reply that…
“Competitive prices were obtained by telephone and on the Internet before placing the order (Appendix 1).”
I find it hard to believe that it is allowable to procure equipment through an employee, for that employee’s place of work … where there is absolutely no accountability or means to verify that competitive quotations are being sought.
It is clear that breaches in procurement and employment policy are being made as well as a failure in ethical standards. One question I ask myself is… ‘Who, within Aberdeenshire Council, is authorising the procurement of equipment through/from Roy Young?’

I have been told in the past that, Andrew Miller is the Officer in charge of procurement for the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Andrew Miller has a close personal relationship with Roy Young as discussed before.
The Council were charged £2,040 for 12 Marwe Skate Rollers and 4 Marwe Classic Rollers by Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’.
In the answer to FOI2 14 Oct 05… it is stated that…

“The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment”
So far, only the roller ski’s have been accounted for as purchases from Tout Tele… this statement also confirms that Nordic ski equipment has been bought from Tout Tele… at this point I refer back to the quantities of Salomon and Fischer Ski’s and Boots and consider how much of this has gone through Tout Tele… again, this is with reference to Aberdeenshire Council failing to supply receipts/invoices and details of procurement quotations…
Staff at Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre Compile the Information for FOI Request #5
“In order to provide you with the information you are looking for, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have complied the following list, which contains formal records augmented by the recollection of officers.”
It is the that I am investigating… and they are the ones compiling the FOI reply… therefore it isn’t surprising that my FOI question’s are not being answered properly.

This shows the need for an ‘Independent’ to check FOI requests, not the relevant Department being questioned, as currently, the people being investigated in a case where there is serious impropriety, can be the ones supplying/or withholding information as I have demonstrated.

This aspect of FOI requests could be addressed by ‘all’ bodies subject to the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and maybe worth looking into in general by Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner.
16 Aug 06 Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation to Ian… (FOI Enquiry #6 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/63745] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) Acknowledgement Applicants Name: Ian Cameron Applicants Address: cameronaberdeen@hotmail.com Dear Mr Cameron, Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 - (“The Act") I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 31 July 2006 requesting copies of Annual Reports for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre since Aberdeenshire Council took over its operation. The Council does not produce Annual Reports for individual recreation facilities. However, the Finance Service does produce annual Income/expenditure statements. I enclose for your information copies of the Income/Expenditure statements for Huntly Nordic Ski Centre from the financial year 2000/01 to date. The statements include a forecast for 2006/07. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours sincerely Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxviii)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxix)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxx)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxi)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxii)
Annual Reports for Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre – None except for 1 Page Financial Summary

I had asked for all Annual Reports FOI 6 31 Jul 06… but the reply only gives 1 page Financial Summary’s for each year of operation… other than that, no reporting appears to be made regarding the operation of the Centre to Councillor’s or Aberdeenshire Council Official’s?
Not unusually, the figures show an Annual loss of around £10,000-£15,000 per year. What the figures really show is… annually, people are generally not using the Centre and the Council are failing to attract people to use the facility. One third of the Centres income comes from internal use eg by schools.
The usage trend remains the same despite Aberdeenshire Council receiving £312,750 from the New Opportunities Fund for Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre during April 2003-March 2004 http://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/pub_grants_list_nof04.pdf and £350,000 in June 2005.
This demonstrates that this funding made limited impact to the usage of the facility.

Applications for New Opportunities Fund grants are currently tasked to Andrew Miller… Andrew Miller is also a member of the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club which has been afforded free access to Aberdeenshire Council’s Huntly Nordic & outdoor Centre and therefore also has a personal interest in any investment made there.
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/funding/lottery/nof.asp
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxiii)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxiv)
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxv)
17 Aug 06 (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi.er@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... ACE/62286 Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre … FAO: David Wright, Recreation Manager - Dear Mr Wright, Thank you very much for supplying an answer to a recent FOI request that I made on 14 Jul 06 - (dated 08 Aug 06). Point 1 I’d like to draw your attention to Point 3… information given to me on 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775… “Point 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.” You have now quoted the following legislation to me 08 Aug 06 in ACE/62286… “In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose.” When I wrote my FOI request 14 Jul 06, I was making reference to the information Aberdeenshire Council provided 02 Dec 05 ACE/23775… I am aware that this year in 2006, the change was made that written tender would be required for sums above £10,000 and not the higher £60,000 limit. Therefore you have misled my request for information, applying revised legislation, to the procurement of items made prior to 2006. It was clearly defined in the Procurement Policy given to me 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 that for sums under £60,000, “Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.” My question doesn’t ask for a waffle about “Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products etc etc”… I have asked simply for… 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property dated 31st March 2005 submitted to Aberdeenshire Council during the procurement/tendering process) Therefore, I would be grateful if you could please supply an answer to this question and relate it to all items mentioned in the ‘Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property’. If Officer’s have not obtained written quotations, despite being stated as a requirement for procurement under £60,000, please say so and explain why. Point 2 In the information that you have supplied in Appendix 1… I asked for 1. the two competitive written quotations for, 2. itemise who the successful supplier was and 3. provide all receipts and invoices relative to each item detailed. 39 pairs Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 pairs Adult Boots (Salomon/Fischer), 85 pairs Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 pairs Adult Skis (Fischer), 25 pairs Touring Skis, There is a huge gap in the information supplied… only 74 pairs of boots and 28 pairs of ski’s have been accounted for in Appendix 1 and 2… You have not provided any receipts/invoices… please provide them. You haven’t detailed who the supplier’s were for the remaining 41 boots and 147 ski’s left unaccounted. Please detail who they are. I would be grateful if you could answer this question properly and provide the information I have originally asked for. Point 3 It states in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property, that the ‘date of acquisition’ of the 3x Fischer Ski Bags was 2003… your answer states that… “There are no formal records for this purchase as they were purchased over 5 years ago. However they are part of a pack of bags bought for moving class equipment to the Clashindarroch and some were for resale by the Ski Centre” There is a clear contradiction in the information that’s being supplied here… why is that? In the answer that is given, can you provide me with procurement information about the ‘pack of bags’ which were bought and how many were sold on as mentioned above. (Who they were bought from, when they were bought, the two competitive written quotations and the invoices/receipts) Point 4 You state in the ACE/62286 reply, that Aberdeenshire Council has a “buy local” policy… can you supply me with the written text of the policy given to all Officer’s that confirms this. Point 5 In the suppliers you have mention in Appendix 1… can you provide me with the following information… Their trading postal address and VAT Registration Number… this information should be on the receipts and is not sensitive to the Data Protection Act… Fischer Racquetline Ltd,  Salomon Taylor Made Ltd Point 6 Can you explain how competitive prices obtained by telephone and on the internet before placing an order with ‘Tout Tele’ for 12 Marwe Skate Rollers and 4 Marwe Classic Rollers can be verified? Please treat this clarification for information in accordance to the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

I decide to challenge the contradiction of information given to me in FOI5 (discussed above)…
18 Aug 06 Letter Robert Holland, Corporate Governance Manager, Big Lottery Fund to Ian… DPA Request for Information held on Ian Cameron… Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your letter dated the 12 July 2006 which we received on the 13 July 2006. In your letter you requested all documentation we hold where your name is referenced or mentioned. I have included all of the documentation requested with no exemptions applied. I can also confirm that your name has not been disclosed to any individuals outside of the Big Lottery Fund and Awards for All. My letter to Dr Peter Thorn on the 20 September 2005 shows that I only explain that a request has been received and do not reveal the identity of the requester. I'm afraid there is some duplication in the information provided, this was to ensure that no information was missed whilst compiling. This information is being provided to you under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998 for the purpose of your request. Should you intend to re-use this information you should seek consent from any individuals involved or you may be in breach of the Data Protection Act yourself. I would also like to remind you that as we have explained to you before, by knowingly applying for a grant for another organisation in your name, you were in breach of our terms and conditions, although we do not intend to take this matter further at this time. I do hope this brings the matter to a satisfactory conclusion as we have now provided all information regarding you. If you have any queries regarding the Data Protection Act please contact me at the address below. Your reference is: DPA/1 /1307. It would be helpful if you could quote this reference in any future correspondence. If you are unhappy with the level of service you have received in relation to your request, you may ask for an internal review. Contact me and I will arrange for the decision to be reviewed. If you are not content with the outcome of the internal review, you have the right to apply directly to the Information Commissioner for a decision. The Information Commissioner can be contacted at: Information Commissioner's Office Wycliffe House, Water Lane, Wilmslow Cheshire SK9 5AF Yours sincerely, Robert Holland, Corporate Governance Manager, Big Lottery Fund 3rd, Floor 1 Plough Place London EC4A 1 DE Tel: 020 7211 3736 Fax: 020 7211 3749 Email: freedomofinformation@biglotteryfund.org.uk
I receive a large package 18 Aug 06 from the Big Lottery in London after a ‘DPA 1998’ Subject Access Request on all information held about myself or documentation containing my name.

I am Threatened Directly by the Big Lottery with a Gross Contradiction and Incompetence
On the cover letter to this package, I am threatened directly and in writing by the Big Lottery in London… they have failed to understand my complaint of impropriety of Roy Young both co-ordinating a Lottery Grant and then putting a large proportion of it through his own business… 
18 Aug 06 “I would also like to remind you that as we have explained to you before, by knowingly applying for a grant for another organisation in your name, you were in breach of our terms and conditions, although we do not intend to take this matter further at this time. I do hope this brings the matter to a satisfactory conclusion as we have now provided all information regarding you.”
They contradict themselves with gross incompetence having previously communicated on 29 Jun 06 the following, saying that they are satisfied that there is evidence of delivery of the project in accordance with the grant contractual terms and conditions that I signed:
29 Jun 06 Nick Blake, Head of Internal Audit, Big Lottery Fund, 4th Floor, 1 Plough Place London EC4A 1DE to Ian… Ref: AAS/3/010088244 Dear Mr Cameron, The investigation undertaken by Internal Audit is now concluded after sourcing information from the Big Lottery Fund's records and officers. This was also supplemented by the information forwarded by you and your telephone conversation with my Audit Manager, Ms Angela Oritsejafor, on 25 May 2006. Your concerns have been duly noted, however the Fund is satisfied that there is evidence of delivery of the project in accordance with the grant contractual terms and conditions, which you signed as former Secretary of the Huntly Hill Walking Club. During the investigation the Fund has taken the opportunity to review and improve, where appropriate, working practices but generally the Fund's approved grant procedures were adhered to. I would advise you to refer any VAT concerns you may still have and which you also discussed with Ms Angela Oritsejafor, to the appropriate body; H.M. Revenue and Excise. Thank you for your bringing this matter to our attention and for your co​operation throughout our enquiries. Yours sincerely, Nick Blake Head of Internal Audit 020 7211 3767 

(My interpretation of the 29 Jun 06 reply from the Audit Manager, Nick Blake is that the Big Lottery are ‘Whitewashing’ my complaint and refusing to address it… Indeed they never have addressed it… and as I challenge it, they start to wave a ‘big stick’.)

Looking at it from the Big Lottery’s point of view, they may in fact want to avoid association of any bad publicity surrounding the £642,750 New Opportunities Fund Grants or the £12,980 ‘Awards for All Scotland’ grants issued to the Ski Centre and the Ski Club respectively.
The Big Lottery Demonstrate that they are an Organisation in Complete Disarray
As I check through the information supplied as a result of my Subject Access Request… the Big Lottery demonstrates that they are an organisation which is in complete disarray.

They haven’t understood one single aspect of the complaints made and mix up information on who received what and where the problems are.
Andrew Miller – Defamation of My Reputation and the Conversion of that Slander into Libel by Big Lottery Staff
Rona Alexander, Head of Programmes, Big Lottery Fund, Scotland documents (20 June 06) a conversation held by telephone with Andrew Miller, Sports Development Officer Aberdeenshire Council.
In this documentation the following is noted as being said by Andrew Miller:

“The Council were fully aware that the snow shoes were kept at the Ski Centre and judged this to be best way to make them accessible to the community as the centre is open daily. The equipment store at the centre allows users to access equipment for use at the centre or in the forests when there is snowfall in the winter. Other members of the Hillwalking Club apparently agreed with this arrangement and disagreed with Ian Cameron's view that the snow shoes should be kept at his residence. According to Andy Millar, Mr Cameron has been subsequently voted from office as secretary of the Hillwalking committee and the snow shoes remain accessible from the centre. Mr Cameron has made an FOI request to the Council relating the Ski Centre.”
I have never met Andrew Miller before and I neither know what he looks like, yet he makes 3 statements to the Big Lottery which are completely untrue about myself… directly affecting the credibility of my complaint to them and my reputation…
1. I have never wanted to keep the Snow Shoes at my home residence and never have… indeed, I have never even so much as touched these Snow Shoes. They were requested by Roy Young and procured by him directly for his organisation Huntly Nordic Ski Club, of which Mr Miller is a private member.
2. I was never voted from Office as Secretary of the Hillwalking Club – I fulfilled my full 4 terms of Office from November 2001 to November 2005 and didn’t stand for re-election. The constitution states that committee members should only serve a maximum of 3 years, I in fact exceeded that doing 4 years service because no one would take on the Secretary’s position.

Huntly Hillwalking Club Constitution

10.2 Terms of Committee: The Ordinary Members/Family Members (aged over 16) of the Committee shall be elected at the AGM and shall hold office thereafter until the succeeding AGM. Members shall be eligible for re-election, but may not be entitled to hold the same Office for more than 3 (three) consecutive years.

3. The Snow Shoes were removed from the HNSOCentre by the Hillwalking Club Treasurer Brian Shanks as a decision made by the Hillwalking Club at the EGM on 11th November 2005… they are now NOT accessible to the Public at the HNSOCentre.
Rona Alexander’s email is then cc’d to a further 5 people within the Big Lottery… and damage to my reputation with untruths has been completed.
Every complaint I have made to the Big Lottery has been backed up with written documentation… yet Big Lottery accept unsubstantiated untruths from a man who I have never met.

Andrew Miller has also done this as a representative/spokesman of Aberdeenshire Council and not as a private individual, so therefore in my view, this is a statement made by Aberdeenshire Council to the Big Lottery… consequently, defamation of my reputation has been made directly by Aberdeenshire Council.
It’s incredible to think that an Aberdeenshire Council employee would make such an official statement of non fact.

Angela Oritsejafor, Audit Manager at Big Lottery however does recognise Andrew Miller may not be a reliable source of information (internal email 29 Jun 06)
“1. I notified Chris Holloway (Scotland AfA PM) that once IA had responded to Ian Cameron on the outcome of the investigation I would inform him that the dispute on MS/3/01 0088244 could be closed. Can I therefore suggest that the draft letter attached edited by yourself is sent out so that Mr Cameron has no grounds for filing a complaint for failure on our part to follow up on his concerns and respond in writing. 

2. No dispute has been raised on the live grant held by Huntly Nordic Ski Centre to send six ski instructors to Norway although it is noted that Rona followed up on the queries with Aberdeenshire council. My only concern with Rona's follow up, however, is that although it was undertaken with a council employee, the Sport's Development Manager, he also is one of the six who we funded to go off to Norway, it could be argued that his objectivity would be compromised and is unlikely to offer an unbiased opinion of the value of the grant funded project. 

Not wanting to spend anymore time on this I suggest no further action is taken on our part, Scotland Press have been informed (see the last line of Rona's email) and the Award Officer, Programme Manager and Head of Programmes have been duly alerted to possible further external enquiries . 

If you wish to add anything or discuss the content of Rona's email message below, please let me know. Thanks Angela”
Andrew Miller - Statement
I believe Andrew Miller has made the Big Lottery aware of my questions to Aberdeenshire Council to further undermine my credibility. This might explain partially why Nick Blake at Big Lottery, London refuses to acknowledge, let alone answer a complaint I made to him on 24th July 2006.
“Mr Cameron has made an FOI request to the Council relating the Ski Centre.”
The Big Lottery Clearly Whitewash my Complaint and Demonstrate that they are Corrupt
Angela Oritsejafor, Audit Manager, Big Lottery – Internal email – 29 Jun 06

“1. I notified Chris Holloway (Scotland AfA PM) that once IA had responded to Ian Cameron on the outcome of the investigation I would inform him that the dispute on MS/3/01 0088244 could be closed. Can I therefore suggest that the draft letter attached edited by yourself is sent out so that Mr Cameron has no grounds for filing a complaint for failure on our part to follow up on his concerns and respond in writing

Not wanting to spend anymore time on this I suggest no further action is taken on our part”
The Big Lottery have never addressed/answered my complaint about Roy Young both co-ordinating a Lottery Grant and then putting a large proportion (80% £4,000) of it through his own business… despite the fact that they have been issued with directives given to the National Lottery Charities Board and New Opportunities Fund under Section 26(1) of the National Lottery etc. Act 1993 by The Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport The Right Honourable Tessa Jowell MP, in exercise of the powers conferred on her by section 26(1) of the National Lottery Act (after having consulted with themselves National Lottery Charities Board and New Opportunities Fund (Now called The Big Lottery)).

This document gives clear directions as to how funding should be distributed… and relates to matters of financial accountability and propriety.
http://www.culture.gov.uk/images/publications/TransformationalDirectionsSignedanddatedver.pdf 
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxxvii)
The Big Lottery completely disregard The Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sports directives, which give clear instructions as to how funding should be distributed with relation to matters of financial accountability and propriety.
They say I have no grounds for complaint, yet I have made one direct complaint submitted 3 times now about grant AAS/2/010017491 
Complaint Date: 31st October 2005 to Chris Holloway at Big Lottery, Glasgow

Complaint Date: 17th February 2006 to Nick Blake at Big Lottery, London

Complaint Date: 24th July 2006 to Nick Blake at Big Lottery, London
The last complaint 24th July 2006 has never been acknowledged by Nick Blake, Head of Internal Audit…

The Big Lottery are not performing their duties as they were originally intended to, performing them in an improper way, to the detriment of the system's original purpose. … ie they have now become corrupt.
Big Lottery - Data Protection Act 1998
“This information is being provided to you under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998 for the purpose of your request. Should you intend to re-use this information you should seek consent from any individuals involved or you may be in breach of the Data Protection Act yourself.”
Robert Holland, Corporate Governance Manager at the Big Lottery, I believe has wrongly interpreted the DPA 1998... My opinion is, 'I am not an authority registered under the DPA', therefore, if the information has been released to me, I’m not bound to seek the individuals consent if I re-use the information? Secondly, if the information has been released to me, has it now been released into the public domain and subject to public interest?
I ask for clarification and email my questions to Robert Holland on 20 Sep 06
18 Aug 06 (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation to Ian… [ACE/62286] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Dear Mr Cameron, This is to confirm receipt of your email below. We will respond as quickly as possible. Regards, Joanna Shirriffs, Project Coordinator Education & Recreation
Aberdeenshire Council Ignore a Subject Access Request Made Under the Terms of the Data Protection Act and Demonstrate a Complete Disregard for the Law
22 Aug 06 is the 40th day of the time limit for a DPA Subject Access Request, where all information should have been supplied to me regarding my request on 11 July 06… it hasn’t and the deadline has expired.

Andrew Lawson stated that he was referring my request as an FOI request which should take 20 working days… the expiry date for that was 11 Aug 06 from receipt of the request which was 14 Jul 06… that date has also expired and no information has yet been received.
(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxv)
By filling in the DPA 1998 'Subject Access Request Application Form' I expected to receive in reply - Copies of all information held about me (Ian Cameron), Any documentation where my name is mentioned or referenced, Personal information held on both computer and manual record systems and within the information detail of the person/organisations to whom the information containing my name (or referencing requests that I have made) has been disclosed.

(Click here to see Document Appendix Page xxiv)
My belief is Aberdeenshire Council are withholding the information on purpose, further more, they have failed to meet their obligations demonstrating a complete disregard for the Law in which the DPA has been written.
I conclude that someone on a higher level to Andrew Lawson has instructed him to prevent the release of a Subject Access request to me... and that corruption within Aberdeenshire Council, and the propensity to break the Law and disregard it crosses all boundaries within the Council itself.

Who on the higher level instructed Andrew Lawson to reply in this way and how has this public organisation managed to reach such a level of bias, self serving degradation?
It's proven to me without doubt that Aberdeenshire Council generically are not serving the public interest first... but serve themselves and their own agenda regardless of the publics best interest when it suits them.

I doubt Andrew Lawson knows the full extent of the activities of Roy Young, Andrew Miller, David Wright and the staff at the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre... but he will act accordingly when instructed to do so.
At the concluding date of this report 05 Feb 07, no information has been received.
25 Aug 06 Ian to Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation… (FOI Enquiry #6 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/63745] Huntly Nordic Ski Centre… Dear Ms Shirriffs, Thank you very much for your reply to my request. Can you confirm as a point of clarification, that there have been no reports (of any kind) to Aberdeenshire Councillors or Council Officials other than the financial records for Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre as stated in your reply? Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron


I ask for clarification on the Reporting of the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre

… a new FOI request number [ACE/66572] is created to deal with this question for clarification…
25 Aug 06 no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian…(FOI Enquiry #6 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/66572] ACE/63745 Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/66572] ACE/63745 Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre'

13 Sep 06 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #7 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Minutes [ACE/33953]… Dear Sir/Madam, Please can you forward Minutes of the review meetings for FOI request [ACE/33953]… Please treat this request in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Regards Ian Cameron

14 Sep 06 education@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #7 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Review Meeting Minutes [ACE/33953]… Applicants Name:  Ian Cameron Date:- 18 January 2011 Dear Mr Cameron, Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) Acknowledgement - I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 13 September 2006 seeking information relating the review meetings for FOI request ACE/33953. We received your request for information on 13 September 2006.  This is being treated as a request under Section 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, and accordingly the Council will respond in terms of the legislation as soon as possible and in any event within 20 working days of receipt of your request. We will undertake a full search for the information that you have requested, and will also advise you if this information is not held by us.  Please contact me as the officer responsible for co-ordinating your request if you have any further queries. At this stage please see under noted the Council’s Review Procedures which also apply in the event of delay in dealing with your request. Yours sincerely Sarah Collie Aberdeenshire Education & Recreation Service
14 Sep 06 education@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #7 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Review Meeting Minutes [ACE/33953]… Applicants Name:  Ian Cameron, Date:- 18 January 201115th September 2006 - Dear Mr Cameron, Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) - I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 13/09/06 requesting the minutes of the review meetings for FOI request (ACE/33953). We confirm that the Council holds the following information, which we believe satisfies your request, and which is enclosed. The information is a minute of the review meeting held on the 30th November 2005 in which The Review Panel considered a case where an applicant was dissatisfied with the way in which the Council had dealt with a request for information made under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and had required the authority to review its actions and decisions in relation to that request. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours faithfully Sarah Collie Admin Assistant Education & Recreation

ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL - FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REVIEW PANEL - WOODHILL HOUSE, ABERDEEN, 30 NOVEMBER, 2005 - Present:
Mr C Mackenzie, Director of Housing and Social Work (Chair); Mr T Mitchell, Head of Operations; Mr R Taylor, Senior Solicitor. Officer:
Mr A Nicol, Principal Committee Officer. 1.  CASE NO. 24/05 The Review Panel considered a case where an applicant was dissatisfied with the way in which the Council had dealt with a request for information made under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (referred to as “the Act”) and had required the authority to review its actions and decisions in relation to that request.  Written submissions had been circulated on behalf of the applicant and the Council. The submission on behalf of the Council stated that the Council held the information sought by the applicant but officers had refused the request for information in terms of Section 38(1)(b) of the Act relating to personal information, on the basis that disclosure of the information to a member of the public would contravene the rights of individuals under the Data Protection Act 1998.

The submission on behalf of the applicant stated that he did not agree that names and dates of appointment of staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council constituted personal information under the terms of the Data Protection Act 1998. After discussion, the Review Panel agreed that the original decision was, in their view, a correct decision and was therefore upheld. The Review Panel gave the following statement of reasons for their decision:- The Review Panel noted that the information sought by the applicant was personal information relating to Council employees.  The Review Panel considered that this information would constitute personal data falling within the exemption contained in Section 38(1)(b) of the Act relating to personal information. The Review Panel decided that, as this was an absolute exemption, the request should be refused.

27 Sep 06 Joanna Shirriffs Project Co-ordinator Education & Recreation to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #6 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/66572] ACE/63745 Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor... Dear Mr Cameron, In reference to your request for clarification below I can confirm that since 1999 there have been no other reports to Aberdeenshire Councillors regarding the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, with the exception of a report to Education & Recreation Committee on Wednesday 29 August 2002 regarding an application for funding from the New Opportunities Fund. I shall put a copy of the Committee report in the post today. We are not aware of any reports specifically to Council Officers regarding the facility other than the Income/Expenditure statements previously sent to you. If you are looking for reports other than Annual Reports/Financial information it would be helpful if you could provide further clarification of what you are looking for. Regards, Joanna Shirriffs Project Coordinator Education & Recreation
Aberdeenshire Council - Report to Education & Recreation Committee - New Opportunities Fund Proposals & Approvals... attachments...
(Click here to see Document - Page 1 to 5)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 1)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 2)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 3)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 4)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 5)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 5a)
(Click here to see Document - Appendix 6)
(Click here to see Document - NOF 29 Aug 02 Meeting Minutes)
27 Sep 06 foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre [ACE/62286]… Dear Mr Cameron, Attached is a response to your email below. Also attached is a PDF copy of the Council's Sustainability Purchasing Policy as referred to in the letter. If you are unable to open the PDF document please let me know and I shall send you a paper copy. Regards Joanna Shirriffs Project Coordinator Education & Recreation
(Attached Letter) Our Ref: ACE 62286 Applicants Name:  Mr Ian Cameron - Dear Mr Cameron, Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”)… Thank you for your email dated 17 August 2006 regarding my response of 8 August 2006 to your Freedom of Information request. I will respond to each of your points raised in turn: Point 1. You refer in your email to the Council’s procurement policy. For clarification the Council’s Financial Regulations, which are not dictated by legislation, currently state the following: 1 For estimated values of over £60,000, formal tender documents should be issued to approved tenderers. 2 For estimated values of between £10,000 and £60,000, competitive quotations must be obtained in writing from at least two parties. 3. For estimated values of less than £10,000, (prior to 23 February 2006 the amount was less than £5,000), neither formal tenders or written quotations are required if: a) The goods or materials are only sold at fixed prices, and no satisfactory alternative is available; b) prices are controlled by trade organizations; or c) The purchase of goods could constitute an extension of an existing contract; or d) There would be no genuine competition. - All the equipment purchases relating to the Huntly Nordic and Outdoor Centre were for less than £5,000 and would fall into one of the categories listed above. Most of the equipment is purchased from UK sole importers who charge fixed trade prices. The Centre also endeavors to purchase same brand equipment on an ongoing basis (i.e extending an existing contract) to ensure quality and compatibility. Point 2. In relation to the purchase of Ski Boots and Skis, which you previously queried, you are correct to point out that there are differences between the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property dated 31 March 2005, and Appendix 1 of my response to you on 8 August 06. I apologise that the differences weren’t clearly highlighted in my earlier response. The Appendix 1 provided on 8 August 06 related to specific purchases made between 2003 and 2004 as part of the Big Lottery Fund project. In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service. Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear, after which it is normally sold on to help subsidise the cost of replacement stock. The stock recorded in the Inventory will therefore be an accumulation of several years of purchases, including equipment which was inherited from Grampian Regional Council’s former Outdoor Education service.  Unfortunately, we have very limited records of historical equipment purchases. We do not hold any additional information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 July 06. Point 3. In relation to the Fischer Ski Bags, a pack of five ski bags were purchased from the predecessor company to Thin Ice Sports Ltd.  Two of these were subsequently sold on at a profit to customers, the profit of which was used to subsidise the ongoing running of the service.  We do not hold any additional information relating to the purchase of these bags. Point 4. The Aberdeenshire Council's buy local policy is part of, and is implicit to the Council's Sustainability Purchasing Policy, of which I enclose a copy and the Website link. Purchasing goods and services from local suppliers is supported by this Policy, which can be viewed at: www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf  Point 5. The addresses and VAT numbers of the two suppliers listed in your email are: Fischer - imported by Thin Ice Sports Limited (who took over from Fischer Racquet Line Ltd as UK Agents approximately
three to four years ago) Address: 9 Elliot Road, Colinton, Edinburgh, EH14 1DU Fischer’s Austrian equivalent of VAT No: ATU 23712800 Salomon GB Address: Jays Close, Viables Business Park, Basingstoke, Hampshire RE22 4PS VAT Registration No: GB 262824162 Point 6. Prior to purchasing the Marwe Skate Rollers and Marwe Classic Rollers staff searched widely on the Internet, and phoned various suppliers who they believed may stock these products.  After some time they identified a national supplier, Alpina Eurosport, who provided a standard written price list. This quoted the price for the Marwe skate rollers as £199.  On a follow up phone call staff negotiated a deal with Alpina Eurosport equivalent to a 10% discount on all items purchased. The negotiated price was then compared with the price quoted by Tout Tele. Tout Tele were able to offer a lower price (£120 per pair compared with approximately £179 for Alpina Euro Sport) and were therefore given the order. Once these prices had been compared, there was no requirement to retain the Alpina Eurosport price list. I trust that the above helps clarify some of your queries. If you have any further questions I, and my colleagues, would be available to meet with you in Huntly at a mutually convenient time. Please contact me directly if you would like to arrange a meeting. Yours sincerely David Wright Recreation Manager Email: david.wright@aberdeenshire.gov.uk Direct Tel: 01224 665515
The Procurement Policy – Defined for a 3rd Time… Followed by Misleading, Contradictory Information
I thoroughly question the 2 previous conflicting answers regarding Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement Policy on 08 Aug 06… and get the reply back on 27 Sep 06.
The 3rd answer now given by Aberdeenshire Council says the Policy is not defined by legislation and they now say…
“1 For estimated values of over £60,000, formal tender documents should be issued to approved tenderers. 2 For estimated values of between £10,000 and £60,000, competitive quotations must be obtained in writing from at least two parties. 3. For estimated values of less than £10,000, (prior to 23 February 2006 the amount was less than £5,000), neither formal tenders or written quotations are required if: a) The goods or materials are only sold at fixed prices, and no satisfactory alternative is available; b) prices are controlled by trade organizations; or c) The purchase of goods could constitute an extension of an existing contract; or d) There would be no genuine competition.”

Sums below £10,000 do not need to go for written tender.

They then say the following…

“All the equipment purchases relating to the Huntly Nordic and Outdoor Centre were for less than £5,000 and would fall into one of the categories listed above.”
In the next paragraph they exhibited extreme incompetence by contradicting what they’ve just said about the value of purchases…
“In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service.”
To mislead on different FOI replies is one thing… but to blatantly provide misleading information one paragraph later in the same document just has me at a loss for words.
Again, I have only been provided with an excerpt from Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement Policy and not the Policy itself, so I can’t check on the information for myself. The document I want to see, is the document that was in place when the 265 ski’s and boots were bought for the Ski Centre.
I’ve asked for Procurement Policy information 3 times… and have now received a different answer 3 times… and have never been provided with the Procurement Policy document itself.
I ask directly for a copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy / Procurement Policy on 27 Oct 06 in FOI Request #8… and again the Procurement Policy was withheld… why?
Council’s Financial Regulations
I’m not convinced that the Council’s Financial Regulations are not regulated by legislation… as discussed before, each Local Authority including The Scottish Executive all have comparable criteria in their procurement policies.

After a thorough internet search of these other public bodies, they all have similar limits, 2 or 3 written quotations for sums between £2,000 and £10,000
“For clarification the Council’s Financial Regulations, which are not dictated by legislation”
Aberdeenshire Council Answer to Point 6… Indication’s of VAT Fraud


Under the central Government website, “Reporting Tax Fraud”, it states the following…
“If a business charges you VAT it must be VAT registered and must declare any VAT it charges to HMRC. Some businesses deliberately avoid registering for VAT, thereby gaining an unfair advantage over their competitors. Others may either be bogus or may lie about the amount of VAT that they owe. You might know that a business is not declaring all the VAT they’re charging, or you might think that they’re not because they offer goods for sale at substantially below market value:”
http://www.direct.gov.uk/MoneyTaxAndBenefits/Taxes/ContactOrDealWithTheInlandRevenue/ContactOrDealWithIrArticles/fs/en?CONTENT_ID=10010579&chk=KPU9JS 

It would be reasonable to expect that the Finance Department within Aberdeenshire Council would be alerted to a supplier offering goods at substantially less than market value, and relate that to the advice given regarding VAT fraud…

It is already proven that there is a receipt submitted to the Big Lottery by Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’… where he does charge VAT on a Total amount of £2,160.24… but doesn’t document his company VAT Registration Number on his Invoice. (Click here to see Document Appendix Page iv)
It states clearly on the Government Website relating to VAT Fraud that “If a bill shows a separate amount for VAT, it must also show the 9 digit VAT Registration number of the business”
Fixed Trade Prices and the Contradiction of the Supplier Used – Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’


Aberdeenshire Council state the following…
“Most of the equipment is purchased from UK sole importers who charge fixed trade prices.”



They then say…
Point 6. Prior to purchasing the Marwe Skate Rollers and Marwe Classic Rollers staff searched widely on the Internet, and phoned various suppliers who they believed may stock these products.  After some time they identified a national supplier, Alpina Eurosport, who provided a standard written price list. This quoted the price for the Marwe skate rollers as £199.  On a follow up phone call staff negotiated a deal with Alpina Eurosport equivalent to a 10% discount on all items purchased. The negotiated price was then compared with the price quoted by Tout Tele. Tout Tele were able to offer a lower price (£120 per pair compared with approximately £179 for Alpina Euro Sport) and were therefore given the order. Once these prices had been compared, there was no requirement to retain the Alpina Eurosport price list.
Most equipment is purchased at fixed trade prices… the best price Alpina Eurosport can do is 10% discount… Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’ is quoting £59 cheaper than the best price representing 33% less than the best price of £179… without doubt, the Recommended Retail Price (RRP) is being undercut by a very large margin… meaning bona fide businesses couldn’t ever imagine being able to compete and beat Aberdeenshire Council employee Roy Young’s business.

As per the ‘Sustainable Purchasing Policy’…

“Once these prices had been compared, there was no requirement to retain the Alpina Eurosport price list.” 
… Alpina Eurosports are dropped and Roy Young’s company will be retained to supply any future demand for equipment. 
“The Centre also endeavours to purchase same brand equipment on an ongoing basis (i.e extending an existing contract) to ensure quality and compatibility.”
I am 100% convinced that if Alpina Eurosports were informed of what has happened here, they would have grounds to make a very serious complaint, especially as Aberdeenshire Council staff at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre are partially running the business ‘Tout Tele’
“Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”
If the distributor for Marwe Skate Rollers was informed that Tout Tele was undercutting RRP with current model equipment, I’m also sure that they would severely reprimand Roy Young’s Tout Tele and revoke the supplier agreement that he has.

David Wright, Recreation Manager accepts Failure to Answer FOI Questions… But does Nothing about it…
In the reply to FOI#5 part 2, David Wright acknowledges the difference between the question made 17 Aug 06… and the answer given 27 Sep 06…
“Question Point 2 In the information that you have supplied in Appendix 1… I asked for 1. the two competitive written quotations for, 2. itemise who the successful supplier was and 3. provide all receipts and invoices relative to each item detailed. 39 pairs Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 pairs Adult Boots (Salomon/Fischer), 85 pairs Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 pairs Adult Skis (Fischer), 25 pairs Touring Skis, There is a huge gap in the information supplied… only 74 pairs of boots and 28 pairs of ski’s have been accounted for in Appendix 1 and 2… You have not provided any receipts/invoices… please provide them. You haven’t detailed who the supplier’s were for the remaining 41 boots and 147 ski’s left unaccounted. Please detail who they are. I would be grateful if you could answer this question properly and provide the information I have originally asked for.”
“Answer Point 2. In relation to the purchase of Ski Boots and Skis, which you previously queried, you are correct to point out that there are differences between the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property dated 31 March 2005, and Appendix 1 of my response to you on 8 August 06. I apologise that the differences weren’t clearly highlighted in my earlier response.”
… but he doesn’t do anything to rectify it other than saying there are no financial records… this also means they were satisfied to give an incomplete answer before, therefore admitting that they are failing to comply (again) to the rules of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002.

Equipment Life, the Calculated turnover of Skis and Boots… and a call for an Independent Inquiry

Aberdeenshire Council state that most equipment has a finite life…
“the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service. Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear, after which it is normally sold on to help subsidise the cost of replacement stock. The stock recorded in the Inventory will therefore be an accumulation of several years of purchases, including equipment which was inherited from Grampian Regional Council’s former Outdoor Education service.  Unfortunately, we have very limited records of historical equipment purchases. We do not hold any additional information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 July 06.”
On the Inventory of 31 Mar 05 there are 265 pairs of skis and boots… if this was correct, then it suggests that +/- 50 pairs of ski’s and boots are being replaced and sold on every year from the Centre.

This also advocates that the Centre is purchasing considerably more than the £2,000 suggested, and in relation to the buy local policy and the fact that they have stated Roy Young’s company has the Salomon and Fischer supplier agreements. If this is the case, it could very well be that a substantial amount of continual business is being put through ‘Tout Tele’.
Since they also say in this section of the answer that they hold absolutely no information/receipts/invoices regarding the purchase of ski’s and boots held on the Inventory that…
“Unfortunately, we have very limited records of historical equipment purchases. We do not hold any additional information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 July 06”
… an Independent Inquiry should be set up to investigate the goings on at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre… as Aberdeenshire Council cannot prove any legitimacy in the procurement of any single pair of skis or boots being supplied to the Centre.
Indeed, the Independent Inquiry is required as it is still due to the fact that there are no financial records, it is unproven as to whether equipment has actually been supplied to the Centre.

The safety is also questioned by the suggestion that equipment has been bought from a fictitious company “Fischer Racquetline Limited” detailed in Appendix 1 and the close personal relationship between Roy Young and Andrew Miller, who is responsible as Sports Development Officer for procurement at the Centre.
Point 3. Advertising of Equipment For Sale
Based on the figures given and what has been said above, (265 pairs of skis and boots… suggests that +/- 50 pairs of skis and boots are being replaced and sold on every year from the Centre.)

“the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service. Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear, after which it is normally sold on to help subsidise the cost of replacement stock.”
My question is, how does Aberdeenshire Council advertise this equipment for sale? Considering the close link between the staff at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and the private Huntly Nordic Ski Club:

Council Employee
Position at Ski Centre
Roy Young
Instructor


Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club

Andrew Miller
Sports Development Officer
Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club

Jayne Osgood
Instructor 


Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club

Sandy Thorn
Duty Manager

Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club






Peter Thorn (Sandy Thorn’s Husband) & Secretary of HNSC
Point 4. Aberdeenshire Council’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy… and Deceit 
14 Jul 06 Dear Sir / Madam, With reference to Aberdeenshire Council (AC) procurement policy… can you provide me with the following information relative to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at AC Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre. 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed below (submitted to AC during the procurement/tendering process) 2. Detail who the successful supplier was for each item detailed below 3. Provide all receipts / invoices relative to each item detailed below… 39 (pairs) Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 (pairs) Adult Boots (Salomon / Fischer), 85 (pairs)Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 (pairs)Adult Skis (Fischer), 51 (pairs)3 Pin Leather Boots, 25 (pairs) Touring Skis, 7 (pairs) Telemark Skis, 12 (pairs) Marwe Skate Rollers (Marwe), 4 (pairs) Marwe Classic Rollers (Marwe), 6 (pairs) Red Classic Rollers (Swenor), 3 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 4 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 138 Poles(Various), 39 Roller Poles (Various), 3 Ski Bags (Fischer), 24 Rollers Blades, 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant), 49 Helmets, 1 Nordic Track, 1 Fitness Machine, 6 Child Snow Tubes, 10 Adult Snow Tubes
In Question 4, I make reference to my original question which was very clear regarding Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement Policy…
“17 Aug 06 Question Point 4 You state in the ACE/62286 reply, that Aberdeenshire Council has a “buy local” policy… can you supply me with the written text of the policy given to all Officer’s that confirms this.”
In reply, Aberdeenshire Council provide me with a copy of their Sustainable Purchasing Policy… but the incredible thing about it is… it’s dated 10 Nov 05… 7 months after the date of the Inventory I’m asking about !!!… how therefore at any stretch of the imagination could a document be applied to purchases made before it’s even been written…

“Answer Point 4. The Aberdeenshire Council's buy local policy is part of, and is implicit to the Council's Sustainability Purchasing Policy, of which I enclose a copy and the Website link. Purchasing goods and services from local suppliers is supported by this Policy, which can be viewed at:”
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf 
I am again being ‘fobbed off’ with extreme incompetence and consider that I am in fact actually making no progress with the information and Aberdeenshire Council at all… My question is why? 
My view is, if everything is above board then there should be no problem in supplying me with the appropriate information.
Discrepancies such as this within Aberdeenshire Council’s replies, are the exact reason why I’ve had to make follow up / additional FOI requests.
The Request for Information about Aberdeenshire Council Supplier Fischer Racquetline Limited… and further Dishonesty, Deceit and Fabrication of the Truth…
17 Aug 06 Question Point 5 In the suppliers you have mention in Appendix 1… can you provide me with the following information… Their trading postal address and VAT Registration Number… this information should be on the receipts and is not sensitive to the Data Protection Act… Fischer Racquetline Ltd,  Salomon Taylor Made Ltd
27 Sep 06 Answer Point 5. The addresses and VAT numbers of the two suppliers listed in your email are: Fischer - imported by Thin Ice Sports Limited (who took over from Fischer Racquet Line Ltd as UK Agents approximately three to four years ago) Address: 9 Elliot Road, Colinton, Edinburgh, EH14 1DU Fischer’s Austrian equivalent of VAT No: ATU 23712800 Salomon GB Address: Jays Close, Viables Business Park, Basingstoke, Hampshire RE22 4PS VAT Registration No: GB 262824162
Again, Aberdeenshire Council blatantly try to be deceptive with the information… I have asked for details on Fischer Racquetline Limited… and they try to provide company information on the business that apparently took over from Fischer Racquetline Limited !?... Thin Ice Sports!
Furthermore, it would seem they can’t give me Thin Ice Sports VAT Registration number… but instead give the Fischer Factory in Austria’s, Austrian VAT number ATU 23712800 !
It defies belief that they could actually submit this in a Freedom of Information request answer!

In fact, I now realise that I’m not so sure who these people at Aberdeenshire Council think they’re dealing with? And why this answer would be acceptable to anyone…

I now believe without doubt, that someone is trying to cover up information/the truth… and doing it badly.

They have already told me that Fischer are sending Invoices to the Centre for Roy Young’s business ! 
“There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre.”
And that Roy Young’s business ‘Tout Tele’ has deliveries of Fischer ski equipment made to the Centre…

“arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”FOI2
The Snowsport Industries of Great Britain is the Trade Association for the snowsport distribution and retail trade which covers all winter action sports. Membership to this body is open to organisations which operate a commercially viable business in the manufacture, distribution or retailing of Snowsports products in Great Britain.

Every year they hold a trade show in Manchester between February and March and produce an exhibition catalogue that details exactly which companies are responsible for issuing supplier agreements to retail businesses.
http://www.soltex.co.uk/ 
For the last 3 years, the sole Fischer distributor in the UK has been a company called ‘Thin Ice Sports’ in Edinburgh…

… their predecessor was a company called ‘Mast-Co Limited’ based in Reading, Berkshire… at no time has there ever been a company called Fischer Racquetline Limited involved with the issuing of supply agreements for Fischer ski equipment.

Aberdeenshire Council have now well and truly crossed the line and have lied… this then raises my further request for an Independent Investigation, as the truth is now being distorted and it is unclear whether any of the equipment has been supplied at all, when someone at Aberdeenshire Council is prepared to go to these lengths.

Again, these are the same people that can’t provide any receipts for the ski equipment held at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre to prove whether all the equipment actually exists and has ever been bought… and whether it’s just a number on an Inventory protected by a small group of people associated personally to one another as well as professionally…
“In order to provide you with the information you are looking for, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have compiled the following list, which contains formal records augmented by the recollection of officers.”
Council Employee
Position at Ski Centre
Roy Young
Instructor


Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club

Andrew Miller
Sports Development Officer
Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club

Jayne Osgood
Instructor 


Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club

Sandy Thorn
Duty Manager

Private Member of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club






Peter Thorn (Sandy Thorn’s Husband) & Secretary of HNSC
Note: Huntly Nordic Ski Club is a Private Club, as a prospective member must submit an application form providing their details… then wait to hear whether their application for membership has been approved… or not.
http://www.nordicgeek.co.uk/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2009/HNSCIndMembForm.pdf 
David Wrights, Recreation Manager at Aberdeenshire Council’s Final Paragraph

“If you have any further questions I, and my colleagues, would be available to meet with you in Huntly at a mutually convenient time. Please contact me directly if you would like to arrange a meeting. Yours sincerely David Wright Recreation Manager”
I ask myself… why would he do this… what is being implied here by wanting to meet me at a mutually convenient time in Huntly ??? My feeling is he doesn’t want to put anything else in writing.
16 Oct 06 Letter from Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commissioner to Ian… Ref: 200600082… Dear Mr Cameron, APPEAL TO THE COURT OF SESSION ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I am writing to update you with what as happened with this appeal. As you know, the Commissioner decided not to defend this appeal. Last week, the Court of Session formally found in favour of the Council, quashed the Commissioner's decision and remitted-the decision to the Commissioner to reconsider. In practice, this means that we are now in the same position as we would have been if the Commissioner had not issued the decision. The Commissioner must now issue a new decision. A copy of the Court's "interlocutor" (Le. the decision from the Court) is enclosed for your information. When we discussed this case at the end of July, you said that you were putting together a document explaining why you want this information. It would be really helpful if you could provide me with some information as to why you think you should have this information. Please let me have this information by the end of the month. I look forward to hearing from you. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse

XA107/06 Aberdeenshire Council v Scottish Information Commissioner Biggart Baillie Brodies, WS Edinburgh 10 October 2006 The Lords on the unopposed motion of the Appellant, having considered the Appeal and Answers no 1 and 8 of process, and in light of what is stated in head two of the Answers, Allow the Appeal, Quash the Decision of the Respondent, the Scottish Information Commissioner dated 18 May 2006; Remit the Appeal to the Commissioner to reconsider; Find the Respondent liable to the Appellant in the expenses occasioned by the Appeal to the Court of Session and remit the Account thereof when lodged to the Auditor of Court to tax Edinburgh 10 October 2006 the Lords Discern against the Respondent for payment to the Appellant in payment of the expenses for which the Respondent has been found liable by interlocutor of even date, as the same shall be taxed by the Auditor of Court.

Mis-fortunately, the Scottish Information Commissioner (SIC) is made liable for Aberdeenshire Council’s legal costs. The Court of Session recognise that this is only an error in process and refer it back one step to the SIC, to which they must now ask me to provide evidence that I have ‘legitimate interest’.

I provide 4 excerpts from this report to prove that I do have legitimate interest’.
16 Oct 06 Letter Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council... Our Ref: 200600082 Your Ref: FOI/1 AN/AB... Dear Mr Nicol, - DECISION 084/2006 - IAN CAMERON AND ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL - I refer to previous correspondence in connection with the above. As you will be aware, the appeal by the Council has now been allowed by the Court, the Commissioner's decision has been quashed and the case has been remitted to the Commissioner for reconsideration. In reconsidering the decision, the Commissioner will obviously want to consider in more depth the interests of the applicant and of the data subjects in order that the two can be balanced in terms of paragraph 6 of schedule 2 to the Data Protection Act 1998 (the DPA). I have today written to the applicant, Mr Cameron, and have asked him to provide me with additional details about his request in order that the Commissioner can decide whether he has a legitimate interest to the information. The Commissioner has already received some submissions from the Council in respect of this case, but I would like to give you the opportunity to make additional submissions, particularly with regard to the test in paragraph 6 of schedule 2 to the DPA. If possible, please let me have any additional submissions by the end of this month. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations
24 Oct 06 Letter Ian to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission… Dear Ms Keyse, As per my phone call last week, please find enclosed only an excerpt from my report. I am endeavouring to place my best effort in producing a clear and concise report on my investigation of bias, corruption and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts by Aberdeenshire Council employees. I intend that this report will be submitted to Robert Black on conclusion. I’m still aiming to update my report and have it to you by Friday 27th October/Monday 30th October, but in the interim and as promised, please find a section of the 90+ pages to reach you by Wednesday. As mentioned, I’m not ready to release my report into the public domain yet until a conclusion looks likely, therefore if there was anything you could do to keep it confidential between the Scottish Information Commissioner’s office and myself I’d be very grateful. Again, I am appreciative that the Scottish Information Commission has supported my use of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and without ‘FOI’, I would have been unable to act on the local knowledge that I have regarding impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron
27 Oct 06 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council [ACE/74428])… Sustainable Purchasing Policy… Dear Sir/Madam, Can you supply me with the following information with reference to your "Buy Local Policy" which is implicit to your "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". 1. How many local businesses supplying any department within Aberdeenshire Council over the last 7 years with goods and services, have/are operated by Aberdeenshire Council Staff members (Full or Part-Time Staff). 2. Provide copies of written Line Manager approval where such arrangements are in place. 3. Name the businesses and give full details of what was supplied. 4. Please provide full details of the selection/tendering process and company information on supplier 'Fischer Racquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". (Reference Order # 751449 (24 Oct 03/20 Jan 04) and Order #415237 (24 Oct 03). 5. Please provide a full copy of Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy" Please treat this request in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

I make a decision that it’s now time to ‘push’ Aberdeenshire Council regarding the shocking answers provided on 27 Sep 06 FOI Enquiry #5 part 2… and I focus my question’s accordingly. Up until now, I’ve only requested information…
27 Oct 06 no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  to Ian… (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/74428] Sustainable Purchasing Policy… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards, Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/74428] Sustainable Purchasing Policy' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.
27 Oct 06 Ian to info@raremanagement.co.uk… Soltex Exhibition Catalogue… Hi, I'm wondering if you can help. I'm looking to buy any old copies of the Soltex Catalogue between the dates 1998-2006 if you still had them for sale? (I have the one from 2000), but none of the rest. If they're unavailable, would you happen to know how I could check out some historical information that I'm interested to look at between the dates 1998-2006? I'd appreciate any help you could give. Thanks and best regards Ian Cameron

03 Nov 06 Ian to Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council... (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/62286)… Decision Review ACE/62286… Person Requesting Review of ACE/62286… Ian Cameron… Details of information originally requested 17 Aug 06 (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Details of Aberdeenshire Council Reply 27 Sep 06 foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre [ACE/62286]…Request for Review – Reasons I'm writing to ask the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council to review my questions of 17 Aug 06 and relate those questions to the Answers given on 27 Sep 06… I don't agree that the reply made by David Wright is accurate and fails to answer the questions I have asked. The Information contained in this answer 27 Sep is contradictory to answers given in this document and to information provided in previous FOI requests. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

I appeal against the decision that David Wright has not answered my questions, supplying contradictory information and providing misleading information about the company name Fischer Racquetline Limited. I apply to the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire to consider my application for information.
03 Nov 06 Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/62286)… Decision Review ACE/62286… Dear Mr Cameron, I acknowledge receipt of your request for a review ref ACE/62286. You will be familiar with the Council's internal review process from your previous request for a review ref ACE/33953. I will make arrangements for a meeting of the Review Panel to take place, and my colleague Robin Taylor will be in touch with you to ask if there is anything more you wish to add to your e-mail as your submission to the Panel. As your request was received on 3rd November, I will write to you again with the decision of the Panel by Friday 1st December. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol Clerk to FOI Review Panel Law and Administration Woodhill House Westburn Road Aberdeen  AB16 5GB Tel:   (01224) 665109
06 Nov 06 Letter from Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commissioner to Ian… Ref: 200600082… Dear Mr Cameron, APPEAL TO THE COURT OF SESSION ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I refer to our telephone conversation on 3 November 2006. I have received your letter of 24 October 2006 and can confirm that this will be sufficient for my purposes. I can also confirm that I will hold the information you have provided me with in confidence. You may be interested to know that, in terms of section 45 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, it would be a criminal offence for me to release this information without lawful authority. As discussed, when I asked you for further submissions on the question of legitimate interests, I also asked Aberdeenshire Council for submissions. They have subsequently come back to me to tell me that they have no further submissions to make. I will need to consider whether I need to issue a formal information notice to obtain these submissions. I discussed this case with the Commissioner shortly before I called you on 3 November. In the circumstances, we have agreed that we will ask our external solicitors, Brodies, to check over the decision before it is re-issued. As usual, I will keep you updated about the progress of this case. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations

08 Nov 06 Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/62286)… FOI Request ACE/62286… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your e-mail to Alastair Nicol of 3/11/06 seeking a review of the decision in the above application. I would confirm that a Review Panel to consider your request for a review will be heard on 23rd November 2006 at 2pm. The Council has decided that Freedom of Information Reviews shall be dealt with by way of written submissions to the panel. I have a copy of your initial request, a copy of the Council's response and a copy of your request for a review. If there is any other information you wish to put before the Review Panel, could you forward it to me so I receive it before 5pm on Monday 20th November 2006 please. If you have any queries regarding this matter, please call. Thanks, Robin Taylor. Senior Solicitor Law & Admin (South) Aberdeenshire Council Tel: 01224 665175

08 Nov 06 Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/62286)… FOI Request ACE/62286… Could you acknowledge receipt of the attached please? Thanks, Robin.

13 Nov 06 recreation@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian… Re: [ACE/74428] Sustainable Purchasing Policy… (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron, Please see attached our response to your request for information below. Regards, Joanna Shirriffs

Applicant’s Name:  Ian Cameron Applicant’s Address:  ‘Hamewith’, Lennox Terrace, Huntly, Aberdeenshire, AB54 8HG Date:- 13 November 2006 Dear Mr Cameron Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) Vexatious Request Notice I refer to your email of 27 October 2006, requesting details of local businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff, copies of line manager approval where such arrangements are in place, details of the businesses and goods provided, further information relating to Fischer Raquetline Limited, and a full copy of Aberdeenshire’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy. Take Notice, that Aberdeenshire Council is not obliged to comply with your requests, in respect that the following section of the Act applies in the circumstances:-  Section 14 - Vexatious or repeated requests  XE "Vexatious or repeated requests" “(1) Section 1(1)
 does not oblige a Scottish public authority to comply with a request for information if the request is vexatious. (2) Where a Scottish public authority has complied with a request from a person for information, it is not obliged to comply with a subsequent request from that person which is identical or substantially similar unless there has been a reasonable period of time between the making of the request complied with and the making of the subsequent request.” We claim that section 14 applies because extensive information pertaining to the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre and the Centre’s suppliers, Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding Council staff owning and operating private businesses, and Aberdeenshire Council’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy has already been made available to you.  Your original Freedom of Information request, ACW/31113, dated 31 August 2005, sought “a full and complete list of all items purchased by Aberdeenshire Council for Huntly Nordic Ski Club (Aberdeenshire), for equipment procured through a company called ‘Tout Tele’ operated by Roy Young”, and we gave a response to this. We note that since then we have received a further five Freedom of Information enquiries from you, all directly relating to the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre, staff employed there and equipment supplied to the Centre.  This series of requests for every last detail of the workings of the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre is now intrusive and disruptive to the workings of the Centre, which is a very small business unit. Further, your persistent requests have the effect of harassing the Centre and its staff, and carry a disproportionate resource burden for the Council. Although the Act does not explicitly limit the sort of information which can be requested, or the people who can make requests, it is not in the public interest for resources to be devoted to answering requests imposing disproportionate burdens on public authorities. In all the circumstances, it appears to us that you are using the Act to vindicate a long-standing grievance against the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre in general, and one member of its staff in particular.  It is not in the public interest that this continue. We do not invoke Section 14 lightly, but we are satisfied in the circumstances that your continuing requests are vexatious. If you are dissatisfied with the way in which we have dealt with your request, you may require Aberdeenshire Council to review its actions and/or decisions.  Details of the procedure are attached. Yours sincerely David Wright Recreation Manager Education & Recreation  Section 1(1) reads: “A person who requests information from a Scottish public authority which holds it is entitled to be given it by the authority.”
I “Hit a Nerve” within Aberdeenshire Council… to which they Subsequently put up the “Brick Wall”
Aberdeenshire Council aggressively reply to my change in approach which was one of requesting  information, to asking direct questions which challenged their failure to answer my previous questions.
My new approach strikes a nerve… it is incredible that 8 FOI request for information over a 14 month period can be considered as vexatious!!! It isn’t when you consider the content and subject matter of my questions… there are 3 previous cases regarding the use of Section 14 of Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 ‘The Act’
(Click Here)    Decision 084/2006 - Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council
In two of those complaints, it was with regard to +/-750 requests from a firm of Solicitors, McRoberts to Caledonian MacBrayne Limited – that was vexatious. The third one was about accusations of alleged fraud and alleged criminal activity using language which was deemed to be offensive by the Scottish Executive on requests made by a Mr David Emslie where it was unclear what the request for information was… that was also without doubt vexatious.
Aberdeenshire Council know that their claim will not stand up... but my personal opinion is, they quote Section 14 for the following reasons… they can’t answer my questions as they know they have withheld information when they should have released it, they have fabricated a company name which I have asked further questions about (Fischer Racquetline Limited), by quoting Section 14 it means that I cannot ask any further questions therefore putting a “brick wall” up, and finally I believe they are trying to strongly discourage my statutory right to ask questions…
… my other suspicion is, that there may actually be more contracts than the ones I’ve discovered (for ski’s and boots etc) being placed through Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’ (or other Council Employee’s businesses)… he may also be supplying Sports Equipment to other areas of the Council eg School Sports Equipment…. And that I may have only scratched the surface… this won’t be known until an independent inquiry completes a full audit and yet again supports my call for an independent investigation.
Loss of Control… and Proof that the Management Team at Aberdeenshire Council are “Blunderingly” Ineffective as well as Incompetent.
This is an unbelievable reply, David Wright the Recreation Manager will know that I will request a review of his reply…if Aberdeenshire Council uphold this decision at their Review Panel meeting, they will effectively lose all control over the situation… they will know that I will then appeal to Kevin Dunion… and Kevin Dunion will ask for this report as well as submissions from their side which they won’t be able to substantiate…

My FOI requests have been anything but vexatious… the problem has been every answer to questions I’ve asked, (and failure to answer questions)… has only succeeded in creating another question… and that has been the nature of this investigation…
These Aberdeenshire Council employees prove themselves to be a “blundering” ineffective management team.
Repeated Requests… Withholding of the Procurement Policy and Breach of Council Rules.
They quote from ‘The Act’ that they are not obliged to reply to requests which are repeat requests… I’ve never made a repeat request for information… I have asked for information to be given to me which they are refusing to supply… when they should be supplying it.

I have asked for their procurement Policy, from which they only supply ‘quote’s’ from… they then supply me with a copy of their “Sustainable Purchasing Policy” which has no relation to quotes they’ve previously made in the past…
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf 

I don’t see this next paragraph (below) anywhere in this “Sustainable Purchasing Policy” document… this is the only document that has been given to me.

“1 For estimated values of over £60,000, formal tender documents should be issued to approved tenderers. 2 For estimated values of between £10,000 and £60,000, competitive quotations must be obtained in writing from at least two parties. 3. For estimated values of less than £10,000, (prior to 23 February 2006 the amount was less than £5,000), neither formal tenders or written quotations are required if: a) The goods or materials are only sold at fixed prices, and no satisfactory alternative is available; b) prices are controlled by trade organizations; or c) The purchase of goods could constitute an extension of an existing contract; or d) There would be no genuine competition.”
They are withholding the Procurement Policy that this quotation is taken from… but why?
I consider that the Procurement Policy might say the same as the Employment Policy… that procurement Contracts must not be given to Employees… but it has… Roy Young, by his friend the Sports Development Officer in charge of procurement of equipment for the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre… Andrew Miller.
“The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. FOI2 Reply 02 Dec 05 [ACE/32775]
Quoting Section 14 - Claim that Information has been Supplied

Aberdeenshire Council claim Section 14 applies for the following reasons…

“We claim that section 14 applies because extensive information pertaining to the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre and the Centre’s suppliers, Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding Council staff owning and operating private businesses, and Aberdeenshire Council’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy has already been made available to you.”
They have supplied very little information… and what they have supplied is shocking. They say Tout Tele has the Salomon supply agreement, then they say the Council have it, that the Fischer distributor ‘Thin Ice Sports’ should stop sending invoices to the Centre for Tout Tele, state that Tout Tele is supplying Nordic Ski Equipment then invent a company Fischer Racquetline Ltd to cover this up as suppliers of the Fischer ski equipment held at the Centre. Withhold the names of the staff at the Centre claiming that the names of personnel working in an official capacity is ‘personal information’? this despite advertising their names on the Centres website, they supply the employment rules given to each new employee stated in their contract of employment then admit that their employee is supplying his Council place of work directly breaking these rules and claiming that the Sustainable Purchasing Policy is the complete Procurement Policy, while making quotes on procurement policy that aren’t in the Sustainable Purchasing Policy.
They further state that a “full and complete list” of items purchased by Aberdeenshire Council from Tout Tele has been given… 16 Roller Skis and 2 Used Mountain Bikes… forgetting that they already claimed that Nordic Ski Equipment had also been supplied by Tout Tele…
“Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”
… and claiming that Ski equipment had been delivered for ‘Tout Tele’ from Fischer and Salomon…
“arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”FOI2

In summary, a demonstration of unmitigated incompetence.
Aberdeenshire Council can’t even get the number of requests I’ve made right, further underlining their level of professionalism as an organisation which should be serving the public interest.
“We note that since then we have received a further five Freedom of Information enquiries from you, all directly relating to the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre, staff employed there and equipment supplied to the Centre.” 

I believe my requests are not intrusive or disruptive, they are necessary as there must be some accountability within Aberdeenshire Council… they are clearly unable to audit themselves and adhere to their own rules from which we as taxpayers trust, and expect  that they are doing properly… when they are not.

“This series of requests for every last detail of the workings of the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre is now intrusive and disruptive to the workings of the Centre, which is a very small business unit.” 
Aberdeenshire Council use the expression “it is not in the Public Interest” use emotive language such as ‘harassing’ and make claim that they have a right to stop answering requests if ‘they’ consider they are disproportionate.
My questioning is absolutely in the public interest and is a basic right. The Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 provides a statutory right of access to all information held by Scottish public authorities.

“Further, your persistent requests have the effect of harassing the Centre and its staff, and carry a disproportionate resource burden for the Council. Although the Act does not explicitly limit the sort of information which can be requested, or the people who can make requests, it is not in the public interest for resources to be devoted to answering requests imposing disproportionate burdens on public authorities.”
Aberdeenshire Council make an Unsubstantiated Accusation causing damage yet again to my Credibility and Reputation
“In all the circumstances, it appears to us that you are using the Act to vindicate a long-standing grievance against the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre in general, and one member of its staff in particular.  It is not in the public interest that this continue.”
Aberdeenshire Council make a personal attack on my credibility and my name. This allegation has caused me some considerable distress.
With this testimony and using the word vindicate, means they are now crossing over from an accusation to claim that they have indisputable proof that I am acting out a long standing grievance against the Centre and ‘one member of it’s staff in particular’.
I have legitimate concerns about the way in which the centre operates. There is excessive secrecy and lack of transparency and accountability in the way in which it is run.  This is demonstrated by Aberdeenshire Council not even being willing to confirm the names of staff employed at the centre and failure to produce any receipts or purchase information for 265 pairs of Ski’s and boots held on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment.

If claims have been made that I am 'vindicating a grievance' can I ask that this evidence is made available to me.
This is an offensive and aggressive attitude that is now being adopted by Aberdeenshire Council, which suggests that if members of the public make requests for information, they may be subject to a ‘personal attack’ as I have, if Aberdeenshire Council don’t like the content/subject matter of those questions… and will subsequently refuse to answer those questions.
14 Nov 06 Ian to Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council… RE: FOI Request ACE/62286 (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Taylor, Thank you very much for your reply. I am writing to acknowledge receipt of this email. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

14 Nov 06 Ian to Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council... (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/74428)… FOI Review Panel Request… Applicants Name and Address, Ian Cameron 'Hamewith' Lennox Terrace Huntly Aberdeenshire AB54 8HG Dear Mr Nicol In light of the content/subject matter of previous FOI Questions and Answers made during last 14 months between myself and Aberdeenshire Council, I am writing to request a review of the recent reply made, with respect to my request for information detailed on ACE 74428. I do not agree that my requests for information have been vexatious and do believe that I have legitimate interest in receiving a full answer to my questions. I would be grateful if you could forward my application for assessment to the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council. Please find below a copy of the original information requested. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

I appeal against the decision that my requests are vexatious and apply to the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire to consider my application for information.

14 Nov 06 Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council to Ian… RE: FOI Request ACE/74428 (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your e-mail to Alastair Nicol of 14/11/06 seeking a review of the decision in the above application. I would confirm that a Review Panel to consider your request for a review will be heard on 23rd November 2006 at 2pm. The Council has decided that Freedom of Information Reviews shall be dealt with by way of written submissions to the panel. I have a copy of your initial request, a copy of the Council's response and a copy of your request for a review. If there is any other information you wish to put before the Review Panel, could you forward it to me so I receive it before 5pm on Monday 20th November 2006 please. If you have any queries regarding this matter, please call. Could you acknowledge receipt of this intimation please? Thanks, Robin Taylor.

14 Nov 06 Ian to Robin Taylor, Senior Solicitor Aberdeenshire Council… RE: FOI Request ACE/74428 (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Taylor, Thank you very much for your reply. I am writing to acknowledge receipt of this email. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

14 Nov 06 Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/74428)… Re: FOI Review Panel Request ACE 74428… Dear Mr Cameron, I acknowledge receipt of your request for a review ref ACE/74428. You will be familiar with the Council's internal review process from your previous requests for a review refs ACE/33953 and ACE/62286. The Review Panel will meet on 23rd November, and I believe my colleague Robin Taylor has been in touch with you to ask if there is anything more you wish to add to your e-mail as your submission to the Panel. As your request was received on 14th November, I will write to you again with the decision of the Panel by Tuesday 12th December. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol

29 Nov 06 Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 ACE/62286 and FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council ACE/74428)… Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/FT Dear Mr Cameron Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 ("The Act") Requests for Review - ACE/62286 and ACE/74428 - I refer to the meeting of the Freedom of Information Review Panel relating to your two requests for information, which was held on Thursday, 23 November, 2006. I now write to advise you of the decision of the Panel. In relation to your request ACE/62286, the Review Panel found in favour of the Authority. In relation to your request ACE/74428, the Review Panel found that the request was not vexatious and directed the Education Service to consider again whether there was any information which could be provided to you. I attach the two decision notices from the Panel and the statements of reasons. I hope that these will make it clear how the Panel arrived at their judgement. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel

Aberdeenshire Council - Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 ("The Act") - Decision Notice - Section 21 (5), FOISA - Application by Ian Cameron - ACE/62286 Dear Mr Cameron, In accordance with Section 21 (1) of the Act, the Review Panel of Aberdeenshire Council has considered your application for a Requirement for Review received by Aberdeenshire Council on 3rd November 2006. In accordance with Section 21 (5) of the Act, the Review Panel herewith gives Notice in writing, that the original decision complained of is, in their view, a correct decision. The Review Panel therefore write to inform you that the original decision is being upheld. A statement of the reasons for the decision as required by Section 21 (5) of the Act is appended. 
Aberdeenshire Council - Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 ("The Act") - Decision Notice - Section 21 (5). FOISA - Application by Mr Ian Cameron - ACE/62286 Statement of Reasons The Review Panel considered the request for information made by the applicant on 14 July and 17 August and the responses from Aberdeenshire Council on 8 August and 27 September. Using the same numbering that was adopted in Mr Cameron's communication of 17 August and the Council's response of 27 September both 2006 the Review Panel determined as follows':- The accurate information relating to the Council's procurement policy IS contained in the response of 27 September, 2006. The questions asked by the applicant have been answered.' There is no further information that can be provided to the applicant in response to this query. 3. The applicant's question has been answered. 4.The applicant's question has been answered and a copy of the policy requested has been provided. 5. The information requested by the applicant has been provided. 6. The information requested by the applicant has been provided. The determination of the Review Panel therefore is that the response of 27 September, 2006 does not require amendment and that no further information requires to be produced in response to the points raised by the applicant by the communications previously referred to.
The Failure of Process within Aberdeenshire Council’s Review Panel… revealing that it is ineffective

The Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council prove that they are ineffective… and within that panel, fail to examine the information at hand… 

I have given a detailed explanation earlier in this document about what was wrong with all 6 points in David Wrights answer… 27 Sep 06 (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre [ACE/62286]
What this Review Panels findings underline, is that the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 within Aberdeenshire Council is not working… The process involving a Review Panel is designed to give an opportunity and allow the Public Body in question, to correct any believed error’s which have been made in any primary FOI response.

The Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 was introduced with the belief that accountability and transparency would be encouraged within Public bodies in their codes of business conduct and provide any member of the public with the statutory right to view any information held which isn’t subject to exemption clauses such as the Data Protection Act 1998.

The Panel writes to give notice that the original answer given on 27 Sep 06 is a correct decision… and they uphold it.

I am therefore left with no alternative but to forward my complaint to Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner.

Aberdeenshire Council - Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 ("The Act") - Decision Notice - Section 21 (5), FOISA - Application by Ian Cameron - ACE/74428 Dear Mr Cameron, In accordance with Section 21 (1) of the Act, the Review Panel of Aberdeenshire Council has considered your application for a Requirement for Review received by Aberdeenshire Council on 14th November 2006. In accordance with Section 21 (5) of the Act, the Review Panel herewith gives Notice in writing, that the original decision complained of, in their view, requires amendment. The Review Panel therefore writes to inform you that the Vexatious Request Notice has been withdrawn and the Service has been asked to consider whether some of the information you have requested can be provided. The Review Panel considered that certain parts of the information you sought had already been provided to you. A statement of the reasons for the decision as required by Section 21 (5) of the Act is appended.
Aberdeenshire Council - Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 ("The Act") - Decision Notice - Section 21 (5). FOISA - Application by Ian Cameron - ACE/74428 - Application by Mr Ian Cameron - ACE/74428 - Statement of Reasons - The Review Panel considered the applicant's request dated 27 October, 2006 and the Vexatious Request notice issued by the Council. The Review Panel considered that the applicant's request did not meet the criteria for the service of a vexatious request notice though the view was expressed that the service of such a notice may be justified in the future. The Review Panel determined the applicant had raised three substantive queries. His first request related to information about Council employees. The answer to that question dictated whether information in respect of questions two and three could be answered - if the response to the first question was that there were no such employees, questions two and three would not apply. The Review Panel considered that the Education service required to consider the applicant's first request to establish whether this information was held by the Council and if so whether it could be produced under the Freedom of Information legislation. The Review Panel considered that the information relating to the two specific purchase orders had not been requested previously and again directed the Education service to ascertain whether information in response to this query could be provided under the Freedom of Information legislation. The Review Panel considered that the information sought in question 5 had already been provided. The decision of the Review Panel therefore was to rescind the vexatious request notice and to direct the Education service to consider what if any information could or should be provided to the applicant in response to his first four queries.
The Review Panel Express Their Views Without Good Cause and Break the Laws of Natural Justice…
The Review Panel agree that my request does not meet the criteria for the service of a vexatious request notice…
“The Review Panel considered that the applicant's request did not meet the criteria for the service of a vexatious request notice though the view was expressed that the service of such a notice may be justified in the future.”
However, the suggestion is that, if I make anymore requests for information that my statutory right to ask for it will be withheld… and my rights under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 will be taken away from me… without good cause as this report proves.

I find this personally offensive, unjustified and against the laws of natural justice.
Application for a decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner: By virtue of Section 47 of the Act, a person who is dissatisfied with a Decision Notice issued under Section 21 (5) or (9) of the Act, may apply to the Scottish Information Commissioner for his decision as to whether, in any respect specified in that application, the request for information under Section 1 (I) of the Act, has been dealt with in accordance with Part 1 of the Act. An application to the Scottish Information Commissioner must be made in writing (or in another form having some permanency e.g. a video/tape recording) within six months of receipt of a Section 21 Decision Notice from Aberdeenshire Council's Review Panel. When applying to the Scottish Information Commissioner to make a decision with respect to the Section 21 Decision Notice, you must state your name and address for correspondence. You must also specify:- the request for information to which the Requirement for Review which was made to Aberdeenshire Council relate; the matter which gives rise to your dissatisfaction and your request for review; and the matter which gives rise to your dissatisfaction pertaining to the decision given in the Section 21 Decision Notice. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol Clerk to Review Panel Aberdeenshire Council 29 November 2006 FURTHER INFORMATION: The Scottish Information Commissioner can be contacted at:- Scottish Information Commissioner Kinburn Castle Doubledykes Road St Andrews Fife KY169BS

Appeals Against a Decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner: Section 56 of the Act provides that an appeal on a point of law may be made to the Court of Session: against a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner (under subsection (2) of Section 49 - Le. where the Commissioner determines that a decision does not require to be made) by the person who applied to the Scottish Information Commissioner to make such a decision (Le. an applicant); against a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner (under subsection 3(b) of Section 49) by an applicant or by the Scottish Public Authority in respect of which the decision was made or against a decision which resulted in the giving of an information notice or an enforcement notice to a Scottish Public Authority.
08 Dec 06 Letter David Wright Recreation Manager Education & Recreation  to Ian (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre [ACE/74428]… Applicants Name: Ian Cameron, Dear Mr Cameron, Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 - ("The Act")… I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 27 October 2006 requesting information relating to companies supplying Aberdeenshire Council and operated by members of Aberdeenshire Council staff, information relating to purchases from 'Fisher Raquetline Limited', and details of the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. I will respond to each of your points in turn. Points 1, 2 and 3 You asked for details of businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members that have supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years. You also asked for copies of line manager approval where such arrangements are in place, the names of the businesses concerned, and details of the goods and services supplied. We have undertaken a full search for the information you have requested and I can confirm that we do not hold any recorded information relating to these three points. Point 4 You asked for details of the selection/tendering process and company details for our supplier 'Fischer Raquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The company details for Fischer Raquetline Limited (taken over by Thin Ice Sports Limited approx 4 years ago) were sent to you in response to a previous request for information on 27 September 2006. Purchases from Fischer Raquetline Limited were not subject to a selection/tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods. In addition, we do not hold any information to show how the purchases were in line with the Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing policy because the purchases you refer to were made in 2003/04. The Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing Policy was agreed in November 2005. Point 5 You asked for a full copy of Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy. We sent you a paper copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy on 27 September 2006. The policy is also available on the Aberdeenshire Council Website: www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours sincerely, David Wright Recreation Manager Education & Recreation
Answer to Points 1, 2 and 3… The Backtrack, Dishonesty, Contradiction and Denial of the Truth
“You asked for details of businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members that have supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years. You also asked for copies of line manager approval where such arrangements are in place, the names of the businesses concerned, and details of the goods and services supplied. We have undertaken a full search for the information you have requested and I can confirm that we do not hold any recorded information relating to these three points.”
David Wright states that he has no information relating to businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members that have supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years, and disregards the information previous given in past FOI answers.
On 26 Sep 05 they made the following statement…
“The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company. FOI1 Reply 26 Sep 05 [ACE/31372]
Additionally to confirm this arrangement, Aberdeenshire Council provided receipts for Roller Ski’s and Used Mountain Bikes 
(Click here to see Original Document – Appendix Page v)
(Click here to see Original Document – Appendix Page viii)
Aberdeenshire Council’s FOI department will have this information since they previously supplied it… but chose to break the Law’s of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 by now refusing to declare that at least 1 business operated by an Aberdeenshire Council staff member has supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years.
Aberdeenshire Council employment rules state that Line Manager approval must be sought… 

“The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. FOI2 Reply 02 Dec 05 [ACE/32775]

This documentation must be held and should have been sent to me… but wasn’t…
Point 4… False Claim of the Provision of Information and the Withholding of Information with Intent

My question was…

Question 4 Please provide full details of the selection / tendering process and company information on supplier 'Fischer Racquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". (Reference Order # 751449 (24 Oct 03/20 Jan 04) and Order #415237 (24 Oct 03).
The Review Panel of 23 Nov 06, instructed David Wright as follow’s to provide the information requested…
“The Review Panel considered that the Education service required to consider the applicant's first request to establish whether this information was held by the Council and if so whether it could be produced under the Freedom of Information legislation. The Review Panel considered that the information relating to the two specific purchase orders had not been requested previously and again directed the Education service to ascertain whether information in response to this query could be provided under the Freedom of Information legislation.”
I am then given the following reply… exactly the information (or lack of it), I was given before on 27 Sep 06… stating that “Purchases from Fischer Raquetline Limited were not subject to a selection / tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods.”
This answer implies that Aberdeenshire Council hold the supply agreement for Fischer… when the Fischer Distributor Thin Ice Sports has already stated that Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly holds the agreement.

Therefore crucially, David Wright has lied again.
Answer 4 You asked for details of the selection/tendering process and company details for our supplier 'Fischer Raquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The company details for Fischer Raquetline Limited (taken over by Thin Ice Sports Limited approx 4 years ago) were sent to you in response to a previous request for information on 27 September 2006. Purchases from Fischer Raquetline Limited were not subject to a selection / tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods. In addition, we do not hold any information to show how the purchases were in line with the Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing policy because the purchases you refer to were made in 2003/04. The Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing Policy was agreed in November 2005.
David Wright states that the information for Fischer Racquetline was sent to me on 27 Sep 06… this was the answer sent to me then…
“Point 5. The addresses and VAT numbers of the two suppliers listed in your email are: Fischer - imported by Thin Ice Sports Limited (who took over from Fischer Racquet Line Ltd as UK Agents approximately three to four years ago) Address: 9 Elliot Road, Colinton, Edinburgh, EH14 1DU Fischer’s Austrian equivalent of VAT No: ATU 23712800 Salomon GB Address: Jays Close, Viables Business Park, Basingstoke, Hampshire RE22 4PS VAT Registration No: GB 262824162”
There is no information here on the company Fischer Racquetline Limited… David Wright has had a second opportunity to correct and provide information to back up the existence of the company… and again he can’t do so… and again chooses to be misleading. 
When pressed on providing this information, Aberdeenshire Council’s response was to state that I was vexatious… the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council backed up the fact that my questions have not been vexatious and agree that David Wright should provide the information that I have asked for on 27 Oct 06…

… again David Wright fails to answer the question.

I now believe that he is not making a mistake in error, that he is now purposefully withholding information and directly breaking the Law’s of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002.
This now fully supports my call that there should be an independent inquiry.

The Fischer Contradiction and the Incompetence of David Wright
David Wright states in his answer 08 Dec 06 that Fischer Racquetline Limited is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods and they haven’t had to apply their selection / tendering process…

Answer 4 “Purchases from Fischer Raquetline Limited were not subject to a selection / tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods.”
He states this despite Aberdeenshire Council providing the following answer on 14 Oct 05…
· “There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre.”
· “arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”FOI2
· 03 Oct 05 Rab Reid Thin Ice to Ian… Fischer Franchise in Aberdeenshire / Aberdeen City… Hello Please try Braemar Mountain Sports in Braemar for Fischer Nordic equipment or Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly. Thanks for your enquiry. Rab Reid Sales & Marketing Director Thin Ice Sports Ltd info@thinicesports.com www.thinicesports.com
David Wright Exposes Himself as a Dissembler… and Again Doing so Incompetently
My question on 14 Jul 06 was as follows… I ask specifically about the items held on the Inventory of 31st March 2005
With reference to Aberdeenshire Council (AC) procurement policy… can you provide me with the following information relative to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at AC Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre. 
· 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed below (submitted to AC during the procurement/tendering process) 
· 2. Detail who the successful supplier was for each item detailed below 
3. Provide all receipts / invoices relative to each item detailed below… 39 (pairs) Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 (pairs) Adult Boots (Salomon / Fischer), 85 (pairs) Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 (pairs)
Adult Skis (Fischer), 51 (pairs)
3 Pin Leather Boots, 25 (pairs) Touring Skis, 7 (pairs) Telemark Skis, 12 (pairs) Marwe Skate Rollers (Marwe), 4 (pairs) Marwe Classic Rollers (Marwe), 6 (pairs) Red Classic Rollers (Swenor), 3 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 4 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 138 Poles(Various), 39 Roller Poles (Various), 3 Ski Bags (Fischer), 24 Rollers Blades, 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant), 49 Helmets, 1 Nordic Track, 1 Fitness Machine, 6 Child Snow Tubes, 10 Adult Snow Tubes…
David Wright supplies an answer on 08 Aug 06 mentioning that Aberdeenshire Council has a “buy local policy”
08 Aug 06 From David Wright, Recreation Manager foi.er@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council)… ACE/62286 Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Applicants Name : Ian Cameron Date: 8 August 2006 - Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your request for information from Aberdeenshire Council dated 14 July 2006 relating to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre.
Point 8 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant) The most recent purchases came from the local shop Changing Gear, based upon several criteria - value for money, the ability to offer a service contract and buy local policy.  Originally a budget of £4400 was set for 10 bikes, given previous history of buying cheaper bikes, which do not stand up to the punishment.  However, on speaking to Changing Gear and buying end of year ranges, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre were able to buy 23 bikes in total, (Appendix 1)
I therefore ask to see this “buy local policy” that David Wright suggests was in place when the Giant bikes were bought (Inventory purchase date 2004)…
17 Aug 06 (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2) Point 4 You state in the ACE/62286 reply, that Aberdeenshire Council has a “buy local” policy… can you supply me with the written text of the policy given to all Officer’s that confirms this.
David Wright then says the “buy local policy” is part of the Council's “Sustainability Purchasing Policy”, and encloses a link to the policy which is dated November 2005…
27 Sep 06 foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Point 4. The Aberdeenshire Council's buy local policy is part of, and is implicit to the Council's Sustainability Purchasing Policy, of which I enclose a copy and the Website link. Purchasing goods and services from local suppliers is supported by this Policy, which can be viewed at: www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf  
It is therefore incredible that David Wright now states the following… completely contradicting himself and exposing the fact that he perjured on 08 Aug 06 about the bikes being bought under the terms of the “buy local policy”… He made the statement knowing that it hadn’t been implemented at the time of the purchase of the bikes, and again broke the Laws of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002…
08 Dec 06 Answer 4 “In addition, we do not hold any information to show how the purchases were in line with the Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing policy because the purchases you refer to were made in 2003/04. The Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing Policy was agreed in November 2005.”
Failure to provide the Procurement Policy… Again… and Evidence that Aberdeenshire Council is a Secretive Organisation
04 Nov 05 (FOI Enquiry #2 part 2 to Aberdeenshire Council) Question 3 Details of Aberdeenshire Council’s general policy regarding tendering contracts for purchasing equipment.
02 Dec 05 Answer 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.
Aberdeenshire Council state that they have “Standing Orders”… this suggests without doubt that there is a Policy regarding Procurement… and provide an extract from the Policy stating a £60,000 limit where anything under this value, should go out to written quotation.
08 Aug 06 David Wright, Recreation Manager (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council)… Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your request for information from Aberdeenshire Council dated 14 July 2006 relating to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. We confirm that the Council holds the following information, which we believe satisfies your request. In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose. In order to provide you with the information you are looking for, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have complied the following list, which contains formal records augmented by the recollection of officers.
By the 08 Aug 06 reference again is made to the Council’s “Financial Regulation’s” which would be the Procurement Policy… but this time David Wright completely contradicts his answer of 02 Dec 05 by now stating that a limit of £10,000 and under, requires no formal written tender.
I therefore ask again for a copy of the Procurement Policy which has been referred to previously as “Council Standing Orders” and “Council’s financial regulations”
27 Oct 06 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #8 to Aberdeenshire Council [ACE/74428]) Question 5. Please provide a full copy of Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy" 

David Wright in his answer of 08 Dec 06 below again fails to provide the Procurement Policy, claiming that the document which all procurement is referred to is the “Sustainable Purchasing Policy”.

By stating “We sent you a paper copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy on 27 September 2006” he acknowledges that he has not provided the Procurement Policy… and again has broken the Laws of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 by not providing it…
08 Dec 06 Answer 5 You asked for a full copy of Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy. We sent you a paper copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy on 27 September 2006. The policy is also available on the Aberdeenshire Council Website: www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf
The question that is asked is… why will Aberdeenshire Council not provide a copy of the Procurement Policy? … What is so secretive about the information contained within it? 
This raises further questions such as, are written tenders required?...  and does the Policy specifically state that Employee’s businesses should not be considered while tendering Council contracts? (The same as what’s been detailed in every Council employee’s Terms and Conditions of Employment?) …

“The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. FOI2 Reply 02 Dec 05 [ACE/32775]
18 Dec 06 Letter Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council... Our Ref: 200600082/JA... Dear Mr Nicol, - Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council - I refer again to my letter of 16 October 2006, in which I advised you that I had written to Mr Cameron to ask him to provide me with additional details about his request, in order that the Commissioner can decide whether he has a legitimate interest to the information. I have now received a response from Mr Cameron, and note from his submission that he is concerned about alleged impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council in relation to contracts by Council employees, and that this is the reason why he is seeking access to this information. I would now welcome comments on behalf of the Council, particularly with regard to the tests set out in paragraph 6 of schedule 2 to the Data Protection Act 1998. In particular, I would welcome arguments from the Council as to whether you consider that Mr Cameron has legitimate interests and if so whether - and why - the Council considers that disclosure of the information would be unwarranted in the circumstances taking into account the legitimate interests of the Council employees named in the information. Please let me have your additional submissions by 22 January 2007. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse
Legitimate Interest... Aberdeenshire Council’s Failure to Read Between the Lines...
Margaret Keyse, if Alastair Nicol is smart enough gives away a clue that I have been conducting an investigation. She details that I have ‘provided information’ through a submission concerning alleged impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council in relation to contracts and employees...
It has to be noted that this is the very first time that Aberdeenshire Council have been made aware that a possible allegation has been made.

This should have the effect of polarising Alastair Nicol’s attitude to Margaret Keyse’s request which is asking for comments on the matter on behalf of the Council. Had I been Alastair Nicol at this point, I would have wanted to re-examine the information at hand which had been sent to me... to try and second guess what exactly the impropriety might be.

Margaret Keyse’s letter also gives away a second clue... by asking Alastair Nicol to now qualify Aberdeenshire Council’s position by welcoming arguments should suggest that I have put forward a strong case... unfortunately for Alastair Nicol, he isn’t smart enough on this occasion to read between the lines and responds as only Aberdeenshire Council can with a full on assault against my good character on 15 Jan 07.

My reading of Margaret Keyse’s letter is that she has accepted my arguments as strong enough evidence to support my claim to having ‘legitimate interest’.
15 Jan 07 Letter Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council to Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission... Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/AB Your Ref: 200600082/JA Dear Ms Keyse, - MR IAN CAMERON AND ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL DECISION 084/2006 - I refer to your letter of 18 December, 2006, in connection with the above matter and would make the following comments on whether Mr Cameron has a legitimate interest to the disputed information. As you know, Schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act 1998 sets out conditions which allow personal data to be processed. Paragraph 6 permits processing if the processing is necessary for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued by the data controller (in this case the Council) or by the third party or parties to whom data is disclosed, except where the processing is unwarranted in any particular case by reason of prejudice to the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the data subject. It is for the Commissioner to identify the legitimate interest which the applicant has in seeking the information. Having a right to ask for the information does not mean by that fact alone that he has a legitimate interest in the information. The purpose of the limitation on the right to disclose personal data to a third party is to protect the data subject's right to privacy under Article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights. In this case it is not apparent what the legitimate interest of Mr Cameron would be. While he seems to be alleging impropriety, I am inclined to think that he is on a "fishing" exercise to see what he can find out. If there is a suggestion of impropriety against a member of staff at the Nordic Ski Centre it is not clear to me how Mr Cameron having personal data in relation to that employee or the other employees at the centre will take him much further forward. You may not be aware that, since September, 2005, Mr Cameron has made ten separate requests for information relating to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. These have all been very broad, detailed and complex, and have sometimes repeated requests for information which had been previously provided. The Council has endeavoured to respond to these requests as effectively as possible and has provided, where available and appropriate, all information requested. It is not always clear from the requests exactly what information he is seeking. Staff have contacted Mr Cameron to get clarification of what he wants, but his responses have not been straightforward. Staff have offered to meet with Mr Cameron to discuss any concerns he may have and to gain a better understanding of what he wants, but to date he has not responded to any invitation to meet. Despite having had many opportunities to outline his concerns, Mr Cameron has never directly alleged any impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council in relation to the Nordic Ski Centre. As a result, we have not been able to investigate the validity of any such claims. It is the'view of the Education and Recreation Service that, since Mr Cameron has never made a specific allegation which could be investigated, this is because he realises that his claim has no substance. The Service believe that Mr Cameron is using the Act to perpetuate a long standing grievance against the Nordic Ski Centre in general and one member of its staff in particular, and his repeated requests are simply trying to frustrate Council staff and to put them to additional unnecessary work. It is becoming increasingly likely that any further requests from Mr Cameron on the same subject would result in a vexatious notice under Section 14 of the Act. In all the circumstances, I would contend that, on the basis of the information provided, I do not consider that Mr Cameron has legitimate interests in obtaining the information under dispute. It is perhaps conceivable to say that there may be information in which Mr Cameron would have a legitimate interest if he made an allegation of impropriety against a specific individual, but for whatever reason he has not chosen to do so. I do not believe he has established that he has a legitimate interest in obtaining the information sought. I hope these comments will be of assistance to you. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol

Contempt for the Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission
Alastair Nicol begins his letter by dictating to Margaret Keyse from the Data Protection Act 1998 with regard to what the Act says about personal data.

His 3rd paragraph in my view is disrespectful to Margaret Keyse and has an element of contempt in its tone
“It is for the Commissioner to identify the legitimate interest which the applicant has in seeking the information. Having a right to ask for the information does not mean by that fact alone that he has a legitimate interest in the information.”
There is without question to me, an arrogance about Aberdeenshire Council which is above their station. Alastair Nicol says it is not apparent what the legitimate interest that I have is.

I consider that I was right when I determined Alastair Nicol had failed to read between the lines of Margaret Keyse’s letter of 18 Dec 06.

Alastair Nicol’s Opinion based on Conjecture...
I am still at odds as to what Alastair Nicol is saying in paragraph 4? He prevaricates that I might be on a “Fishing Exercise”, he does single out that it is “a” member of staff at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre but it was made clear in FOI answer #2 ACE/32775 dated 14 Oct 05 that it was “staff” who were operating the business ‘Tout Tele’ from Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and purchasing equipment from it...
“The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment…”
Therefore, my request for the “Staff” names is important. It implies that all the staff members are running this business... and indeed they are all personally connected to one another as private members of Huntly Nordic Ski Club.

Alastair Nicol surmises again that it’s not clear how having personal data in relation to “that” employee (singular again) or the other employees will take me much further forward... Alastair Nicol seems not to be aware of the follow up answer to FOI answer #2 ACE/32775 dated 02 Dec 05 where Aberdeenshire Council provide an extract from all employee’s contracts which state that...

 “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. FOI2 Reply 02 Dec 05 [ACE/32775]
It’s clear here... that these employees are breaking their Contracts of employment... I now therefore have legitimate interest, as they are doing so by the manipulation of contracts to supply sports equipment to their place of work, with the further addition that there are no Financial Records being kept on what they are supplying (Ref: 27 Sep 06), coupled with the fact that they even have the self confidence to arrange supply agreements for their private business using the Council’s business address at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre to front the arrangement.

We need to now recap on some facts... I have not alleged any impropriety yet to Aberdeenshire Council... I have been asked by OSIC to provide reason why I have legitimate interest in receiving the names of the staff at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre.
Alastair Nicol and the Beginning of a Personal Character Assassination Designed to Cause Significant Damage...
Alastair Nicol literally goes in with all guns blazing in the following paragraphs, launching into a particular attack on my good character. He goes on the offensive to literally begin a personal character assassination causing significant damage to my reputation.

He has been told that I have made a submission, that I am concerned about alleged impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council in relation to contracts by Council employees.

The following character assassination by Alastair Nicol, demonstrates the culture of recrimination and victimisation that exists within Aberdeenshire Council. Andrew Miller, the Sports Development Officer also does the same thing in a response to the Big Lottery detailed on 20 Jun 06, that directly affected the credibility of my complaint about the manipulation of Big Lottery grants to them where Roy Young both co-ordinated a Lottery application as applicant and directed £4,000 into his own business. The Big Lottery never addressed my complaint despite having to submit it 3 times.

Any normal response made with good sense would have been to re-check the information supplied in the past to see what/where the foundation of my concerns had come from, from the Freedom of Information requests and answers that I have made. Having read answer ACE/32775 14 Oct 05 he would probably have reached the same conclusions as I have reached... something isn’t right!

Alastair Nicol begins with a “dramatisation” of the questions I have asked, by using adjectives to discredit my questions such as “10 requests have all been very broad, detailed and complex”.

My questions couldn’t have been simpler if you take time to look at them... the reason for consecutive FOI requests is simple... most Aberdeenshire Council answers were unsatisfactory and instead of answering the question asked, just succeeded in creating a new question. In fact, there is 1 answer which has caused all the damage and is the real reason for this whole investigation and that is answer FOI #2 ACE/32775 sent on 14 Oct 05... I challenge any reader of this answer as a taxpayer to say they are happy with what it says!

Misleading the Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission with Untrue Statements...
“The Council has endeavoured to respond to these requests as effectively as possible and has provided, where available and appropriate, all information requested.”
If you look through my discussion... it will soon be realised that this statement is incredulous and couldn’t be further from the reality of what has happened.

Additionally, where available all information has been provided... if this was true, why do I have 3 decisions ratified and going through OSIC? That in itself says information is not being provided effectively.

“It is not always clear from the requests exactly what information he is seeking.”
The questions that I have asked have always been crystal clear...

Alastair Nicol says I have made repeated requests for information... this is untrue – look at my questions... in fact, he may be referring to questions on the Procurement Policy I had requested, that was in place at the time of the purchase of the equipment detailed on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment dated 31 Mar 05...

(Click here to see Document Appendix Pages xi to xiv)
Aberdeenshire Council provided the Sustainable Purchasing Policy... but the problem was, it was dated 10 Nov 05... I asked repeatedly for the policy and continued to receive the Sustainable Purchasing Policy document written 8 months after the Inventory in question, therefore, you can see my problem. How can a Policy be applicable to an Inventory of equipment when it hadn’t been written yet?

http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf

I was being misled with intent then... and Alastair Nicol is trying to mislead Margaret Keyse now with this remark.

Request for Clarification Which Exposes the Reality of the Manipulation and Failure of Line Manager Supervision...
“Staff have contacted Mr Cameron to get clarification of what he wants, but his responses have not been straightforward.”
This is true for 1 occasion only... I had used the term “Franchise” in a request made on 16 Sep 05 already knowing that employee and instructor at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre had been using the Local Authorities business address to set up Supply Agreements with equipment Distributors Salomon and Fischer...

“Hello Please try Braemar Mountain Sports in Braemar for Fischer Nordic equipment or Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly. Thanks for your enquiry. Rab Reid Sales & Marketing Director Thin Ice Sports Ltd info@thinicesports.com www.thinicesports.com”
Franchise was the wrong word to use, I should have said ‘Supply Agreements’, so when asked to clarify my question... I left it as broad as possible in order to capture the information I wanted...

21 Sep 05 Joanna Shirriffs to Ian -  In order to respond to your request I would be grateful if you could clarify what you mean when you refer to 'franchises held either under the auspices of Aberdeenshire Council or held by employees of Aberdeenshire Council working at or using the address of Huntly ski centre'. The Centre was formally run as a grant-aided trust, but is now operated by Aberdeenshire Council. The term 'franchise' suggests commercial operations. If you could provide an indication of the type of information you are looking for it will help us to find the information you require.
21 Sep 05 Ian to Joanna Shirriffs - Thanks for your reply. It's very much appreciated. My questions are quite clear, though if you are in doubt please send full details of all franchises and commercial activities operated by Aberdeenshire Council through Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, or by employees of Aberdeenshire Council working at and using the address of... Huntly Nordic Ski Centre Hill of Haugh Huntly Aberdeenshire AB54 8NZ.
However, Joanna Shirriffs request for clarification said it all... The term 'franchise' suggests commercial operations.  The fact was commercial operations were being undertaken by their employee Roy Young for his business without line manager approval to do so... Read Roy Young’s letter to his line manager here on page 2 of this link and the corresponding reply made by Kate Gibson on page 3...

(Click here and go to page 2 to see) Roy Young - Line Manager Approval Request
Roy Young states “As these activities are not related to my main employment I hope I can continue to do them”. It would appear that employee Roy Young has been misleading his Line Manager... and Kate Gibson his Line Manager has failed/been negligent to supervise what he has actually been doing.

Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and Statutory Rights...
“Staff have offered to meet with Mr Cameron to discuss any concerns he may have and to gain a better understanding of what he wants, but to date he has not responded to any invitation to meet.”
What Alastair Nicol fails to remember about the Freedom of Information Act is the statutory rights we all have regarding the legislation...

“Anyone - from anywhere in the world - has a right to see any kind of recorded information from a Scottish public authority, however old the information is.  You do not have to say why you want the information or what you want it for and the authority is obliged to respond to all information requests they receive within 20 working days of receipt.... Scottish Information Commission”
I am under no obligation to give any explanation about reasons for my requests, that’s my right in Law and he has no right to ask... All I have done is ask questions... Aberdeenshire Council’s duty under the Law is to comply with it.

It has been suggested only once by David Wright Recreation Manager to meet with me on 27 Sep 06 ACE/62286...

“If you have any further questions I, and my colleagues, would be available to meet with you in Huntly at a mutually convenient time. Please contact me directly if you would like to arrange a meeting. Yours sincerely David Wright Recreation Manager”
I ask myself… why would he do this… what is being implied here by wanting to meet me at a mutually convenient time in Huntly ??? My feeling is he doesn’t want to put anything else in writing.
Aberdeenshire Council’s Failure to Apply Good Sense...
“Despite having had many opportunities to outline his concerns, Mr Cameron has never directly alleged any impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council in relation to the Nordic Ski Centre.”
The first thing about this statement is, it’s not up to Aberdeenshire Council to decide when I make am allegation of impropriety... that is for me to decide... so Alastair Nicol should not be making any suggestions along these lines – he has no right to.

To date, I have only been putting information together to paint a broader picture of what is really going on. The fact that Aberdeenshire Council have made it easy for me and the crucial strength of the Freedom of Information Act is the fact that answers must be put in writing, making the information I have in my Investigation unequivocal... it cannot be disputed... this is what they have said.

Second thing is, I’d like to know when these opportunities were to outline my concerns? This is news to me!

“As a result, we have not been able to investigate the validity of any such claims.”
I haven’t made any claims yet to Aberdeenshire Council... I have provided evidence to support the fact that I have legitimate interest to the Scottish Information Commission.

Education and Recreation Service... The Incredulous Statement...

The next statement is incredible...

“It is the' view of the Education and Recreation Service that, since Mr Cameron has never made a specific allegation which could be investigated, this is because he realises that his claim has no substance.”
How would they have any idea that I realise “my claim has no substance”?... 

They wouldn’t know this because they don’t know what the claim actually is! This indeed is an incompetent statement made to discredit my submission to Margaret Keyse to authenticate my legitimate interest...

Direct Defamation Without Grounds... with Designed Intention to Cause Damage...
Just when I thought Alastair Nicol couldn’t extend himself any further he goes 1 better...

“The Service believe that Mr Cameron is using the Act to perpetuate a long standing grievance against the Nordic Ski Centre in general and one member of its staff in particular, and his repeated requests are simply trying to frustrate Council staff and to put them to additional unnecessary work.”
The defamation of my character has gone 1 step too far with this remark... I will have no option but to recourse this fully and at the appropriate time. This remark cannot be allowed to remain in place and I will have to take legal advice as a result.

In addition, Alastair Nicol’s personal attack and attempt to destroy my reputation causes me some considerable distress! I have never even met this man or know the people in question at the heart of the corruption, so therefore how can he make a statement like this... he can because of its designed intention... and that is to damage.

Admission of Intention to Breach Members of the Publics Statutory Rights...

“It is becoming increasingly likely that any further requests from Mr Cameron on the same subject would result in a vexatious notice under Section 14 of the Act.”
An admission is now made that my statutory rights will be breached if I make any further requests under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Alastair Nicol says they will apply Section 14 Vexatious Notice again on me.

If I do have the need to ask another question, this will be absolutely unfair and against the law of natural justice. My evidence is my Investigation and it details a litany of deceit, untruthfulness, dishonesty etc on Aberdeenshire Council’s behalf where it’s been a rare thing when they do provide a satisfactory answer.

Contention Based on Mis-Information...
“In all the circumstances, I would contend that, on the basis of the information provided, I do not consider that Mr Cameron has legitimate interests in obtaining the information under dispute. It is perhaps conceivable to say that there may be information in which Mr Cameron would have a legitimate interest if he made an allegation of impropriety against a specific individual, but for whatever reason he has not chosen to do so. I do not believe he has established that he has a legitimate interest in obtaining the information sought.”
What information? All that has been provided is speculation and defamation by Alastair Nicol in this letter. Alastair Nicol tries to now suggest that any complaint I have made can only be “nonsense” which would make my provision of evidence disputable and therefore invalid.

He again suggests that I have not made any allegations of impropriety yet because I cannot establish it... but it’s not up to Alastair Nicol to decide when I make my complaint... that’s for me to do... and I have done it on 19 Feb 08 to HM Revenue & Customs and 26 Mar 08 to Audit Scotland... I still aim to make a further submission to the Procurator Fiscal Service in due course.

Only Assistance Made is to Confirm Complete Loss in Public Confidence of Aberdeenshire Council...


Finally...



“I hope these comments will be of assistance to you. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol”
These comments can only make Alastair Nicol look bad and indeed, Margaret Keyse doesn’t appear to buy them in her follow up letter of 02 Feb 07.

02 Feb 07 Letter from Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Mr Cameron, Aberdeenshire Council - I write in relation to your letter to me dated 24 October 2006, in which you enclosed a section of the report that you are currently preparing regarding your concerns about the practices of Aberdeenshire Council. I have read the section of the report that you submitted and can see why you are of the view that you would have a legitimate interest in obtaining information which might relate to Roy Young. However, as part of your original information request was for the names of all of the staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, it is more difficult for me to establish legitimate interests into the names of all of the employees. I appreciate that you have already provided me with a submission as to why you are of the view that you would have a legitimate interest in obtaining this information. However, it would be helpful if you would provide me with your comments as to why you feel you have a legitimate interest in receiving the names of all of the staff employed at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Please let me have your comments on this by 20 February 2007. I look forward to hearing from you. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations…
I receive a letter from Margaret Keyse asking me for further evidence, as per the Court of Session's directive,
to produce evidence as to why I think I should receive the names of 'all the staff' 
employed at Aberdeenshire Council's Huntly Nordic Ski Centre... I gave a submission to this effect on 24 Oct 06... 
However, Alastair Nicol’s letter of 15 Jan 07 seems to have had the desired effect… and Margaret Keyse re-questions my legitimate interest…

05 Feb 07 Letter Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council... Our Ref: 200600082/JA Your Ref: FOI/1 AN/AB Dear Mr Nicol, - MR IAN CAMERON AND ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL DECISION 084/2006 - I write with reference to your letter to me dated 15 January 2007, in which you provided me with Aberdeenshire Council's (the Council) comments on whether Mr Cameron has a legitimate interest in the disputed information. I note from the comments that you made on behalf of the Council, in the second page of your letter, that the Education and Recreation Service believe that Mr Cameron is using the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 to perpetuate a long standing grievance against the Nordic Ski Centre in general, and one member of staff in particular, and that Mr Cameron is making these requests to try to frustrate Council staff. Could you please provide me with any evidence you have to demonstrate why the Council hold such beliefs that this is the intention behind Mr Cameron's requests? Please provide me with your comments and submissions on the above matter by 20 February 2007. I look forward to hearing from you. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations
Request for Evidence to Support Allegations and Justification for Defamation of Character ...

Margaret Keyse focuses in on the comments made on the second page of Alastair Nicol’s letter 15 Jan 07... She has identified the personal nature of the allegations that are now being made by Aberdeenshire Council as their main argument against the release of information.

The Scottish Information Commission now want to know why they are making these personal, damaging statements and wants them to support their comments by providing evidence.

Margaret Keyse should be able to clearly see that my Report, (which she has a copy of), is about an investigation into manipulation of Public Funds and that there is a considerable corresponding public interest of such an investigation.
05 Feb 07 Local Newspaper release - Aberdeen Press & Journal... SCANDAL OF ABERDEEN SKI CENTRE IS REVEALED... "A damming article regarding the full scale mismanagement at Aberdeen City Council's £2.3 Million Garthdee Sports and Alpine Adventure Park which led to a top official being sacked finally emerged"...

Investigation Concluded Based on Corruption and Manipulation of Public Funds at Ski Centre in Aberdeen...
The full story can be read in (Click here to see Document - Appendix Page xlv) and draws significant parallel's 
with the circumstances of my investigation into Aberdeenshire Council's Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. In this report, a Criminal Investigation was also carried out by the Police.


There is enough comparison with this story to allow me to draw a line under my investigation 
and confirm to me that I have legitimate concern in public justice to warrant a submission for
an independent inquiry and a submission to the procurator fiscal for possible criminal inquiry 
into the misappropriation of public funds.


I date this report 5th February 2007 to conclude its legitimacy.
15 Feb 07 Letter Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council to Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission... Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/FT Your Ref: 200600082/JA Dear Ms Keyse, - MR IAN CAMERON AND ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL DECISION 084/2006 - I refer to your letter of 2 February, 2007, in connection with the above matter. The view of the Education and Recreation Service which you are questioning was expressed by the Council's former Recreation Manager. As that officer has now moved on to a new job with another authority, I cannot confirm his reasons for believing that Mr Cameron has a particular agenda. However, it seems to me as an outside observer not directly involved with responding to Mr Cameron's requests that the information provided in the fifth and sixth paragraphs of my letter of 15 January, 2007, could reasonably lead one to reach the same conclusions as the officer. As I said in that letter, over the course of a year, Mr Cameron submitted ten separate but interrelated requests for information about the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The requests are very detailed, overlapping and sometimes difficult to decipher. One request even asked for a specific document which he had sought in an earlier request and had already been provided with. Education and Recreation staff have worked hard to respond effectively to Mr Cameron, requesting clarification where necessary. Staff have also offered to meet with Mr Cameron to discuss his concerns, and to try to help him to frame his requests in such a way that staff can provide him with as much information as possible. To date he has not responded to any invitation to meet. The Huntly Nordic Ski Centre is a very small business unit and the amount of time required to deal with Mr Cameron had a detrimental effect on staff morale and their ability to do their jobs effectively. The series of requests eventually was considered to be intrusive and disruptive to the workings of the centre and to have the effect of harassing the centre and its staff. Mr Cameron has suggested to you that he is concerned with alleged impropriety within the Council in relation to contracts by Council employees, and he has named a particular member of staff in some of his requests, but despite offers to meet with him, he has never made any direct allegation to any officer of the Council. As a result, we have not been able to investigate the validity of any such claims. The conclusion which Education and Recreation staff drew from this was that he knows that his claims have no validity and that it suits his purposes to continue to use the FOI process to frustrate Council staff and put them to unnecessary work. This was imposing a disproportionate resource burden on the Council which is not in the public interest. In short, if Mr Cameron really believes that there is impropriety associated with the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, he has had ample time and opportunity to make a specific allegation either to the Council or to the Police. The fact that he has not done so casts doubt, in my mind, on whether his motives are really what he claims. Yours Sincerely Alastair Nicol

Recap – The Policy Documents Regarding Prevention & Detection of Fraud & Corruption & Whistleblowing

Before I assess Alastair Nicol’s answer of 15 Feb 07, I think it is important to recap on what Aberdeenshire Council’s policy documents say…

Aberdeenshire Council: Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud and Corruption
“Aberdeenshire Council aims to provide an excellent standard of service but as a public body responsible for the funds raised from both local and national taxation it has an over-riding duty to ensure propriety and accountability in all matters.  The Council is determined to protect itself and the public from fraud and corruption and is committed to the rigorous maintenance of a strategy for the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption which will provide a framework for:”

- encouraging fraud deterrence and prevention

- raising awareness of fraud and corruption and promoting their detection

- performing investigations and facilitating recovery

- invoking disciplinary proceedings and referral to Police and/or Procurator Fiscal

a)In the majority of cases, it is the diligence of employees and the alertness and good citizenship of the public at large that enables detection to occur
b)The Council will be robust in dealing with any financial malpractice, and can be expected to deal timeously and firmly with any person who attempts to defraud the Council or who engages in corrupt practices, whether they are Councillors, employees, consultants, contractors or other suppliers, benefit claimants, tenants or unrelated third parties.
(...Click here to read Policy Document in full...)
Aberdeenshire Council: Whistle-blowing Policy

POLICY STATEMENT - Aberdeenshire Council recognises the importance of openness and honesty in carrying out its functions and this is reflected in the Council’s Aims, which make reference to the requirement to be Open and Honest, Responsible and Reliable, Trusting and Trustworthy. 

This Policy and Procedure relating to the Public Disclosure Act 1998 is a further demonstration of the Council’s intention to encourage a culture of openness by ensuring that its employees have a robust procedure for raising genuine concerns about all aspects of malpractice at work without fear of recrimination or victimisation.

Aberdeenshire Council will treat all matters raised under this policy seriously.

1.General Statement - In any large organisation providing a wide range of services, employing large numbers of people there is potential for malpractice or misadministration.  Aberdeenshire Council is no exception.
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Council Whistle-blowing Policy)
David Wright Former Recreation Manager Becomes the Scapegoat…

Margaret Keyse detailed the following about me on 18 Dec 06…

“I have now received a response from Mr Cameron, and note from his submission that he is concerned about alleged impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council in relation to contracts by Council employees, and that this is the reason why he is seeking access to this information.”
The attitude in this letter (15 Feb 07) to Margaret Keyse falls a long way short of these Anti Fraud, Corruption and Whistle Blowing policy positions detailed above. Like Alan Campbell the Chief Executive’s letter of 18 Dec 07, he attempts to make a fool out of Margaret Keyse…

Alastair Nicol is now trying to suggest that the information given in his 17 Jan 07 letter regarding Aberdeenshire Council’s personal attack on my reputation / credibility are now the opinions expressed by the former Recreation Manager David Wright !!!? 

It’s convenient to say this… if this is the case, then these comments should not have been expressed to Margaret Keyse on 15 Jan 07…

“The view of the Education and Recreation Service which you are questioning was expressed by the Council's former Recreation Manager. As that officer has now moved on to a new job with another authority, I cannot confirm his reasons for believing that Mr Cameron has a particular agenda.”
Alastair Nicol was very good at dictating the Law to Margaret Keyse on the first 3 paragraphs of his 15 Jan 07 letter… making official comments in that same letter which he can’t substantiate… the reason he can’t substantiate it, is because there is no truth in them… the design of the comments made is to mislead, defame and cause maximum damage to the credibility of any complaint that I may have made. 

Incredibly as I reflect on the Whistle blowing Policy, there is absolute recrimination and victimisation going on which, when I read on receiving the letters through my ‘Subject Access Request’ of 15 Feb 08, has, and continues to cause me some considerable personal distress…Remember, I have asked questions and that’s all I’ve done.
Contradiction of Information… and the Claim to be an “Outside Observer”…
Alastair Nicol now try’s to claim he is an outside observer?... he isn’t an outside observer, he is the man responsible to give an honest and truthful answer when asked by Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations.

He states that the information provided in the 5th and 6th paragraphs of his 15 Jan 07 letter could reasonably lead one to reach the same conclusions as the Officer… but it details in those paragraphs that these are not the views of an Officer… but the views of the Education & Recreation Service… that is a different thing altogether.

Additionally, these comments in question are absolute fabrication, speculated and have no grounds to be put forward as evidence to the Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission.

Alastair Nicol’s Views and the use of Adjectives to Dramatise the Case…
Alastair Nicol now goes on to repeat what he said in his 15 Jan 07 letter, therefore these are now not the views of “The Officer” he talks about… but his views.

He is exactly like Alan Campbell’s letter of 18 Dec 07 using emotive language such as…

 “The requests are very detailed, overlapping and sometimes difficult to decipher.”
“Education and Recreation staff have worked hard to respond effectively to Mr Cameron, requesting clarification where necessary.”
If that was the case, I wouldn’t have 3 appeals/decisions going through the OSIC.

Incompetence or a Direct Attempt to Mislead the Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission… ?
“One request even asked for a specific document which he had sought in an earlier request and had already been provided with.”
What Alastair Nicol neglects to tell Margaret Keyse here is the reason for this. The document in question, the Sustainable Purchasing Policy was dated 10 Nov 05… I’d asked for the policy relevant to the Inventory of Moveable Equipment which was dated 31 Mar 05!... I had to make a repeat request as they kept providing the same document written 8 months after the purchases in question!
To make this remark could only either be incompetence or a direct attempt to mislead Margaret Keyse… which one is it?

The Direct Offence of Statutory Rights by Aberdeenshire Council… 
“Staff have also offered to meet with Mr Cameron to discuss his concerns, and to try to help him to frame his requests in such a way that staff can provide him with as much information as possible. To date he has not responded to any invitation to meet.”
My rights are clear under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002…

“Anyone - from anywhere in the world - has a right to see any kind of recorded information from a Scottish public authority, however old the information is.  You do not have to say why you want the information or what you want it for and the authority is obliged to respond to all information requests they receive within 20 working days of receipt.... Scottish Information Commission”
Margaret Keyse should know this and so should Alastair Nicol, so by suggesting invitations to meet by an Officer would offend my statutory rights… Alastair Nicol and Aberdeenshire Council would do well to understand this.

Indications That Things are “Not Right” at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre…
“The Huntly Nordic Ski Centre is a very small business unit and the amount of time required to deal with Mr Cameron had a detrimental effect on staff morale and their ability to do their jobs effectively. The series of requests eventually was considered to be intrusive and disruptive to the workings of the centre and to have the effect of harassing the centre and its staff.”
How can this be? If you look at the annual accounts for the Centre in the Appendix, or actually visit the place, you’ll see that the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has very low usage levels.

I have asked concise and legitimate questions which should have clear answers… if everything is above board, staff will be happy to help provide the information which will be documented properly under the Council’s correct quality control procedures.

(This report proves there are no procedures, or Quality Control documents or even Annual Reports other than a 1 page Annual Accounts)

This comment is an indication that everything isn’t above board as it has affected their ability to do their jobs effectively and their moral…

I have to admit, I’d be worried too if someone was asking questions about procurement when no financial records existed (ref: 27 Sep 06) and I’d created a fictitious company (Fischer Racquetline Limited ), to cover up the manipulation of Public Funds by Aberdeenshire Council Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre employees… 
Singling Out of 1 Staff Member…

“Mr Cameron has suggested to you that he is concerned with alleged impropriety within the Council in relation to contracts by Council employees, and he has named a particular member of staff in some of his requests, but despite offers to meet with him, he has never made any direct allegation to any officer of the Council. As a result, we have not been able to investigate the validity of any such claims.” 

It’s not up to Aberdeenshire Council to decide when I make any allegations… that’s for me to decide dictated by the outcome of a satisfactory conclusion.

Alastair Nicol does focus in on the naming of 1 member of staff in particular… so it is Alastair Nicol who is now singling out 1 staff member in question by referencing my FOI questions regarding ‘Tout Tele’ and Roy Young…
Unfounded Conjecture About Validity of My Complaint to the Office of the Scottish Information Commission…

Alastair Nicol doesn’t know what the claims are, so how can he comment that there is no validity?
“The conclusion which Education and Recreation staff drew from this was that he knows that his claims have no validity…”
But it’s convenient for him to say this to make his own unfounded allegation that… 

“it suits his purposes to continue to use the FOI process to frustrate Council staff and put them to unnecessary work. This was imposing a disproportionate resource burden on the Council which is not in the public interest”
What Alastair Nicol needs to realise is the fundamentals of FOISA, and that is…

“Anyone - from anywhere in the world - has a right to see any kind of recorded information from a Scottish public authority, however old the information is.  You do not have to say why you want the information or what you want it for and the authority is obliged to respond to all information requests they receive within 20 working days of receipt.... Scottish Information Commission”
My line of enquiry is very concise considering the circumstances. To determine the level of abuse, bias, corruption and manipulation of Public Funds by Aberdeenshire Council staff in the relatively low number of FOISA requests that I’ve made, I believe is a testament to my efficiency.

Alastair Nicol states that …
“This was imposing a disproportionate resource burden on the Council which is not in the public interest”
My questioning is without doubt in the public interest… the only thing that is disproportionate, is Aberdeenshire Council’s failure to answer the questions properly… it is the fact that unsatisfactory answers have been given, particularly 14 Oct 05 that has created the need to ask another question and that has been the nature of my investigation.

Alastair Nicol Comments Outside His Station…

“In short, if Mr Cameron really believes that there is impropriety associated with the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre, he has had ample time and opportunity to make a specific allegation either to the Council or to the Police.” 
Again, it’s for me to determine when I make my complaints and I have now done so… to HM Revenue & Customs, to Audit Scotland (Audit Commission) and to my local Councillor. I still intend on the date of writing this to make a further submission to the Procurator Fiscal’s Service.
“The fact that he has not done so casts doubt, in my mind, on whether his motives are really what he claims.“

Alastair Nicol’s mind has already been assessed by me… it’s not a positive assessment.
Insincerity…

He signs off… Yours Sincerely Alastair Nicol… essentially there is nothing sincere about his letter to Margaret Keyse. Margaret Keyse’s question was…

“Could you please provide me with any evidence you have to demonstrate why the Council hold such beliefs that this is the intention behind Mr Cameron's requests?”
Alastair Nicol provides no evidence, scapegoats David Wright and re-iterates almost exactly what he said on 15 Jan 07…

16 Feb 07 Letter Ian to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Ms Keyse, Thank you very much for your letter dated 2nd February 2007. I have now, on 5th February 2007, completed my 17 month investigation into working practices at Aberdeenshire Council (AC) and feel that I have managed to reach a conclusion. Please find my report enclosed along with a second folder containing all the FOI Questions and Answers between myself and AC for your reference. To answer your question, “Why do I think I have ‘legitimate interest’ in receiving the names of all the staff at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre”… The information I provided previously was only an extract from my investigation, as at that stage the information was still developing and I couldn’t supply the report in its entirety to you. If I can draw your attention to AC FOI response #2 ACE/32775 dated 14th October 2005… it states in this answer that… The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fisher, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company. In AC FOI response #2 part 2 ACE/32775 dated 02nd December 2005… it states that AC employee contracts include the following statement… “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. … Clearly from this, AC Employment Rules are being broken directly by “the staff” at AC Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and by stating generally that it’s the staff at the centre who are making purchases from their colleague Roy Young and helping operate his business for him… indeed, I am questioning the misappropriation of public funds by employees who are also linked privately to one another, as they are all private members of a club called the Huntly Nordic Ski Club. I have generalised this point of the investigation in this letter, but I have covered it fully within my report. I believe, without doubt, that I do have legitimate interest in receiving the names of all the staff at the Centre as my report concludes that an excess of £50,000 of ski equipment is being manipulated by AC staff members and being placed through their own businesses… and that this may only be the tip of the iceberg. The ‘Public Interest’ is also served by my investigation as recently a case not too dissimilar affecting Aberdeen City Councils ‘Garthdee Sports & Alpine Adventure Park’ was detailed in the Press… please see page XLV in the Appendix of my report for details. Due to this fact, my report also calls for an Independent Investigation and a submission to the Procurator Fiscal to determine if there has been any criminality into the goings on of the operation of the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre by it’s staff. As you will see from the report, there is a lot that is wrong within AC FOI department including 4 occasion’s where they failed to reply within the 20 working day time limit, in one case by 13 days late and, that they completely ignored a “Subject Access Request” which I made through the Data Protection Act legislation. They also made a false claim that I was vexatious, quoting Section 14 of the Act, as the information I sought, steadily started to hit a nerve. (See AC FOI response #8 ACE/74428 dated 13th November 2006). My report also details that AC FOI Review Panel is completely ineffective… and is a good example that the proposal by the Government in October 2006 to place restrictions on FOI would, if implemented on 17th April 2007, made this investigation impossible… I have detailed this point at the end of the Executive Summary. I have two new appeals to make to the Scottish Information Commissioner, to which I have attached with my reasons for dissatisfaction to this letter… I have included them here, as they are related to the same investigation. I would appreciate if you could forward them on to the appropriate Officer within the Scottish Information Commission. You are currently the first person to see this report, but I believe that you will be aware that I have an agenda on how I am going to release it. I would be happy to discuss this on the telephone if you contact me in the first instance at your convenience. I am however bound by my working schedule and will be in Norway from 20th Feb to 14th Mar… Canada from 16th Mar to 26th Mar and back in Norway again 27th Mar to 18th Apr… I do have access to a phone and it would be best if you contact me by email to arrange a suitable time. Thank you again for your patience... Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron
I submit my full report to date on 16 Feb 07 to Ms Keyse along with a detailed reason why I 
should receive the staff members names... I also submit 2 new complaints regarding Aberdeenshire Council fabricating a fictitious company "Fischer Racquetline Limited"... and the withholding of the Procurement Policy and underlining the failure of Aberdeenshire Council’s Review Panel.
16 Feb 07 (Included with the Letter from Ian to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission… ACE/74428 Application for Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner... Application for a decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner: By virtue of Section 47 of the Act, a person who is dissatisfied with a Decision Notice issued under Section 21 (5) or (9) of the Act, may apply to the Scottish Information Commissioner for his decision as to whether, in any respect specified in that application, the request for information under Section 1 (I) of the Act, has been dealt with in accordance with Part 1 of the Act. a) The request for information to which the Requirement for Review which was made to Aberdeenshire Council relate; The information requested relates to FOI Enquiry #5 and #5 part 2 [ACE/62286]… made by Ian Cameron to Aberdeenshire Council on 14th July 2006 and 17th August 2006 respectively… b) The matter which gives rise to your dissatisfaction and your request for review; The matter which gives rise to my dissatisfaction is the fact that Aberdeenshire Council through Recreation Manager David Wright have failed to answer my questions properly in the requests made on 14th July 2006 and 17th August 2006. c) The matter which gives rise to your dissatisfaction pertaining to the decision given in the Section 21 Decision Notice. That the FOI Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council fails to examine the information at hand… and the information requested is not answered, with David Wright again failing to answer questions appropriately. I have detailed exactly below in red, what my dissatisfaction with Aberdeenshire Council’s Decision Notice’s are and listed the correspondence chronologically. The comments that I have made in red have been taken directly from my report investigating working practices within Aberdeenshire Council and should be read in context with that report submitted to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission. (Original copies of Aberdeenshire Council FOI replies can be viewed in the 2nd Folder also submitted to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission on 16th February 2007.) Ian Cameron (Included below this are the relevant extracts from this report)
16 Feb 07 (Included with the Letter from Ian to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission… ACE/62286 Application for Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner... Application for a decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner: By virtue of Section 47 of the Act, a person who is dissatisfied with a Decision Notice issued under Section 21 (5) or (9) of the Act, may apply to the Scottish Information Commissioner for his decision as to whether, in any respect specified in that application, the request for information under Section 1 (I) of the Act, has been dealt with in accordance with Part 1 of the Act. a) The request for information to which the Requirement for Review which was made to Aberdeenshire Council relate; The information requested relates to FOI Enquiry #5 and #5 part 2 [ACE/62286]… made by Ian Cameron to Aberdeenshire Council on 14th July 2006 and 17th August 2006 respectively… b) The matter which gives rise to your dissatisfaction and your request for review; The matter which gives rise to my dissatisfaction is the fact that Aberdeenshire Council through Recreation Manager David Wright have failed to answer my questions properly in the requests made on 14th July 2006 and 17th August 2006. c) The matter which gives rise to your dissatisfaction pertaining to the decision given in the Section 21 Decision Notice. That the FOI Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council fails to examine the information at hand… and the information requested is not answered, with David Wright again failing to answer questions appropriately. I have detailed exactly below in red, what my dissatisfaction with Aberdeenshire Council’s Decision Notice’s are and listed the correspondence chronologically. The comments that I have made in red have been taken directly from my report investigating working practices within Aberdeenshire Council and should be read in context with that report submitted to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission. (Original copies of Aberdeenshire Council FOI replies can be viewed in the 2nd Folder also submitted to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission on 16th February 2007.) Ian Cameron (Included below this are the relevant extracts from this report)
20 Feb 07 Statement made on Team GB European Youth Olympics Winter Festival 2007 Website that… “The squad is the largest contingent of cross-country skiers whom have represented Team GB at the EYOWF. For a sport which receives no government or lottery funding, and relies solely on volunteer coaches, their achievements in building a vibrant and progressive youth development programme should not be underestimated.”
“For a sport which receives no government or lottery funding, and relies solely on volunteer coaches”
This statement is completely untrue as this report highlights, the 3 Nordic Skiers from Huntly which form part of the team have had close to £700,000 worth of Lottery investment into their sport through Lottery grant after Lottery grant and their volunteer coach Roy Young has also directed part of that Lottery investment through his own business, personally profiting from Lottery money… Roy Young is also the Team GB European Youth Olympics squad coach.
http://www.olympics.org.uk/JACA07/news.aspx?NE=1854
11 May 07 Letter Ian to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission… Ref: 200600082/JA… Dear Ms Keyse, I’m writing enquire about the progress of Investigation 084/2006 and whether you can give me any estimates on the likelihood of a Decision. This is in relation to my submission made to you on 16th February 2007. My concerns about the timeframe of the working practices of the group in question are starting to enter the equation as financial accountability is required only up to 7 years… and I fear that information may start to be lost as the activities of the group in question extend back to the summer of 2000. I’d be very grateful for any update at this time. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

I have to write to Margaret Keyse at the Scottish Information Commission since she did not acknowledge my submission of 16 Feb 07, to see if she has received it... and the likelihood of decision regarding the fact that I originally provided evidence of my ‘legitimate interest’ to her on 24 Oct 06... I am now being subjected to considerable time delays by the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner...
04 Jun 07 Letter from Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Ref: 200600082… Dear Mr Cameron, Aberdeenshire Council v Scottish Information Commissioner Thank you for your letter of 11 May 2007. I am sorry it has taken me so long to update you on what is happening here. As you know, the Commissioner decided to allow the appeal from the Council on the basis that he considered that his decision had made a technical error in relation to the exemption in section 38 of the Freedom of information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) (the personal information exemption). He must still, of course, issue a new decision on your case and that will have to go into quite explicit detail on the interaction between FOISA and the Data Protection Act 1998, which governs the release of personal information. I had hoped that by this time we would have a ruling from the Court of Session on the interaction between the two Acts. That was because the Court was due to hear an appeal against one of our decisions raised by the Scottish Executive on similar grounds. However, in the end that case did not get as far as the Court of Session. The Commissioner and I have, however, discussed your case with our solicitors, Brodies. The Commissioner and I will both be on holiday over the next couple of weeks, but have arranged a meeting at the end of the month with Jill Walker (nee Anderson) to discuss how to take your case forward. Jill will contact you at the end of June to let you know when the decision is likely to be re-issued. I note your concerns about information starting to be lost. However, under FOISA, it would be a criminal offence for the Council to destroy or delete any information falling within the terms of your request before the decision is re-issued. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations…

"Due process" takes a long time and I am aware of the well publicised, significant backlog of work at the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner and also NHS Lothians criticism’s of the time delays by the SIC... Interestingly, I first wrote to the Commissioner on 19 Dec 05 having first asked the question on 02 Oct 05... this single case has now been ongoing for 21 months and counting... I am informed by Jill Walker that I might expect a decision by the end of January 2008… this date passes and I’m left, waiting, waiting and waiting.

Unfortunately I learn also that David Wright, Recreation Manager at Aberdeenshire Council 
has transferred over to Aberdeen City Council during January / February... 

With the time delay's within the Scottish Information Commissioner's Office, I fear at this stage 
that, the price that will be paid is the accountability of Aberdeenshire Council and David 
Wright...


I ask myself... what the reasons were for David Wright's transfer across the corridor in the 
same building - Woodhill House?

I feel the circumstances surrounding this case are good reason why more investment is required within the Scottish Information Commission... and their vital service to public confidence… but I will later discover that this judgement is flawed and the real casualty of this case will be the Freedom of Information Act itself as this investigation will prove that it is a weak Law being administered weakly by the Scottish Information Commission.
12 Jun 07 Letter from Pauline Keith Validation Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700820 Your ref ACE/74428… Dear Mr Cameron APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I am writing to acknowledge receipt of your letter of 16 February 2007, applying for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner. This is as a result of your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with your request for information. I would like to take the opportunity to offer my sincere apologies at the length of time in responding to your appeal. Unfortunately your papers had become attached within your folders and were not noticed until this week. As you have been waiting for a considerable amount of me for a response I will ensure that I will look at your case as a matter of urgency. I will now go on to consider whether your application is valid. I may require further information to enable me to do this, but will contact you again soon. If you have any queries at all please do not hesitate to contact on 01334 464650 or pkeith@itspublicknowledqe.info. Yours sincerely Pauline Keith Validation Officer

12 Jun 07 Letter from Pauline Keith Validation Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700821 Your ref ACE/62286… Dear Mr Cameron APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I am writing to acknowledge receipt of your letter of 16 February 2007, applying for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner. This is as a result of your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with your request for information. I would like to take the opportunity to offer my sincere apologies at the length of time in responding to your appeal. Unfortunately your papers had become attached within your folders and were not noticed until this week. As you have been waiting for a considerable amount of me for a response I will ensure that I will look at your case as a matter of urgency. I will now go on to consider whether your application is valid. I may require further information to enable me to do this, but will contact you again soon. If you have any queries at all please do not hesitate to contact on 01334 464650 or pkeith@itspublicknowledqe.info. Yours sincerely Pauline Keith Validation Officer

12 Jun 07 Letter Pauline Keith, Scottish Information Commission to Jim Buchan, Legal Manager Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700820 Your Ref: ACE/62286 – Dear Mr Buchan, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT: IAN CAMERON - I am writing to advise you that Mr lan Cameron, "Hamewith", Lennox Terrace, Huntly, Aberdeenshire AB54 8HG has applied for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner as he is dissatisfied with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with his requests for information dated 14 July 2006 and part 2 17 August 2006. The application to the Commissioner relates to information requested regarding Implementation of sustainable purchasing policy. I will now go on to consider whether the application is valid and will contact you again soon in this connection. Please note that this application was submitted within the six months compliance time. Yours Sincerely Pauline Keith Validation Officer

26 Jun 07 Letter from Pauline Keith Validation Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700820 Your ref ACE/74428… Dear Mr Cameron APPLICATION FOR DECISION FROM THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I refer to your letter of 16 February 2007, applying for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner. This follows your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with your request for information regarding implementation of sustainable purchasing policy. In terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA), I must now ensure that your application for a decision is valid. To do so I must consider whether your case falls within the scope of FOISA, the correspondence which has passed between you and Aberdeenshire Council and any appropriate time limits which must have been complied with. In order to validate your application I should be obliged if you would send me copies of the following documents, by Friday 13 July 2007: 1. Your original request for information 2.Your request for review 3. Aberdeenshire Council's response to your review request. You should be aware that if you have made your application to the Commissioner using a pseudonym, the Commissioner will be unable to enforce any decision that he comes to. If you have used a pseudonym, please let me know as soon as possible in order that we can discuss the way forward. Should you have any queries, please contact me on 01334464650 or pkeith@itpuiblicknowledqe.info and I will be happy to answer any questions you may have. Yours Sincerely Pauline Keith
26 Jun 07 Letter from Pauline Keith Validation Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700821 Your ref ACE/62286… Dear Mr Cameron APPLICATION FOR DECISION FROM THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I refer to your letter of 16 February 2007, applying for a decision from the Scottish Information Commissioner. This follows your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with your request for information regarding procurement of winter sports equipment. In terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA), I must now ensure that your application for a decision is valid. To do so I must consider whether your case falls within the scope of FOISA, the correspondence which has passed between you and Aberdeenshire Council and any appropriate time limits which must have been complied with. In order to validate your application I should be obliged if you would send me copies of the following documents, by Friday 13 July 2007: 1. Your original request for information 2.Your request for review 3. Aberdeenshire Council's response to your review request. You should be aware that if you have made your application to the Commissioner using a pseudonym, the Commissioner will be unable to enforce any decision that he comes to. If you have used a pseudonym, please let me know as soon as possible in order that we can discuss the way forward. Should you have any queries, please contact me on 01334464650 or pkeith@itpuiblicknowledqe.info and I will be happy to answer any questions you may have. Yours Sincerely Pauline Keith
12 Jul 07 Letter from Ian to Pauline Keith Validation Officer, Scottish Information Commission… Your Ref: 200700820 & 200700821... Dear Ms Keith, Thank you very much for your letters dated 26th June 2007… please find enclosed all documents requested Ref: 200700820 and 200700821 to enable you to validate my complaints. I have attached a summary of timings of ‘Question versus Answer’ between myself and Aberdeenshire Council. What you will notice is, for case number 200700821 / ACE 62286, Aberdeenshire Council failed to reply within the statutory 20 working days, eventually supplying an answer which was 13 days late on 27th September 2006. (You will also notice that they have in total supplied answers late on 4 occasions.) In my initial letter of complaint to the office of the Scottish Information Commissioner (OSIC) 16th Feb 07, I provided an extract from the report which I have completed into procurement of equipment at Aberdeenshire Council by employees, raising requisitions for equipment, tendering for the supply contracts and supplying the same equipment through their own business… back to their place of work. 
I have already submitted this report to Margaret Keyse including a second folder containing all correspondence between myself and Aberdeenshire Council. This report contains all information and all correspondence chronologically between myself and Aberdeenshire Council and I would ask you to refer to it if you have any questions regarding additional information required. What you will find is a catalogue of corruption, bias and manipulation of public funds reaching a stage where Aberdeenshire Council lied in writing on several occasions the worst case being the creation of a fictitious company which they called ‘Fischer Racquetline Limited’ to cover up the fact that employees businesses had in actual fact been supplying the equipment contracts to the substantial sum of 10’s of £000’s of pounds… My report suggests that this may only be the tip of the Iceberg and that it may actually be £100,000’s of thousands of pounds and concludes that an Independent Investigation should be held. If I can influence you, may I strongly suggest that you read through the discussion of my report (submitted to Margaret Keyse 16th Feb 07), in it’s entirety before you focus in on my complaints Ref: 200700820 and 200700821. I can confirm that I have never used any pseudonyms and have always used my own name and address for all correspondence regarding this investigation. The OSIC is still the only body to see my report to date. Thank you for your patience... Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

23 Jul 07 Letter from Pauline Keith Validation Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700820 Your ref ACE/74428… Dear Mr Cameron, APPLICATION FOR DECISION FROM THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I refer to my letter of 12 June 2007 acknowledging receipt of your application for a decision from the Commissioner relating to implementation of sustainable purchasing policy. Having considered your application, I can confirm that it is valid in terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). This letter gives you some information about what will happen next. Please read it carefully. A full investigation will now be carried out into your case. The investigation may take some time: it is very unlikely to take less than 4 months and may (particularly if a large amount of information has been withheld by Aberdeenshire Council, or the information is complex in nature, or the case raises complex new issues of interpretation) take more than 6 months. You will, however, be kept informed throughout. The case will be allocated to an investigating officer, who will contact you. During the investigation you may be asked to consider a settlement between you and Aberdeenshire Council. This may involve an element of compromise between you and Aberdeenshire Council but will only be reached with the express consent of both parties. As part of the settlement agreement you would be required to withdraw your application. Should settlement be reached, the investigating officer will produce information on the settlement setting out the terms of the agreement. Should you become aware of any change in circumstances, or anything else which you think might affect the course of the investigation or the need for a decision from the Commissioner, it would be helpful if you could let me or the investigating officer know as soon as possible. If you have any additional information or comments which you consider to be relevant to your application, please let me know as soon as possible. At the end of the investigation, and if settlement has not been reached, the Commissioner will issue a Decision Notice, setting out his final decision in relation to your application. Both you and Aberdeenshire Council will receive a copy of this Notice. Should the Commissioner find that Aberdeenshire Council has failed to comply with FOISA, he will state this in his decision and confirm what steps the authority requires to take to meet the requirements of FOISA. Should he decide that Aberdeenshire Council has not failed in its obligations under FOISA; he will confirm this in his Decision Notice. Should you or Aberdeenshire Council wish to contest the Commissioner's decision, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Details about the investigation (i.e. the case number, the name of the public authority involved and the type of information requested) will be made available on the Commissioner's website. Once a decision has been reached, a copy of the Decision Notice will be made available on the website. The decision notice will name you as the applicant. In some cases, the Commissioner may agree to withhold your name from the version of the decision which appears on the website. As a Scottish public authority, the Commissioner has a duty to respond to information requests made under FOISA or the EIRs. This means it is possible that he will receive a request asking him to release your name. If this happens, the Commissioner will usually be required to release this information unless there are very good reasons for withholding it. If you feel there are valid reasons for your name to be withheld either from the version of the decision notice to appear on the website or in response to a request under FOISA or the EIRs, please let me know by Thursday 16 August 2007. I look forward to receiving the information requested in this letter. Should you have any queries about anything raised in this letter, please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334464650 or pkeith@itspublicknowledge.info  Yours sincerely Pauline Keith
30 Jul 07 Letter from Jill Walker, Freedom of Information Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your ref ACE/74428… Dear Mr Cameron APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - PUBLIC AUTHORITY: Aberdeenshire Council I refer to previous correspondence between you and our Validation Officer regarding your application to the Commissioner for a decision in connection with your request for information relating to the implementation by Aberdeenshire Council of its "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". This case has now been allocated to me as investigating officer and I will be your point of contact for the duration of the investigation. I am likely to be in contact with you during the investigation to verify key facts and seek your response to points made by the authority. If you have any queries at any point during the investigation, or any further information you think maybe relevant to the investigation, or if the circumstances change in such a way as you think may affect the course of the investigation (or indeed the need for an investigation), please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334 464610 or via email at jwalker@itspublicknowledge.info Yours sincerely  Jill Walker – Freedom of Information Officer
30 Jul 07 Letter from Jill Walker, Freedom of Information Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700821 Your ref ACE/62286… Dear Mr Cameron APPLICATION FOR DECISION FROM THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL I refer to my letter of 26 June 2007 acknowledging receipt of your application for a decision from the Commissioner relating to your request for information to Aberdeenshire Council for information concerning Aberdeenshire Council's procurement policy relating to information relative to the "Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property". Having considered your application, I can confirm that it is valid in terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). This letter gives you some information about what will happen next. Please read it carefully. A full investigation will now be carried out into your case. The investigation may take some time: it is very unlikely to take less than 4 months and may (particularly if a large amount of information has been withheld by [public authority], or the ​information is complex in nature, or the case raises complex new issues of interpretation) take more than 6 months. You will, however, be kept informed throughout. I will contact Aberdeenshire Council to advise them of the commencement of this investigation, to ask them to forward all information relating to your request. Once I have this information, the case will be allocated to an investigating officer, who will then contact you. During the investigation you may be asked to consider a settlement between you and Aberdeenshire Council. This may involve an element of compromise between you and Aberdeenshire Council but will only be reached with the express consent of both parties. As part of the settlement agreement you would be required to withdraw your application. Should settlement be reached, the investigating officer will produce information on the settlement setting out the terms of the agreement. Should you become aware of any change in circumstances, or anything else which you think might affect the course of the investigation or the need for a decision from the Commissioner, it would be helpful if you could let me or the investigating officer know as soon as possible. If you have any additional information or comments which you consider to be relevant to your application, please let me know as soon as possible. At the end of the investigation, and if settlement has not been reached, the Commissioner will issue a Decision Notice, setting out his final decision in relation to your application. Both you and Aberdeenshire Council will receive a copy of this Notice. Should the Commissioner find that Aberdeenshire Council has failed to comply with FOISA, he will state this in his decision and confirm what steps the authority requires to take to meet the requirements of FOISA. Should he decide that Aberdeenshire Council has not failed in its obligations under FOISA; he will confirm this in his Decision Notice. Should you or Aberdeenshire Council wish to contest the Commissioner's decision, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Details about the investigation (i.e. the case number, the name of the public authority involved and the type of information requested) will be made available on the Commissioner's website. Once a decision has been reached, a copy of the Decision Notice will be made available on the website. The decision notice will name you as the applicant. In some cases, the Commissioner may agree to withhold your name from the version of the decision which appears on the website. As a Scottish public authority, the Commissioner has a duty to respond to information requests made under FOISA or the EIRs. This means it is possible that he will receive a request asking him to release your name. If this happens, the Commissioner will usually be required to release this information unless there are very good reasons for withholding it. If you feel there are valid reasons for your name to be withheld either from the version of the decision notice to appear on the website or in response to a request under FOISA or the EIRs, please let me know within the next 3 weeks. I look forward to receiving the information requested in this letter. Should you have any queries about anything raised in this letter, please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334464610. Yours sincerely Jill Walker on behalf of Pauline Keith Validation Officer
30 Jul 07 Letter (Received Date)  Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your Ref: ACE/74428 – Dear Mr Nicol, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT: IAN CAMERON - I refer to previous correspondence between you and our Validation Officer in connection with Mr Cameron's request for information relating to Aberdeenshire Council's implementation of its "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". This case has now been allocated to me as investigating officer and I will be your point of contact for the duration of the investigation. If you have any queries at any point during the investigation, please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334 464624 or jwalker@itspublicknowledge.info. In order for me to be able to carry out an investigation into Mr Cameron's appeal to the Commissioner I would be grateful if you would provide me with your authority's comments and the following information by 20 August 2007. 1) A detailed submission as to how Aberdeenshire Council ascertained that it did not hold any recorded information in relation to details of businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members that have supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years. 2) A detailed submission as to how Aberdeenshire Council ascertained that it did not hold any recorded information in relation to copies of line manager approval where such arrangements are in place, the names of the businesses concerned, and details of the goods and services supplied. 3) Details of what searches were carried out by Aberdeenshire Council to ascertain whether the information referred to at points 1 and 2 above was held by the Council. 4) Details of the breadth of searches which were carried out by Aberdeenshire. Council to ascertain whether the information referred to in points 1 and 2 above was held by the Council, and what systems (if any) were consulted. 5) An audit trail of the searches carried out. 6) Details as to whether the information referred to in points 1 and 2 above is information which the Council would hold under normal business practices. 7) Details as to which exemption(s) Aberdeenshire Council is relying on in advising Mr Cameron that certain information that he requested is not held by it. 8) Please provide details as to when the Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing Policy was implemented. If I do not receive this information by that date, the Commissioner may give your authority a formal Information Notice requiring the authority to provide it. Failure to comply with an Information Notice can be referred to the Court of Session by the Commissioner and the Court can treat the failure as contempt of court. I should expect to be able to complete the investigation and make detailed recommendations to the Commissioner on the basis of your response to this letter. I enclose a copy of a leaflet entitled, "Responding to an OSIC investigation: a guide for public authorities", which should assist you in making your submissions to the Commissioner. Please note, in particular, the section on exemptions and the standard of submissions required by the Commissioner. Please note: if your submissions are inadequate or fail to adequately justify the refusal of a request in terms of the Council's assertion that it does not hold certain information the Commissioner may order the release of the information. It is therefore imperative that your responses to the points raised above are comprehensive and detailed and that you bring to my attention now any other information that you.consider material to the Commissioner's determination of this case. While the Commissioner accepts that other relevant information may come to light in the course of the investigation, the onus is on your authority to draw to my attention any such information of which it becomes aware at the earliest opportunity. It is also possible that changed circumstances may affect the possibility of the case being settled, or indeed the need for a decision: it would be helpful if you would also draw anything of this kind to my attention at the earliest opportunity. Yours Sincerely Jill Walker

Strong Language… 

Interestingly Jill Walker takes a hard line on Alastair Nicol, warning him that any failure in his answers can be referred to the Court of Session. Alastair Nicol can subsequently treat any failure as a contempt of Court.

Jill Walker expects that the answers that Alastair Nicol gives will be enough to make detailed recommendation’s to the Commissioner Kevin Dunion. Jill Walker should know by now that detailed reply’s which answer the questions asked are generally not one of Alastair Nicol’s strengths.

Strong language is used by Jill Walker in the concluding paragraphs, giving an indication of the mood of the Scottish Information Commission…
“It is therefore imperative that your responses to the points raised above are comprehensive and detailed and that you bring to my attention now any other information that you.consider material to the Commissioner's determination of this case.”
30 Jul 07 Letter (Received Date)  Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700821/JW Your Ref: ACE/62286 – Dear Mr Nicol, APPLICATION FOR DECISION FROM THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT: IAN CAMERON - I refer to my letter of 12 June 2007 in connection with Mr Cameron's request for information concerning Aberdeenshire Council's procurement policy relating to information relative to the "Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property". I now enclose a copy of Mr Cameron's application to the Commissioner for your information. Please be aware that the letter I sent to you on the 12 June 2007 with the reference 200700820 actually refers to the application made by Mr Cameron in this case, and should have been referenced 200700821. Similarly the letter that I sent to you dated 12 June, which was referenced 200700821 should have been referenced 200700820. I have now received all the information I require to confirm that Mr Cameron's application is a valid one for the purposes of section 47 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Therefore, I can confirm that an investigation of your authority's handling of his information request will be required. To commence the investigation, I require copies of all of the information withheld from the applicant as Mr Cameron contends that the review panel did not examine the information at hand and that the information request that he submitted was not answered, on the basis that it is his view that the questions he asked were not answered appropriately. Please try to ensure that you send copies rather than originals wherever possible, as whatever you do provide will require to be retained by this Office for the duration of the investigation and the period allowed for an appeal after the Commissioner's decision has been issued. When you forward this information to me, please also include a Schedule of Documents listing the information sent. All documents must be named and numbered. If there has been partial release of any of the information requested, two copies of the information, one unedited and one showing what was released, should be provided. At the end of the investigation, it would be this Office's usual practice to destroy any information supplied by the public authority. Please let me know if you require any of it to be returned to you: if you have not requested its return within the period of 3 months from the date of the Commissioner's decision, it will be destroyed here (unless an appeal is subsequently made to the Court of Session, in which case the information will be retained pending the outcome of the appeal). I should be grateful if you would let me have the information requested in this letter by 13 August 2007. If I do not receive the information by that date, the Commissioner may give your authority a formal Information Notice requiring the authority to provide it. Failure to comply with an Information Notice can be referred to the Court of Session by the Commissioner and the Court can treat the failure as contempt of court. Following receipt of the information I have requested, the case will be allocated to an investigating officer, who will then contact you seeking detailed submissions in relation to your authority's handling of Mr Cameron's request. If you have any queries about the investigation in the meantime, please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334464610. Yours Sincerely Jill Walker on behalf of Pauline Keith Validation Officer

28 Aug 07 Letter Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council to Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission... Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/CK Your Ref: 200700820 & 200700821 Dear Ms Walker, - APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT - MR IAN CAMERON - I refer to your letters dated 30 July, 2007, in connection with the above matter and now write to give Aberdeenshire Council's comments on the request from Mr lan Cameron that the Scottish Information Commissioner review the Council's handling of his requests for information ACE/62286 and ACE/74428. I prefer to send one response covering both appeals as it would be impossible to separate them without repetition. Indeed it will be necessary to put these appeals in the context of a whole series of requests from Mr Cameron if you are to understand why the Council believes that it has done everything possible to respond to his requests, which are very detailed, sometimes repetitious and often confusing. Between 1 September, 2005 and 27 October, 2006 Mr Cameron made 10 separate requests to the Council relating to the Nordic Ski Centre, Huntly. One of these requests has already been considered by the Commissioner in Decision 084/2006 which, as you will be aware, was quashed by the Court of Session. I believe you need to read each of these requests and see how the Council responded to them in order to have the whole picture. The Schedule of Documents attached to this letter therefore lists all the papers which were submitted by the Education and Recreation Service to the Council's Review Panel when they considered the 2 appeals from Mr Cameron, together with the Minute of the Review Panel of 23 November, 2006 which confirms that the Panel considered each of Mr Cameron's questions in detail and provided a response to them, and a letter sent from the Education and Recreation Service to Mr Cameron after the FOI Review Panel instructed the Service to look again at Mr Cameron's request ACE174428 and consider whether there was any information which could be provided to him. Once you have considered these documents, I believe you will see that the request in your letter ref. 200700821 to provide you with copies of all the information withheld from Mr Cameron is not applicable. The Council believes that it has responded fully to his requests. I note that Mr Cameron believes the Panel did not examine the information at hand. You will see exactly what information the Panel examined. I note also that he believes his questions were not answered appropriately. I do not know what he means by that. He has been asked on several occasions to clarify what he is looking for and has been unable or unwilling to do so. He has also not responded to any invitation to meet with Council Officers to discuss his concerns so that we can gain a better understanding of what he actually requires. I submit that we have done the best we possibly can in the circumstances. Moving on to your letter ref. 200700820, I have obtained comments from the Education and Recreation Service to assist me in responding to the 8 numbered points in your letter. I should mention that the 2 officers who previously dealt with Mr Cameron's series of requests are no longer with the Council and the current post holder has only been in post for 4 weeks. He therefore has no personal knowledge of this case and his comments are based on information found in the files and by talking to other members of staff who assisted the former post holder at the time. would respond to your points as follows:- (1) The former Recreation Manager spoke to a number of people at various levels in the Education and Personnel Services and the Council's Internal Auditors in an attempt to identify whether or not there existed a list of businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council employees. No such list was found. (2) There is no process in the Education and Recreation Service for Line Manager approval when purchasing items of equipment from companies owned or influenced by Aberdeenshire Council members of staff. It was therefore not necessary to spend much time looking for any recorded information. (3) My answer to this is essentially the same as to point 1. There is no official record of what searches were made by the Recreation Manager, but correspondence and staff recollection confirms that the issue was brought up at a range of levels with the Education and Recreation Service and the wider Council. Internal Auditors were asked whether the Council has a register of staff interests and they confirmed that there was no such register. (4) I feel this point is barely distinguishable from point 3 and I can add nothing to what I have already said above. (5) Although the files contain a lot of correspondence, there is no specific audit trail setting out the people and processes consulted by the former Recreation Manager. Staff have however confirmed that a considerable amount of time was spent compiling the responses which were sent to Mr Cameron. (6) There is no corporate process for registering staff interests, although staff are asked to get Line Manager's approval for other employment out with the Council. In the case of casual, relief and sessional staff their external interests would likely form part of the recruitment processes. There would be no need to ask for Line Manager approval for purchases from a company in which a member of staff has an interest unless the person making the purchase is the interested party. In that case the purchase should be made by another member of staff in line with normal procurement procedures. I therefore would not suggest that the processes referred to in points 1 and 2 would be considered normal or good practice for any public body. (7) Section 17 of the Act applies when information is not held (8) The Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy was approved by the Policy and Resources Committee on 10 November, 2005. - After considering all the enclosed information, you will be able to form a view on how difficult it has been to assist Mr Cameron. You will also have noted the views of the Education and Recreation Service that the time taken to deal with all his requests has had an adverse impact on the running of a small unit and that he is in fact pursuing a personal vendetta against the Nordic Ski Centre and one of its employees in particular. One argument in support of this view of his motives relates to the 2 appeals under consideration. In ACE/62286 one of the things he asked for was a copy of the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy, and our response included the address for where this document was publicly available on the Council's website. In ACE/74428 two months later he asked again for a copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy. I will leave you to decide whether he did not read our first reply and failed to realise that he already had the information or whether he was just trying to cause more trouble and extra work to the Council. You may begin to understand why on receipt of what was Mr Cameron's tenth request in little over a year, the Education and Recreation Service felt it was appropriate to serve him with a Vexatious Request Notice. Although the Review Panel did not accept that the request was vexatious, it did sympathise with Education and Recreation Service and expressed the view that such a notice might be justified in the future. I hope I have provided all the information you require to carry out your investigation and I look forward to learning the Commissioner's decision in due course. Yours Sincerely Alastair Nicol Clerk to Review Panel
Disregard for Office of the Scottish Information Commission and the Continuation of the Victimisation…

In the first paragraph, Alastair Nicol makes up his own rules by answering 2 different requests for different appeals 200700820 and 200700821, in one answer. He has already been instructed that he can be held in contempt of Court if he fails to answer adequately. You’d think that he would respect the seriousness of such an instruction.
Additionally, like on 15 Jan 07 and 15 Feb 07, Alastair Nicol starts the defamation again as if there is an uncontrollable disposition to victimise me. This time not to Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations, but to Jill Walker the Investigating Officer.

The Whole Picture… and the Reality…

In the second paragraph, what is incredible is the statement he makes next !

“Between 1 September, 2005 and 27 October, 2006 Mr Cameron made 10 separate requests to the Council relating to the Nordic Ski Centre, Huntly. One of these requests has already been considered by the Commissioner in Decision 084/2006 which, as you will be aware, was quashed by the Court of Session. I believe you need to read each of these requests and see how the Council responded to them in order to have the whole picture.”
Anyone reading my FOI requests, who can understand what they are reading will see the same difficulties as I have seen, detailed comprehensively in this report. The whole picture is Aberdeenshire Council withhold information, provide misleading information, contradict themselves, answer their own questions not the questions asked, say they have no information (Financial Records) when the Law states they must keep them for 6 years plus the current year and react when challenged by way of recrimination.
The Review Panel of 23 Nov 06 determined that questions where not being answered and agreed that David Wright had questions to answer… he subsequently didn’t answer them in his reply of 08 Dec 06…

Misleading the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner over Responses to FOI Requests…

“Once you have considered these documents, I believe you will see that the request in your letter ref. 200700821 to provide you with copies of all the information withheld from Mr Cameron is not applicable. The Council believes that it has responded fully to his requests.”
What planet is Alastair Nicol on?

I’ve detailed explicitly in my appeal to OSIC on 16 Feb 07 what was wrong with the 08 Dec 06 answer, with 1 example of that being the failure to provide Fischer Racquetline Limited information despite being instructed by Aberdeenshire Council’s own Review Panel to do so…
“Answer 4 You asked for details of the selection/tendering process and company details for our supplier 'Fischer Raquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The company details for Fischer Raquetline Limited (taken over by Thin Ice Sports Limited approx 4 years ago) were sent to you in response to a previous request for information on 27 September 2006. Purchases from Fischer Raquetline Limited were not subject to a selection / tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods.”
The Art of Using Language Effectively to Influence the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner…

“I note that Mr Cameron believes the Panel did not examine the information at hand. You will see exactly what information the Panel examined. I note also that he believes his questions were not answered appropriately. I do not know what he means by that.”
It means exactly that, they were not answered

Inflation of Language…

Next up, Alastair Nicol as always, is untruthful. He says I have been asked on several occasions to clarify what I mean…
“He has been asked on several occasions to clarify what he is looking for and has been unable or unwilling to do so.”
I have been asked once on 21 Sep 05 to clarify and that was about Franchises… and I did answer the request for clarification on the same day 21 Sep 05.
I can only conclude in this 3rd paragraph that there is considerable recrimination by Alastair Nicol, because I have applied again to OSIC to address Aberdeenshire Council’s failure to abide by the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002… he states…

“I submit that we have done the best we possibly can in the circumstances.”
Quite an unbelievable statement to make… !
If “they” had done the best they possibly could, then Jill Walker would not have had a case to validate. It was stated in her letter of 30 Jul 07…

“I have now received all the information I require to confirm that Mr Cameron's application is a valid one for the purposes of section 47 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Therefore, I can confirm that an investigation of your authority's handling of his information request will be required.”
Accountability… “It Wis’nae Me”

“I should mention that the 2 officers who previously dealt with Mr Cameron's series of requests are no longer with the Council and the current post holder has only been in post for 4 weeks. He therefore has no personal knowledge of this case and his comments are based on information found in the files and by talking to other members of staff who assisted the former post holder at the time. would respond to your points as follows:-“
Alastair Nicol states that the 2 Officers who dealt with my series of requests are no longer with the Council… I know David Wright is one of them… and can only assume, having looked at the answers I’ve received, that he is also referring to Joanna Shirriffs a Project Coordinator. 

Again it is convenient to say that these people are not employees any more so past answers are now not Aberdeenshire Council’s responsibility to be accountable for.
Spoken Word and Lack of Effective Supervision…

Question 1

30 Jul 07 “1) A detailed submission as to how Aberdeenshire Council ascertained that it did not hold any recorded information in relation to details of businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members that have supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years.”
Jill Walkers letter of 30 Jul 07 Question 1, asks for a detailed submission…

Alastair Nicol’s answer is complete in 2 sentences! Determining that recorded information was ascertained by the spoken word of David Wright the former Recreation Manager 

“Speaking to a number of people at various levels !?”
Remember the employee’s contracts state that they are not allowed to be suppliers, yet Roy Young and his business Tout Tele have been. It would be reasonable to consider that Aberdeenshire Council Procurement Policy would have clear and strict rules on this and that Aberdeenshire Council preferred supplier lists detailed in the Sustainable Purchasing Policy, would be governed by a strict vetting procedure of those Companies… so what has been determined here is that obviously, there is no cross checking or vetting procedure within Aberdeenshire Council.

No Process of Line Manager Approval and the Aberdeenshire Council Employee’s Contract of Employment…

Answer 2

“There is no process in the Education and Recreation Service for Line Manager approval when purchasing items of equipment from companies owned or influenced by Aberdeenshire Council members of staff. It was therefore not necessary to spend much time looking for any recorded information.”
… because employee’s should not be supplying the Council. This clearly confirms that Roy Young’s Tout Tele should not be re-supplying his employer…but he is… which further underlines the question about the Sports Development Officer Andrew Miller and the close personal relationship between both men.
Contradiction of Information…

Answer 3

“My answer to this is essentially the same as to point 1. There is no official record of what searches were made by the Recreation Manager, but correspondence and staff recollection confirms that the issue was brought up at a range of levels with the Education and Recreation Service and the wider Council. Internal Auditors were asked whether the Council has a register of staff interests and they confirmed that there was no such register.”
Internal Auditors, no such register contradicts the information given in Decision 004/2008… where Aberdeenshire Council are now forced to give this answer by Law and do give copies of Line Manager Approval.

(Click Here to View - 1 Director Finance Response)
(Click Here to View - 2 Director Housing & Social Work Response)
(Click Here to View - 3 Director Personnel & ICT Response)
(Click Here to View - 4 Director Planning & Environmental Services Response)
(Click Here to View - 5 Director Transportation & Infrastructure Response)
Roy Young has declared his interests apparently on 30 Oct 02 stating on Page 2 of this link…

(Click Here to View - 3 Director Personnel & ICT Response)
30 Oct 02 “Dear Kate, As you know I have been a keen cross country skier for a number of years. During the winter months, I often teach through the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. This involves me being employed by the council as a Ski Instructor. I also buy and sell some equipment relating to cross country skiing, to enable the junior ski team to access the equipment. I also rent out 2 small holiday cottages for my family. This has been inherited from my father-in-law as he feels he can no longer continue to do this. As these activities are not related to my main employment I hope I can continue to do them Sincerely Roy Young.”

... he also states that what he is doing here are not related to his main employment and that he hopes he can continue to do them...

Contradictory to this... the Director of Personnel and ICT states that what Roy Young is doing is related to his employment – he buys and sells ski equipment and has sold equipment to the Education, Learning and Leisure Service...
“Roy Young, Development and Training Manager, operates Tout Tele which buys and sells ski equipment and has sold equipment to the Education, Learning and Leisure Service”
This is confirmed in ACE/32775...

“The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment.”
Now that this has been corroborated by the Director of the department, what the Director admits is, that employee Roy Young has broken the terms of his employee contract. In the letter of acceptance for outside work from Kate Gibson, Roy Young claims “As these activities are not related to my main employment I hope I can continue to do them”
Kate Gibson states on 06 Nov 02...

“These external activities are acceptable and I wish you well with your ventures!”
Prior to this letter of approval by his Line Manager Kate Gibson, Roy Young has already been selling 2x Used Mountain Bikes to his place of work on 02 Nov 01 !
Vague…
Answer 4

“I feel this point is barely distinguishable from point 3 and I can add nothing to what I have already said above.”
Alastair Nicol has been asked to now detail the “breadth” of the searches for information. Question 3 asked “What” searches… Answer 3 was at best a very vague answer… answer 4 refers to answer 3… therefore setting the whole tone of this letter… vague…

The Failure of the Audit Trail… The Former Recreation Manager David Wright Gets the Blame Again…

Answer 5

“Although the files contain a lot of correspondence, there is no specific audit trail setting out the people and processes consulted by the former Recreation Manager. Staff have however confirmed that a considerable amount of time was spent compiling the responses which were sent to Mr Cameron.”
It is reasonable to expect that a considerable amount of time is needed to answer FOISA requests… it is up to the Authorities to manage their records and information in an accountable and concise way. The former Recreation Manager gets the blame again for the failure of the Audit trail…

No Corporate Process, Failure to Understand Council Policy and the Manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council Contracts

Answer 6
“There is no corporate process for registering staff interests, although staff are asked to get Line Manager's approval for other employment out with the Council. In the case of casual, relief and sessional staff their external interests would likely form part of the recruitment processes.” 
Again it is confirmed that there is no corporate process for maintaining a register of staff interests… because they should not be involved in businesses where they’re would be a ‘conflict of interest’ with their employer…

“There would be no need to ask for Line Manager approval for purchases from a company in which a member of staff has an interest unless the person making the purchase is the interested party. In that case the purchase should be made by another member of staff in line with normal procurement procedures. I therefore would not suggest that the processes referred to in points 1 and 2 would be considered normal or good practice for any public body.”
What Alastair Nicol says here clearly contradicts what it says in all employee’s contracts of employment…

Employee contracts state...
02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 - “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. There are no other documents that refer to Aberdeenshire Council’s policy with respect to employees owning and operating private businesses.”
He states that it is acceptable to procure equipment through a colleagues business, but says nothing about the conflict of interest which would transpire as a result or the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business.

It has been demonstrated that below sums of £5,000 quotes from the internet and telephone are adequate, so where is the Council safeguard that corrupt practice relevant to the Anti Fraud and Corruption policy will be followed? What Alastair Nicol says here would directly conflict with this policy.

(...Click here to read the Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy Document in full...)
He does admit that this wouldn’t be considered as normal or good practice… it shouldn’t be considered as a practice at all !

Indeed, let us remind ourselves of the Roller Ski procurement answer of 27 Sep 06 [ACE/62286]… …


Aberdeenshire Council state the following…

“Most of the equipment is purchased from UK sole importers who charge fixed trade prices.”



They then say…

Point 6. Prior to purchasing the Marwe Skate Rollers and Marwe Classic Rollers staff searched widely on the Internet, and phoned various suppliers who they believed may stock these products.  After some time they identified a national supplier, Alpina Eurosport, who provided a standard written price list. This quoted the price for the Marwe skate rollers as £199.  On a follow up phone call staff negotiated a deal with Alpina Eurosport equivalent to a 10% discount on all items purchased. The negotiated price was then compared with the price quoted by Tout Tele. Tout Tele were able to offer a lower price (£120 per pair compared with approximately £179 for Alpina Euro Sport) and were therefore given the order. Once these prices had been compared, there was no requirement to retain the Alpina Eurosport price list.
Most equipment is purchased at fixed trade prices… the best price Alpina Eurosport can do is 10% discount… Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’ is quoting £59 cheaper than the best price representing 33% less than the best price of £179… without doubt, the Recommended Retail Price (RRP) is being undercut by a very large margin… meaning bona fide businesses couldn’t ever imagine being able to compete and beat Aberdeenshire Council employee Roy Young’s business.

As per the ‘Sustainable Purchasing Policy’…

“Once these prices had been compared, there was no requirement to retain the Alpina Eurosport price list.” 
… Alpina Eurosports are dropped and Roy Young’s company will be retained to supply any future demand for equipment. 

Contradiction and the Intention to Mislead the Office of the Scottish Information Commission…

Answer 8

“The Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy was approved by the Policy and Resources Committee on 10 November, 2005.”
Answer 8 confirms that the Sustainable Purchasing Policy was approved on 10 Nov 05… incredibly, Alastair Nicol in the last paragraph of his letter goes on to discuss the history of this point, failing to consider that the original question was asked with regard to the Inventory of Moveable Equipment dated 31 Mar 05… 

What he demonstrates to Jill Walker here is an admission that they continued to supply a misleading document not by accident, but with intent… and he continues not just to mislead me, but to attempt to mislead Jill Walker this time with the sole purpose of directly damaging my credibility.

I don’t believe that this is incompetence, I believe it is an example of a culture of dishonesty that appears to exist within Aberdeenshire Council as a whole and further demonstrates that there is a complete loss in public confidence in this organisations modus operandi.
“After considering all the enclosed information, you will be able to form a view on how difficult it has been to assist Mr Cameron. You will also have noted the views of the Education and Recreation Service that the time taken to deal with all his requests has had an adverse impact on the running of a small unit and that he is in fact pursuing a personal vendetta against the Nordic Ski Centre and one of its employees in particular. One argument in support of this view of his motives relates to the 2 appeals under consideration. In ACE/62286 one of the things he asked for was a copy of the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy, and our response included the address for where this document was publicly available on the Council's website. In ACE/74428 two months later he asked again for a copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy. I will leave you to decide whether he did not read our first reply and failed to realise that he already had the information or whether he was just trying to cause more trouble and extra work to the Council.”
Recrimination and Victimisation…

“After considering all the enclosed information, you will be able to form a view on how difficult it has been to assist Mr Cameron.”
It has only been difficult because Aberdeenshire Council have made it difficult for themselves, they don’t need my assistance to do this.

What is said next is beyond reproach…
“You will also have noted the views of the Education and Recreation Service that the time taken to deal with all his requests has had an adverse impact on the running of a small unit and that he is in fact pursuing a personal vendetta against the Nordic Ski Centre and one of its employees in particular.”
Alastair Nicol has now made a direct accusation and cannot scapegoat David Wright for what he has said here… this is indeed extreme language to use, this is a very aggressive remark.

The question is… What is the basis for Alastair Nicol’s statement here? Why has he singled out 1 employee in particular?

I will have no other option now but to recourse this through my Lawyer to demand that an apology is made and for an explanation of the foundation of this comment. I believe that I will have grounds to raise a separate civil action against Aberdeenshire Council if a satisfactory answer and apology cannot be given.

There has been a sustained personal attack by Aberdeenshire Council on me and don’t forget this is the Principal Officer in the Law and Admin Department so he will be fully aware of the legal implications of such remarks and that they will cause and have caused me some considerable personal distress.

Amazingly, Alastair Nicol goes on to support his statement with the Sustainable Purchasing Policy problem (discussed already), which clearly underlines his lack of diligence and highlights Alastair Nicol’s blundering incompetence.
Alastair Nicol and a Further Attempt to Misguide…

“I will leave you to decide whether he did not read our first reply and failed to realise that he already had the information or whether he was just trying to cause more trouble and extra work to the Council.”
Jill Walker does decide and recognises the dates problem between the Sustainable Purchasing Policy and the Inventory of Moveable Equipment… she asks for clarification in her follow up letter (05 Sep 07) in the first question…

05 Sep 07 “1) A submission as to whether the procurement policy/ financial regulations covering the council which were outlined to Mr Cameron in the Council's responses of 8 August 2006 and 27 September 2006 were relevant and applicable to the procurement of the equipment documented in the "Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property" dated 31st March 2005?”
Offence of Statutory Rights…

“You may begin to understand why on receipt of what was Mr Cameron's tenth request in little over a year, the Education and Recreation Service felt it was appropriate to serve him with a Vexatious Request Notice. Although the Review Panel did not accept that the request was vexatious, it did sympathise with Education and Recreation Service and expressed the view that such a notice might be justified in the future.”
Alastair Nicol’s letter ends with a detail of how Aberdeenshire Council attempted to offend my statutory rights by serving a vexatious request notice (13 Nov 06) on me, though overturned by the Review Panel (29 Nov 06), that panel detailed Aberdeenshire Council’s intention to unlawfully breach my statutory rights in the future if I ask any more questions… effectively putting up a brick wall against me.

This action only convinces me that Aberdeenshire Council purposefully abuse and disregard the Law as it suits them.

Alastair Nicol signs off “Yours sincerely”… but there is nothing sincere about this letter.
05 Sep 07 Letter from Jill Walker, Freedom of Information Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700821/JW Your ref ACE/62286… APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - PUBLIC AUTHORITY: Aberdeenshire Council I refer to previous correspondence between you and our Validation Officer regarding your application to the Commissioner for a decision in connection with your request for information which you submitted to Aberdeenshire Council, in which you sought information relating to the Council's procurement policy relating to information relative to the "Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property" .. This case has now been allocated to me as investigating officer and I will be your point of contact for the duration of the investigation. I am likely to be in contact with you during the investigation to verify key facts and seek your response to points made by the authority. The Commissioners investigation of your appeal can only consider the points of dissatisfaction that you have raised concerning the second part of your request to the Council dated 17 August 2006, and the response made to you by the Council on 27 September 2006. The reason for this is because these were the only matters which you sought a review of from the Council in the request for a review that you submitted to it on 3 November 2006. If you have any queries at any point during the investigation, or any further information you think may be relevant to the investigation, or if circumstances change in such a way as you think may affect the course of the investigation (or indeed the need for an investigation), please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334 464610. Yours sincerely Jill Walker Freedom of Information Officer
05 Sep 07 Letter Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700821/JW Your Ref: ACE/62286 – Dear Mr Nicol, APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT: lan Cameron - I refer to previous correspondence between you and our Validation Officer in connection with Mr lan Cameron's request for information relating to Aberdeenshire Council's procurement policy relating to information relative to the "Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property", your reference ACE/62286. This case has now been allocated to me as investigating officer and I will be your point of contact for the duration of the investigation. If you have any queries at any point during the investigation, please do not hesitate to contact me on 01334464624 or via email at jwalker@itspublicknowledge.info. I have now considered the information you provided in response to the Validation Officer's letter of 30 July 2007. To enable me to progress the investigation, I should be grateful if you would let me have the following by 21 September 2007. 1) A submission as to whether the procurement policy/ financial regulations covering the council which were outlined to Mr Cameron in the Council's responses of 8 August 2006 and 27 September 2006 were relevant and applicable to the procurement of the equipment documented in the "Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property" dated 31st March 2005? 2) If the procurement policy/financial regulations covering the council which were outlined to Mr Cameron in the council's responses of 8 August 2006 and 27 September 2006 were not relevant then I would appreciate it if you would provide me with a copy of the relevant policy/financial regulations which would have been applicable to the procurement of that equipment at the time it was acquired by the council. 3) I would also appreciate it if you would provide a submission as to why Mr Cameron was not notified that a different policy or financial regulations were in place, and why he did not receive a copy of it, if a different policy or regulations were in place. 4) A submission as to why in answer to Mr Cameron's request for the address and VAT registration number for Fischer Racquetline Ltd, the Council provided a trading address for Thin Ice Sports Ltd and a VAT registration number for Fischer’s Austrian Equivalent of a VAT number? 5) A submission as to whether it is the case that this information was not held by the Council and whether the Council should have relied on section 17 of FOISA in respect of this. - In his investigation of Mr Cameron's appeal, the Commissioner can only address the requests made by Mr Cameron in his letter of clarification to the Council of 17 August 2006 and the response made by the Council to this on 27 September 2006, as this is all that Mr Cameron asked the Council to conduct a review of when he submitted his request for a review on 3 November 2006. Please note that I should expect to be able to complete the investigation and make detailed recommendations to the Commissioner (subject to the verification of key facts, in which connection I am likely to be in contact with you in the course of the investigation) on the basis of your response to this letter. Please, therefore, ensure that the response is as complete as possible and that you bring to my attention now any other information that you consider material to the Commissioner's determination of this case. The Commissioner accepts that other relevant information may come to light in the course of the investigation, but the onus is on your authority to draw any such information of which it becomes aware to my attention at the earliest opportunity. It is also possible that changed circumstances may affect the possibility of the case being settled, or indeed the need for a decision: it would be helpful if you would also draw anything of this kind to my attention at the earliest opportunity. Yours Sincerely Jill Walker
Key Points of Conflict Addressed… Main Arguments to Victimise Flawed…

Jill Walker writes back having been unconvinced by Alastair Nicol’s letter of 28 Aug 07… she now requires some clarification of some key points where there has been conflicting information.

I the first 3 questions, Jill Walker has identified the difference in the date of the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and the Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The second and third question should indicate to Alastair Nicol that his main arguments on 28 Sug 07 victimising me are completely flawed.
“You will also have noted the views of the Education and Recreation Service that the time taken to deal with all his requests has had an adverse impact on the running of a small unit and that he is in fact pursuing a personal vendetta against the Nordic Ski Centre and one of its employees in particular. One argument in support of this view of his motives relates to the 2 appeals under consideration. In ACE/62286 one of the things he asked for was a copy of the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy, and our response included the address for where this document was publicly available on the Council's website. In ACE/74428 two months later he asked again for a copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy. I will leave you to decide whether he did not read our first reply and failed to realise that he already had the information or whether he was just trying to cause more trouble and extra work to the Council. You may begin to understand why on receipt of what was Mr Cameron's tenth request in little over a year, the Education and Recreation Service felt it was appropriate to serve him with a Vexatious Request Notice.”
Attention Focuses on Fischer Racquetline Limited…

My request for details of Fischer Racquetline Limited have also been picked up by Jill Walker and she has also recognised that Aberdeenshire Council have never answered my question, instead providing misleading information… giving the trading address of Thin Ice Sports in Edinburgh and the Fischer Austrian VAT number.

17 Sep 07 (FOI Enquiry #9 to Aberdeenshire Council) Ian to foi.er@aberdeenshire.gov.uk... ACE/120906 FOI Request for Information … Dear Sir/Madam - Prevention and detection of Fraud and irregularities within Aberdeenshire Council - 1. Can you please provide full details of the arrangements in place to prevent and detect fraud, inappropriate conduct and corruption within Aberdeenshire Council. 2. Provide a copy of the "Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy" (including the response plan). 3. Provide a copy of the "Whistleblowing Policy". 4. Provide a copy of the "Code of Conduct" for elected Council members  and staff. 5. Define and supply a copy of the remit given to relevant Regulatory Committees (eg Freedom of Information Review Panel) with reference to above policy's. 6. How many "internal" investigations into alleged fraud and corruption have been investigated by Aberdeenshire Council in the last five years and are currently being investigated? Please treat this request in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron
17 Sep 07 (FOI Enquiry #9 to Aberdeenshire Council) no.reply@aberdeenshire.gov.uk to Ian... ACE/120906 FOI Request for Information… Dear Sir/Madam, Thank you for your email or website enquiry. We aim to reply to you in the first instance within 5 working days. Please do not reply to this email. If you need to contact us again please email foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk quoting the reference number at the foot of this email in the subject line. Regards,  Aberdeenshire Freedom of Information Enquiries Please include '[ACE/120906] FOI Request for Information' In the subject line of any further e-mail correspondence. This will aid our automated e-mail system reference your previous e-mail.
19 Sep 07 Letter Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council to Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission... Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/CK Your Ref: 200700821 Dear Ms Walker APPLICATION FOR DECISION BY THE SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER - APPLICANT - MR IAN CAMERON - I refer to your letter dated 5 September, 2007 in connection with the above matter. Having received comments from the Council's Sports and Leisure Manager I would respond to the five bullet points in your letter as follows:- 1) Financial regulations would be applicable to the purchase of equipment within the inventory detailed. It is worth noting that some of the equipment would have been inherited from the Trust which used to run the facility and would therefore not have been purchased. The financial regulations allow us to inherit equipment. Therefore although there was no cost to the Council the acquisitions were still covered by financial regulations. 2) The financial regulations were relevant to the purchases detailed. However the purchases were below £5,000 and from a sole supplier. The regulations allow purchase without the need for formal tender or the need for competitive quotes if buying from a sole supplier. This part of the policy has been quoted to Mr Cameron and he has also been sent copies and links to our financial procedures. 3) As I said above, Mr Cameron has been sent copies and links to the relevant financial procedures. The line in the policy which exempts staff from having to go to tender has been explained to Mr Cameron. The previous Recreation Manager interpreted this as meaning the regulations were not applicable or relevant. The current Sports and Leisure Manager would say that they are relevant but that they placed no restrictions on the purchase of equipment in this case. 4) As most of the staff involved have moved on it is difficult to give a precise answer to this point. Fischer is an Austrian company which set Fischer Racquet Line Limited to retail racquet sports products and skis. The Sports and Leisure Manager is unsure where this is based. He believes that Thin Ice Sports Limited is the UK main dealer in Fischer products. Staff recollection at the time is that they asked the questions on behalf of Mr Cameron and came up with the information which they gave him, but were unsure what it meant. 5) This point is also difficult to answer in the absence of the staff involved, but it appears that the previous Recreation Manager at the time believed he was providing information about Fischer which was an appropriate response to Mr Cameron's request. He therefore would not have felt the need to rely on Section 17 of Act. I hope this will assist you in concluding your investigation and I look forward to learning the Commissioner's decision in due course. Alastair Nicol

Alastair Nicol Falls Silent… the Denigration of my Character Stops…

What’s interesting to note about this letter from Alastair Nicol, is the fact that for the first time there is no defamation of my character in it… I consider the question… “Has the penny now dropped with Alastair Nicol?” He has been skating on thin ice and nobody is buying the awful spin that he has put in his answers to date… Jill Walker has addressed him… and he has been caught out.

Finally the Admission that the Sustainable Purchasing Policy Provided Was Not Applicable…

Answer 1
In answer 1, the amazing facts of this case are, I asked for the Procurement Policy in place at the time of the purchase of items detailed on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment…
“14 Jul 06 Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/62286]… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Dear Sir / Madam, With reference to Aberdeenshire Council (AC) procurement policy… can you provide me with the following information relative to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at AC Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre.”
And was given the Sustainable Purchasing Policy dated 10 Nov 05 in answer to (FOI Enquiry #5 part 2) as the policy in place at the time of the purchases. Despite asking again on 27 Oct 06, the same document was given to me. It went to the Review Panel, with the same document again given as the answer.

Crucially, Alastair Nicol says the Sustainable Purchasing Policy was not applicable to my original question… keep in mind the backbone of one of arguments that I had a “Personal Vendetta” was the re-request for the Procurement Policy as the Sustainable Purchasing Policy had been misleadingly given…
1) Financial regulations would be applicable to the purchase of equipment within the inventory detailed. 

2) The financial regulations were relevant to the purchases detailed. However the purchases were below £5,000 and from a sole supplier. The regulations allow purchase without the need for formal tender or the need for competitive quotes if buying from a sole supplier. This part of the policy has been quoted to Mr Cameron and he has also been sent copies and links to our financial procedures.
It is now the “Financial Regulations” that are applicable to the Inventory of Moveable Equipment 31 Mar 05… so what Alastair Nicol says here, underlines the failure of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002… and the continued determination to this date 19 Sep 07, to mislead. 

Only when forced to now give an answer is the truth finally given.
Pure and Simple… It’s Deception…

Answer 2
2) “The financial regulations were relevant to the purchases detailed. However the purchases were below £5,000 and from a sole supplier. The regulations allow purchase without the need for formal tender or the need for competitive quotes if buying from a sole supplier.”
Remember there are 226 sets of Fischer skis and boots detailed on the Inventory…

(Click here to see Inventory of Moveable Equipment - Appendix Page xi to xiv)
… and the Fischer distributor (sole supplier) Thin Ice Sports, has already stated that Roy Young, Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has the supply agreement.

03 Oct 05 Rab Reid Thin Ice to Ian… Fischer Franchise in Aberdeenshire / Aberdeen City… Hello Please try Braemar Mountain Sports in Braemar for Fischer Nordic equipment or Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly. Thanks for your enquiry. Rab Reid Sales & Marketing Director Thin Ice Sports Ltd info@thinicesports.com www.thinicesports.com
Therefore the purchases are not being made from the sole supplier, Thin Ice Sports… but from the employee’s company ‘Tout Tele’.

Also remember that there are no Financial Records other than the 1 page Excel spreadsheet (Appendix 1), given detailing 56 sets only of Fischer skis… saying that these were purchased from fictitious company which Aberdeenshire Council called Fischer Racquetline Limited. Also remember that the Salomon agreement is also held by the employee’s business ‘Tout Tele’… not Aberdeenshire Council.

Therefore, Alastair Nicol is being directly deceitful to Jill Walker here. This is very serious and should be regarded as absolute contempt of the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner.
To ultimately prove this point… it’s worth being reminded about what was said on 27 Sep 06… again it is noteworthy that Alastair Nicol appears to be unable to be truthful to Jill Walker…

27 Sep 06 “The Appendix 1 provided on 8 August 06 related to specific purchases made between 2003 and 2004 as part of the Big Lottery Fund project. In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service. Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear, after which it is normally sold on to help subsidise the cost of replacement stock.”
Alastair Nicol said purchases were all below £5,000, but this clearly says significant purchases of over £10,000!
False Claim Regarding Financial Regulations…

“This part of the policy has been quoted to Mr Cameron and he has also been sent copies and links to our financial procedures.”
Remember, I asked for the Policy document itself since I had been given various different accounts of what these “Financial Regulations” are…

He states I have been “sent copies & links to our Financial Procedures”… I have been sent copies and links of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy dated 10 Nov 05 only… not copies of the “Financial Regulations”, so Alastair Nicol is dishonest when he makes this statement… this is an untruthful claim.
Relevant Financial Procedures Not Sent…

Answer 3

Alastair Nicol confirms again that he is untruthful, still attempting to deceive Jill Walker… but why?

Interesting that Alastair Nicol now offer’s up the following remark?
“3) As I said above, Mr Cameron has been sent copies and links to the relevant financial procedures. The line in the policy which exempts staff from having to go to tender has been explained to Mr Cameron. The previous Recreation Manager interpreted this as meaning the regulations were not applicable or relevant. The current Sports and Leisure Manager would say that they are relevant but that they placed no restrictions on the purchase of equipment in this case.”
This detail was not asked for in Jill Walker’s question…

Affirmation That Most of the Staff Have Moved On… They Haven’t…

Answer 4
“As most of the staff involved have moved on it is difficult to give a precise answer to this point.“
We know David Wright moved on across the corridor in Woodhill House to Aberdeen City Council within 1 month of being told to answer the Fischer Racquetline Limited question, by the Review Panel 29 Nov 06. His answer of 08 Dec 06 did not answer this instruction to provide details of Fischer Racquetline Limited…

08 Dec 06 “Point 4 You asked for details of the selection/tendering process and company details for our supplier 'Fischer Raquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The company details for Fischer Raquetline Limited (taken over by Thin Ice Sports Limited approx 4 years ago) were sent to you in response to a previous request for information on 27 September 2006. Purchases from Fischer Raquetline Limited were not subject to a selection/tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods. In addition, we do not hold any information to show how the purchases were in line with the Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing policy because the purchases you refer to were made in 2003/04. The Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing Policy was agreed in November 2005.”
All the staff at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre including Andrew Miller who is in charge of procurement for the Centre are still in place, which undermines Alastair Nicol’s comment here saying ‘most of the staff have now moved on… they haven’
Audacious Statement About a Non Existent Company…

“Fischer is an Austrian company which set Fischer Racquet Line Limited to retail racquet sports products and skis.”
A bold statement to make when this company has never existed. You have to appreciate the risk that Alastair Nicol is now taking… this is at the highest level… his answers may be treated as a contempt of the Court of Session, but he sticks his neck out and he does it anyway! Why?... and what will Jill Walker make of it?

Indications of Deceit…

“The Sports and Leisure Manager is unsure where this is based.”
How would he have any knowledge? Alastair Nicol has already stated on 28 Aug 07 that this man has only been in the job for 4 weeks.

28 Aug 07 “I should mention that the 2 officers who previously dealt with Mr Cameron's series of requests are no longer with the Council and the current post holder has only been in post for 4 weeks.”
Intentional Provision of False Information…

“He believes that Thin Ice Sports Limited is the UK main dealer in Fischer products. Staff recollection at the time is that they asked the questions on behalf of Mr Cameron and came up with the information which they gave him, but were unsure what it meant”.
This doesn’t make sense… staff came up with the information (the key phrase for me is “came up with”)… but were unsure what it meant, so they provided information they weren’t sure about ! It was a simple question… “please provide trading address and VAT number of Aberdeenshire Council supplier Fischer Racquetline Limited”.

The reason they were unsure is because they knew they were providing misleading information
Admission of Deception…

Answer 5
5) “This point is also difficult to answer in the absence of the staff involved, but it appears that the previous Recreation Manager at the time believed he was providing information about Fischer which was an appropriate response to Mr Cameron's request. He therefore would not have felt the need to rely on Section 17 of Act.”
How can providing information about a different company be an appropriate response? It’s like asking for the Stadium Address of Aberdeen Football Club and being given the address of Glasgow Rangers Football Club in Ibrox as the answer…

What this answer admits is that there was a clear intention to mislead.

Again alastair Nicol ends this letter by saying he is sincere… at least he hasn’t mounted a personal attack vilifying me this time.
02 Oct 07 Is the 2 year anniversary of my question about the names of staff at the Centre... of which I’m still waiting for an answer!

(Click here - Decision 084/2006 – Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council)
This question was asked directly after it had been admitted in FOI answer #2 ACE 32775 that the staff at the Centre were both purchasing equipment from and helping operate their colleague Roy Young’s business Tout Tele...
“The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”

Incredibly in the follow-up question answered on 02 Dec 05 this answer was given by Aberdeenshire Council...

“Aberdeenshire Council’s employee contracts include the following statement: “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council. This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”.
11 Oct 07 (FOI Enquiry #9 to Aberdeenshire Council) Malcolm A McAuslin, Area Manager Banff and Buchan to Ian... ACE/120906 FOI Request for Information… Applicants Name:  Mr Cameron Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) I refer to your request for information from the Council dated 17 September 2007 on the prevention and detection of Fraud and irregularities within Aberdeenshire Council. We confirm that the Council holds the following information, which we believe satisfies your request, and which is enclosed. 1. The Council has an Internal Audit function, which helps ensure that its overall internal control is robust. The Council’s external auditors, in their annual reports, have stated that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place to prevent and detect fraud, inappropriate conduct and corruption. 2. Anti Fraud and Corruption Policy 3. Whistleblowing Policy 4. Code of Conduct 5. Procedures for Internal Review. Internal Audit has investigated 36 allegations of potential fraud/corruption in the past 5 years.  There are 3 ongoing investigations at present. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries.  If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the further information attached. Yours faithfully Malcolm A McAuslin, Area Manager Banff and Buchan
Click below to see Appendix Page Documents
Click here - (36 Cases Internal Fraud Corruption Investigated within Aberdeenshire Council in last 5 years)
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Council Strategy Detect Fraud & Corruption)
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Council Whistleblowing Policy)
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Councillors & Staff Code of Conduct Policy)
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Council Procedures for Internal Review)
The Failure of Aberdeenshire Council’s Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud & Corruption

With reference to Aberdeenshire Council Strategy Detect Fraud & Corruption
2a. The Council regards “fraud” as when “someone is induced by a false pretence to do (or not do) something that they would not (or would) otherwise have done”, and also as when “actual or attempted intentional distortions of financial or other records are carried out, whether to conceal the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for personal gain”.
Alan Campbell, Chief Executive is the responsible person in charge of Freedom of Information (FOI). By providing a ficticious company’s details (Fischer Racquetline Limited), in response to an FOI request has by admission, done so with intent to mislead... in 2a’s definition as the responsible person, has committed fraud by distorting Council records.
Employee Roy Young and the staff operating ‘Tout Tele’ from Aberdeenshire Council premises (Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre) during Council working hours, where they:

1. Create requisitions for equipment 2. Search for quotations from potential suppliers by telephone and internet only (with no verification that this is actually being done) 3. Then place purchase orders through their own business Tout Tele accepting the price that they have decided on. 4. Resupply their place of work with equipment they requisitioned in the first place. 5. Be responsible for auditing the Inventory of Moveable Equipment.

In section 2c, they have by definition acted corruptly...

2c. The Council regards “corruption” as “the offer or acceptance by a Councillor or employee (for themselves or for any other person) of a payment, favour, gift or advantage as a reward or an incentive for action (or inaction) contrary to the proper conduct of their duties".
What is alarming, is the fact that the same staff members are also in charge of maintaining the Inventory of Moveable Equipment held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre... but when asked to legitimise the existence of 265 pairs of skis and boots on the March 2005 Inventory... the Council claims it does not hold that information (receipts / Invoices from their purchase)... Furthermore, when ‘pushed’ to legitimise the existence of the equipment held on the Inventory... Alan Campbell, Chief Executive and responsible person for FOI at Aberdeenshire Council provides a fictitious company as the supplier Fischer Racquetline Limited (but provides no receipts)... all this despite claiming in an earlier FOI answer (ACE 32775), that employee Roy Young’s business Tout Tele holds the supplier agreement for Fischer and that Fischer have been told that Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre (HNOC) is not the business address of Roy Young’s Tout Tele.

The same staff operating Tout Tele (receiving deliveries on behalf of the company) and working at HNOC are also responsible for maintaining the Inventory of Moveable Equipment held there... with this setup in place and the fact that no single pair of skis or boots have been proven to exist... a criminal investigation will be necessary to determine if the staff (in control of the whole procurement process are also submitting false Invoices to Aberdeenshire Council, receiving payment and recording their fictitious existence on the Inventory... it has been claimed that there is a high turn-over of equipment being changed out every 2-3 years, therefore the quantities being claimed are considerable.
Registration of Conflict of Interest


In the same Policy document under “Deterrent and Preventative Measures” it states the following:

i)Council employees must declare any possible conflicts of interest which they may have, whether in contracts entered into by the Council or otherwise, and these must be recorded in a register maintained for this purpose.
Has Roy Young and the staff members of Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre recorded their ‘conflict of interest’?

Fraud Response Policy

a)The Council will be robust in dealing with any financial malpractice, and can be expected to deal timeously and firmly with any person who attempts to defraud the Council or who engages in corrupt practices, whether they are Councillors, employees, consultants, contractors or other suppliers, benefit claimants, tenants or unrelated third parties.
Question a): ‘Has Aberdeenshire Council done this with regard to the staff and Roy Young at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre?’

b)All suspicions of impropriety must be reported to the Chief Executive and Director of Finance in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.  Internal Audit shall then investigate the matter, in consultation with other officers as considered appropriate.  In accordance with s5(2) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the Monitoring Officer is to be involved in reporting any impropriety on the part of officers or members.  In view of this, the Director of Law and Administration shall be advised as appropriate.
Question b): ‘Have any suspicions of irregularity resulting from my FOI requests been reported to the Chief Executive and Director of Finance?’. This report already knows that the Chief Executive has already acted fraudulently as the responsible person for FOI.
d)Where loss has been suffered through fraudulent activity, the Council will pursue the perpetrator for recovery, including reporting the matter to the Police.  This action will only be taken following consultation with the Directors of Law and Administration and Personnel and ICT.
Question d): Potential loss caused by employee Roy Young under terms of the ‘buy local policy’ his company Tout Tele will be retained as the preferred supplier with others removed from the list... he would subsequently be in a position to name his own price in the future as was demonstrated by severely undercutting the next nearest bid for Roller Ski’s from Alpina Euro Sport... Aberdeenshire Council said ‘most equipment is purchased at fixed trade prices’… the best price Alpina Eurosport can do is 10% discount… Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’ is quoting £59 cheaper than the best price representing 33% less than the best price of £179… without doubt, the Recommended Retail Price (RRP) is being undercut by a very large margin… meaning bona fide businesses could never imagine being able to compete and beat Aberdeenshire Council employee Roy Young’s business... because Roy Young as an employee at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre will be using knowledge of that price to quote Alpina Euro Sport out of the bidding... meaning he will always be the preferred supplier for Aberdeenshire Council contracts.
Failure of the Detection and Investigation Procedures...
a)In the majority of cases, it is the diligence of employees and the alertness and good citizenship of the public at large that enables detection to occur
This is an incredible statement in Aberdeenshire Council’s Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud & Corruption... the Council have previously quoted Section 14 of the Freedom of Information Act to claim that I am vexatious when my questions are directly aiming at the heart of the corruption, therefore in light of what has happened, this rhetoric is appalling considering the treatment I have received during this investigation. It’s laughable when it says “the diligence and the alertness and good citizenship of the public at large that enables detection to occur” In my experience, the public can expect to be victimised by Aberdeenshire Council if they try and exercise such diligence, alertness and good citizenship.
36 Cases of Potential Internal Fraud & Corruption Investigated in Last 5 Years...
Click here - (36 Cases Internal Fraud Corruption Investigated within Aberdeenshire Council in last 5 years)
By any standard that is a large number of investigations especially considering that most instances of fraud and corruption go undetected... so is that the tip of the iceberg?

As is proven by my report... anyone looking at my questions and the answers given will see the problems that exist... yet nothing appears to be being done about it... I have never been asked what my concerns are regarding questions of procurement, staff members etc... and you would think someone would ask that very question? Instead, I am victimised by Aberdeenshire Council the worst case where the Sports Development Officer Andrew Miller representing Aberdeenshire Council makes 3 complete lies up in order to seriously damage my credibility and reputation within the Big Lottery, as I complain about Lottery grants being applied for by Roy Young where he then places £4,000 of the grants through his own business committing VAT fraud at the same time. He was also Treasurer of the Huntly Nordic Ski Club and in charge of the Ski Clubs books as well as Tout Tele’s and able to run that through without detection.

This serious defamation by Andrew Miller had the effect of the Big Lottery whitewashing my complaint ending with the Big Lottery threatening me in writing ‘that they would take action against me’ if I made any more gestures of dissatisfaction to them.
Disclosure of Information – (Whistle-blowing)... and the Failure of this Policy...
Click here - (Aberdeenshire Council Whistle-blowing Policy)

This is what it states in Aberdeenshire Council’s Whistle-blowing policy document:
POLICY STATEMENT - Aberdeenshire Council recognises the importance of openness and honesty in carrying out its functions and this is reflected in the Council’s Aims, which make reference to the requirement to be Open and Honest, Responsible and Reliable, Trusting and Trustworthy. 

This Policy and Procedure relating to the Public Disclosure Act 1998 is a further demonstration of the Council’s intention to encourage a culture of openness by ensuring that its employees have a robust procedure for raising genuine concerns about all aspects of malpractice at work without fear of recrimination or victimisation.

Aberdeenshire Council will treat all matters raised under this policy seriously.
... it’s hard to believe that this is the policy when a Subject Access request I made under the Data Protection Act was returned to me with the claim that the Council’s standard Subject Access Form was a Freedom of Information request to which this was subsequently completely ignored. This malpractice and intent to mislead due process was done dishonestly by Andrew Lawson of the Personnel and ICT Department.
1.General Statement - In any large organisation providing a wide range of services, employing large numbers of people there is potential for malpractice or misadministration.  Aberdeenshire Council is no exception.
Examples of the above could include: 

a)breaches of civil, criminal, regulatory or administrative law 

b)improper or unauthorised use of public or other funds

c) the concealment of such malpractice

In addition there are internal policies and procedures within the Council, which regulate many of our activities, and there is an equal risk of things going wrong with the inappropriate or non-application of these.



Examples of the above could include:

a)financial irregularity

b)non-application or perhaps, inappropriate application of Service or Council policies and procedures
The General Statement 1 in this Policy document says it all regarding how Aberdeenshire should have behaved... but didn’t...

01 Nov 07 Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council... RE: Application to the Scottish Information Commissioner for a Decision – Mr I Cameron – Our Ref: 200700821... Dear Mr Nicol, As you are aware, I am investigating this appeal from Mr Cameron to the Commissioner, in doing so, I have one final point which I wish to clarify with the Council. This is in relation to the response made by the Council dated 27 September 2006, in respect of the second point raised by Mr Cameron in his letter of 17 August 2006. The Council's response indicated that no additional information is held which would address his request, is it the case that the Council is relying on section 17 of FOISA here? If this is the case please advise what searches were carried out to determine whether this information was held. I look forward to receiving a swift response from you regarding this Sincerely Jill Walker

01 Nov 07 Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council to Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission... RE: Application to the Scottish Information Commissioner for a Decision – Mr I Cameron – Our Ref: 200700821... Dear Ms Walker, When the Council says it does not hold any further information, that would have to be Section 17. I would suggest that the detailed information already provided to Mr Cameron should be all the proof you need that searches have been carried out. The very fact that we have managed to dredge up all the lists of equipment and copies of invoices and batching slips shows that staff went through the hard copy files to look for them. In terms of the Council's document control policy creditor invoices/batches are retained for 6 years and copy purchase orders for the current year + 2, so the longer this matter runs on, the less likely it is that any historical information will be retained. However, I can confirm that in the course of this protracted series of requests the paper files held centrally and those at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre have been searched. Once invoice details have been entered in the electronic system, there is a limited search facility where it is possible to call up for example every use of a particular supplier, but it cannot be used to search for particular items of equipment such as the inventory of ski equipment as that level of detail does not have to be entered into the system. Alastair Nicol
Alastair Nicol’s Final Attempt o Distort the Facts of the Case…

“I would suggest that the detailed information already provided to Mr Cameron should be all the proof you need that searches have been carried out.”
Detailed information? … the whole reason we’re in this position is due to the lack of information. There is no proof that searches have been carried out, they say that other than Appendix 1, which is a spreadsheet, they hold no other Financial Records for any other Ski or Boot purchase at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre.

(Click here to see Document - Appendix 1)
“The very fact that we have managed to dredge up all the lists of equipment and copies of invoices and batching slips shows that staff went through the hard copy files to look for them.”
What invoices?... I received the 2x Used Mountain Bikes and an invoice for roller skis from my very first FOI request.

Alastair Nicol then makes an astonishing admission…
“In terms of the Council's document control policy creditor invoices/batches are retained for 6 years and copy purchase orders for the current year + 2, so the longer this matter runs on, the less likely it is that any historical information will be retained.”
With this admission, how can Aberdeenshire Council now say “we have no Financial Records”? In the following sequence of correspondence, David Wright with an acknowledgment recognised the difference between the question made 17 Aug 06… and the answer given 27 Sep 06…
17 Aug 06 “Question Point 2 In the information that you have supplied in Appendix 1… I asked for 1. the two competitive written quotations for, 2. itemise who the successful supplier was and 3. provide all receipts and invoices relative to each item detailed. 39 pairs Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 pairs Adult Boots (Salomon/Fischer), 85 pairs Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 pairs Adult Skis (Fischer), 25 pairs Touring Skis, There is a huge gap in the information supplied… only 74 pairs of boots and 28 pairs of ski’s have been accounted for in Appendix 1 and 2… You have not provided any receipts/invoices… please provide them. You haven’t detailed who the supplier’s were for the remaining 41 boots and 147 ski’s left unaccounted. Please detail who they are. I would be grateful if you could answer this question properly and provide the information I have originally asked for.”
27 Sep 06 “Answer Point 2. In relation to the purchase of Ski Boots and Skis, which you previously queried, you are correct to point out that there are differences between the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property dated 31 March 2005, and Appendix 1 of my response to you on 8 August 06. I apologise that the differences weren’t clearly highlighted in my earlier response.”
… but he doesn’t do anything to rectify it other than saying there are no financial records… this also means they were satisfied to give an incomplete answer before, therefore admitting that they are failing to comply (again) to the rules of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002.

27 Sep 06 “Unfortunately, we have very limited records of historical equipment purchases. We do not hold any additional information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 July 06”
For the record… the original request of 14 Jul 06 was as follows…

14 Jul 06 “Ian to foi@aberdeenshire.gov.uk  (FOI Enquiry #5 to Aberdeenshire Council) [ACE/62286]… Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre… Dear Sir / Madam, With reference to Aberdeenshire Council (AC) procurement policy… can you provide me with the following information relative to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at AC Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre. 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed below (submitted to AC during the procurement/tendering process) 2. Detail who the successful supplier was for each item detailed below 3. Provide all receipts / invoices relative to each item detailed below… 39 (pairs) Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 (pairs) Adult Boots (Salomon / Fischer), 85 (pairs)
Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 (pairs)
Adult Skis (Fischer), 51 (pairs)
3 Pin Leather Boots, 25 (pairs) Touring Skis, 7 (pairs) Telemark Skis, 12 (pairs) Marwe Skate Rollers (Marwe), 4 (pairs) Marwe Classic Rollers (Marwe), 6 (pairs) Red Classic Rollers (Swenor), 3 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 4 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 138 Poles(Various), 39 Roller Poles (Various), 3 Ski Bags (Fischer), 24 Rollers Blades, 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant), 49 Helmets, 1 Nordic Track, 1 Fitness Machine, 6 Child Snow Tubes, 10 Adult Snow Tubes… Please treat this request in accordance of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron”
01 Nov 07 Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission to Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Review Panel, Aberdeenshire Council... RE: Application to the Scottish Information Commissioner for a Decision – Mr I Cameron – Our Ref: 200700821... Dear Mr Nicol, Thank you for your response. For your information, I have completed a draft decision in respect of the other case that I have been working on for Mr Cameron, our ref: 200700820 and I am in the process of doing the draft decision for this one. I appreciate all the further submissions you have provided me with regarding these cases. Sincerely Jill Walker

09 Nov 07 Ian to Jill Walker… Report Appendix… Dear Mrs Walker, I wanted to thank you for taking some time to talk to me on Friday morning (9th Nov), regarding my submissions to the Scottish Information Commissioner's Office. Additionally I wanted to assure you that for me, I also want to have line drawn under the case and have things closed off, (after so long). I have never undertaken something like this before and have no intention of doing so again - I have no more questions to ask. I realised at an early stage that a big effort would be needed to see my concerns through, but didn't expect that 1) it would be such a can of worms and 2) it would be this difficult to get answers... so I apologise if my frustrations were evident during our conversation. On a personal point, positively, the experience has been worthwhile and educational as well as an interesting change from Technical Report Writing... I have also been fascinated to see "what was going to happen next... ?". The outcome on the Procurement Policy is disappointing, but I believe that Audit Scotland will address this issue at the appropriate time. I have now deleted the report from the Internet (only uploading it for your interest), but have left the Appendix which may still be useful to you to reference. http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/report/appendix.html (To confirm again, the Internet version will be for Audit Scotland's use when I finally make the submission to them). As said already, I respect due process and appreciate that it may be some time yet before the final decisions are made. Thanking you again... Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

15 Nov 07 Jill Walker to Ian… Application for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner - 200600082‏… Dear Mr Cameron, I write further to our meeting on 9 November at the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner in St Andrews, when you asked about the progress of the appeal case which is currently with the Commissioner having been remitted back to him following an appeal by Aberdeenshire Council to the Court of Session.  As I explained to you during the meeting amendments have been made to this decision notice since it has been returned to the Commissioner,  It is the intention of the Head of Investigations to submit this amended copy of the decision notice to our external solicitors for their review and thereafter to seek approcal from the Commissioner.  It is likely that this decision notice will not be issued to you until towards the end of January 2008. I trust that this information is of help to you.  Should you have any queries please do not hesitate to contact me. Sincerely Jill Walker Freedom of Information Officer
18 Nov 07 Ian to Jill Walker… Additional Information 200600082 & 200700821‏… Dear Mrs Walker, Thank you very much for the update... I do appreciate it. 200600082 I have an additional section in my report which came to my attention in August, which you do not have... and I think is important regarding the names of the Staff at the Centre (See attached) There are 2 hyperlinks in the Word document which lead to the documents referred to... 1. The Job Advert http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/appendix/l_asandwhenrecruitmentHNOC_10aug07.pdf 2. The agreement between Aberdeenshire Council's Ski Centre and the Huntly Nordic Ski Club. http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/foi_abz_reply/3_ace33953_huntlynordicskicentre_staffandclubnov2005.doc ACE/62286200700821/JW The second thing I wanted to bring to your attention again, is something I underlined during our conversation... and that was the fact that although Aberdeenshire Council supplied the Sustainable Purchasing Policy to me (as their answer)...  this Policy document was dated November 2005 http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/foi_abz_reply/5_ace62286_part2sustainablepurchasing.pdf ... I had asked for the Policy in place relative to the Inventory of Moveable Equipment... http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/appendix/xi_hnoc_inventorymoveableequipment.pdf ... but it is dated March 2005 ! 8 months prior to the existence of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy ! As you correctly said in your letter to me 5th September 2007, 'I sought information relative to the 'Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property' ' So the Council have tried to provide information on purpose precisely to mislead my request for the Procurement Policy (which I use as a generic term)... I remember you did point out to me that they call it Financial Regulations. I believe the Council should be interpreting my use of the words 'Procurement Policy' in it's broadest sense, as the public can not be expected to be versed on Aberdeenshire Council specific nomenclature. Therefore I still believe that I should be given the full policy documents for the Financial Regulations that I have been requesting time-and-time again... to which Aberdeenshire Council have done their very best to withhold. By default, the Sustainable Purchasing Policy supplied... is not valid, and can not be accepted as an answer. Again what I want to see is details of the quotations (below) in the relevant document itself applicable at the time of the procurement of the equipment on the Inventory: I want to know if the Policy quotation given on 02 Dec 05 was the rule... why did it then change again by 08 Aug 06 to something completely different? (The 02 Dec 05 rule would have applied to the Inventory of Equipment dated 31 Mar 05... and that is the document I've asked for) 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 (part 2)
http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/foi_abz_reply/2_ace32775_part2_informationprovidedletter.dochttp://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/foi_abz_reply/5_ace62286_informationprovided.doc Answer 3.You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations. Which was replaced by... 08 Aug 06 ACE/62286
 In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose. As mentioned in my last email... you may find the Appendix page of my Report which is still on the Internet useful... it has all the documents I have referred to including all FOI Questions & Answers... (Click Here to view Appendix Page) http://s252828579.websitehome.co.uk/huntly/report/appendix.html The Report itself has been deleted off the server and will be made available to Audit Scotland at the appropriate time... I have left the Appendix on the Server for your use (if needed). The only thing concerning me now is the effect of the time delay's are causing to the relevance of my report... I can't really afford to wait much more than the end of January 2008 get things moving... but I have understood the reasons for the delays. I do appreciate all of your help and realise that this case has caused the Scottish Information Commissioner's Office a considerable amount of time and effort... but I believe that this is an important case in terms of Public confidence. I would be willing to come to St. Andrews again if you thought it would be helpful... but work commitments mean I wouldn't be available until 12th December at the earliest. With much appreciation... Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron 

19 Nov 07 Jill Walker to Ian… Additional Information 200600082 & 200700821‏… Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your email of yesterday.  I note the comments that you have made in respect of two of your applications to the Commissioner.  I also note your concern about the relevance of the information that you are seeking if the decisions from the Commissioner are not issued relatively soon.  As I explained to you during our recent meeting, the Commissioner is due to be out of the office for six weeks and although the Head of Investigations has been delegated responsibility to sign some decision notices, this does not apply to all.  I have submitted draft decisions for both of the recent applications that you had with the Commissioner and I would hope that these may also be issued in January.  I will keep you up to date where I can. Sincerely Jill Walker

12 Dec 07 Letter Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission to Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700821 Your Ref: ACE/74428... Dear Mr Campbell, INFORMATION NOTICE UNDER SECTION 50(1)(a) OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002 - APPLICANT MR IAN CAMERON As you may be aware. Mr Cameron has made a number of applications to the Commissioner for a decision under section 47(1) of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). Jill Walker, Freedom of Information Officer, is currently investigating two, connected applications. She has corresponded with Alastair Nicol during these investigations. On 5 September 2007, Mrs Walker wrote to Mr Nicol asking him to provide her with certain information in relation to one of the applications made by Mr Cameron. A copy of her letter is attached for information. Unfortunately, the response received to this letter is not sufficient to allow the Commissioner to come to a final decision on this matter and I am therefore requiring to you provide me with some additional information. Please note that this is a formal Information Notice under section 50 of FOISA. Should Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) fail to comply with this notice within the specified time limit, the Commissioner has the right to certify to the Court of Session that it has failed to comply with the notice. The Court has the right to inquire into the matter and may deal with the Council as if it had committed a contempt of court. I now require the Council to provide me with information as to why, in response to Mr Cameron's request for information as to the address and VAT registration number for “Fischer Racquetline Ltd, the Council" provided a trading address for Thin Ice Sports Limited and a VAT registration number for Fischer’s Austrian equivalent of a VAT number. I also require the Council to confirm whether it does or does not hold any information regarding the trading address and VAT number for Fischer Racquetline Ltd. If the Council has obtained legal advice either in respect of its duties under FOISA or in connection with or in contemplation of legal proceedings under or arising out of FOISA, it is under no obligation to provide me with a copy of that advice, although it may choose to do so. If the advice the Council has received supports the way in which it has dealt with the request for information from Mr Cameron, then providing me with a copy of the advice may assist the Council's case. Should the Council wish to contest the matter contained in this notice, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation (i.e. date of posting) of this letter. Should you wish to discuss any aspect of this notice, please contact Jill Walker on 01334464610. Yours Sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations

Scottish Information Commission Lose Patience and Issue Section 50 Notice on Aberdeenshire Council’s Chief Executive...
This is an important and serious letter from Margaret Keyse... she is serving a Formal Information Notice under Section 50 of Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 directly to the Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council. If Alan Campbell fails to comply it will be treated as a ‘contempt of the Court of Session’.

Margaret Keyse has realised that Aberdeenshire Council are continuing to withhold Fischer Racquetline Limited’s details and orders the Council to give an answer. It appears that Margaret Keyse like me has become frustrated by the continued level of secrecy and deception within Aberdeenshire Council over this matter... what is incredible is the corresponding answer which is given by the Chief Executive 1 week later on 18 Dec 07... an answer that beggers belief !!!

18 Dec 07 Letter Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council to Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish Information Commission Our Ref: CE/AGC/ AN/LK/033 Your Ref: 200700821 INFORMATION NOTICE UNDER SECTION 50(1)(a) OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002 - APPLICANT MR IAN CAMERON - I refer to your letter dated 12 December, 2007, in connection with the above matter and have to say that I am disappointed that you have felt it necessary to use the formality of an Information Notice at this late stage of what has been a long and complicated investigation. As you know, my colleague Mr Nicol has had an ongoing dialogue with your Ms Walker and has attempted to respond fully to all her questions. The last communication he had from her suggested that her reports were now concluded, and it was a considerable surprise to receive your letter. I am concerned that the service of an Information Notice implies that you think the Council is not being co-operative, which is certainly not the case. Indeed Ms Walker thanked Mr Nicol for all his assistance with the investigation. In relation to the two questions which are still not resolved to your satisfaction, you may be aware that the main difficulty in responding to some questions has "been that the members of staff who handled the original requests left the employment of the Council some time ago and the present Sports and Leisure Manager has only been in post for a few months. Your first question is asking for a detailed reasoning as to why a former member of staff took certain action, and there is no-one here now who can give a definitive answer. Any response can only be speculation on the part of current staff as to what may or may not have been intended several years ago. In short, no matter how many times the question is asked, the answer can only be that we do not know. In respect of the confusion surrounding Fischer Racquetline and Thin Ice Sports Ltd, the best I can do is try to explain the history of these companies. Originally Fischer Racquetline were the sole supplier of "Fischer" ski equipment, Fischer being the Austrian based supplying company. However, Fischer Racquetline decided at some point that they did not want to continue to be the sole supplier of ski equipment as they were predominantly a racquet sports company, and subsequently they let Fischer know this. A member of Fischer Racquetline staff then decided to set up a new company which would become the sole supplier of "Fischer" equipment instead of Fischer Racquetline. This company was called "Thin Ice Sports". Staff at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre recall that existing and outstanding orders swapped across from Fischer Racquetline to Thin Ice at that time. I cannot give a definitive answer as to why the former member of staff who dealt with the original enquiry made the decision to provide details on Thin Ice as opposed to Fischer Racquetline, or why he provided the Austrian Fischer VAT number rather than the Thin Ice or Fischer Racquetline number. Given that the changeover happened three or four years earlier, it may be that he no longer had any information about Fischer Racquetline and perceived Thin Ice to be the relevant organisation at that time as the official importer of "Fischer" equipment. In response to your second question, the Council does not hold any information regarding the trading address or VAT registration number of Fischer Racquetline. After they ceased to be the sole importer, the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre no longer had any interest in the company. I hope this is sufficient explanation but no doubt you will let me know if there is anything further. Alan G Campbell CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

Alan Campbell fails to comply with Section 50

Alan Campbell says he is disappointed... what has to be remembered is Campbell is not just disappointed... he’s nervous... so will now, as is demonstrated in his letter of 18 Dec 07 go to any go to any length to mislead Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at OSIC. What’s first noticed in this letter is his use of rhetoric to suggest everything has been concluded satisfactorily by Jill Walker the Investigating Officer. 
Emotive language such as:

“attempted to respond fully”

“long and complicated investigation”,

“Council is not being co-operative, which is certainly not the case”

“Ms Walker thanked Mr Nicol for all his assistance”

“Considerable surprise”

”I am concerned”

To me, this first paragraph shouldn’t fool anyone with a modicum of common sense. Interestingly, the member of staff he refers to in paragraph 2 (David Wright), Recreation Manager transferred across to Aberdeen City Council within 1 month of being forced to give an answer about Fischer Racquetline Limited... Incredibly in that answer, David Wright again didn’t and could not answer the question about the trading address and VAT number of Fischer Racquetline Limited on 08 Dec 06 (Page 83).

Alan Campbell then concludes paragraph 1 by offering his concern that the issue of a compulsory information notice by OSIC has “implications”.

Now OSIC have a copy of my report and should have at least looked through it, as this report was submitted on 16 Feb 07 to prove that I had legitimate interest in case 084/2006.

My report is explicit... it goes into significant detail about the uncovering of corruption and manipulation of Public Funds by Aberdeenshire Council employees, and highlights the attempted cover up by senior Aberdeenshire Council officials, therefore, when Alan Campbell questions the implication that Aberdeenshire Council isn’t being co-operative, it’s because OSIC know he isn’t being co-operative. With an ironical twist, Alan Campbell now claims that being un-cooperative... 

“is certainly not the case”. Indeed Ms Walker thanked Mr Nicol for all his assistance with the investigation”
I can’t help myself being facetious here but, I haven’t seen Alan Campbell in Aberdeen’s Comedy Circuit... he’s certainly trying to make a fool out of the Scottish Information Commission!

David Wright the former Recreation Manager... Alan Campbell’s Scapegoat

Clearly in paragraph 2, David Wright is being used as the scapegoat again... and again Campbell takes the approach of being misleading suggesting certain actions were taken several years ago... they weren’t, it was almost exactly 1 year ago! as David Wrights answer of 08 Dec 06 again could not supply the details of Fischer Racquetline Limited.

What this also means is David Wright is the only person who has knowledge of the procurement of 226 sets of Fischer Skis and boots... this is highly unlikely as it’s already been said that the staff at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre are making purchases of Nordic Ski equipment from their colleague, also helping to receive deliveries from Fischer for that same business ‘Tout Tele’, therefore the staff at the Centre must know something about it, not just David Wright.

It’s convenient for Mr Campbell to say he can’t answer the 2 outstanding questions; this gives the impression that David Wright was the only person with any knowledge and that any response now can only be speculation.

What is clearly happening in paragraph 2 is the whitewash of the Office of the Scottish Information Commission (OSIC). OSIC want answers... Alan Campbell now whitewashes their request and OSIC can do nothing about it... further demonstrating the weakness of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 itself and that it is being administered weakly in this case.

I wonder on this point if David Wright is aware that he is being targeted by Aberdeenshire Council in this way?

The Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council Alan Campbell Commits Political Suicide...
What happens next in this letter is incredible! The Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council now goes into explicit detail about Fischer Racquetline Limited saying the following...

“In respect of the confusion surrounding Fischer Racquetline and Thin Ice Sports Ltd, the best I can do is try to explain the history of these companies. Originally Fischer Racquetline were the sole supplier of "Fischer" ski equipment, Fischer being the Austrian based supplying company. However, Fischer Racquetline decided at some point that they did not want to continue to be the sole supplier of ski equipment as they were predominantly a racquet sports company, and subsequently they let Fischer know this. A member of Fischer Racquetline staff then decided to set up a new company which would become the sole supplier of "Fischer" equipment instead of Fischer Racquetline. This company was called "Thin Ice Sports". Staff at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre recall that existing and outstanding orders swapped across from Fischer Racquetline to Thin Ice at that time.”
It’s almost as if Alan Campbell knows Rab Reid at Thin Ice Sports personally... what’s also amazing is the vivid description of the history of Fischer Racquetline Limited...

It’s as if a schoolboy had written this statement.

What is more serious about this is Mr Campbell now implicates himself directly in the corruption of his organisation becoming the principal part of the breakdown of the rules which govern its being. I now consider it may have been Mr Campbell himself that instructed Andrew Lawson of the Personnel & ICT Department to directly and blatantly break the Law during my original Subject Access Request on 11 Jul 06, attempting to mislead my request claiming their Subject Access Request form was a Freedom of Information Request and would be treated that way.

What Alan Campbell’s actions here also suggest is that, what is happening at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre is not an isolated case... all of the employee’s at the heart of the manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts are still in place despite the Council having strict rules on Anti Fraud and Corruption.

In the 5th paragraph, Mr Campbell makes a scapegoat out of David Wright saying again the former employee was responsible and an answer can now not be given. This paragraph admits that after going through the complete process of the Review Panel, accusations of being vexatious and finally once that was overturned the answer given by Aberdeenshire Council was to give Thin Ice Sports details and the Austrian VAT number... that Aberdeenshire Council now don’t know why they gave false and misleading information on Fischer Racquetline Limited.

You would think that the Chief Executive would demand to know why this was the case from his employees/staff and tell the Scottish Information Commission that they will look into this as a matter of urgency... but Alan Campbell doesn’t?... why?

Alan Campbell from being Law graduate of Aberdeen University himself would not be happy to receive a letter which uses words like “I cannot give a definitive answer”... “perceived” etc... he’d want real answers!

Despite 226 Sets of Fischer Skis and Boots Being Held... There is No Information...

In paragraph 6 again he has no information. Now remember 226 sets of Fischer equipment were detailed on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment... and in FOI answer #2 ACE/32775 dated 14 Oct 05, Aberdeenshire Council detail exactly who holds the Fischer agreement... not ‘Thin Ice Sports’ or ‘Fischer Racquetline Limited’ but their employee who also works at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre as an Instructor and that Fischer should stop sending Invoices to the Centre as this is not the business address of Tout Tele.

“The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment…”
… they have also already claimed that Ski equipment had been delivered for ‘Tout Tele’ from Fischer and Salomon to the Centre…

“arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fischer, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre”
“There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre.”
When asked later in FOI #5 27 Sep 06, Aberdeenshire Council state having been asked to provide all Invoices of the ski equipment held at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, that …

“We do not hold any information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 Jul 06”
“Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear”
No information when they claim equipment is replaced every 2-3 years !?

The Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council Alan Campbell’s Intent to Mislead OSIC Head of Investigations...
Alan Campbell ends his letter to Margaret Keyse by saying... 

“I hope this is sufficient explanation”
...there is no explanation here... every paragraph states we do not know... it was all David Wrights fault... and we can’t answer your questions !?

Unfortunately for me in Decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008 Alan Campbell’s direct intervention to go on record and in writing to mislead Margaret Keyse with intentional falsehood worked... both decision’s went against me where Kevin Dunion accepted Aberdeenshire Council response of Section 17 – Information not held. OSIC failed to check that Fischer Racquetline Limited was fictitious (as I had pointed out in my submissions), by checking Companies House.

Clearly what has been discovered through this case, being the real casualty, is the fact that the Laws of Freedom of Information are weak Laws despite all the talk about creating transparency, openness and accountability.

The question is asked... Why would Alan Campbell put his neck firmly on the block for relatively junior Aberdeenshire Council employees? I have already considered that, what I have uncovered may not be an isolated case !? Indeed the National Fraud Initiative of 2006 by Audit Scotland made the following statement...

“The identification of fraudulent activity in one area can often lead to the discovery that an individual is acting improperly in other respects”
As I reflect on this letter in general, I can see that the Chief Executive has used an old tactic to appear confident in what you say and do and you won’t be challenged. His detailed description of the history of Fischer Racquetline Limited and Thin Ice Sports is certainly very convincing. 
15 Jan 08 Jill Walker to Ian… Application for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner - 200700820‏... Dear Mr Cameron, I write with reference to the application for a decision that you made to the Scottish Information Commissioner in respect of your information request to Aberdeenshire Council (ACE/74428). As you are aware a draft decision was prepared on your case and this was passed to the Deputy Head of Investigations and the Commissioner for their approval.  This draft decision has been approved and is being issued today.  A copy of the Commissioner’s decision notice will be sent to you today by recorded delivery post, a copy will also be sent to Aberdeenshire Council. I trust that this information is of help to you. Sincerely Jill Walker
15 Jan 08 Ian to Jill Walker… Application for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner - 200700820‏... Thank you very much for keeping me updated Jill, I appreciate it... and I'm sure in turn, you've recognised the patience I have shown throughout this investigation and my respect for due process. Do you have any inclination when the 2 other outstanding appeals that I have with your Office will be released? Best Regards Ian

15 Jan 08 Jill Walker to Ian… Application for a decision of the Scottish Information Commissioner - 200700820‏... Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your reply.  As regards the other two investigations which are currently with the office at the moment, I can only say that both of these are with the Head of Investigations awaiting her review and will then  be forwarded to the Commissioner for his attention.  I would hope that this process may be complete by the end of January but cannot promise this. Sincerely Jill Walker
15 Jan 08 Letter Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner to Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your Ref: ACE/74428 RECORDED DELIVERY – Dear Mr Campbell, Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Applicant: lan Cameron - On 10 February 2007, Mr lan Cameron applied to me for a decision as to whether Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) breached Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in dealing with his request for information. Jill Walker carried out an investigation on my behalf. She has been in contact with Alastair Nicol during the investigation. I am writing to advise you that I have decided that the Council partially failed to comply with Part 1 of FOISA in dealing with Mr Cameron's request for information. A copy of my Decision Notice is enclosed with this letter, but in summary I have found that Mr Cameron submitted a request to the Council for specific information regarding the purchase of goods by the Council from businesses owned or operated by Council employees, in line with its sustainable purchasing policy. In responding to Mr Cameron's request, the Council advised that it considered Mr Cameron's request to be vexatious, and so refused to comply with it. Following a review, the Council notified Mr Cameron that it did not consider that his request was vexatious and the review panel required the Council to consider the request again. Following further consideration of the request the Council relied on section 17 in respect of certain information which would address part of his request and also advised that it had already provided Mr Cameron with information which would address other parts of his request for information. Following an investigation I am not satisfied that the Council was correct to rely on section 17 of FOISA in respect of information which would address the first three points of Mr Cameron's information request. I also find that the Council did not provide Mr Cameron with a suitable response in respect of the second part of the fourth point in his information request, as the Council should have relied on section 17 here but did not do so. I am satisfied however that the Council did respond adequately to the first part of Mr Cameron's fourth point, and fully to his fifth point. In order to comply fully with the terms of my decision, I require Aberdeenshire Council to reconsider the first three points of Mr Cameron's request and to respond to these in line with Part 1 of FOISA, other than by a notice under section 17. I require Aberdeenshire Council to take these steps within 45 days of receipt of the Decision Notice. Should Aberdeenshire Council fail to take the required steps to comply with the terms of the Decision Notice, I have the right to certify to the Court of Session that Aberdeenshire_ Council has failed to comply. The Court has the right to inquire into the matter and may deal with Aberdeenshire Council as if it had committed a contempt of court. Please contact Jill Walker to let her know when these steps have been carried out. Should either Aberdeenshire Council or Mr Cameron wish to contest my findings, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation (i.e. date of posting) of this letter. A copy of this Decision Notice will be made available on my website by 22 January 2008. Yours Sincerely Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner
15 Jan 08 Kevin Dunion Scottish Information Commissioner to Ian... Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your Ref: ACE/74428 Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Public Authority: Aberdeenshire Council I refer to your correspondence with Jill Walker in connection with your application for a decision by me. This relates to your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) dealt with your request for information. I have investigated your application and have decided that the Council partially failed to comply with Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in dealing with your request. A copy of my Decision Notice is enclosed, but in summary I have found that you submitted an information request to the Council for specific information regarding the purchase of goods by the Council from businesses owned or operated by Council employees, in line with its sustainable purchasing policy. In responding to your request, the Council advised that it considered your request to be vexatious, and so refused to comply with it. Following a review, the Council notified you that it did not consider the request to be vexatious and that the review panel required the Council to consider your request again. Following further consideration of the request, the Council relied on section 17 in respect of certain information which would address part of your information request. The Council also advised that it had already provided you with information which would address other parts of your request for information. Following an investigation, I am not satisfied that the Council was correct to rely on section 17 of FOISA in respect of information which would address the first three points of your information request. I also find that the Council did not provide you with a suitable response in respect of the second part of the fourth point in your information request, as the Council should have relied on section 17 in respect of this information, but did not do so. I am satisfied however that the Council did respond adequately to the first part of the fourth point in your information request, and fully to your fifth point. I require Aberdeenshire Council to reconsider the first three points of your information request and to respond to these in line with Part 1 of FOISA, other than by a notice under section 17. I require Aberdeenshire Council to take these steps within 45 days of receipt of the Decision Notice. Should Aberdeenshire Council fail to take the required steps to comply with the terms of the Decision Notice I have the right to certify to the Court of Session that Aberdeenshire Council has failed to comply. The Court of Session can treat this failure as a contempt of court. Should either you or Aberdeenshire Council wish to contest my findings, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation (i.e. date of posting) of this letter. I should be grateful if you would contact Jill Walker to let her know when Aberdeenshire Council has provided you with the information. A copy of the enclosed Decision Notice will be made available on my website by 22 January 2008. Yours Sincerely Kevin Dunion Scottish Information Commissioner
Decision 004/2008 Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council - Information regarding purchase of goods - Applicant: Mr Ian Cameron - Authority: Aberdeenshire Council - Case No: 200700820 - Decision Date: 15 January 2008 - Kevin Dunion - Scottish Information Commissioner

Request for information regarding the purchase of goods by Aberdeenshire Council from businesses owned or operated by Council employees, in line with its Sustainable Purchasing Policy –certain information claimed not to be held – Council also asserted that certain information had been supplied to Mr Cameron previously – Council's response partially upheld by Commissioner 
Relevant Statutory Provisions and Other Sources Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) sections 1(1) General entitlement; 17 (Notice that information is not held). The full text of each of these provisions is reproduced in the Appendix to this decision. The Appendix forms part of this decision.
Facts

Mr Cameron requested information from Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) in relation to the Council's purchasing of goods from businesses owned or operated by employees of the Council, in line with the terms of the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The Council responded to Mr Cameron's request by advising that it considered it to be vexatious and as a result it was not going to comply with it. Mr Cameron was not satisfied with this response and asked the Council to review its decision. The Council carried out a review and, as a result, notified Mr Cameron that the review panel did not uphold that his request for information was vexatious and the review panel required the Council to consider the request again. Having considered Mr Cameron's request again the Council advised that it did not hold any information which would answer certain parts of Mr Cameron's request and that it had already provided Mr Cameron with other information which he was seeking in respect of other parts of his request. Mr Cameron remained dissatisfied and applied to the Commissioner for a decision. Following an investigation, the Commissioner found that Aberdeenshire Council had partially failed to deal with Mr Cameron's request for information fully in accordance with Part 1 of FOISA. He required Aberdeenshire Council to reconsider its responses to certain parts of Mr Cameron's information request, and to respond to these in line with Part 1 of FOISA (other than by claiming the information is not held).
Background

1. On 27 October 2006, Mr Cameron wrote to the Council to request the following information with reference to the Council's "Buy Local Policy" (which he stated was "implicit to" its "Sustainable Purchasing Policy"): 1. How many local businesses supplying any department within Aberdeenshire Council over the last 7 years with goods and services, have/are operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members (full or part time staff) 2. Provide copies of written Line Manager approval where such arrangements are in place 3. Name the businesses and give full details of what was supplied 4. Please provide full details of the selection/tendering process and company information on supplier 'Fischer Racquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy" (order references supplied) 5. Please provide a full copy of Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy".

2.On 13 November 2007, the Council wrote to Mr Cameron in response to his request for information. In this response the Council advised that it was not required to comply with Mr Cameron's request for information as it considered that the request was vexatious in terms of section 14 of FOISA. 

3. Mr Cameron wrote to the Council requesting a review of its decision on 14 November 2006. In particular, Mr Cameron did not agree that his request for information was vexatious, and considered that he had a legitimate interest in receiving a full answer to the request he had made.

4. The Council carried out a review and wrote to Mr Cameron with the outcome on 29 November 2006. It considered that it should not have dealt with Mr Cameron's request as vexatious, and advised that the appropriate section of the Council had been directed to consider his request again.

5. A further response was made to Mr Cameron by the Council on 8 December 2006, in which the Council advised that it had considered his request again but had no information which would address the first three points of his request. The Council also advised Mr Cameron that it believed it had already provided him with company information in respect of his fourth point, although it did elucidate on the selection and tendering process: it advised that its Sustainable Purchasing Policy could not have been relevant to these purchases, which had been made before that policy existed. The Council also advised that it had already provided Mr Cameron with a copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy in response to an earlier FOI request, and also provided him with a link to that policy in its website.

6. On 16 February 2007, Mr Cameron wrote to my Office, stating that he was dissatisfied with the outcome of the Council's review and applying to me for a decision in terms of section 47(1) of FOISA. 

7. Following further correspondence, the application was validated by establishing that Mr Cameron had made a request for information to a Scottish public authority and had applied to me for a decision only after asking the authority to review its response to that request. The case was then allocated to an investigating officer.

The Investigation

8. The investigating officer contacted the Council on 30 July 2007, in line with section 49(3)(a) of FOISA, asking it to provide comments on the application and to respond to specific questions in relation to it.

9. A full response was received from the Council on 29 August 2007.

10. Further communication was entered into between the investigating officer and the Council during September and October 2007 to clarify the submissions made by the Council.

11. In its responses to me, the Council explained that it was relying on section 17 of FOISA in responding to the first three points in Mr Cameron's information request. The Council submitted that it did not hold any information which would answer these parts of Mr Cameron's request, and described to my investigating officer the steps taken to establish this.

12. In respect of the information Mr Cameron requested at his fourth point, the Council advised that it gave Mr Cameron an explanation as to the selection and tendering process regarding purchases from Fischer Racquetline Limited. The Council also submitted that it provided what information it could on the company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited in its response to an earlier request of Mr Cameron's.

13. The Council also explained that it had already provided Mr Cameron with a copy of its "Sustainable Purchasing Policy" in response to a previous FOI request.

14.The Council has also provided me with copies of previous information requests Mr Cameron submitted to it under FOISA (which it considered to be relevant to my investigation), and the responses given to these.

15. In his application to me, Mr Cameron clearly set out his belief that the Council failed to address adequately any of the points in his information request of 27 October 2006. He provided me with information to support his assertion.

16. I will consider the relevant submissions of both parties more fully in my analysis and findings below.

The Commissioner's Analysis and Findings

17.In coming to a decision on this matter, I have considered all of the information and the submissions that have been presented to me by both Mr Cameron and the Council and am satisfied that no matter of relevance has been overlooked.

18. This decision will consider the Council's reliance on the application of section 17 of FOISA in respect of the first three points in Mr Cameron's information request.

19. The investigation will also consider whether the Council has provided Mr Cameron with information in response to his fourth point, and also whether it has provided him with a copy of its "Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy".

Section 17 – Notice that information is not held

20. As has been mentioned already, the Council advised that it did not hold any information falling within the scope of the first three points in Mr Cameron's information request.

21. The investigating officer asked the Council several questions in relation to the nature and breadth of searches that it carried out to determine whether or not it held information which would address these parts of Mr Cameron's request. The investigating officer also asked the Council whether the information which had been requested at the first three points of Mr Cameron's information request was information which would be held by the Council as part of its normal business practices.

22. In responding to the investigating officer's questions, the Council explained that, having carried out a search and spoken to relevant members of staff, no list of businesses operated by employees of the Council was found. The Council also submitted that there was no process within the relevant department (Education and Recreation Service) for line manager approval being granted when purchasing items of equipment from companies owned or influenced by Aberdeenshire Council employees. Therefore the Council submitted that no record which would address this part of Mr Cameron's request was held. The Council did, however admit (it having been suggested that this would be a reasonable interpretation of Mr Cameron's second point) that its staff were required to obtain line manager's approval for other employment outwith the Council.

23. Following a request for further submissions from the Council, where the investigating officer pointed out that the information that Mr Cameron was requesting was not simply in relation to one department of the Council but to any department, the Council carried out a further search to ascertain whether it held any information which would address Mr Cameron's first three points. In its responses, the Council continued to assert that it did not hold any information which would answer these three points.

24. Having considered the submissions made by the Council in justification of its reliance on section 17 of FOISA, together with the submissions which have been made by Mr Cameron in his application to me, I am concerned that the Council may not have interpreted Mr Cameron's information request as he intended it to be interpreted. The investigating officer did raise this issue with the Council, but the Council remained satisfied that it had interpreted the request correctly and dealt with it properly. The Council also referred me to the response which had been made by its review panel in support of this view.

25.On the basis of the submissions which have been received from the Council, together with those from Mr Cameron, I am not persuaded by the Council's assertions that it does not hold certain of the information Mr Cameron has requested. This is the case particularly in relation to his first point. Mr Cameron has provided me with information in his submissions which exemplifies that the Council has in the past provided him with some information which shows that it does hold a record of a particular business which has supplied the Council with goods, and that this business is owned and operated by an employee of the Council. From the further information received from the Council, following it carrying out a further search of records for all departments as requested, there would appear to be other similar records.

26.I am therefore unable to uphold the Council's reliance on section 17 for information which would answer the first part of Mr Cameron's information request, as it is clear from the submissions made by the Council that it does (and did at the time of Mr Cameron's request) hold some information which would address this. However, I am satisfied that certain of this information in relation to one particular business was provided to Mr Cameron in response to a previous FOI request (ACW 31113) that he made. I am also satisfied that Mr Cameron still has this information within his possession, and as a consequence I do not require the Council to consider this information for this one particular company again.

27. From the information the Council has provided, I accept that it does not hold a central list of businesses which are operated by its employees. I also accept on the basis of the Council's submissions that the Education and Recreation Service does not (and did not) hold a record of written line manager approvals for individuals operating a business whilst still employed by the Council. However, it is clear from reading the information the Council has provided to me that a number of services, including Personnel, do retain copies of line manager approvals where an employee has been granted approval to carry out their own business at the same time as being a Council employee. I am satisfied that most of the information which the Council holds regarding this was held at the time of Mr Cameron's information request. As a result, I cannot uphold the Council's reliance on section 17 of FOISA regarding this part of Mr Cameron's request.

28. I am also unable to accept that the Council does not hold any information which would address the third part of Mr Cameron's request. It is apparent from the submissions I have received from the Council, including previous responses made to Mr Cameron's other FOI requests, that it does (and did at the time of Mr Cameron's request) hold information relating to the names of certain businesses owned or operated by employees of the Council and supplying the Council with goods and/or services, and details of what these businesses supplied.

29. Taking into account the response made by the Council to a previous FOI request (ACW 31113) that was submitted by Mr Cameron, however, I am satisfied that the Council has already disclosed information which would address the third part of Mr Cameron's request in respect of goods supplied by one particular business, and that this information remains in his possession. As a consequence of this I do not require the Council to consider this particular information for this one company again.

30. For the reasons outlined above I am unable to uphold the Council's reliance on section 17 of FOISA in this case. As I am not satisfied that the Council does not hold (and did not hold at the time of Mr Cameron's request) information which would address the first three points of his request. Therefore, I require the Council to consider the first three points of Mr Cameron's information request again.
Information relating to the fourth point in Mr Cameron's information request

31. As mentioned already Mr Cameron also asked for information as to full details of the selection/tendering process and company information on a supplier called "Fischer Racquetline Limited", in line with the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. In making this request, Mr Cameron made reference to specific goods which had been purchased by the Council from this company.

32. In responding to this part of Mr Cameron's request, the Council did provide him with an explanation as to why it did not hold any information relating to the selection/tendering process for the purchases it made from Fischer Racquetline Limited. The Council explained that the purchases from Fischer Racquetline Limited were not subject to the Council's selection/tendering process and why this was the case. The Council also explained that it did not hold any information to show that the purchases made from this company were in line with its Sustainable Purchasing Policy as the purchases in question were concluded prior to the Sustainable Purchasing Policy being agreed.

33.I understand from reading the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy that although this came into effect in 2005, prior to this there was an interim Sustainable Purchasing Policy which was in effect from September 2001.In its submissions to my Office the Council explained that although the interim policy was in place at the time that the purchases were made from Fischer Racquetline Limited, this policy would not have any effect on the purchase of goods where there was only one supplier (as in the case of Fischer Racquetline Limited).

34. Having taken into consideration the submissions and other relevant information provided by the Council, I accept that it has provided what information it can by way of explanation in responding to this part of Mr Cameron's request, and that no further information is held on this.

35. Responding to his request for information relating to the company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited, the Council made reference to a response it had made to a previous FOI request of Mr Cameron's . The Council claimed that this previous response had provided Mr Cameron with company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited, although he argued that the details supplied were those of a different company.

36. When my investigating officer asked the Council to confirm whether it held any information in relation to the company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited, it argued that the Education Service believed it had provided what information it could, given that this company had been taken over by another company approximately four years ago (and it had provided Mr Cameron with trading details for this other company). 

37. In a further submission, the Council explained that it did not hold any information as to the trading address or the VAT registration number for Fischer Racquetline Limited. The Council advised that after Fischer Racquetline ceased to be the sole importer of Fischer products, Huntly Nordic Ski Centre no longer had any interest in the company. Having considered the Council's most recent submission along with all other relevant information, I accept this to be the case.

38. Having considered the information which the Council provided to Mr Cameron in response to his request and request for a review, together with the most recent submission from the Council, I appreciate that the Council was seeking to be helpful in providing Mr Cameron with details of the trader who took over from Fischer Racquetline Limited. However, I do not consider that the information that the Council has given to Mr Cameron was sufficient to fulfill his request, as it related to a completely different company. It is my view that the Council should have explained to Mr Cameron that it was seeking to rely on section 17 of FOISA in respect of this information, as it did not hold any information (at the time of his request) concerning the trading address and VAT registration number of the trader concerned.

39.I am therefore not satisfied that the Council responded properly to Mr Cameron's request for company information for Fischer Racquetline Limited as it should have issued Mr Cameron with a notice under section 17 of FOISA to the effect that the information was not held.
Request for a copy of the Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy"

40. Mr Cameron also requested a copy of the Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy".

41. In responding to this part of Mr Cameron's request, the Council advised him that it had provided him with a paper copy of this policy previously. However, it did also provide Mr Cameron with a link which he could use to access this policy via the Council's website.

42. Having accessed the Council website using the link provided I am satisfied that this does provide access to the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy.

43. I understand from reading Mr Cameron's appeal to me that he is concerned that he is not being given access to the whole Sustainable Purchasing Policy. Mr Cameron is of this view as he believes that information which was quoted to him in response to a previous FOI request, which concerned when the Council should seek tenders for purchases. He understood that this information should be contained within the Sustainable Purchasing Policy, but he was unable to find it in the document he was directed to.

44. From considering the submissions that have been provided to me by the Council, together with accessing the Sustainable Purchasing Policy via the website link given, I am satisfied that Mr Cameron has been supplied with the Sustainable Purchasing Policy which he specifically asked for in his information request.

45. It is my understanding that the information which Mr Cameron considered should be in the Sustainable Purchasing Policy is actually information which may be recorded in another document or set of documents held by the Council, possibly its standing orders or financial regulations. I also understand from the Council (and am satisfied from its submissions) that it does not have a "Procurement Policy".

46. As indicated at paragraph 42 above, I am satisfied that Mr Cameron has been provided with a copy of the Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy and that this fulfils the fifth part of his request to the Council. Although it is clear from his appeal to me that Mr Cameron was seeking something more than this he did not convey this in his request or his request for a review. Therefore, I accept that the Council has responded fully to the fifth part of Mr Cameron's information request.

Decision

I find that Aberdeenshire Council partially complied with Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in responding to the information request made by Mr Cameron.

I find that Aberdeenshire Council did respond adequately to the first part of Mr Cameron's fourth point and fully to his fifth point. 

However, I find that in failing to either provide Mr Cameron with the information that it held or a notice under section 16 of FOISA in relation to the information he had requested under the first three points of his information request ,, the Council did not comply with Part 1 of FOISA.I find that the Council was wrong to rely on section 17 of FOISA in respect of the information requested in these first three points..

I therefore require Aberdeenshire Council to reconsider the first three points of Mr Cameron's request and to respond to these in line with Part 1 of FOISA, other than by a notice under section 17.I require Aberdeenshire Council to do this within 45 days of receipt of this notice.

In relation to the second part of Mr Cameron's fourth point, I find that the Council failed to comply with Part 1 (and in particular section 1(1)) of FOISA in providing him with information which did not in fact meet the terms of that part of the request. I find that the appropriate response to that part of the request would have been to give Mr Cameron notice that the information was not held in terms of section 17 of FOISA. Having reached that conclusion, however, I do not consider it necessary to require the Council to take any further action in that connection.

Appeal

Should either Mr Cameron or Aberdeenshire Council wish to appeal against this decision, there is an appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation of this decision notice.
Kevin Dunion
Scottish Information Commissioner
15 January 2008

22 Jan 08 Full Response by Ian Cameron to Decision 004/2008 by the Scottish Information Commissioner

Facts of the Scottish Information Commissioners Findings Summarised

· Aberdeenshire Council considered request for information to be vexatious and refused to comply with it.

· Aberdeenshire Council Review Panel re-considered that request was not vexatious and required Council to reconsider again.

· After consideration, Aberdeenshire Council stated it did not hold information relying on Section 17 of FOI Act and claimed it had already provided information... when it hadn’t.

· For 1st 3 points listed in the information request the Scottish Information Commissioner, Kevin Dunion was not satisfied that Section 17 had been used properly.

· 2nd part 4th point that the Council did not provide a suitable answer and should have relied on Section 17 of FOI Act... but didn’t

· Aberdeenshire Council did respond adequately to 1st part of 4th point and fully to the 5th point.

Initial Denial of Statutory Rights

Aberdeenshire Council at the beginning of this part of the investigation did everything it could to frustrate my attempts to access information, directly denying my statutory rights under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, making false claim that my requests were vexatious.

Instruction to Reconsider 1st of 3 Points

In the 1st of 3 points detailed... Aberdeenshire Council relied on Section 17 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, stating that it did not have the information requested.

1st Point Question 27 Oct 06 – “How many local businesses supplying any department within Aberdeenshire Council over the last 7 years with goods and services, have/are operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members (full or part time staff?.”
In the very first FOI response of 26 Sep 06 ACE 31113 to Ian Cameron, Aberdeenshire Council supplied details of Aberdeenshire Council employee Roy Young’s business ‘Tout Tele’ providing 2x Invoices (1x Supply of Roller Skis 1x supply 2 Used Mountain Bikes).

Both of these items were then provided to employee Roy Young’s place of work being also an Instructor at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre.

This was information that Kevin Dunion already knew (based on my submissions to him), and Kevin Dunion’s instruction to Aberdeenshire Council to reconsider their response was made with knowledge that Aberdeenshire Council had lied to him claiming firstly that:

08 Dec 06 ACE 74428 “You asked for details of businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff members that have supplied Aberdeenshire Council with goods and services during the past 7 years. You also asked for copies of line manager approval where such arrangements are in place, the names of the businesses concerned, and details of the goods and services supplied. We have undertaken a full search for the information you have requested and I can confirm that we do not hold any recorded information relating to these three points.”
... and then claiming that Section 17 subsequently applied to Kevin Dunion’s investigation – stating it did not hold that information !

This is one of a catalogue of serious breaches in public confidence and an example that Aberdeenshire Council are prepared to lie to Kevin Dunion directly to mislead his investigation into the facts of the case at hand.

Kevin Dunion rightly interprets my determination to discover how many other Aberdeenshire Council employees were in a position to re-supply their place of work within Aberdeenshire Council, and how many may also be able to offload their second hand Used Mountain Bikes to their employer and place of work.

Instruction to Reconsider 2nd of 3 Points

In the 2nd of 3 points detailed... Aberdeenshire Council rely on Section 17 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, stating that it did not have the information requested.

2nd Point Question 27 Oct 06 – “Provide copies of written line manager approval where such arrangements are in place?”
Aberdeenshire Council state to Kevin Dunion’s investigation, that it does not hold this information and that Section 17 applies...

It states in each Aberdeenshire Council employee’s contract, that:

02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 - “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. There are no other documents that refer to Aberdeenshire Council’s policy with respect to employees owning and operating private businesses.”
So what Aberdeenshire Council claim by quoting Section 17 is that employee Roy Young did not require certified “Line Manager Approval” to supply equipment to his place of work... but admit by default, that employee’s (including Roy Young) at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre directly broke their contract of employment with Aberdeenshire Council by undertaking work on their own behalf which directly conflicted with their paid employment, impaired their performance and involved use of knowledge and information concerning Council business to manipulate Council contracts to their own self advantage.

What Aberdeenshire Council also identify is a failure in its policies:

“The Council has no process within the relevant department (Education and Recreation Service) for line manager approval being granted when purchasing items of equipment from companies owned or influenced by Aberdeenshire Council employees and that no record was held”
Kevin Dunion does recognise however, from the information supplied by Aberdeenshire Council that, a number of services, including Personnel, do retain copies of line manager approvals, where an employee has been granted approval to carry out their own business at the same time as being a Council employee.... and instructs the Council to comply with this part of my request.

Instruction to Reconsider 3rd of 3 Points

In the 3rd of 3 points detailed... Aberdeenshire Council rely on Section 17 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, stating that it did not have the information requested.

2nd Point Question 27 Oct 06 – “Name the businesses and give full details of what was supplied?”
Aberdeenshire Council state to Kevin Dunion’s investigation, that it does not hold this information and that Section 17 applies... despite having already named 1 supplier... Aberdeenshire Council employee, Roy Young’s ‘Tout Tele’, in the very first FOI response of 26 Sep 06 ACE 31113.

Again Aberdeenshire Council attempt to mislead Kevin Dunion’s investigation and again Kevin Dunion already knows this fact and recognises that Aberdeenshire Council are blatantly lying to him... but accepts that I hold this information and instructs Aberdeenshire Council that they will not be required to supply it again.

What Kevin Dunion does recognise is, that it was clear from submissions made by Aberdeenshire Council that a number of services including Personnel, do retain copies of line manager approvals where an employee has been granted approval to carry out their own business at the same time as being a Council employee...

As a result of this he does not uphold Aberdeenshire Council’s reliance on Section 17... and instructs them to reconsider the request.

Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement Policy

27 Oct 06 Question 5 - “Please provide a full copy of Aberdeenshire Council’s ‘Sustainable Purchasing Policy/Procurement Policy’”
Aberdeenshire Council provide 1 Policy document... the Sustainable Purchasing Policy” dated 10 Nov 05. Kevin Dunion recognises that I was concerned that I was not being given the full Procurement Policy...

... and this is the reason why...

When I first asked about details of the Procurement Policy on 04 Nov 05 ACE/32775, I asked for…

Question 4. Details of the tendering process that procured the Mountain Bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Ski’s purchased between January and March 2004, with the help of funding from the Big Lottery Fund (formerly the New Opportunities Fund).  If written details of the tendering process in this instance are not available please can you confirm that these purchases were made in accordance with documented Council tendering policy and with proper authority? 

I received the following answer on ACE/32775 02 Dec 05...

Answer 3.You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.
… I should have been supplied with written quotations… and Aberdeenshire Council also confirm that I should have with their answer above… but I wasn’t… I was given a vague reply and told that the Council does not have to comply with a request which is a repeat request
02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 Answer 4. You asked for details of the tendering process that procured the Mountain Bikes, Rollerblades and Roller Skis purchased between January and March 2004. I provided you with details of the procurement process for these items of equipment in my letter of 14 October 2005. Under the terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act, Aberdeenshire Council is not required to comply with a request for information that is a repeated request. I can confirm that the purchases were made in accordance with Aberdeenshire Council procurement policy and with proper authority.
The information I was given in the past was only the Invoices for the equipment, therefore not a repeat request. I should have been given the two written quotations to show ‘best value’ as stated in the Council’s procurement policy detailed in 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775…
I asked again on 14 Jul 06 about the procurement of equipment relative to the answer given to me ACE/32775 02 Dec 05:

“With reference to Aberdeenshire Council (AC) procurement policy… can you provide me with the following information relative to the “Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property” dated 31st March 2005 located at AC Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre. 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed below (submitted to AC during the procurement/tendering process)”
And get the following, now contradictory answer on the ACE/62286 08 Aug 06:
“In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose. In order to provide you with the information you are looking for, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have complied the following list, which contains formal records augmented by the recollection of officers.”
... this answer shocks me, as it bears no relation to the quotation from the Procurement Policy given on 02 Dec 05... it is very clear to me that these statements are taken directly from a Procurement Policy... not something made up on a whim... a guidance document for employees in positions where they are required to purchase equipment on behalf of Aberdeenshire Council...

... yet Aberdeenshire Council have tried to mislead me... again!

I therefore legitimately challenge this reply with another FOI request... made on 17 Aug 06...

“Point 1 I’d like to draw your attention to Point 3… information given to me on 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775… “Point 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.” You have now quoted the following legislation to me 08 Aug 06 in ACE/62286… “In terms of the Council’s financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender.  In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.  In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements.  Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure goods are the most fit for purpose.” When I wrote my FOI request 14 Jul 06, I was making reference to the information Aberdeenshire Council provided 02 Dec 05 ACE/23775… I am aware that this year in 2006, the change was made that written tender would be required for sums above £10,000 and not the higher £60,000 limit. Therefore you have misled my request for information, applying revised legislation, to the procurement of items made prior to 2006. It was clearly defined in the Procurement Policy given to me 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 that for sums under £60,000, “Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.” My question doesn’t ask for a waffle about “Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products etc etc”… I have asked simply for… 1. ‘All’ competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property dated 31st March 2005 submitted to Aberdeenshire Council during the procurement/tendering process) Therefore, I would be grateful if you could please supply an answer to this question and relate it to all items mentioned in the ‘Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property’. If Officer’s have not obtained written quotations, despite being stated as a requirement for procurement under £60,000, please say so and explain why.”

“Point 2. In relation to the purchase of Ski Boots and Skis, which you previously queried, you are correct to point out that there are differences between the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property dated 31 March 2005, and Appendix 1 of my response to you on 8 August 06. I apologise that the differences weren’t clearly highlighted in my earlier response. The Appendix 1 provided on 8 August 06 related to specific purchases made between 2003 and 2004 as part of the Big Lottery Fund project. In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service. Most of the ski equipment has a finite life of between 2 – 3 years, dependant on usage and wear, after which it is normally sold on to help subsidise the cost of replacement stock. The stock recorded in the Inventory will therefore be an accumulation of several years of purchases, including equipment which was inherited from Grampian Regional Council’s former Outdoor Education service.  Unfortunately, we have very limited records of historical equipment purchases. We do not hold any additional information relating to the purchases of the equipment listed in your email of 14 July 06.”
I make my point clearly...

I thoroughly question the 2 previous conflicting answers regarding Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement Policy on 08 Aug 06… ...and get the following reply below on ACE/62286 27 Sep 06... 

The 3rd answer now given by Aberdeenshire Council says the Policy is not defined by legislation and they now say…
“1 For estimated values of over £60,000, formal tender documents should be issued to approved tenderers. 2 For estimated values of between £10,000 and £60,000, competitive quotations must be obtained in writing from at least two parties. 3. For estimated values of less than £10,000, (prior to 23 February 2006 the amount was less than £5,000), neither formal tenders or written quotations are required if: a) The goods or materials are only sold at fixed prices, and no satisfactory alternative is available; b) prices are controlled by trade organizations; or c) The purchase of goods could constitute an extension of an existing contract; or d) There would be no genuine competition.”
They quote here “Sums below £10,000 do not need to go for written tender”.
They then say the following…

“All the equipment purchases relating to the Huntly Nordic and Outdoor Centre were for less than £5,000 and would fall into one of the categories listed above.”
In the next paragraph they exhibited extreme incompetence by contradicting what they’ve just said about the value of purchases in Point 2!…
“In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service.”
To mislead on different FOI replies is one thing… but to blatantly provide misleading information one paragraph later in the same document just has me at a loss for words.

Again, I have only been provided with an excerpt from Aberdeenshire Council’s Procurement Policy and not the Policy itself, so I can’t check on the information for myself. The document I want to see, is the document that was in place when the 265 ski’s and boots were bought for the Ski Centre listed on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre dated March 2005.

I’ve asked for Procurement Policy information 3 times… and have now received a different answer 3 times… and have never been provided with the Procurement Policy document itself, where all the previous quotations above would have come from.

I ask directly for a copy of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy / Procurement Policy on 27 Oct 06 in FOI Request #8… and again the Procurement Policy was withheld… why?

Breakdown of the 2nd Part of Point 4
Having initially asked for the trading address and VAT number of Aberdeenshire Council Supplier ‘Fischer Racquetline Limited’ on 17 Aug 06...

“Question: 5 In the suppliers you have mention in Appendix 1… can you provide me with the following information… Their trading postal address and VAT Registration Number… this information should be on the receipts and is not sensitive to the Data Protection Act… Fischer Racquetline Ltd, Salomon Taylor Made Ltd”
Aberdeenshire Council reply with this answer:

“Answer Point 5. The addresses and VAT numbers of the two suppliers listed in your email are: Fischer - imported by Thin Ice Sports Limited (who took over from Fischer Racquet Line Ltd as UK Agents approximately
three to four years ago) Address: 9 Elliot Road, Colinton, Edinburgh, EH14 1DU Fischer’s Austrian equivalent of VAT No: ATU 23712800 Salomon GB Address: Jays Close, Viables Business Park, Basingstoke, Hampshire RE22 4PS VAT Registration No: GB 262824162”
What Aberdeenshire Council do here is to suggest that Thin Ice Sports address at 9 Elliot Road, Colinton, Edinburgh. EH14 1DU is the business address of Fischer Racquetline Limited... and they also try to suggest that the Fischer Austrian equivalent VAT No. ATU 23712800 is the VAT No. of Fischer Racquetline Limited.

It is clear what my request for information is... and it is clear that Aberdeenshire Council have tried to completely mislead me (with intent), with the answer.

I again asked for details of Fischer Racquetline Limited on 27 Oct 06 along with information on the selection and tendering process:

“Question Point 4. Please provide full details of the selection/tendering process and company information on supplier 'Fischer Racquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". (Reference Order # 751449 (24 Oct 03 / 20 Jan 04) and Order #415237 (24 Oct 03).”
.. and get the following reply from Aberdeenshire Council ACE/74428...

“Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002  - (“The Act”) Vexatious Request Notice I refer to your email of 27 October 2006, requesting details of local businesses operated by Aberdeenshire Council staff, copies of line manager approval where such arrangements are in place, details of the businesses and goods provided, further information relating to Fischer Raquetline Limited, and a full copy of Aberdeenshire’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy. Take Notice, that Aberdeenshire Council is not obliged to comply with your requests, in respect that the following section of the Act applies in the circumstances:-  Section 14 - Vexatious or repeated requests  XE "Vexatious or repeated requests" “(1) Section 1(1)
 does not oblige a Scottish public authority to comply with a request for information if the request is vexatious. (2) Where a Scottish public authority has complied with a request from a person for information, it is not obliged to comply with a subsequent request from that person which is identical or substantially similar unless there has been a reasonable period of time between the making of the request complied with and the making of the subsequent request.” We claim that section 14 applies because extensive information pertaining to the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre and the Centre’s suppliers, Aberdeenshire Council’s policy regarding Council staff owning and operating private businesses, and Aberdeenshire Council’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy has already been made available to you.  Your original Freedom of Information request, ACW/31113, dated 31 August 2005, sought “a full and complete list of all items purchased by Aberdeenshire Council for Huntly Nordic Ski Club (Aberdeenshire), for equipment procured through a company called ‘Tout Tele’ operated by Roy Young”, and we gave a response to this. We note that since then we have received a further five Freedom of Information enquiries from you, all directly relating to the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre, staff employed there and equipment supplied to the Centre.  This series of requests for every last detail of the workings of the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre is now intrusive and disruptive to the workings of the Centre, which is a very small business unit. Further, your persistent requests have the effect of harassing the Centre and its staff, and carry a disproportionate resource burden for the Council. Although the Act does not explicitly limit the sort of information which can be requested, or the people who can make requests, it is not in the public interest for resources to be devoted to answering requests imposing disproportionate burdens on public authorities. In all the circumstances, it appears to us that you are using the Act to vindicate a long-standing grievance against the Huntly Nordic Ski & Outdoor Centre in general, and one member of its staff in particular.  It is not in the public interest that this continue. We do not invoke Section 14 lightly, but we are satisfied in the circumstances that your continuing requests are vexatious. If you are dissatisfied with the way in which we have dealt with your request, you may require Aberdeenshire Council to review its actions and/or decisions.  Details of the procedure are attached. Yours sincerely David Wright Recreation Manager Education & Recreation  Section 1(1) reads: “A person who requests information from a Scottish public authority which holds it is entitled to be given it by the authority.”
I request a review of the decision on 14 Nov 06...

“FOI Review Panel Request… Applicants Name and Address, Ian Cameron. Dear Mr Nicol In light of the content/subject matter of previous FOI Questions and Answers made during last 14 months between myself and Aberdeenshire Council, I am writing to request a review of the recent reply made, with respect to my request for information detailed on ACE 74428. I do not agree that my requests for information have been vexatious and do believe that I have legitimate interest in receiving a full answer to my questions. I would be grateful if you could forward my application for assessment to the Review Panel at Aberdeenshire Council. Please find below a copy of the original information requested. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron”
The Review Panel evaluate my request on 23 Nov 06 and find that my request ACE/74428 was not vexatious and direct the Education and Recreation Service to reconsider my request.

I receive an answer on 08 Dec 06
“Answer Point 4 You asked for details of the selection/tendering process and company details for our supplier 'Fischer Racquetline Limited' in line with Aberdeenshire Council's Sustainable Purchasing Policy. The company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited (taken over by Thin Ice Sports Limited approx 4 years ago) were sent to you in response to a previous request for information on 27 September 2006. Purchases from Fischer Racquetline Limited were not subject to a selection/tendering process as the company is the sole UK agent for Fischer goods. In addition, we do not hold any information to show how the purchases were in line with the Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing policy because the purchases you refer to were made in 2003/04. The Aberdeenshire Council Sustainable Purchasing Policy was agreed in November 2005.”
I asked for Company Information of Fischer Racquetline Limited... Aberdeenshire Council again claim “The company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited (taken over by Thin Ice Sports Limited approx 4 years ago) were sent to you in response to a previous request for information on 27 September 2006” and I again am misled, do not receive the trading address and VAT No., again being told for a second time that Fischer Racquetline Limited was the sole UK agent for Fischer goods... (this point will be exposed below in Breakdown of the 1st Part of Point 4).

There is one key point about this answer 08 Dec 06 other than their attempt to mislead... and that it is Aberdeenshire Council claim that the selection and tendering process was made in line with Aberdeenshire Council’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy... purchases from Fischer Racquetline Limited were detailed to have been made on 24 Oct 03 (Order #751449 #415237) and 20 Jan 04 (Order #751449)...

Crucially... the deception and intent to mislead both myself and Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner is completed by Aberdeenshire Council because the date of the Sustainable Purchasing Policy is 10 Nov 05 !...

... therefore Aberdeenshire Council tried to consciously deceive by suggesting a document written 24 months after the purchase of equipment was applicable... Specific mention of the “buy local policy” in the purchase of 23 Mountain Bikes on 08 Aug 06 ACE/62286 is made (bought 21 Nov 03)... this is at the same time purchases from Fischer Racquetline Limited were made according to Appendix 1, therefore, they suggest by this, that the buy local policy was applicable to both Fischer equipment and 23 Mountain Bikes.

“Answer Point 8 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant) The most recent purchases came from the local shop Changing Gear, based upon several criteria - value for money, the ability to offer a service contract and buy local policy.  Originally a budget of £4400 was set for 10 bikes, given previous history of buying cheaper bikes, which do not stand up to the punishment.  However, on speaking to Changing Gear and buying end of year ranges, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre were able to buy 23 bikes in total, (Appendix 1)”
I ask about this Buy Local Policy 17 Aug 06...

“Question Point 4 You state in the ACE/62286 reply, that Aberdeenshire Council has a “buy local” policy… can you supply me with the written text of the policy given to all Officer’s that confirms this.”
And get the following answer on 27 Sep 06 ACE/62286 telling me that the ‘buy local policy’ is part of, and is implicit to the Council’s Sustainable Purchasing Policy... dated 10 Nov 05 !
“Answer Point 4. The Aberdeenshire Council's buy local policy is part of, and is implicit to the Council's Sustainability Purchasing Policy, of which I enclose a copy and the Website link. Purchasing goods and services from local suppliers is supported by this Policy, which can be viewed at: www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/green/sustainable_purchasing.pdf “
This validates without doubt that Aberdeenshire Council were lying on 27 Sep 06... again... and that they even were incompetent enough to acknowledge that lie in their reply of 08 Dec 06 !

It is this deception which leads back to the initial response by Aberdeenshire Council to cover-up the truth and frustrate and break the Laws of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 by serving Section 14 notice on me stating I was vexatious depriving me of my statutory rights to receive details of the selection and tendering process of Fischer Racquetline Limited.

Failure in the Acceptance of Information About Fischer Racquetline Limited

One failure in Kevin Dunions investigation was to accept Aberdeenshire Councils answer that:

“Point 37 of Decision 004/2008 “The Council advised that after Fischer Racquetline Limited ceased to be the sole importer of Fischer products, Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre no longer had any interest in the company. Having considered the Council’s most recent submission along with all the relevant information, I accept this to be the case”
What was overlooked here in this acceptance again was the answer given on 14 Oct 05 ACE/32775

“There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre.”
(This point is discussed in the next section below)

The crucial error in Kevin Dunion’s acceptance of this answer is the oversight that proper financial records must be retained by law for 7 years... and due to this obligation in Law... Aberdeenshire Council must have had the Invoices submitted by Fischer Racquetline Limited and therefore the company details requested trading address and VAT number.

Therefore Aberdeenshire Council lied again to Kevin Dunion and the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner on this point.

Breakdown of the 1st Part of Point 4 and Conclusion to Decision 004/2008 Case No. 200700820

Aberdeenshire Council did not answer the first part of point 4 adequately... they stated to Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner, that Fischer Racquetline Limited was not subject to a selection process because it was the sole UK agent for Fischer goods (Ref: ACE 74428)...

... but what Aberdeenshire Council forgot when it gave this answer... and the Scottish Information Commission overlooked, was the answer given by Aberdeenshire Council in FOI request ACE 32775...

... In this answer, Aberdeenshire Council state:

“The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”
... So what this proves is... Aberdeenshire Council lied directly to Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner to cover up the fact that employee Roy Young’s Tout Tele had the supply agreement for Fischer and that employee Roy Young’s business would be subject to the selection process.

What is now crucial to reveal in this investigation is the following fact... 
Fischer Racquetline Limited is a fictitious company created by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead an investigation into bias, corruption and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts to supply equipment by Aberdeenshire Council employees raising requisitions and directing those purchase orders into their own businesses, (which they operate from Council premises), to subsequently re-supplying their place of work.

Point of fact: The current distributor for Fischer is a company called Thin Ice Sports based in Edinburgh... it’s predecessor was a company called Mast-Co Limited based in Reading.

This intentional falsehood to mislead Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner is as severe as it gets. What we now have, is an example of a Scottish Local Authority, Aberdeenshire Council, exhibiting complete disregard for the Law, showing absolute disrespect to the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner.

There is a clear demonstration that a culture of secrecy still exists despite the aspirations of the spirit of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 to encourage openness, transparency and accountability within Public Bodies...

A comprehensive report has been completed, which will be submitted to Audit Scotland in due course. It details a litany of damning allegations about the bias, corruption and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts by employees and the subsequent attempt at a ‘cover-up’ by senior officials at Aberdeenshire Council who doctored information.

This matter of corruption is so serious that the former 7 year Director of the Law and Administration Department and current Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council Alan G. Campbell CBE position is untenable as the person directly responsible for the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 at Aberdeenshire Council.

With this complete loss of credibility, extensive reputational damage and absolute loss in Public confidence... there is no other option available to Chief Executive Alan G. Campbell CBE but to tender his resignation with immediate effect.

(Hyperlink - Click here to Internet Access All Documents Referred to in this Report)
22 Jan 08 Response by Aberdeenshire Council to Decision 004/2008 by the Scottish Information Commissioner to Ian Cameron

Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer to Ian... Our Ref FOI/1AN/CK... Dear Mr Cameron... Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 – Request for Information ACE/74428 – Scottish Information Commissioner’s Decision 004/2008... I refer to your request for information ACE/74428 dated 27 October 2006 which was the subject of the Scottish Information Commissioner’s Decision Notice 004/2008. Please find enclosed the Council’s formal response to the Commissioner’s Decision Notice. Yours Sincerely Alastair Nicol
Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer to Ian... Our Ref ACE/74428... Dear Mr Cameron... Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (“The Act”) – I refer to your request for information ACE/74428 dated 27 October 2006, which was the subject to the Scottish Information Commissioner’s Decision Notice 004/2008. Your original request contained five specific points. The Commissioner did not require the Council to take any further action in relation to points 4 and 5. However, the Commissioner required the Council to reconsider its response to your first three points. You have already been given information relating to Mr Roy Young and his company Tout Tele, and the Commissioner did not require this to be sent to you again. After a full search of all Council services, the Directors have provided me with responses and information which I believe falls within the terms of your request. I attach a schedule of documents listing the information provided. Strictly speaking Item 5.1 falls out with the scope of the request as it was issued after the date of your original enquiry, but I have included it for completeness as it was referred to in the Director of transportation and Infrastructure’s response. I confirm that this is all the information the Council has relating to your request. Please contact me as the officer responsible for responding to your request if you have any further queries. If, for any reason, you are not satisfied with this response, please refer to the information attached. Yours sincerely Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer, Law and Administration.
(Click Here to View - Schedule of Documents)
(Click Here to View - 1 Director Finance Response)
(Click Here to View - 2 Director Housing & Social Work Response)
(Click Here to View - 3 Director Personnel & ICT Response)
(Click Here to View - 4 Director Planning & Environmental Services Response)
(Click Here to View - 5 Director Transportation & Infrastructure Response)
Analysis of Aberdeenshire Council’s 22 Jan 08 Answer to Decision 004/2008

It states in Roy’s letter attached to response 3 from the Director of Personnel and ICT that he is employed as a Ski Instructor at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, that he buys and sell ski equipment relating to cross country skiing and that he does this to enable the Junior Ski Team to access the equipment...
30 Oct 02 “Dear Kate, As you know I have been a keen cross country skier for a number of years. During the winter months, I often teach through the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. This involves me being employed by the council as a Ski Instructor. I also buy and sell some equipment relating to cross country skiing, to enable the junior ski team to access the equipment. I also rent out 2 small holiday cottages for my family. This has been inherited from my father-in-law as he feels he can no longer continue to do this. As these activities are not related to my main employment I hope I can continue to do them Sincerely Roy Young.”

... he also states that what he is doing here are not related to his main employment and that he hopes he can continue to do them...

Contradictory to this... the Director of Personnel and ICT states that what Roy Young is doing is related to his employment – he buys and sells ski equipment and has sold equipment to the Education, Learning and Leisure Service...
“Roy Young, Development and Training Manager, operates Tout Tele which buys and sells ski equipment and has sold equipment to the Education, Learning and Leisure Service”
This is confirmed in ACE/32775...
“The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment.”
Now that this has been corroborated by the Director of the department, what the Director admits is, that employee Roy Young has broken the terms of his employee contract. In the letter of acceptance for outside work from Kate Gibson, Roy Young claims “As these activities are not related to my main employment I hope I can continue to do them”
Kate Gibson states on 06 Nov 02...

“These external activities are acceptable and I wish you well with your ventures!”
Employee contracts state...
02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 - “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. There are no other documents that refer to Aberdeenshire Council’s policy with respect to employees owning and operating private businesses.”
My question is… what does this say about the effectiveness and competence of the Director of Personnel and ICT? He recognises that Council rules are being broken… but it appears that this is acceptable?

The additional problem is… now Aberdeenshire Council confirm employee Roy Young’s business has sold ski equipment to Education, Learning and Leisure Service... why have they withheld details of the ski equipment?... they have only admitted to Tout Tele selling Roller Ski’s and Used Mountain Bikes... and it has to be remembered that Aberdeenshire Council have also stated Roy Young’s business is operated from Council premises... and that he also uses that address for delivery’s from Tout Tele suppliers Salomon and Fischer...
14 Oct 05 ACE/32775 “The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”
If this is the case, that Nordic Ski Equipment has been sold to the Centre by employee’s company Tout Tele, then Kevin Dunion’s decision in Point 29 of 004/2008 has failed to address Aberdeenshire Council withholding this information... and Aberdeenshire Council are not required to detail the ‘Invoices and Receipts’ for ski equipment that they have continued to withhold, doing everything they can to prevent the release of this information.

Kevin Dunion accepted Aberdeenshire Council on their word, that they had answered the question in ACE/31113... when Aberdeenshire Council hadn’t supplied all the information... Misfortunately, Kevin Dunion by deciding this... lets Aberdeenshire Council off the hook...
Decision 004/2008 “29.Taking into account the response made by the Council to a previous FOI request (ACW 31113) that was submitted by Mr Cameron, however, I am satisfied that the Council has already disclosed information which would address the third part of Mr Cameron's request in respect of goods supplied by one particular business, and that this information remains in his possession. As a consequence of this I do not require the Council to consider this particular information for this one company again.”
Roy Young’s Letter Dated 30 Oct 02... 
What’s incredible about Roy Young’s letter asking for permission from his Line Manager to operate his business, is the fact that he asks for permission on 30 Oct 02...

... but fails to realise, that he has already sold 2x Used Bikes to his place of work as an Instructor at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre on 02 Nov 01...

(Click Here to view - Invoice for 2x Used Mountain Bikes - 02 Nov 01)
Therefore, he had already been offloading old bikes to his place of work before receiving official permission from Aberdeenshire Council to operate his business in parallel to being an employee.
What’s also extraordinary is that, with equivocation, Roy Young lied to Kate Gibson when he asked for permission to operate Tout Tele... he was already operating it and supplying Aberdeenshire Council... but made the statement that operation of Tout Tele are not related to his main employment !
30 Oct 02 “Dear Kate, As you know I have been a keen cross country skier for a number of years. During the winter months, I often teach through the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. This involves me being employed by the council as a Ski Instructor. I also buy and sell some equipment relating to cross country skiing, to enable the junior ski team to access the equipment. I also rent out 2 small holiday cottages for my family. This has been inherited from my father-in-law as he feels he can no longer continue to do this. As these activities are not related to my main employment I hope I can continue to do them Sincerely Roy Young.”

Roy Young is clearly pre-conditioned to deceive Kate Gibson with intent.
Cancellation of Appeal to Court of Session to Defend Personal Data Decision 084/2006

What has now also been affected by the answer given by Aberdeenshire Council 22 Jan 08 to 004/2008, is the admission that Roy Young is named as an employee at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre... 
Aberdeenshire Council have employed external Lawyers Biggart & Baillie to represent and defend themselves at the Court of Session in Edinburgh precisely to withhold this information, risking considerable sums of Taxpayers money to do so... they exercised the use of the European Convention on Human Rights...
“03 Jul 06 It would offend Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, because the purpose of the limitations on the right to disclose personal data to a third party is to protect the data subject's right to privacy under that article (Directive 95/46/EC, preamble and Article 1.1; Osterreichischer Rundfunk and Others, 2003 EUECJ C138/01).”
... and that I should have been asked to prove that I have “legitimate interest” 

“The approach of the Commissioner gave no content to the requirement in question, whether for the purposes of requests under the 2002 Act or for the purposes of issues arising under the 1998 Act, as it is to the effect that any person seeking personal data necessarily has a legitimate interest in that information and would accordingly satisfy that requirement.”
Therefore, since Aberdeenshire Council now freely name their staff, (as they have done so, in response to Decision 004/2008)... they have no grounds to withhold the names of all the staff at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre named generically as being purchasers and operators of Roy Young’s private business Tout Tele during Council working hours.

“14 Oct 05 ACE32775 The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”
It has to be remembered that this is a breach in employee’s contracts of employment with Aberdeenshire Council...
02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 - “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. There are no other documents that refer to Aberdeenshire Council’s policy with respect to employees owning and operating private businesses.”
Again, this is a demonstration that Aberdeenshire Council are a secretive organisation where there is additionally a question of competence... as I reflect on the events of this case... I ask myself why am I being made to jump through hoops? And why are Taxpayers having to tolerate such a corrupt organisation?
Fraud and Another Senior Official Prepared to Put His Name Behind Fischer Racquetline Limited...
Under the definition in Aberdeenshire Council’s Policy – Strategy for the Prevention and Detection of Fraud and Corruption, another very senior official is prepared to back the submission of the fictitious Council supplier Fischer Racquetline Limited... Alastair Nicol Principal Committee Officer, Law and Administration.

The first person to submit Fischer Racquetline Limited to try and suggest this assumed company as an Aberdeenshire Council official supplier was David Wright, Recreation Manager.
Click Here to view - Council Strategy Detect Fraud & Corruption
“The Council regards “fraud” as when “someone is induced by a false pretence to do (or not do) something that they would not (or would) otherwise have done”, and also as when “actual or attempted intentional distortions of financial or other records are carried out, whether to conceal the misappropriation of assets or otherwise for personal gain”.”
The question I ask myself at this stage is... the longer Aberdeenshire Council try to cover up fraud and doctor information... the more serious they make this case against themselves... their culture of secrecy and corruption is their own enemy. 

It seems obvious to me that I may now have to make an additional referral to HM Revenue & Customs as I still have not received 1 single receipt or invoice for any pair of skis or boots held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and Aberdeenshire Council claim they hold no records despite the law stating they have to keep proper records for 7 years.
HM Revenue & Customs state:

 “falsification may be deliberately planned with the clear intention of deceiving and cheating HMRC by, for example, the omission, manipulation or invention of figures, or other records. This may require consideration by Special Civil Investigations (SCI), see EM0361 and even, possibly, the institution of criminal proceedings.”...
 (Click Here to view - HM Revenue and Customs – Penalties, Culpability, Fraud and Fraudulent Conduct)
The Fischer Racquetline case is more obvious... they claim they have no records of the company that apparently supplied 54 sets of skis detailed on Appendix 1... those purchases were apparently made 24 Oct 03 well inside the 7 year records period.
Click Here to view - Appendix 1
In Point 5 08 Aug 06 ACE/62286, Aberdeenshire Council admitted that they do not keep proper financial records...

“Point 5 138 Poles (Various), 39Roller Poles (Various) Appendix 2 shows a breakdown of poles ordered.  Other poles purchased previously by the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre are likely to have come from the same sole importer or, if another make, from the sole importer.  There are no records of these transactions as they are more than 5 years old and records are not normally retained after this period”.
The Law states... 

“the government, through agencies such as the HM Revenue & Customs (which deals with VAT), want to make sure they are collecting the necessary tax incurred by your business and they are entitled to inspect your financial records at any time, so it is essential that you take the time to maintain your records properly” 

What Aberdeenshire Council have been doing is being mendacious consistently... and doing it badly to prevent the release of information regarding internal corruption and manipulation of public funds by its employees.

22 Jan 08 Letter Alastair Nicol to Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission ... Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/CK - FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002 - REQUEST FOR INFORMATION ACE74428 - SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER'S DECISION 004/2008 - I refer to the Commissioner's Decision Notice 004/2008 and our subsequent telephone conversations on 21 January, 2008. I enclose a copy of the letter which I have sent to Mr Cameron in response to the Commissioner's instruction that the Council reconsider the first three points of Mr Cameron's request. I have not enclosed the actual papers which have been provided to Mr Cameron, as these were exactly the same papers which I sent to you in my letter of 11 October, 2007. I trust that this in an appropriate response to the Commissioner's instruction and I hope that this now concludes the investigation. Yours Sincerely Alastair Nicol, Clerk of Freedom of Information Review Panel

28 Jan 08 Letter from Jill Walker, Freedom of Information Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your ref ACE/74428… Dear Mr Cameron Application for Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Decision No: 004/2008... Application for Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Decision No: 004/2008 I refer to the letter from the Scottish Information Commissioner of 15 January 2008 enclosing his Decision Notice 004/2008 in relation to your application dated 27 October 2006. In order that I can ensure that this matter has been dealt with satisfactorily I should be obliged if you would confirm whether you have received the letter dated 22 January 2008, which Aberdeenshire Council sent out to you, in which it sought to address the first three points of your request for information, as required by the Commissioner's Decision Notice. Please advise me as to whether you have received this letter. I look forward to hearing from you by 4 February 2008. Many thanks Jill Walker
05 Feb 08 Letter from Jill Walker, Freedom of Information Officer, Scottish Information Commission to Ian… Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your ref ACE/74428… Dear Mr Cameron Compliance with Decision of Scottish Information Commissioner Decision No: 004/2008... I refer to previous correspondence in connection with the above and confirm that I have received evidence that Aberdeenshire Council has complied with the requirements of the Scottish Information Commissioner’s Decision 004/2008 of 15 January 2008. I have now closed my file and hope this has been a satisfactory conclusion to your application. Yours Sincerely Jill Walker.
05 Feb 08 Letter Jill Walker, Scottish Information Commission to Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700820/JW Your Ref: ACE/74428 – Dear Mr Campbell, Compliance with Decision of Scottish information Commissioner Decision No: 004/2008 - I refer to previous correspondence in connection with the above and confirm that I have received evidence that Aberdeenshire Council has complied with the requirements of the Scottish Information Commissioner's Decision 004/2008 of 15 January 2008. I have confirmed your authority's compliance with Mr lan Cameron and will now close my file. Yours Sincerely Jill walker Freedom of Information Officer

14 Feb 08 Arrange meeting at HM Revenue & Customs, Ruby House, Aberdeen to discuss my concerns about financial irregularities within Aberdeenshire Council with respect to the creation of fictitious company Fischer Racquetline Limited and that Aberdeenshire Council continue to claim to Kevin Dunion that it was a supplier that they have absolutely no records of despite by law being required to keep proper financial records for at least 7 years, the fact that Aberdeenshire Council can’t provide receipts for equipment detailed on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, the fact that staff are both operating and making purchases of equipment from colleague and fellow instructor Roy Young’s business Tout Tele, that the same staff are also in charge of maintaining the Inventory as well as making requisitions for equipment, condemning equipment at the Centre, purchasing equipment from and helping operate colleague Roy Young’s business Tout Tele, that employee Roy Young has set up supplier agreements with Salomon and Fischer using his employer Aberdeenshire Council’s address at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre and that Roy Young has submitted a VAT receipt to the Big Lottery for a grant of £5,000 where he was the Huntly Nordic Ski Club Treasurer grant applicant... subsequently directing £4,000 of that grant also into his own business charging £321 VAT on one receipt but failing to detail a 9 digit VAT number making it illegal, but as Treasurer of the Ski Club authorised to sign cheques and owner of Tout Tele, he’d be in a position where no one within the ski club would see it except himself.
15 Feb 08 Letter from Ian to The Director of Law and Administration, Aberdeenshire Council, Woodhill House, Westburn Road, Aberdeen AB16 5GB - Dear Sir /Madam, On 11th July 2006, I submitted a ‘Subject Access Request’ to Aberdeenshire Council, completing the official Aberdeenshire Council application form and enclosing the appropriate £10 fee. Andrew Lawson, Information & Security at the Personnel & ICT Department replied with a letter dated 14th July 2006 stating that Aberdeenshire Council’s, Data Protection Act 1998 ‘Subject Access Request’ form, had miraculously become a Freedom of Information request... and that this would be treated as such with my £10 fee returned... At this point I didn’t hear another word from any Department within Aberdeenshire Council... my Subject Access Request completely whitewashed. Take notice... I am now re-submitting a ‘Subject Access Request’ for all information held about me / or containing reference to my name as a statutory right under the Data Protection Act 1998. I have enclosed the completed application form including the according cheque for £10 and require full documentation to be sent to me within the 40 day time limit. I will recourse any breach of my statutory rights accordingly. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

18 Feb 08 Letter Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner to Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council Our Ref: 200700821/JW Your Ref: ACE/62286 RECORDED DELIVERY – Dear Mr Campbell, Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Applicant: lan Cameron - On 16 February 2007, Mr lan Cameron applied to me for a decision as to whether Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) breached Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in dealing with his request for information. Jill Walker carried out an investigation on my behalf. She has been in contact with Alastair Nicol during the investigation. I am writing to advise you that I have decided that Aberdeenshire Council partially failed to comply with Part 1 of FOISA in dealing with Mr Cameron's request for information. A copy of my Decision Notice is enclosed with this letter, but in summary I have found that Mr Cameron submitted a request for information on 14 July 2006 for various types of information concerning purchases which were recorded on a particular Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property, which he identified to the Council. The Council responded to Mr Cameron's request, and in doing so considered that it provided him with a response which addressed his request in full. Mr Came ran was not satisfied with the Council's response and so sought further information from them. Mr Cameron remained dissatisfied with the Council's response to his request and request for a review and so applied to me for a decision. Having carried out an investigation into Mr Cameron's appeal, I was satisfied that the Council was correct to rely on section 17 of FOISA in respect of the information that Mr Came ran requested at his second and third points. Although I was satisfied that the Council had sought to address the first point of Mr Cameron's request, I consider that it failed in its duty under section 15 of FOISA to give Mr Cameron a clear explanation of the operation of its Financial Regulations. I was satisfied however that the Council provided an appropriate response to the fourth point of Mr Cameron's information request concerning the "Buy Local Policy". I was not satisfied that the Council had responded to the fifth point of Mr Cameron's request appropriately, as it did not provide him with the trading address and VAT· number for one of the traders that you requested details of. I considered that the Council should have issued Mr Cameron with a notice under section 17 of FOISA that it did not hold the information that he was seeking; however I do not require the Council to take any action in respect of this. I also found that the Council should have provided Mr Cameron with a notice under section 17 of FOISA in respect of the sixth point in his information request. In order to comply fully with the terms of my decision, I require Aberdeenshire Council to provide information to Mr Cameron which will provide him with a further explanation regarding the operation of the Council's Financial Regulations, in particular how they are maintained and retained and their relevance to the subject matter of Mr Cameron's request. I require the Council to take these steps within 45 days from the date of this letter. Should Aberdeenshire Council fail to take the required steps to comply with the terms of the Decision Notice, I have the right to certify to the Court of Session that Aberdeenshire Council has failed to comply. The Court has the right to inquire into the matter and may deal with Aberdeenshire as if it had committed a contempt of court. Please contact Jill Walker to let her know when these steps have been carried out. Should either Aberdeenshire Council or Mr Cameron wish to contest my findings, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation (i.e. date of posting) of this letter. A copy of this Decision Notice will be made available on my website by 25 February 2008. 

18 Feb 08 – Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner to Ian... Our Ref: 200700821/JW Your Ref: ACE/62286... Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Public Authority: Aberdeenshire Council - I refer to your correspondence with Jill Walker in connection with your application for a decision by me. This relates to your dissatisfaction with the way in which Aberdeenshire Council dealt with your request for information. I have investigated your application and have decided that Aberdeenshire Council partially failed to comply with Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in dealing with your request. A copy of my Decision Notice is enclosed, but in summary I have found that you submitted an information request to Aberdeenshire Council on 14 July 2006 for various types of information concerning purchases which were recorded on a particular Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property, which you identified to the Council. The Council responded to your request, and in doing so considered that it provided you with a response which addressed your request in full. You were not satisfied with the Council's response and so sought further information from them. You remained dissatisfied with the Council's response to this request and request for a review and so applied to me for a decision. Having carried out an investigation into your appeal, I was satisfied that the Council was correct to rely on section 17 of FOISA in respect of the information that you requested at your second and third points. Although I was satisfied that the Council had sought to address the first point of your request, I consider that it failed in its duty under section 15 of FOISA to give you a clear explanation of the operation of its Financial Regulations. I was satisfied however that the Council provided an appropriate response to the fourth point of your information request concerning the "Buy Local Policy". I was not satisfied that the Council ha9 responded to the fifth point of your request appropriately, as it did not provide you with the trading address and VAT number for one of the traders you requested details of. I considered that the Council should have issued you with a notice under section 17 of FOISA that it did not hold the information that you were seeking however I do not require the Council to take any action in respect of this. I also found that the Council should have provided you with a notice under section 17 of FOISA in respect of the sixth point in your information request. I require Aberdeenshire Council to provide information to you which will provide you with a further explanation regarding the operation of the Council's Financial Regulations, in particular how they are maintained and retained and their relevance to the subject matter of your request. I require Aberdeenshire Council to take these steps within 45 days from the date of this letter. Should Aberdeenshire Council fail to take the required steps to comply with the terms of the Decision Notice I have the right to certify to the Court of Session that Aberdeenshire Council has failed to comply. The Court of Session can treat this failure as a contempt of court. Should either you or Aberdeenshire Council wish to contest my findings, there is a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation (i.e. date of posting) of this letter. I should be grateful if you would contact Jill Walker to let her know when Aberdeenshire Council has provided you with the information. A copy of the enclosed Decision Notice will be made available on my website by 25 February 2008. Yours Sincerely Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner
Decision 026/2008 Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council
Purchase of particular goods recorded in an inventory held by the Council
Applicant: Mr Ian Cameron
Authority: Aberdeenshire Council
Case number: 200700821
Decision Date: 18 February 2008

Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner

Information relating to the purchase of particular goods recorded in an inventory held by the Council – the Council responded to Mr Cameron's request by providing certain information but claimed that other information was not held – Commissioner upheld the Council's response generally but required certain action in relation to omissions and by way of advice and assistance Relevant Statutory Provisions and Other Sources
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) sections 1(1) (General entitlement); 8 (Requesting information); 10(1) (Time for compliance); 15 (Duty to provide advice and assistance); 17 (Notice that information is not held).

The full text of each of these provisions is reproduced in Appendix 1 to this decision. Appendix 1 forms part of this decision.

Facts Mr Cameron submitted a request to Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) for various types of information concerning purchases which were recorded on a particular Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property, which he identified to the Council. The Council responded to Mr Cameron's request by releasing information to him, which it considered addressed his request in full. Mr Cameron was not satisfied with this response from the Council, and so sought clarification on some of the responses which had been made by the Council. The Council subsequently provided a response to these points of clarification. Mr Cameron remained dissatisfied with this further response from the Council and submitted a request for a review of the responses which the Council had made to his points of clarification. The Council carried out a review and, as a result, notified Mr Cameron that it had answered his request in full and that all information had been provided to him. Mr Cameron remained dissatisfied and applied to the Commissioner for a decision. Following an investigation, the Commissioner found that the Council had provided full and adequate responses to certain parts of the request and correctly claimed that information which would address these parts was otherwise not held. He also found, however, that the Council had failed to respond to other parts of the request. As a consequence, the Commissioner required the Council to respond to those parts and (under its duty to advise and assist) to provide information to Mr Cameron which would give him a further explanation regarding the operation of its Financial Regulations.

Background
1. On 14 July 2006, Mr Cameron wrote to the Council to request the following information with reference to a particular Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property which he identified to the Council. All competitive written quotations for the pre-purchase of each item detailed below (submitted to the Council during the procurement / tendering process) Detail who the successful supplier was for each item detailed below:
Provide all receipts/invoices relative to each item detailed below…. 39 (pairs) Junior Boots (Salomon), 76 (pairs) Adult Boots (Salomon/Fischer), 85 (pairs) Junior Skis (Fischer), 65 (pairs) Adult Skis (Fischer), 51 (pairs) 3 Pin Leather Boots, 25 (pairs) Touring Skis, 7 (pairs) Telemark Skis, 12 (pairs) Marwe Skate Rollers (Marwe), 4 (pairs) Marwe Classic Rollers (Marwe), 6 (pairs) Red Classic Rollers (Swenor), 3 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 4 (pairs) Classic Rollers (Various), 138 Poles (Various), 39 Roller Poles (Various), 3 Ski Bags (Fischer), 24 Roller Blades, 23 Mountain Bikes (Giant), 49 Helmets, 1 Nordic Track, 1 Fitness Machine, 6 Child Snow Tubes, 10 Adult Snow Tubes.

2. On 8 August 2006, the Council wrote to Mr Cameron in response to his request for information. In its response the Council disclosed information to him which it considered addressed his request in full.

3. On 17 August 2006, Mr Cameron sent an email to the Council in which he identified areas of the Council's response that he was not satisfied with. In this email, Mr Cameron asked that the Council provide responses to points of clarification that he raised concerning its response of 8 August 2007.A full version of these points of clarification is set out in Appendix 2, which forms part of this decision.

4. The Council responded to Mr Cameron's email on 27 September 2006.In this response the Council provided further explanations and information to Mr Cameron in seeking to respond to his points of clarification.

5. On 3 November 2006, Mr Cameron wrote to the Council requesting a review of its decision in response to the points that he raised in his email of 17 August 2006 only. In particular, Mr Cameron stated that he did not agree that the reply given to him on 27 September 2006 was accurate and claimed that it failed to answer the questions that he had asked. Mr Cameron also indicated that he considered the information contained in the response of 27 September 2006 to be contradictory to the answers given in the Council's earlier response of 17 August 2006.

6. On 29 November 2007, the Council wrote to notify Mr Cameron of the outcome of its review. The Council advised Mr Cameron that it considered that it had answered and provided accurate information in response to his request.

7. On 16 February 2007, Mr Cameron wrote to my Office, stating that he was dissatisfied with the outcome of the Council's review and applying to me for a decision in terms of section 47(1) of FOISA. He maintained that the Council had failed to answer the questions in his request properly.

8. The application was validated by establishing that Mr Cameron had made a request for information to a Scottish public authority and had applied to me for a decision only after asking the authority to review its response to that request. The case was then allocated to an investigating officer.

The Investigation
9. On 30 July 2007, the Council was notified in writing that an application had been received from Mr Cameron and was asked to provide my Office with specified items of information required for the purposes of the investigation. The Council responded with the information requested. The investigating officer also contacted the Council on 5 September 2007 and subsequently, seeking its comments on the application generally and on specific questions arising out of it.

10. This investigation will only focus on the six points of clarification which Mr Cameron sought to have addressed in his email to the Council dated 17 August 2007.It will not address the points raised in Mr Cameron's original request, as these did not form the basis of Mr Cameron's request for review. Mr Cameron only sought a review of the Council's responses to his points of clarification and therefore this is all I am empowered to consider in this investigation. In proceeding on this basis, I am satisfied that the points of clarification were themselves requests for information meeting the requirements of section 8 of FOISA and I will refer to the 17 August email as Mr Cameron's request for information (or request).

Submissions from the Council
11. The Council asserted in its submissions that it considered it had responded in full to Mr Cameron's request. The Council also argued that it had done the best it possibly could in the circumstances with respect to responding to Mr Cameron, seeking clarification from him as appropriate.

12. The Council has also provided me with copies of previous information requests that Mr Cameron had submitted to it under FOISA, and its responses to these.

Submissions by Mr Cameron
13. In his appeal to my Office, Mr Cameron has clearly set out his dissatisfaction with the responses he has received from the Council to his request for information. Mr Cameron is of the view that the Council has failed to answer his questions properly. He clearly believes that more (or different) information relevant to his request should be held by the Council and is being withheld from him. He claims that the information he has been provided with is (variously) inaccurate, contradictory or misleading. He believes that the Council's review did not examine all of the relevant information.

14. Some of the matters of dissatisfaction Mr Cameron has raised in his application to me concern his own interpretation of the information that has been provided to him by the Council, or his underlying concerns as to potential impropriety. These are not matters I am empowered to consider in my investigation.

The Commissioner's Analysis and Findings
15. In coming to a decision on this matter, I have considered all of the information and the submissions that have been presented to me by both Mr Cameron and the Council and I am satisfied that no matter of relevance has been overlooked.

16. As mentioned already, it is the opinion of the Council that it has provided what information it could in response to Mr Cameron's request, apart from certain information that would answer points 2 and 3 of Mr Cameron's request, which it claimed it did not hold.

Information not held
17. In responding to the second and third points raised by Mr Cameron in his request, the Council provided him with certain explanations but otherwise asserted that the information he was seeking was not held. 

18. In considering the second point raised by Mr Cameron, in which he requested information in relation to the purchase of specific items of equipment, I understand from reading the response made by the Council that it sought to provide an explanation to him as to why it did not hold the information he was seeking.

19. In correspondence with the Council my investigating officer asked the Council to provide details of the searches it had carried out to ascertain whether this information was in fact held.

20. The response from the Council provided an explanation as to how long the Council would normally retain creditor invoices, batches and copies of purchase orders. The Council also provided details of the searches it had carried out to determine whether the information was held. These searches included a search of paper files held both at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre and also centrally within the Council. The Council also explained that it had an electronic system with a limited capacity for searching for information, and which did not extend to allowing a search for particular items of equipment. Following all the searches that it carried out, the Council asserted that there was no information held by it which could be provided to Mr Cameron.

21. Having considered the submissions that have been presented by the Council, together with the information which the Council has already been able to disclose to Mr Cameron in response to his initial request of 14 July 2007, I am satisfied that the Council does not, and did not at the time of Mr Cameron's request hold information which would address the second point of clarification that he raised.

22.I am therefore satisfied that the Council was correct to claim that information relating to Mr Cameron's second point was not held, and that it met the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in doing so.

23. In considering the third point raised by Mr Cameron, it is clear from the response made to him by the Council that it did seek to provide an explanation as to the amount of ski bags which were purchased and what happened to some of these. The Council did not, however, provide Mr Cameron with information as when these bags were purchased or written quotations or invoices for them.

24. In its submissions to my investigating officer, the Council has indicated that it accepted there had been some confusion over the date of acquisition of the ski bags, and that this might be down to the fact that a search of the appropriate systems had not revealed any records which would provide a definitive answer. However, the Council explained that the acquisition of these bags was likely to have taken place any time between the facility being taken over by the Council and at the time of the 2003 audit taking place, and that staff would have indicated the date of purchase being 2003 as they were unaware of the actual date of purchase and they dated the bags as being in stock at the time of the audit.

25. The Council also provided my investigating officer with details of the nature of the searches carried out by it to determine whether information was held regarding the procurement of these bags. Within this submission, the Council outlined the searches of both paper and electronic records that were carried out.

26. Having considered the submissions that have been received from the Council, I am satisfied that it does not (and did not at the time of Mr Cameron's request) hold any information additional to the explanation that it provided to Mr Cameron which would address the third point in Mr Cameron's request for clarification.

27.Therefore, I am satisfied that the Council was correct to claim that information relating to Mr Cameron's third point was not held, and that it met the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in doing so.

28. I will now go on to consider whether the Council has addressed the other points which Mr Cameron set out in his request for clarification.

Information relating to the first point in Mr Cameron's request 
29. Mr Cameron requested information as to written quotations submitted to the Council during the procurement process for the purchase of specified items. He also asked that where Council officers had not obtained quotations he be told why this was the case.

30. In responding to this part of Mr Cameron's request, the Council outlined to him the substance of the Financial Regulations which govern purchases made by the Council. Within this explanation, the Council advised Mr Cameron of the financial thresholds in these regulations, above or below which a competitive quote should be obtained, or when formal tender documents need to be issued to approved tenderers. The Council also explained that because of the value of the purchases recorded in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property, which Mr Cameron was interested in, no formal tenders or written quotations were required for these. In effect, although perhaps not specifically, it claimed that the information Mr Cameron was seeking in relation to the quotations was not held.

31. I understand from reading both Mr Cameron's request for clarification and his appeal to my Office that he is concerned that the Financial Regulations which the Council applied to these purchases were not correct, as he was quoted different financial thresholds in a response that he received from the Council in December 2005 to a different FOI request, and also the in Council's response to this FOI request of 8 August 2006.Mr Cameron is also of the view that the Council is attempting to apply Financial Regulations which were current in 2006 to purchases made prior to that year.

32. In correspondence with my investigating officer, the Council confirmed that its Financial Regulations would have applied to the purchases in question. The Council also reiterated that the value of the purchases in question was not sufficient to trigger a requirement for a competitive quote or tender. On the basis of the explanations given, I am satisfied that the quotations requested by Mr Cameron are not (and were not at the time of his request) held by the Council, and that the Council effectively met the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in responding to Mr Cameron on this point.

33. The Council did, however, provide an explanation which set out how it kept these Financial Regulations up to date, and its records management policies for retention of these.

34. Although I accept that the Council has sought to address Mr Cameron's point by explaining why officers did not obtain quotations for the purchases in question, and therefore why it could not provide Mr Cameron with copies of written quotations, I consider that the Council could have provided Mr Cameron with more information which would have given him more of an insight into the operation of its Financial Regulations. I am of the view that under section 15 of FOISA, the Council should have explained to Mr Cameron the reason for the differences in the Financial Regulations that it quoted in its response, and also how these regulations were kept up to date together with details of the Council's retention policy for them. I also consider that the Council should have provided Mr Cameron with a better explanation of how relevant the Financial Regulations that it quoted were to the purchases in question.

35. I therefore require the Council to comply with its duties under section 15 of FOISA by providing Mr Cameron with the information referred to in paragraph 34 above, as I consider that this would aid Mr Cameron's understanding. 

Information relating to the fourth point in Mr Cameron's request
36. Mr Cameron also asked for information as to the written text of the Council's "Buy Local Policy" (as referred to by the Council in response to his request dated 14 July 2006 in relation to the purchase of 23 Mountain Bikes).

37. In responding to Mr Cameron's request, the Council provided him with a hard copy of its "Sustainable Purchasing Policy", which it asserted the "Buy Local Policy" was part of and implicit to. The Council also provided Mr Cameron with a website link to this document.

38. In his appeal to the Commissioner, Mr Cameron indicated that the "Sustainable Purchasing Policy" that he was directed to by the Council had no relevance to the purchases he was interested in. 

39. Having accessed the "Sustainable Purchasing Policy" that Mr Cameron was directed to, I note that this came into effect in November 2005.The purchases that Mr Cameron had been referring to were recorded in an inventory dated March 2005 and the date of purchase for the bikes was November 2003.

40. Following communication with the Council, it advised my investigating officer that an interim "Sustainable Purchasing Policy" was in place from September 2001 until the final policy was implemented in 2005.The Council provided my Office with a copy of this interim policy. The "Buy Local Policy" (such as it is) is also present within the terms of the interim "Sustainable Purchasing Policy". I am satisfied, on the basis of the submissions I have received from the Council, that this interim policy (incorporating a "Buy Local Policy" that was to all intents and purposes the same as the one in force now) would have been in place at the time of the purchases being made in 2003.

41. I accept that the Council has responded to Mr Cameron's request and has provided him with the text of the "Buy Local Policy" which he specifically requested, and which is in all essential respects the same in both the interim policy and the final policy. From the submissions the Council has made, I am satisfied that this represents all the information it could be expected to hold on the matter.

42. I am therefore satisfied that the Council has responded to this part of Mr Cameron's request in accordance with Part 1 of FOISA, insofar as required to do so.

Information relating to the fifth point in Mr Cameron's request 
43. Mr Cameron requested the trading addresses and VAT numbers for two limited companies which he identified to the Council. In response to this part of his request, the Council provided Mr Cameron with the trading address and VAT registration number for one of these companies. It did not, however, provide him with the trading address or VAT number for Fischer Racquetline Limited as Mr Cameron requested, instead giving him the trading details of a completely different company.

44. When my investigating officer asked the Council to confirm whether it held any information in relation to the company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited, it indicated that this was a company set up by Fischer to retail racquet sports products and skis, and that the Sports and Leisure Manager was unsure where it was based, but did believe that the other company that the Council had given Mr Cameron details of was the UK main dealer in Fischer products. The Council considered that it had provided an appropriate response to this part of Mr Cameron's request.

45. In a further submission, the Council explained that it did not hold any information as to the trading address or the VAT registration number for Fischer Racquetline Limited. The Council advised that after Fischer Racquetline Limited ceased to be the sole importer of Fischer products, Huntly Nordic Ski Centre no longer had any interest in the company.

46. Having considered the information the Council provided to Mr Cameron in response to this part of his request and his request for a review, together with the recent submission from the Council, I appreciate that it was seeking to be helpful in providing Mr Cameron with details of the trader who took over from Fischer Racquetline Limited. However, I do not consider that the information the Council gave to Mr Cameron in this connection was sufficient to meet his request, as it related to a completely different company. It is my view that the Council should have notified Mr Cameron in terms of section 17 of FOISA in respect of this information, as it did not hold any information (at the time of his request) concerning the trading address and VAT registration number of the trader concerned. I am satisfied from the Council's submissions that this was in fact the case.

47. I am therefore not satisfied that the Council responded properly to Mr Cameron's request for company information for Fischer Racquetline Limited, as it should have issued Mr Cameron with a notice under section 17 of FOISA. In all the circumstances, however, see no purpose in requiring the Council to take any action in this respect now.

Information relating to the sixth point in Mr Cameron's request for clarification
48. In the final part of his request for clarification, Mr Cameron sought an explanation as to how competitive prices obtained by the Council for the purchase of specific equipment could be verified.

49. Having considered the response that the Council has made to Mr Cameron regarding this, along with the Council's submissions for the purposes of my investigation, I understand that the Council's response on this point was based on the recollections of the relevant members of staff rather than recorded information held by the Council. I am satisfied from the Council's submissions that it does not (and did not at the time of the request) hold any information falling within the scope of this part of Mr Cameron's request. There is, however, nothing in the Council's response on this point which would indicate that no recorded information was held, and therefore I cannot accept that the Council complied with the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in this respect. In all the circumstances, however, see no purpose in requiring the Council to take any action on this point now.

Technical breaches
50. In his appeal to me Mr Cameron set out his dissatisfaction regarding the fact that the Council did not respond to his request for information within 20 working days as set out in FOISA.

51.Section 10(1) of FOISA states that a Scottish public authority receiving a request for information which requires it to comply with section 1(1) of FOISA, must comply promptly; and in any event by not later than the twentieth working day after the date that they receive it.

52. Mr Cameron submitted his request for information on 17 August 2006 and that a reply was not made to this by the Council until 27 September 2006.Accordingly, I must conclude that the Council did not comply with section 10(1) of FOISA in making this response to Mr Cameron.

53. Although the Council did not comply with section 10(1) of FOISA in making its response to Mr Cameron, I do not require it to take any action as I am satisfied that this did not curtail Mr Cameron in exercising his rights.

Decision
I find that Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) partially complied with Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in responding to the information request made by Mr Cameron. I find that by giving notice in terms of section 17 of FOISA in responding to the second and third points of clarification raised by Mr Cameron (and effectively in responding to his first point) the Council complied with Part 1. I also find that the Council provided an adequate response for the purposes of Part 1 to the fourth point raised by Mr Cameron. However, in failing to provide Mr Cameron with a full explanation relating to the manner in which it kept its financial regulations up to date and the relevance of the financial regulations quoted by the Council to the purchases in question, the Council failed to fulfil its duty under section 15 of FOISA. I also find that in failing to provide Mr Cameron with a notice under section 17 of FOISA for elements of the information that he requested under his fifth and sixth points, the Council did not comply with Part 1 of FOISA. I do not, however, require any action to be taken in respect of these breaches. I find that Aberdeenshire Council failed to comply with section 10(1) of FOISA in responding to Mr Cameron's request for information. I therefore require Aberdeenshire Council to provide information to Mr Cameron which will provide him with a further explanation regarding the operation of the Council's Financial Regulations, in particular how they are maintained and retained and their relevance to the subject matter of Mr Cameron's request. I require Aberdeenshire Council to do this within 45 days after the date of intimation of this decision notice.

Appeal
Should either Mr Cameron or Aberdeenshire Council wish to appeal against this decision, there is an appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation of this decision notice. Kevin Dunion Scottish Information Commissioner 18 February 2008

Appendix1 - Relevant statutory provisions - Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002
1General entitlement
(1)A person who requests information from a Scottish public authority which holds it is entitled to be given it by the authority.

8Requesting information
(1) Any reference in this Act to "requesting" information is a reference to making a request which-

(a) is in writing or in another form which, by reason of its having some permanency, is capable of being used for subsequent reference (as, for example, a recording made on audio or video tape);

(b) states the name of the applicant and an address for correspondence; and

(c) describes the information requested.

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (a) of subsection (1) (and without prejudice to the generality of that paragraph), a request is to be treated as made in writing where the text of the request is- 

(a)transmitted by electronic means;

(b) received in legible form; and

(c) capable of being used for subsequent reference.

10Time for compliance
(1)… a Scottish public authority receiving a request which requires it to comply with section 1(1) must comply promptly; and in any event by not later than the twentieth working day after –

(a) … the receipt by the authority of the request; or...

15Duty to provide advice and assistance
(1) A Scottish public authority must, so far as it is reasonable to expect it to do so, provide advice and assistance to a person who proposes to make, or has made, a request for information to it.

(2) A Scottish public authority which, in relation to the provision of advice or assistance in any case, conforms with the code of practice issued under section 60 is, as respects that case, to be taken to comply with the duty imposed by subsection (1).

17.Notice that information is not held
(1)Where-

(a) a Scottish public authority receives a request which would require it either-

(i) to comply with section 1(1); or

(ii) to determine any question arising by virtue of paragraph (a) or (b) of section 2(1),

if it held the information to which the request relates; but

(b) the authority does not hold that information,

it must, within the time allowed by or by virtue of section 10 for complying with the request, give the applicant notice in writing that it does not hold it.

(2) Subsection (1) is subject to section 19.

(3) Subsection (1) does not apply if, by virtue of section 18, the authority instead gives the applicant a refusal notice.

Appendix 2
Request for clarification from Mr Cameron to the Council dated 17 August 2006.
1. I'd like to draw your attention to Point 3….information given to me on 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775…

"Point 3 You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council's procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000.Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations."
You have now quoted the following legislation to me on 08 August 2006 in ACE/62286…

"In terms of the Council's financial regulations, orders involving sums below £10,000 do not have to go out to formal written tender. In these circumstances, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre have not invited tenders.In some cases, the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products in terms of quality and maintenance requirements. Normally purchases are based on the cheapest product available but there are circumstances where quality and maintenance requirements need to be taken into account to ensure that goods are the most fit for purpose."
When I wrote my FOI request of 14 Jul 2006, I was making reference to the information Aberdeenshire Council provided 02 Dec 2005 ACE/23775 … I am aware that this year in 2006, the change was made that written tender would be required for sums below £10,000 and not the higher £60,000 limit.

Therefore you have misled my request for information, applying revised legislation, to the procurement of items made prior to 2006.

It was clearly defined in the Procurement Policy given to me on 02 Dec 05 ACE/32775 that for sums under £60,000, "Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive quotations."

My question does not ask for a waffle about "Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre has spread purchases across several suppliers to compare products etc etc"…. I have asked simply for…

1. 'All' competitive written quotations for pre-purchase of each item detailed in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property dated 31st March 2005 submitted to Aberdeenshire Council during the procurement/tendering process.

Therefore I would be grateful of you would please supply an answer to this question and relate it to all items mentioned in the 'Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property'.

If Officer's have not obtained written quotations, despite being stated as a requirement for procurement under £60,000, please say so and explain why.

2. In the information that you have supplied in Appendix 1… I asked for 1. the two competitive written quotations for, 2. itemise who the successful supplier was and 3.provide all receipts and invoices relative to each item detailed.

39 pairs Junior Boots (Salomon)

76 pairs Adult Boots (Salomon/Fischer)

85 pairs Junior Skis (Fischer)

65 pairs Adult Skis (Fischer)

25 pairs Touring Skis

There is a huge gap in the in the information supplied … only 74 pairs of boots and 28 pairs of ski's have been accounted for in Appendix 1…

You have not provided any receipts/invoices… please provide them.

You haven't detailed who the supplier's were for the remaining 41 boots and 147 ski's left unaccounted. Please detail who they are.

I would be grateful if you could answer this question properly and provide the information I have originally asked for.

3. It states in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property, that the 'date of acquisition' of the 3x Fischer Ski Bags was 2003… your answer states that …

"There are no formal records for this purchase as they were purchased over 5 years ago. However they are part of a pack of bags bought for moving class equipment to the Clashindarroch and some were for resale by the Ski Centre"

There is a clear contradiction in the information that has been supplied here… why is that?

In the answer that is given, can you provide me with procurement information about the 'pack of bags' which were bought and how many were sold on as mentioned above. (Who they were bought from, when they were bought, the two competitive written quotations and the invoices/receipts).

4. You state in the ACE/62286 reply [this is the reply of 8/08/06], that Aberdeenshire Council has a "buy local" policy… can you supply me with the written text of the policy given to all Officer's that confirms this.

5. In the suppliers you mention in Appendix 1…can you provide me with the following information…Their trading postal address and VAT Registration Number… this information should be on the receipts and is not sensitive to the Data Protection Act …

Fischer Racquetline Ltd

Salomon Taylor Made Ltd

6. Can you explain how competitive prices obtained by telephone and on the internet before placing an order with 'Tout Tele' for 12 Marwe Skate Rollers and 4 Marwe Classic Rollers can be verified?

Full Response by Ian Cameron to Decision 026/2008 by the Scottish Information Commissioner

Facts of the Scottish Information Commissioners Findings Summarised

· Point 1 - Kevin Dunion was satisfied that Aberdeenshire Council sought to address Point 1... but they failed in its duty under Section 15 of FOISA to give clear explanation of the operation of its financial regulations.
· Points 2 and 3 – Kevin Dunion was satisfied that Aberdeenshire Council was correct to rely on Section 17 of Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). That it held no information / had no financial records despite by Law being required to keep proper Financial Records for at least 7 years
· Point 4 – Kevin Dunion is satisfied that the Council provided an appropriate response to Point 4 concerning the ‘Buy Local Policy’, having provided misleading information already.
· Point 5 – Kevin Dunion is not satisfied that Aberdeenshire Council responded to Point 5 appropriately, did not provide trading address and VAT number for 1 trader who’s details had been requested... that Aberdeenshire Council should have issued a Section 17 notice. Kevin Dunion however, did not require Aberdeenshire Council to take any further action, despite being informed that the Company Fischer Racquetline Limied was fictitious.
· Point 6 - Aberdeenshire Council should have issued notice under Section 17 in respect of Point 6, with Kevin Dunion again, not requiring Aberdeenshire Council to take any further action on the question... how can competitive prices/quotations be verified before orders are placed through Aberdeenshire Council employees business which is subsequently also operated from the same Council facility being supplied?
Opening Points
5. On 3 November 2006, Mr Cameron wrote to the Council requesting a review of its decision in response to the points that he raised in his email of 17 August 2006 only. In particular, Mr Cameron stated that he did not agree that the reply given to him on 27 September 2006 was accurate and claimed that it failed to answer the questions that he had asked. Mr Cameron also indicated that he considered the information contained in the response of 27 September 2006 to be contradictory to the answers given in the Council's earlier response of 17 August 2006.
5. Kevin Dunion details that the request for review is to be carried out on points raised on 17 Aug 06 only. I did not agree that 27 Sep 06 reply was accurate, it failed to answer questions asked with the information provided on 27 Sep 06 contradictory to answers given earlier on 17 Aug 06... but Kevin Dunion wouldn’t take this contradiction into account.

10. This investigation will only focus on the six points of clarification which Mr Cameron sought to have addressed in his email to the Council dated 17 August 2007.It will not address the points raised in Mr Cameron's original request, as these did not form the basis of Mr Cameron's request for review. Mr Cameron only sought a review of the Council's responses to his points of clarification and therefore this is all I am empowered to consider in this investigation. In proceeding on this basis, I am satisfied that the points of clarification were themselves requests for information meeting the requirements of section 8 of FOISA and I will refer to the 17 August email as Mr Cameron's request for information (or request).
Decision 026/2008 only addressed 6 points of clarification sought on 17 Aug 06 and will not address points raised in the original request as they did not form the basis of the review.

Because I only sought a review of the Council’s responses to my points of clarification... Kevin Dunion is only empowered to consider only this in the investigation... essentially I have “dropped the ball”.
Submissions from the Council
11. The Council asserted in its submissions that it considered it had responded in full to Mr Cameron's request. The Council also argued that it had done the best it possibly could in the circumstances with respect to responding to Mr Cameron, seeking clarification from him as appropriate.

Aberdeenshire Council claimed it had responded in full and had done the best it possibly could! ... an incredible statement for them to make in light of the facts.
14. Some of the matters of dissatisfaction Mr Cameron has raised in his application to me concern his own interpretation of the information that has been provided to him by the Council, or his underlying concerns as to potential impropriety. These are not matters I am empowered to consider in my investigation.

Kevin Dunion recognises that the information provided on interpretation has created underlying concerns of potential impropriety... but Kevin Dunion cannot/is not empowered to consider this in his investigation.
At least he can recognise there is an “underlying concerns of potential impropriety”
Initial Denial of Statutory Rights

Aberdeenshire Council at the beginning of this part of the investigation did everything it could to frustrate my attempts to access information, directly denying my statutory rights under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, making false claim that my requests were vexatious.

Points 1 (Appendix 2)... Detailed in Decision 026/2008 (29-35)
30. In responding to this part of Mr Cameron's request, the Council outlined to him the substance of the Financial Regulations which govern purchases made by the Council.  Within this explanation, the Council advised Mr Cameron of the financial thresholds in these regulations, above or below which a competitive quote should be obtained, or when formal tender documents need to be issued to approved tenderers. The Council also explained that because of the value of the purchases recorded in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment and Property, which Mr Cameron was interested in, no formal tenders or written quotations were required for these. In effect, although perhaps not specifically, it claimed that the information Mr Cameron was seeking in relation to the quotations was not held.
30. Aberdeenshire Council claim to the Scottish Information Commission that it advised me of the Financial thresholds and explained that, relative to the values of the purchases recorded in the Inventory of Moveable Equipment & Property 31 Mar 05... that no formal tenders or written quotations were required, essentially claiming information was not held.

Yet Aberdeenshire Council have already claimed on 27 Sep 06 Point 2 

“In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service.”
Aberdeenshire Council prove unequivocally that it is prepared to dissemble information and directly mislead Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner, contradicting previous statements on information which had already been provided.
32. In correspondence with my investigating officer, the Council confirmed that its Financial Regulations would have applied to the purchases in question. The Council also reiterated that the value of the purchases in question was not sufficient to trigger a requirement for a competitive quote or tender. On the basis of the explanations given, I am satisfied that the quotations requested by Mr Cameron are not (and were not at the time of his request) held by the Council, and that the Council effectively met the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in responding to Mr Cameron on this point.
32. Aberdeenshire Council confirmed that its Financial regulations would have applied to the purchases in question, therefore, why did Aberdeenshire Council provide information 02 Dec 05 saying...

“Answer 3.You asked for details of Aberdeenshire Council’s procurement policy. Under Council Standing Orders Officers are required to go out to open tender for any purchase of equipment or services above the value of £60,000. Below this value Officers are required to show best value by securing at least two competitive written quotations.”
Where did this quotation come from? It appears in this answer that the goal posts move depending on what suits at the time and further undermines Aberdeenshire Council’s position of accountability and trustworthiness.

In the second part of 32. Aberdeenshire Council re-iterate purchases at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre did not trigger the thresholds... Kevin Dunion accepts this despite having a copy of my full report into corruption of public funds at Aberdeenshire Council which details an answer 27 Sep 06 that purchases over £10,000 had been made.

Kevin Dunion failed to pick this up and failed to be fair in his investigation, by not looking at the hard evidence I had supplied favouring Aberdeenshire Council on their word only.

34. Although I accept that the Council has sought to address Mr Cameron's point by explaining why officers did not obtain quotations for the purchases in question, and therefore why it could not provide Mr Cameron with copies of written quotations, I consider that the Council could have provided Mr Cameron with more information which would have given him more of an insight into the operation of its Financial Regulations. I am of the view that under section 15 of FOISA, the Council should have explained to Mr Cameron the reason for the differences in the Financial Regulations that it quoted in its response, and also how these regulations were kept up to date together with details of the Council's retention policy for them. I also consider that the Council should have provided Mr Cameron with a better explanation of how relevant the Financial Regulations that it quoted were to the purchases in question.
34. I disagree with Kevin Dunion’s acceptance of Aberdeenshire Council seeking to address my request for clarity having been misled time and time again.... Aberdeenshire Council have demonstrated it is a highly secretive organisation intent on preventing the course of justice to cover up the manipulation of public funds by Aberdeenshire Council employees for direct self gain.

Points 2 & 3 (Appendix 2)... Detailed in Decision 026/2008 (17-28)
20. The response from the Council provided an explanation as to how long the Council would normally retain creditor invoices, batches and copies of purchase orders. The Council also provided details of the searches it had carried out to determine whether the information was held. These searches included a search of paper files held both at the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre and also centrally within the Council. The Council also explained that it had an electronic system with a limited capacity for searching for information, and which did not extend to allowing a search for particular items of equipment. Following all the searches that it carried out, the Council asserted that there was no information held by it which could be provided to Mr Cameron.

20. Aberdeenshire Council explain in detail that it is not keeping proper financial records despite being required by Law to do so for 7 years.

Again, Aberdeenshire Council say they have absolutely no record of any receipt or invoice for any of the 265 pairs of skis and boots detailed on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment 31 Mar 05 held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre... and that its current system for searching data is completely ineffective.

I actually believe Aberdeenshire Council are continuing to withhold this information as it will be extremely incriminating, demonstrating that they have dissembled information provided in previous FOI answers.

21. Having considered the submissions that have been presented by the Council, together with the information which the Council has already been able to disclose to Mr Cameron in response to his initial request of 14 July 2007, I am satisfied that the Council does not, and did not at the time of Mr Cameron's request hold information which would address the second point of clarification that he raised.

22. I am therefore satisfied that the Council was correct to claim that information relating to Mr Cameron's second point was not held, and that it met the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in doing so.

21. 22. – Kevin Dunion says he is satisfied with this despite having knowledge of what the Law is regarding the keeping of proper Financial records... Unfortunately to me, this shows a sign of weakness in the FOISA that it accepts unsatisfactory answers.

All an organisation needs to do is quote Section 17... and Kevin Dunion will accept it as an answer without question. Therefore, the future is not bright regarding any question Aberdeenshire Council don’t want to answer... all they need to do is quote Section 17 and they will know that it won’t be challenged by doing so. This demonstrates that the Freedom of Information Act doesn’t work, being a weak Law poorly enforced.
24. In its submissions to my investigating officer, the Council has indicated that it accepted there had been some confusion over the date of acquisition of the ski bags, and that this might be down to the fact that a search of the appropriate systems had not revealed any records which would provide a definitive answer. However, the Council explained that the acquisition of these bags was likely to have taken place any time between the facility being taken over by the Council and at the time of the 2003 audit taking place, and that staff would have indicated the date of purchase being 2003 as they were unaware of the actual date of purchase and they dated the bags as being in stock at the time of the audit.

24. Aberdeenshire Council admit that its record keeping system is wholly ineffective... which creates the question... How are concise and accurate Audits done within Aberdeenshire Council? The current system does not provide them with a definitive answer.

Aberdeenshire Council now admit in this point, relative to the ski bag purchases, that the staff are in charge of procurement and maintaining stock control... but keep absolutely no records of the purchases. (Remember, they are also making purchases from their own businesses to re-supply the Centre.)

In hindsight, if I had not caught Aberdeenshire Council unaware on my very first FOI request for goods supplied from employee Roy Young’s business ‘Tout Tele’ (Roller Skis and Mountain bikes)... I’m convinced these invoices would have also been withheld.

These invoices do contradict Aberdeenshire Council’s answer in Point 20 regarding Aberdeenshire Council time frame for keeping Invoices... they provided invoices for the 2x Used Mountain bikes supplied on Nov 01, therefore it would be reasonable to conclude these invoices in my question 2 and 3 would also be held.
Point 4 (Appendix 2)... Detailed in Decision 026/2008 (36-42)
39. Having accessed the "Sustainable Purchasing Policy" that Mr Cameron was directed to, I note that this came into effect in November 2005.The purchases that Mr Cameron had been referring to were recorded in an inventory dated March 2005 and the date of purchase for the bikes was November 2003.
39. Kevin Dunion correctly recognises that Aberdeenshire Council tried to mislead me providing me with an irrelevant document... but Aberdeenshire Council retort by saying it had an interim Sustainable Purchasing Policy in place from Sep 01 until final policy implementation in 2005.

I have difficulty in accepting that this hasn’t been another document which has been falsified by Aberdeenshire Council to cover up the mis-appropriation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts by its employees.

This investigation has detailed the dishonesty in almost all aspects of operation of Aberdeenshire Council and its determination to commit fraud at the highest levels.

It’s only through appeal to the Scottish Information Commission that an answer is given, but what’s disappointing is Kevin Dunion fails to make Aberdeenshire Council accountable for providing misleading information in the first place.

For me, this again shows the weakness of the Scottish Information Commission into addressing the intent of a local authority to mislead and that this can only teach Aberdeenshire Council a method of manipulation of Kevin Dunion. 

This case shows the loop hole of first providing misleading information and second, no consequences when it is caught doing so.

Point 5 (Appendix 2)... Detailed in Decision 026/2008 (43-47)
Fischer Racquetline Limited was covered in Decision 004/2008 and again is done so in 026/2008...

43. Mr Cameron requested the trading addresses and VAT numbers for two limited companies which he identified to the Council. In response to this part of his request, the Council provided Mr Cameron with the trading address and VAT registration number for one of these companies. It did not, however, provide him with the trading address or VAT number for Fischer Racquetline Limited as Mr Cameron requested, instead giving him the trading details of a completely different company.
43. Kevin Dunion again recognises that Aberdeenshire Council had tried to mislead me by providing trading details of ‘Thin Ice Sports’ in Edinburgh, suggesting these were the trading details of Fischer Racquetline limited... on reflection, it is incredible to think Aberdeenshire Council would be as stupid enough to do that!

44. When my investigating officer asked the Council to confirm whether it held any information in relation to the company details for Fischer Racquetline Limited, it indicated that this was a company set up by Fischer to retail racquet sports products and skis, and that the Sports and Leisure Manager was unsure where it was based, but did believe that the other company that the Council had given Mr Cameron details of was the UK main dealer in Fischer products. The Council considered that it had provided an appropriate response to this part of Mr Cameron's request.
44. In my submissions to Kevin Dunion’s investigation, I clearly detail that Fischer Racquetline Limited was a fictitious company created to mislead / cover up the manipulation of contracts by employee Roy Young, who actually held the Fischer supply agreement at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre.

03 Oct 05 Rab Reid Thin Ice to Ian… Fischer Franchise in Aberdeenshire / Aberdeen City… Hello Please try Braemar Mountain Sports in Braemar for Fischer Nordic equipment or Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly. Thanks for your enquiry. Rab Reid Sales & Marketing Director Thin Ice Sports Ltd info@thinicesports.com www.thinicesports.com
Incredibly again, as in Decision 004/2008, the Scottish Information Commission investigating officer asks Aberdeenshire Council to confirm details of Fischer Racquetline Limited... but amazingly, Aberdeenshire Council go 1 step further in its reply by saying...

“this was a company set up by Fischer to retail racquet sports products and skis, and that the Sports and Leisure Manager was unsure where it was based, but did believe that the other company that the Council had given Mr Cameron details of was the UK main dealer in Fischer products.”
In this statement he was unsure because the company only exists in the imagination of Aberdeenshire Council.

Keep in mind, David Wright the Recreation Manager who first submitted Fischer Racquetline Limited as an answer, transferred from Aberdeenshire Council to Aberdeen City Council in January/February 2007... therefore, the new Sports & Leisure Manager must now be suggesting this to Kevin Dunion.

They then go on to say, “it believed that the other company “Thin Ice Sports”, that the Council had given details of, was the UK main dealer in Fischer products and that the Council considered it had provided an appropriate response to this part of the request.

How can this be an appropriate response in anyone’s mind... what it is, is a direct example of Aberdeenshire Council attempting to be misleading and untruthful.

45. In a further submission, the Council explained that it did not hold any information as to the trading address or the VAT registration number for Fischer Racquetline Limited. The Council advised that after Fischer Racquetline Limited ceased to be the sole importer of Fischer products, Huntly Nordic Ski Centre no longer had any interest in the company.
45. In a further submission that it did not hold information on the VAT Registration number of Fischer Racquetline Limited... what Aberdeenshire Council claim here by saying this, is it is not keeping proper Financial records, going on to say...

“Fischer Racquetline Limited ceased to be the sole importer of Fischer products, Huntly Nordic Ski Centre no longer had any interest in the company.”
The question I ask myself is, Aberdeenshire Council are being quite precise about this information on the history of the Company... but fail to appreciate by calling their company a Limited company and claiming it is the sole importer of Fischer goods, that its existence will be proven by Companies House... even if it has ceased trading.

There is no record of Fischer Racquetline Limited at Companies House... so why would they be this incompetent?

They also confirm by saying Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre are in complete control of procurement... but this investigation has already demonstrated that the staff are requisitioning equipment and directing those contracts into their own businesses.

It has to be remembered at this stage how much Fischer equipment is held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, 65 Adult Skis, 85 Junior Skis, 76 pairs of boots... and it has to be remembered that employee and Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre instructor Roy Young holds the Fischer supply agreement... doing so using his employers Aberdeenshire Council trading address at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre for ‘Tout Tele’ – not his home address at Wilmount, Gladstone Road, Huntly!

46. Having considered the information the Council provided to Mr Cameron in response to this part of his request and his request for a review, together with the recent submission from the Council, I appreciate that it was seeking to be helpful in providing Mr Cameron with details of the trader who took over from Fischer Racquetline Limited. However, I do not consider that the information the Council gave to Mr Cameron in this connection was sufficient to meet his request, as it related to a completely different company. It is my view that the Council should have notified Mr Cameron in terms of section 17 of FOISA in respect of this information, as it did not hold any information (at the time of his request) concerning the trading address and VAT registration number of the trader concerned. I am satisfied from the Council's submissions that this was in fact the case.
46. At this stage, Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner lets me down again and also fails the Laws of the Freedom of Information Act by saying “they appreciate the Council were trying to be helpful”... All they needed to do was contact Companies House and then inform Aberdeenshire Council that they can’t find any record of Fischer Racquetline Limited, or call Rab Reid in Edinburgh at Thin Ice Sports.
But Kevin Dunion didn’t do that, despite my direction that this company doesn’t exist... again he accepted Aberdeenshire Council on their word and ignored the hard evidence I had submitted, demonstrating that the Scottish Information Commission had failed again.

Rather than requiring the Council to answer my question, despite Aberdeenshire Council being required by Law to keep proper Financial records for 7 years, for 226 pairs of Fischer Skis and boots (approximately £30,000 worth of equipment). Kevin Dunion is satisfied that Aberdeenshire Council should have given notice under Section 17 of FOISA... and required the Council to take no further action on this matter!

I ask myself about the role of the Scottish Information Commission...what is their reason for being?
Point 6 (Appendix 2)... Detailed in Decision 026/2008 (48-49)
48. In the final part of his request for clarification, Mr Cameron sought an explanation as to how competitive prices obtained by the Council for the purchase of specific equipment could be verified.

49. Having considered the response that the Council has made to Mr Cameron regarding this, along with the Council's submissions for the purposes of my investigation, I understand that the Council's response on this point was based on the recollections of the relevant members of staff rather than recorded information held by the Council. I am satisfied from the Council's submissions that it does not (and did not at the time of the request) hold any information falling within the scope of this part of Mr Cameron's request. There is, however, nothing in the Council's response on this point which would indicate that no recorded information was held, and therefore I cannot accept that the Council complied with the requirements of section 17 of FOISA in this respect. In all the circumstances, however, see no purpose in requiring the Council to take any action on this point now.

It has been recognised by the Investigating Officer that Aberdeenshire Council submissions are based on recollections of the relevant members of staff... keep in mind, these are the same staff members who are the ones manipulating Aberdeenshire Council contracts... Turkeys don’t vote for Christmas, so it’s little wonder that no information is held.

It has also to be remembered that Aberdeenshire Council have already stated, purchases have been made which exceed their threshold of £10,000, therefore details of written quotations must exist...

27 Sep 06 Point 2 “In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service.”
Written quotations don’t exist simply because the staff are not obtaining written quotations / competitive prices which can be verified... because they are directing all contracts into their own businesses and essentially in a position to name their own price as they are now the preferred suppliers under the Sustainable Purchasing Policy ‘Buy Local’ clause.

If you ask Braemar Mountain Sports the only legitimate company in the area to hold bona fide supply agreements for Nordic Salomon and Fischer whether they were asked to quote on the contracts... they will tell you that they have never been approached by Aberdeenshire Council to do so.

Kevin Dunion agrees that he doesn’t accept the Council complied with the requirements of Section 17 of FOISA... but in the circumstances sees no purpose in requiring the Council to take any action on this point! ... again letting me and this investigation down.

Technical Breach - Failure to Respond Within 20 Working Days
It is recognised in the Commissioners report that Aberdeenshire Council were 13 days late in their response... but again Kevin Dunion concludes that this isn’t a problem as my rights had not been curtailed... to me 13 days after the 20 working day period is an excessive and deliberate failure... which did affect my right to be treated fairly.

Conclusion
Decision 026/2008 demonstrates the failure of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and the weakness of the Scottish Information Commissioner, Kevin Dunion to draw Aberdeenshire to account over the continued provision of false information

This intentional falsehood by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner is as severe as it gets. What we now have, is an example of a Scottish Local Authority, Aberdeenshire Council, exhibiting complete disregard for the Law, showing absolute disrespect to the Office of the Scottish Information Commissioner.

There is a clear demonstration that a culture of secrecy still exists despite the aspirations of the spirit of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 to encourage openness, transparency and accountability within Public Bodies...

A comprehensive report has been completed, which will be submitted to Audit Scotland in due course. It details a litany of damning allegations about the bias, corruption and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts by employees and the subsequent attempt at a ‘cover-up’ by senior officials at Aberdeenshire Council who doctored information.

This matter of corruption is so serious that the former 7 year Director of the Law and Administration Department and current Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council Alan G. Campbell CBE position is untenable as the person directly responsible for the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 at Aberdeenshire Council.

With this complete loss of credibility, extensive reputational damage and absolute loss in Public confidence... there is no other option available to Chief Executive Alan G. Campbell CBE but to tender his resignation with immediate effect.

19 Feb 08 Meeting Ian with HM Revenue & Customs at Ruby House, Aberdeen – the basis of the complaint...
Having been working on an investigation into bias, corruption and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts by employees at Aberdeenshire Council, raising requisitions for equipment and directing purchase orders through their own businesses to subsequently re-supply their place of work. In the process of this investigation, it has been discovered that are falsifying financial records to cover up the manipulation of sports equipment procurement. Relative to the Inventory of Moveable Equipment dated 31 Mar 05 at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. 1) Cannot provide 1 single Invoice / Receipt for any of the 265 skis or boots held 2) When pressed for information on Invoice / Receipts, Aberdeenshire Council submit a spreadsheet detailing a fictitious company which they call Fischer Racquetline Limited as an Aberdeenshire Council supplier. 3) Try to deceive my FOI requests for information with intent providing company details of a business called Thin Ice Sports suggesting these details are the company details of Fischer Racquetline Limited. 4) Aberdeenshire Council continue to mislead by also submitting same answer to Scottish Information Commissioners investigation 004/2008 and 026/2008, claiming that they now hold no records of this company Fischer Racquetline Limited despite it allegedly supplying over £30,000 worth of equipment 3 and half years ago. 5) That Aberdeenshire Council employee behind the manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts also applied for Big Lottery grants and directed large sums from the award into his own business, submitting a receipt detailing VAT but failing to show a 9 digit VAT number. 6) On analysis of Aberdeenshire Council employee’s business Tout Tele Invoices, it is clear there is no Invoice number system in place, being created randomly and that the format of the Invoices change, never remaining consistent. 7) On the Invoice he does charge VAT dated 08 Apr 02, he subsequently does not charge VAT 5 months later on 10 Sep 02. 8). In point 6 Aberdeenshire Council answer 27 Sep 06 they state:

 “After some time they identified a national supplier, Alpina Eurosport, who provided a standard written price list. This quoted the price for the Marwe skate rollers as £199.  On a follow up phone call staff negotiated a deal with Alpina Eurosport equivalent to a 10% discount on all items purchased. The negotiated price was then compared with the price quoted by Tout Tele. Tout Tele were able to offer a lower price (£120 per pair compared with approximately £179 for Alpina Euro Sport) and were therefore given the order. Once these prices had been compared, there was no requirement to retain the Alpina Eurosport price list.”  

Yet it details on HM Revenue & Customs website regarding Reporting Tax Fraud... 

“If a business charges you VAT it must be VAT registered and must declare any VAT it charges to HMRC. Some businesses deliberately avoid registering for VAT, thereby gaining an unfair advantage over their competitors. Others may either be bogus or may lie about the amount of VAT that they owe. You might know that a business is not declaring all the VAT they’re charging, or you might think that they’re not because they offer goods for sale at substantially below market value:”
Because it has been stated that employee Roy Young is supplying Nordic Ski Equipment, but only invoices for Roller Skis and 2x used mountain bikes were supplied.... Roy Young has already supplied an illegal VAT Invoice to the Big Lottery, where he fails to detail a 9 digit VAT No... therefore, with Mr Young also holding the supply agreements for Salomon and Fischer (using his employers address at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre), with deliveries of equipment for his business being made to his place of work (the Centre), using Council staff to help operate his company as well as purchase equipment from it. 265 pairs of skis and boots are detailed on the Inventory of Moveable equipment (incidentally these same staff members are also in charge of Auditing the Inventory and condemning equipment). Since Aberdeenshire Council have done everything it can to withhold the receipts / invoices of all the ski equipment held as well as creating a fictitious company Fischer Racquetline Limited naming it as a supplier... That Roy Young has supplied the Nordic ski equipment and may have in the process continued to commit VAT fraud similar to the Big Lottery grant he manipulated.
25 Feb 08 Decision 026/2008 fails to be uploaded to the Scottish Information Commissioners Website... Decision 027/2008 has been uploaded however... I have to email Jill Walker to discover why?
26 Feb 08 Ian to Jill Walker… Decision 004/2008 & 026/2008... Dear Ms Walker, Decision 004/2008 I don't know if you remember during our last meeting 9th Nov 07, regarding my work commitments, but often they take me away from home for periods of time depending on which work projects require site visit. Firstly I'd like to apologise for not responding to your letters regarding confirmation of receipt of an answer from Aberdeenshire Council on Decision 004/2008... obviously it's because I hadn't received it after your 1 week deadline. I did receive Aberdeenshire Council's answer... and have analysed it (see attached)... and again Aberdeenshire Council are unable to provide a satisfactory answer. You may or may not be interested to read the attachment, however, my Investigation is primarily for submission to Audit Scotland and the Scottish Public Service Ombudsman regarding serious financial impropriety within Aberdeenshire Council - this is something I will be doing within the next 2 weeks. As you are aware I also analysed the Decision 004/2008 itself, and concluded that Aberdeenshire Council should be reported to HM Revenue & Customs... I had a 2 hour meeting with a HM Revenue & Customs Tax Inspector in Aberdeen on 19th February 2008 and they have initiated a full investigation into working practices and failure to keep proper financial records despite the Law stating they must do for at least 7 years, being unable to account for any single item of equipment held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, the creation of fictitious company Fischer Racquetlline Limited (which will be investigated) and the investigation of employee Roy Young submitting illegal VAT Invoices to the Big Lottery for equipment which as Grant Applicant and Huntly Nordic Ski Club Treasurer he applied for and supplied. Additionally a point which you didn't bring out in the SIC investigation was the contradiction that Aberdeenshire Council previously claimed employee Roy Young held the Fischer supplier agreement... then Aberdeenshire Council backtracked and claimed they did with Fischer Racquetline Limited... (despite the actual distributor Thin Ice Sports in Edinburgh also confirming Roy Young held the agreement using Aberdeenshire Council's address at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre to front the supply agreement arrangement). With Aberdeenshire Council being completely untruthful to your investigation and disappointingly for me, you accepted them on their word only instead of the hard facts that I had supplied in my full report. (The report sent to Margaret Keyse on 16th February 2007 as an additional request to prove that I have legitimate interest in receiving the names of the staff that work at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre for Decision 084/2006.) As a result of the HM Revenue and Customs meeting on 19th February 2008, I have now published my full Investigation onto the internet for them to use electronically as the case is allocated to an Investigating Officer... this will remain live on the internet from this point forward. http://www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info Since Aberdeenshire Council already claimed employee Roy Young was supplying Nordic Ski equipment... and the fact he is issuing illegal VAT receipts to the Big Lottery, HM Revenue and Customs will now look into every aspect of financial accountability at Aberdeenshire Council. Decision 026/2008 I have now had a good look through Decision 026/2008 and will complete my analysis of it this week... my initial conclusion is there is substantial secrecy and provision of mis-information within Aberdeenshire Council, yet SIC accept Section 17 as an answer every single time.... for me devaluing FOISA. SIC should have checked Companies House website when I indicated, (on several occasions) that this company was fictitious and should have been aware of the Law, requiring proper financial records must be kept for 7 years, therefore the information must exist and to quote Section 17 wasn't good enough. I was told that this Decision would be released on the SIC Website yesterday (Monday 25th February 2008), but note that it has been withheld for some reason? I do require it to be released as a matter of importance, as HM Revenue & Customs investigation will need to refer again to its conclusion that Aberdeenshire Council are continuing the Fischer Racquetline story and re-iterating that they are not keeping proper financial records. There are 226 pairs of Fischer Skis and boots held on the Inventory in question approximately £30,000 therefore not an insignificant amount to be overlooked, remembering employee Roy Young holds the Fischer supply agreement and there is no evidence of the existence of Fischer Racquetline Limited and the fact that Roy Young is already issuing illegal VAT receipts. I have serious concerns about the misuse of Public funds and regard every aspect of this Investigation with high importance. I do understand that this has been a complex case for you to look at and appreciate the work that you have done. My report suggests that, since Senior Aberdeenshire Council managers are doctoring information at Aberdeenshire Council that this may just be the tip of the iceberg regarding the fraud of £100,000s maybe Millions for the re-supply of sport equipment to the Council by staff members... therefore I will also be making a submission to the Procurator Fiscal directly in Aberdeen in due course and at the appropriate time. I look forward to hearing from you about the progress of 026/2008 upload to the SIC Website... Thanks and best regards Ian Cameron
26 Feb 08 Jill Walker to Ian… Decision 004/2008 & 026/2008... Dear Mr Cameron, I write in response to your concern that your decision is not on the Commissioner’s website.  We are currently experiencing problems with our website, and in particular the decisions database element of it.  At the moment it is not possible to access any of the decision notices which were issued in 2008.  It is hoped that the problem will be rectified soon. Sincerely Jill Walker

26 Feb 08 Ian to Jill Walker… Decision 004/2008 & 026/2008... Thank you very much Jill, I appreciate you taking the time to update me so quickly about that. And again, despite my disappointments with the decisions so far, I do appreciate the work you've put into my case and that SIC base decisions on points of Information only. I know that HM Revenue & Customs and hopefully Audit Scotland will address all the problems I've highlighted thoroughly and restore transparency, accountability and public confidence in Aberdeenshire Council.. I can assure you again, that after this Investigation is complete, I will probably never do something like this again... It's been a monumental effort in which I've put more effort into, than I did for my Master's Degree thesis! Best regards Ian
26 Feb 08 Jill Walker to Ian… Decision 004/2008 & 026/2008... Dear Mr Cameron, Your decision notice is now on the Commissioner’s website.  You should be able to access it now. Sincerely Jill Walker

26 Feb 08 Letter Andrew Lawson, Information Security Officer, Personnel and ICT, Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... Dear Ian Cameron – Data Protection Act, Subject Access Request - I write to acknowledge receipt of your Subject Access Form. I am now processing your request under Section 7 of The Data Protection Act. If you have further questions, please contact me on the above number 01261 813354 (Banff) Yours Sincerely Andrew Lawson, Information Security Officer

Andrew Lawson - Admission of Intention to Mislead

What Andrew Lawson admits here with this letter... is his previous intention and attempt to mislead and the corruption of due process of his reply made on 14 Jul 06...
(Click Here to see - XXV Reply Subject Access Request = FOI Request 14 Jul 06)
What’s also interesting to note, is that no reference is made to my letter of 15 Feb 08 where I state that... “I will recourse any breach of my statutory rights accordingly”...  I haven’t written these words lightly... so it would appear that the message is starting to get through.
I have no expectation regarding the return information I’ll receive from Aberdeenshire Council from this ‘Subject Access Request’. In every aspect of their operation they have corrupted due process... and I fully expect them to withhold information that they should be releasing.
However, if this case does go into a Court of Law... and Aberdeenshire Council try to produce documents which they should have released to me in this Subject Access Request... then they will by default, demonstrate to the Court, that they broke the Laws of the Data Protection Act (1998).

This report detailed a long time ago that Aberdeenshire Council cannot be trusted at all... and that there has already been a complete loss in Public confidence in their Administration.
26 Feb 08 Letter Alastair Nicol to Jill Walker Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/CK    FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002 REQUEST FOR INFORMATION ACE/622286 - SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER'S DECISION 026/2008 - I refer to the Commissioner's Decision Notice 026/2008 and our subsequent telephone conversations on 25 February, 2008. I enclose a copy of the letter which I have sent to Mr Cameron in response t6 the Commissioner's instruction that the Council provide a further explanation regarding the operation of the Council's Financial Regulations, in particular how they are maintained and retained and their relevance to the subject matter of Mr Cameron's request. I trust that this is an appropriate response to the Commissioner's instruction and I look forward to hearing that the investigation is now concluded. Alastair Nicol, Clerk to Freedom of Information Review Panel

26 Feb 08 Letter Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer Aberdeenshire Council to Ian... Our Ref: FOI/1 AN/CK
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002 REQUEST FOR INFORMATION ACE/62286 - SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER'S DECISION 026/2008 - I refer to your request for information ACE/62286 dated 14 July, 2006, and request for clarification dated 17 August, 2006, which were the subject of the Scottish Information Commissioner's Decision Notice 026/2008. The Commissioner found that the Council had partially complied with the Act but asked me to provide you with a further explanation regarding the operation of the Council's Financial Regulations, in particular how they are maintained and retained and their relevance to the subject matter of your request. It is part of the remit of the Policy and Resources Committee to approve policies for the regulation and management of the finances of the Council and to prepare and review from time to time such regulations as may be necessary for the proper administration of the Council's financial affairs. Reports are submitted to the Committee regularly on an ad hoc basis whenever amendments are required. The Council's Financial Regulations are a working document which is constantly being amended and updated as required. The current version which appears on our website dates from 11 January, 2007. Previous amendments since the start of this decade were made at Committee meetings on 18 April, 2001, 28 February, 2002, 18 September, 2003, 11 November, 2004, 24 February, 2005, and 23 February, 2006. Given such regular updating, you will understand that a situation could exist where a number of superseded versions of the document might be circulating within the Council which would differ only slightly from each other. In order to avoid that confusion it is customary for staff to delete previous versions from their systems. That may be why you said staff were referring to different versions of the Regulations when dealing with your request. With regard to the detailed inventory of equipment listed in your request dated 14 July, 2006, and in your request for clarification dated 17 August, 2006, I can confirm that the version of the Financial Regulations which was in force at the time the purchases were made would have been applicable to these purchases, although you should note that some of the equipment was inherited from the Trust which previously ran the facility and therefore would not have been purchased. In the versions of the Financial Regulations in force prior to 23 February, 2006, Regulation 5.3.4 set out that where the value of a contract was estimated to be less than £5,000, contracts could be entered into by a Director at his or her discretion without the need to obtain competitive quotations, provided certain conditions were met. (The limit was then changed to £10,000). The conditions were if:- (a) the goods, materials or services are proprietary articles or are sold only at a fixed price, and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available, or (b) the prices of the goods, materials or services are wholly controlled by trade organisations or government order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available, or (d) the work to be executed or the goods, materials or services constitute an extension of an existing contract (and all other requirements of Financial Regulations are satisfied), or (e) the contract is for the execution of work or supply of goods, materials or services certified by the Director concerned and being required so urgently as not to permit the invitation of tenders; the circumstances to be reported to the next Policy and Resources Committee for information, or (f) the work to be executed or goods, materials or services supplied consist of repairs to or the supply of parts for existing proprietary machinery or plant, or (g) the Director can otherwise demonstrate that the goods or services have been obtained in the most economical way possible. Financial Regulation 5.3.5. prior to 23 February, 2006, set out that where the contract price was estimated to be over £5,000, but less than £60,000, competitive quotations had to be obtained in writing from at least two parties, including, where appropriate internal service providers. (The lower limit was then changed to £10,000). Alastair Nicol, Principal Committee Officer Aberdeenshire Council
Analysis of Aberdeenshire Council’s 26 Feb 08 Answer to Decision 026/2008

I have asked for a copy of the Procurement Policy which is now being interpreted by Alastair Nicol as the Financial Regulations... yet I’m still not given a copy of the Policy... I am still only given an extract from the Policy document... therefore my FOI request has still not been answered / fulfilled properly.

Procurement... a Policy of Continual Change
Aberdeenshire Council’s reply from Alastair Nicol states that procurement (The Council’s Financial Regulations), are a working document, constantly updated and amended as required...

“Reports are submitted to the Committee regularly on an ad hoc basis whenever amendments are required. The Council's Financial Regulations are a working document which is constantly being amended and updated as required.”
... essentially saying, they can manipulate the rules on procurement as it suits them or doesn’t suit them, making this policy irrelevant.
Admission of a Failure in Quality Control and Lack of Supervision of Aberdeenshire Council Staff
Alastair Nicol then suggest that ‘regular updating’, will create a number of superseded versions in the hands of Officers charged with procuring equipment for Aberdeenshire Council. He suggests that it is only customary not mandatory for staff to delete previous versions...

“In order to avoid that confusion it is customary for staff to delete previous versions from their systems. That may be why you said staff were referring to different versions of the Regulations when dealing with your request.”
This is an incredible admission of a serious failure in Quality Control of documents in its own right and demonstrates to a lack of proper supervision of staff. You’d think that something as important as the spending of tax payers money would be taken seriously.

Alastair Nicol’s Attempt to Mislead the Information on Purchases of Ski Equipment...
Alastair Nicol states that pre 23 Feb 06, the Financial Regulations in Point 5.3.4 state...

“value of a contract was estimated to be less than £5,000, contracts could be entered into by a Director at his or her discretion without the need to obtain competitive quotations, provided certain conditions were met”
With reference to the equipment held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, Aberdeenshire Council state they have no Financial Records at all to determine legitimacy of the existence of the 265 skis and boots & therefore no way of telling what the size of each order was or the value these purchases totalled and whether they were over the £5,000 threshold.

Aberdeenshire Council only provided a spreadsheet Appendix 1 which proves nothing other than the first use of the name Fischer Racquetline Limited.

Alastair Nicol claims relative to the information provided on 08 Aug 06, that the equipment was purchased rather than inherited, therefore subject to Aberdeenshire Council Financial Requlations. 

(Aberdeenshire Council took over operation of Huntly Nordic Ski Centre in June 1999 Ref ACE/32775 14 Oct 05)

Alastair Nicol claims that all costs were below the £5,000 level and in most cases from a sole supplier

“The information provided to you on 8th August 2006, shows that, where equipment was purchased rather than inherited, the costs were all below the level of £5,000 and in most cases from a sole supplier.”
Question is... How can Alastair Nicol prove this statement? They haven’t got a single Invoice for any of the 265 sets of skis and boots held and additionally, have already claimed that the sole suppliers of those 265 sets of skis and boots, Fischer & Salomon are employee Roy Young’s business Tout Tele suppliers making deliveries to the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre for his business!

It is Roy Young who is the supplier of the equipment not the Fischer and Salomon distributors.

14 Oct 05 ACE/32775 “The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.”
In addition to the information provided on 08 Aug 06 is Appendix 1... and Appendix 1 only details 76 sets skis and boots leaving 189 sets still unaccounted for !

Click Here to view - Appendix 1
Alastair Nicol’s answer here is completely false and misleading once again.

Subconscious Admission of Impropriety

Ironically, Alastair Nicol ends his explanation by saying...

“You can therefore be assured that the purchases were properly made without the need for formal tenders or competitive quotes, as allowed by the Financial Regulations.”
Nothing in his answer assures me... it’s a litany of statements with absolutely no evidence to support his claims that purchases are being properly made.

My question is... Why is Alastair Nicol covering up and providing untruthful answers? What is his involvement in the manipulation of public funds by employees at Aberdeenshire Council? In Aberdeenshire Council’s culture of secrecy, he has now put himself and his job at risk and doing so in writing... but why? What’s behind a Senior Aberdeenshire Council official doing this?
27 Feb 08 Jill Walker to Ian… Decision 026/2008... Application for Decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Decision No: 026/2008 I refer to the letter from the Scottish Information Commissioner of 18 February 2008 enclosing his Decision Notice (Decision 026/2008) in relation to your application dated 16 February 2007. In order that I can ensure that this matter has been dealt with satisfactorily I should be obliged if you would confirm whether you have received the letter dated 26 February 2008 from Aberdeenshire Council in which they have sought to provide an explanation as to the operation of the Council's Financial Regulations, as required by the Commissioner. 

27 Feb 08 Ian to Heather Brooke heather@yrtk.org ... Landmark FOI Victory... Dear Heather, I wanted to email after seeing the BBC News last night to congratulate you on your FOI Landmark Victory... it must have taken a huge effort to get that decision out! I say that as I am also a Freedom of Information Campaigner living in Aberdeen and completely agree with you that FOI legislation is weak and that in my case, the Scottish Information Commission is also ineffective. I've been looking into a matter of serious corruption of public funds by employees within my Local Authority Aberdeenshire Council ,who are creating requisitions for equipment, then directing those Purchase Orders into their own businesses to subsequently re-supply their place of work within Aberdeenshire Council... When I challenged the Council, I faced nothing but a litany of untruths to cover up £100,000 worth of equipment run through employees businesses in this way (that I know of)... since Senior Officials at Aberdeenshire Council are doctoring information, in the worst case, creating a fictitious company and claiming it supplied equipment to cover up the corruption... my report suggests that this may only be the tip of the Iceberg... I have only just this week uploaded the report to my ISP server... and expect to make a submission to Audit Scotland and HM Revenue & Customs shortly, as my Investigation concludes. http://www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info You might be interested to know that my 3rd Scottish Information Decision which will be published very soon, has already been through the Court of Session in Edinburgh (as you'll know Scotland's highest Civil Court), with Aberdeenshire Council doing everything it can to prevent the release of the names of the corrupt employees. This case will have national importance as it is actually the first test case between the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information Act... The original decision fell in my favour, but was defended by Aberdeenshire Council claiming it would offend the European Convention on Human Rights that I should have been asked to prove that I had "legitimate interest" in receiving the names of those corrupt staff members claiming Section 38 1(b) that it was Personal Information. (Full details of this can be found in the Discussion section of my report) This Decision hinges on whether I can prove that I have 'legitimate interest'... of which I think I have with my full report, therefore I expect that this first test case should go my way and a precedent between the 2 Laws set... It is Decision 084/2006 http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp It heartens me after the struggle I have had, that someone like you is also out there taking an interest in Natural Justice and campaigning to restore public confidence. Thanks for giving some inspiration and if you could help me with any advice, it would be something I'd really appreciate... With kind regards... Ian Cameron PS 1. For your information, my case is not in the public domain yet and you are the first Journalist that I've made any contact with. 2. If your interested, you'll see my effective use of FOI with all my Questions and Answers details in the Appendix Page
28 Feb 08 Heather Brooke heather@yrtk.org  to Ian... Landmark FOI Victory... Hi Ian, Wow it sounds like you have quite a battle on your hands. But have a look at my Tribunal decision case because I think it will be useful to cite in your case as it involves precisely the issue you're facing: the conflict between the Data Protection Act and FOIA. The decision very clearly states that the public interest in transparency, value for money, accountability and the health of democracy. Look specifically at paragraph 74 of the decision (found on my website and on www.informationtribunal.gov.uk). I have also attached a witness statement I obtained from David Banisar who is a global expert on FOI and Privacy and the way the two interact. There are many good legal cases put forward to show why it is not in the public interest to keep secret the way public money is spent. I hope that helps. Do keep in touch and let me know how your case progresses. And if you'd like me to post your case on my blog I'd be happy to. All the best, Heather Brooke 
(Click here to view)     David Banisar -Witness Statement for Heather Brooke - MP's Expenses Scandal
29 Feb 08 Ian to Jill Walker… Decision 026/2008... Dear Mrs Walker, I am writing to confirm receipt of Aberdeenshire Council's response to Decision 026/2008... Again there is a lot wrong with the answer. Alastair Nicol writes 26 Feb 08:'The information provided to you on 8th August 2006, shows that, equipment was purchased rather than inherited, the costs were all below the level of £5,000 and in most cases from a sole supplier. You can therefore be assured that the purchases were properly made without the need for formal tenders or competitive quotes, as allowed by the Financial Regulations' but... The answer given to me by Aberdeenshire Council claims on 27 Sep 06 ACE/62286: “In addition to this significant purchase of over £10,000 worth of equipment, the Centre each year purchases approximately £2,000 worth of new equipment to augment the overall stock and to meet the rental needs of the service.” My conclusion is, the Freedom of Information Act is a weak Law... and its enforcement is also weak. The situation now is, I have conflicting versions of procurement at Aberdeenshire Council... I have been lied to by them again and again... and the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, has failed to support my attempt to get the facts/truth out on information that must be held... I also realise that there is no transparency or accountability within Aberdeenshire Council and this has come at the price of public confidence. I believe Aberdeenshire Council have made a complete fool out of Kevin Dunion through their dishonest responses to your Office after my appeals, by failure to keep any Financial records despite by Law being required to and provision of fictitious company Fischer Racquetline Limited... This will be proven when Audit Scotland and HM Revenue & Customs begin their investigations within the next month. I am now left having been unable to determine exactly what is happening within procurement of equipment at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre... due to continuing secretive nature of Senior Officials at Aberdeenshire Council... Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron
29 Feb 08 Jill Walker to Ian… Decision 026/2008... Dear Mr Cameron, I write with reference to your reply to me concerning the response that you have received from Aberdeenshire Council.  I note the points that you have raised concerning the information given to you by Mr Nicol on 25 Feb 2008 which makes reference to information in Appendix 1 of the letter that you received from Aberdeenshire Council on 8 August 2006, I understand what you say about the fact that Mr Nicol refers to over £10,000 worth of equipment and how this conflicts with the explanation that has been presented to you now concerning the Council’s assertion that the costs of obtaining the goods was below £5,000.  However, what is apparent from looking at the information which is referred to in Appendix 1 is that the collective total of all this equipment is £10,665.78,but the individual costs of the equipment recorded is in all cases below£5,000. Therefore the cost of obtaining the different packages of equipment was below £5,000 in each case. I hope this helps. Sincerely Jill Walker

29 Feb 08 Ian to Jill Walker… Decision 026/2008... Jill, You'll realise my frustration and I do appreciate the work that you've done but... the problem is... Appendix 1 is only a spreadsheet which anyone can put together and doesn't validate anything... I've asked for Invoices/Receipts to unequivocally prove existence/values... Aberdeenshire Council can't legitimise 1 single piece of ski equipment held on the Inventory of Moveable Equipment dated 31 Mar 05... claiming they have no Financial Records whatsoever... and despite them saying equipment is replaced every 2-3 years. Furthermore, you'll also note by looking at this Inventory that there are 226 pairs of Fischer skis and boots recorded... Appendix 1 only details 54 sets... making 172 sets of skis and boots still unaccounted for... that is approximately £30,000 worth of Fischer equipment in total. When you put this together with the fact the Instructor and employee at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre Roy Young holds the supply agreement for Fischer and delivery’s of ski equipment are made to Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre for his business 'Tout Tele' with staff purchasing from that same business and helping operate it by receiving daytime delivery’s... that this failure of unaccountability of information (which should be held), is unacceptable. (Aberdeenshire Council's FOI answer ACE/32775 attached details this) Furthermore, to cover up Aberdeenshire Council later claim a nonexistent company supplied the Fischer equipment (Fischer Racquetline Limited) after saying their employee had the agreement and was supplying Nordic Ski Equipment in ACE/32775 (attached). Due to the nature of the misleading and contradictory  information I have been given, the only conclusion that can be drawn is the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 has failed my attempt to determine if there has been any misuse of public funds by Aberdeenshire Council staff members. My findings are, Aberdeenshire Council are treating FOISA with complete contempt. This has only been the information phase of my questioning of the discrepancies that exist at Aberdeenshire Council's Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre... Audit Scotland will be ones Investigating exactly what's going on at Aberdeenshire Council along with HM Revenue & Customs. I only hope that they find nothing is wrong... but I don't think that will be the conclusion of their findings. Ian Cameron
03 Mar 08 Letter Jill Walker to Ian… Compliance with Decision of Scottish Information Commissioner Decision No: 026/2008... Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to previous correspondence in connection with the above and confirm that I have received evidence that Aberdeenshire Council has complied with the requirements of the Scottish Information Commissioner’s Decision 026/2008 of 18 Feb 08. I have now closed my file and has been a satisfactory conclusion to your application. Yours sincerely Jill Walker Freedom of Information Officer
From the Scottish Information Commissioner’s point of view an answer has been given by Aberdeenshire Council... therefore that is all they are interested in... the fact that that answer still fails to answer my questions or provide any accountability is irrelevant to the Scottish Information Commissioner. This to me demonstrates that the Freedom of Information Act... can also be called the Freedom of Mis-Information Act, as any Local Authority will know it can do exactly that and won’t be called to account by Kevin Dunion the Scottish Information Commissioner making this Law a weak Law with ineffective enforcement.
04 Mar 08 Data Protection Act Subject Access Request – Cheque for £10 cashed by Aberdeenshire Council
14 Mar 08 Letter Ian to Kevin Dunion OBE, Scottish information Commissioner... Dear Sir, I’m writing to ask if it’s possible to receive an update regarding outstanding Decision 084/2006. I am concerned about the continual delays regarding the re-issue of a new Decision and the detrimental effect it has had to the relevance of my case. Case 084/2006 is now about my requirement to prove that I have ‘Legitimate Interest’. Although I do appreciate the nature of the case and that a reasonable delay would be expected, it has been almost 18 months since I submitted information as to why I have ‘Legitimate Interest’. You may not be aware, but other delays I have faced by the Office of the Scottish Information Commission (OSIC) are the 4 months plus for OSIC to even acknowledge my applications for validation of Decision’s 004/2008 and 026/2008. ‘Legitimate Interest’ I now need to reaffirm what my legitimate interest is in receiving the names of the staff at the Centre. I believe this is directly in the public interest based on the investigation that I have now completed. www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info There is legitimate public interest and a need to create public confidence in how public money is spent and in being reassured that it is being spent properly, by knowing what money is spent on within the rules. I believe the legitimate interest of members of the public, like myself in this case, regards the direct manipulation of public funds by staff members at Aberdeenshire Council... this in my opinion far outweighs or is greater than the personal data in question. I feel it is now necessary to re-iterate key points in my case before Decision 084/2006 is re-issued. Knowing that Aberdeenshire Council employee Roy Young had already been setting up supply agreements with Ski manufacturer distributors using his employers trading address... “03 Oct 05 Email - Rab Reid Thin Ice to Ian… Fischer Franchise in Aberdeenshire / Aberdeen City… Hello Please try Braemar Mountain Sports in Braemar for Fischer Nordic equipment or Roy Young at Tout Tele c/o Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre in Huntly. Thanks for your enquiry. Rab Reid Sales & Marketing Director Thin Ice Sports Ltd info@thinicesports.com www.thinicesports.com “ ...On 04 Nov 05, I submitted an FOI request to Aberdeenshire Council asking for the names of the staff who were both in (Aberdeenshire Council’s words on 14 Oct 05 [ACE/32775]), purchasing equipment from and helping run their colleagues business... “Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fischer, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company.” Aberdeenshire Council employee contracts state this FOI2 Reply 02 Dec 05 [ACE/32775]: “The Council will not normally restrict employees from undertaking work on their own behalf or with other employers provided such work does not conflict with their paid employment with the Council, impair in any way the performance of their Council duties or involve the use of knowledge and information concerning Council business or materials, equipment or tools belonging to the Council.  This includes persons who are Directors/Partners of businesses.  Employees must seek written approval from their line manager before taking on such employment”. On 16 Oct 06 Margaret Keyse wrote to me informing me that the Scottish Information Commission decided not to defend the original Decision on 084/2006, with the Court of Session finding in favour of Aberdeenshire Council – quashing the Decision. With the process reverted back 1 step, I provided information on 24 Oct 06 and again my full report on 16 Feb 07... www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info ... this report has been uploaded to the Internet and is now part of a full investigation which has begun into Financial irregularities at Aberdeenshire Council by HM Revenue & Customs. This HM Revenue & Customs investigation will focus on Aberdeenshire Council failing to keep any Financial Records of any receipt or Invoice for Ski equipment supplied to Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre – (employee Roy Young’s place of work), confirmed through Decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008... and has the submission of an illegal VAT receipt by the employee at the heart of the case where Roy Young was also co-ordinating Big Lottery grant applications and then placing the contracts for those Big Lottery Awards to supply the equipment, through his own business. On 04 Jun 07, Margaret Keyse informed me about reasons for the delays on Decision 084/2006 and that you’d met to discuss the case with your Solicitors Brodies and the head of investigations Margaret Keyse. You may or may not be aware that Audit Scotland are currently conducting a ‘Best Value Audit’ on Aberdeenshire Council which will reach conclusions about Aberdeenshire Council’s corporate performance and how well they are supporting continuous improvement in their performance. With this in mind, I will be submitting my full report to Audit Scotland very shortly into the manipulation of Public funds by employees at Aberdeenshire Council and the subsequent attempt at a cover up by Senior Officials at Aberdeenshire Council, who doctored information suggesting that a fictitious company which they called Fischer Racquetline Limited supplied equipment... despite Aberdeenshire Council already claiming Fischer was their employee Roy Young’s supply agreement with delivery’s for his company ‘Tout Tele’ being made to the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. As always, the Freedom of Information Act is about information... in Decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008, it would have been easy for the OSIC to check Fischer Racquetline Limited by going to Companies House Website, as I made it clear during the Investigation that this company was fictitious and created to mislead my investigation... or... informing the Council that they must have Financial Records as they are required by Law to keep them for 6 years plus the current year... but disappointingly for me, quoting Section 17 was acceptable to OSIC which can only enforce the fact that the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 is a weak Law which is also administered weakly in this case. In making this statement about OSIC’s failure, I have kept in mind what happened in the original Decision 084/2006 first published on18 May 06. “Point 25. During the investigation, the investigating officer identified that, in the case of four members of staff employed at the Centre, their names and job titles appear on the website for the Centre.” “Point 26.  I am satisfied that the names of employees is personal data particularly as, in this case, the names will be released in conjunction with other information which will identify the employees. However, I am also satisfied that disclosure of the names of the staff at the Centre would not breach the first data protection principle of the DPA. Information about members of staff is already available on the website for the Centre and is therefore in the public domain. As such, I do not accept that it would be against the expectation of the employees that names could be made publicly available in response to an information request under FOISA. I have also taken into account the fact that this information relates to individuals in their professional capacity. I therefore take the view that it would be fair for this information to be released.” What Points 25 and 26 demonstrate to me is the OSIC does check information and should have checked Fischer Racquetline Limited after my concerns about it. Indeed, Jill Walker has now informed me in a letter dated 03 Mar 08, that she has evidence regarding the existence of Invoices/ Fischer Racquetline Limited... exactly the information I have been trying to get, but says the case is now closed, to which I infer she won’t give me that evidence... in all honesty I believe I have just been whitewashed in the hope that I’ll go away and Aberdeenshire Council will continue to remain unaccountable. Since I have been waiting almost 18 months since I submitted my evidence as to why I have ‘Legitimate Interest’ to Margaret Keyse on 24 Oct 06, I have put together a chronology of Decision 084/2006 for reference purposes (please find attached) If you have any interest in speaking to me regarding any aspect of my investigations findings, I’d be willing to come to St Andrews in person at a mutually convenient time. I thank you for taking the time to read my letter. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

24 Mar 08 Letter Ian to Robert Black, Auditor General, Audit Scotland, Head Office, 110 George Street, Edinburgh EH2 4LH... Dear Sir, I have a serious complaint to make about significant financial irregularities which are currently ongoing within a Local Authority under your remit - Aberdeenshire Council. I have been looking into an incident which started as applications for Big Lottery grants for personal financial gain by the applicants, which turned into employees within Aberdeenshire Council (the same people), involved in the significant manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts. This case involves Aberdeenshire Council employee's raising requisitions to purchase equipment for their place of work... then directing those purchase orders into their own businesses to subsequently re-supply their Council place of work, directly contravening the rules set out in their Aberdeenshire Council contracts of employment. My estimates are conservatively £100,000 worth of equipment... but this may only be the tip of the Iceberg. These same employees are also setting up supply agreements with Sports Equipment Distributors for their private businesses using Aberdeenshire Council facilities address to front the arrangement. When challenged using the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA), Senior Managers within Aberdeenshire Council elected to supply a fictitious company name to mislead my investigation (which they called Fischer Racquetline Limited), suggesting that this non-existent company supplied the sports equipment when in fact it was Aberdeenshire Council employees... why the Senior Managers would do this is a very good question? (I have considered that the incident that I have uncovered may not be an isolated case.) The case has been ongoing for 3 years now - delayed by "due process". I have been waiting for a 3rd Decision to be made by the Scottish Information Commissioner,KevinDunion.084/2006 http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp This 3rd Decision has already been through the Court of Session, which in itself details the seriousness of the case. This Decision may be a precedent case between the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 with regard to personal information with Aberdeenshire Council doing everything it can to prevent the release of the names of the employees at the heart of the corruption.[image: image1.png]


 I have completed a full report with the relevant investigation findings already submitted to HM Revenue & Customs. This HM Revenue & Customs investigation will focus on Aberdeenshire Council failing to keep any Financial Records of any receipt or Invoice for Ski equipment supplied to Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, confirmed through Decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008. Central to the Investigation is the  submission of an illegal VAT receipt by the employee at the centre of the case, where he also co-ordinated Big Lottery grant applications placing the contracts for those Big Lottery Awards to supply the equipment, through his own business. I also believe there is a strong case for a further submission to the Procurator Fiscal Service to check if there has been any criminality by Aberdeenshire Council employees into the misappropriation/fraudulent use of public money, as these same employees also maintain the Inventory of Sports Equipment where there is no financial evidence to support the existence of any item of equipment detailed on that Inventory. Therefore, it cannot currently be proven that equipment is in fact being supplied at all, as these same employees are also responsible for condemning equipment as unfit for use, a circumstance exists where it is highly possible for Invoices to be submitted to Aberdeenshire Council, but no equipment is actually supplied. The failure to keep any Financial Records has is proveninDecision's...004/2008 http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/applicationsanddecisions/Decisions/2008/200700820.asp
026/2008http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/applicationsanddecisions/Decisions/2008/200700821.asp I am very concerned about the misuse of public funds coupled with a culture of dishonesty and cover up, a litany of corruption, the destruction of financial records and doctoring of information at Aberdeenshire Council by Senior Management. I have completed a full and detailed Investigation/Report and would like to present it in person to an Investigating Officer at Audit Scotland. I would need at least 1 hour of an Officer's time to do so. All information contained in my report has been obtained using the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. I look forward to hearing from you in due course... Yours Sincerely [image: image2.png]


Ian Cameron
01 Apr 08 Letter Andrew Lawson to Ian Cameron... Recorded Delivery DH7547 9567 4GB Our Ref: AL/18022008... Dear Mr Cameron, REQUEST FOR SUBJECT ACCESS – Please find enclosed a permanent copy of your personal information requested in Subject Access Request received on 18th February 2008. Yours Sincerely Andrew Lawson, Information Security Officer, Personnel & ICT

14 Apr 08 Alan Campbell to Oldmeldrum Rotary Club… “Kaizen” and Aberdeenshire Council Alan Campbell, Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council was welcomed by President Robin Falconer and introduced by Susanna Neilsen. Alan had come to his first Rotary meeting, invited by Susanna to talk about KAISEN, an innovative project on continuous improvement. Alan explained that in today’s world more and more tasks have to be performed by fewer and fewer resources. With a clear intention of improving efficiency, Aberdeenshire Council paid for Consultants to support and advise existing council staff to focus on best practice. Now these staff advise and support others to eliminate waste and defects and allow employee empowerment. Hereby, the staff feel more in control, benefit from workplace improvements and work as a team. Even presenting the complicated statistics, Alan gave a very entertaining presentation extolling the success of the project which has won National and European awards. Denis Emslie gave the vote of thanks on behalf of the Club and hoped Alan had enjoyed his first meeting at a Rotary Club in Aberdeenshire.
http://www.oldmeldrumrotary.org.uk/reports2008pt1.htm
22 Apr 08 Ian to info@thinicesports.com Edinburgh… Court of Session, Edinburgh… Thin Ice Sports Ltd. Rab Reid 9 Elliot Road, Colinton Scotland - EH14 I DU Edinburgh... Dear Mr Reid, I'm writing to you regarding a case which is about to go through the Court of Session in the near future which has your company 'Thin Ice Sports' at the centre of the case. These Court proceedings are about the manipulation of Public Funds by Local Authority Staff who have made several claims centred around your Company to, in fact, cover up their manipulation of Local Authority Contracts where they are raising requisitions to purchase Nordic Ski Equipment, then direct those purchase orders into their own businesses to subsequently re-supply their Local Authority place of work. Now serious accusations and untruths have been made about your Company 'Thin Ice Sports' and its involvement in the supply of this equipment by the Local Authority. I am the one who has been investigating the corruption of Public Funds and if you had any interest to find out more, I'd be willing to meet you in person and show you exactly what has been said and written so far... and to tell you what will happen next. I look forward to hearing from you Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron
25 Apr 08 Visit to Audit Scotland Edinburgh to re-submit letter dated 26 Mar 08. Audit Scotland state that they aim to make a response within 10 working days... this was the 20th working day and I still hadn’t received a response from Audit Scotland. Bob Leishman Portfolio Manager did meet me without an appointment and I gave a brief of the case.
26 Apr 08 Rab Reid info@thinicesports.com Edinburgh to Ian… Court of Session, Edinburgh… Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your email. Please feel free to contact me, during business hours, on either telephone number listed below. Regards, Rab Reid, Thin Ice Sports Ltd, 9 Elliot Road, Colinton, Edinburgh Scotland - EH14 I DU info@thinicesports.com Mobile 07810836993 Tel/Fax 0044(0)131 441 3230
27 Apr 08 Letter Ian to Bob Leishman, Portfolio Manager, Audit Scotland, 18 George Street, Edinburgh EH2 2QU - Dear Sir, Thank you for taking some time to meet me on Friday afternoon 25 Apr 08 without an appointment. I accepted your apology that Audit Scotland had failed to acknowledge my letter of 26 Mar 08, which was the reason for my visit in person to Edinburgh to re-submit that same letter 20 working days later. I apologise for providing you with a disjointed brief on my complaint, my intention was to only re-submit my letter and I had no expectation to have the opportunity to speak to someone as important as yourself. Had I know, I would have prepared a proper verbal brief of the case. Now you asked me if I had approached Aberdeenshire Council directly with my Investigation which has uncovered serious financial and procedural irregularities within Aberdeenshire Council... and I iterated that I had lost complete confidence in trustworthiness of that organisation – at every level. I say this for the following 3 reasons (although there are more reasons): a) During the Freedom of Information Questions and corresponding Answers from Aberdeenshire Council, I have had nothing but a litany of false information, dishonesty, contradiction, untruthfulness and deceit, analysed in detail in my report which I aim to present at some point in the near future to an investigating officer at Audit Scotland. Indeed, I have had every brick wall possible put up against me including accusations of being vexatious to frustrate due process. b) On submission of a “Subject Access Request” as one of my statutory rights under the Data Protection Act 1998, Aberdeenshire Council elected again to attempt to mislead me by saying their ‘Subject Access Request’ Form was in fact a Freedom of Information request... and that this would then be passed on to the relevant department. It wasn’t... Instead it was ignored completely. Now the difficulty I had was, this was a different department (Personnel & ICT) to the one I’d been investigating (Education & Recreation). So why would a man like Andrew Lawson of Information Security break the Law like this, even when the official forms had been used? I considered in my report that Andrew Lawson was being instructed form a higher level to prevent the release of that information and wasn’t acting independently. c) Finally, on receipt of the information on the 01 Apr 08 of the re-submission of my “Subject Access Request”, the contents of that package contained correspondence between Aberdeenshire Council and the Office of the Scottish Information Commission (OSIC)... but surprisingly not 1 single piece of internal correspondence... which is unusual? c)i) Detail of significant defamation of my good character by the Principal Officer of the Law & Administration Department Alastair Nicol to Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations at OSIC. This was questioned by Margaret Keyse on 02 Feb 07 to provide evidence to support his defamation with a follow up letter on 15 Feb 07 to say that he couldn’t support his accusations. I believe the designed intention of this was to discredit my complaints to OSIC and take the focus off the investigation away from the information at hand. Indeed Alastair Nicol goes on to use the former Recreation Manager David Wright as the Scapegoat for his comments in that follow up. c)ii) Having been now forced to answer questions on Fischer Racquetline Limited by OSIC by way of a formal Information Notice under Section 50 of FOISA, Alan Campbell, Chief Executive described in detail on 18 Dec 07 to Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations at OSIC, the history of a company that has never existed called Fischer Racquetline Limited, created by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead my investigation. This company was created to cover up the fact that Aberdeenshire Council employee’s were directing large contracts to supply sports equipment into their own businesses, but what’s more worrying is Alan Campbell’s involvement in this case. My investigation has so far, only uncovered the corrupt practices of 1 business unit within Aberdeenshire Council... but... because senior management are/have prevaricated suggests that there is more to this case. Alan Campbell has attempted to conceal the truth deliberately from Margaret Keyse during her investigation... but why? Indeed on this point I reflect on the following statement made by Audit Scotland... “The identification of fraudulent activity in one area can often lead to the discovery that an individual is acting improperly in other respects” “The National Fraud Initiative in Scotland” May 2006 – Audit Scotland  In conclusion, to me this is as serious as it gets and now details a complete loss in public confidence in Alan Campbell the Chief Executive and Aberdeenshire Council in general. I have exposed the corruption of process all the way through this case. I believe there is a strong case for a separate Audit Scotland investigation and I may make a call for this through my local MSP for Gordon who you will also know as First Minister Alex Salmond. I thank you for taking the time to read my letter and that you’ll take a brief look at the attachments. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

28 Apr 08 Letter Ian to Rab Reid, Thin Ice Sports Ltd Edinburgh… Thank you for taking some time to speak to me on Monday afternoon 27 Apr 08. I have attached a letter for you to look at from the Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council to the Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission dated 18 Dec 07. Once you have reviewed it and would like to know more about it, please get in touch with me at the email address detailed above. Yours sincerely Ian Cameron
02 May 08 Letter Bob Leishman, Portfolio Manager, Audit Scotland to Ian... Our Ref: 09-C-008... Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your letters of 26th March and 27th April and for visiting us to raise your concerns about Aberdeenshire Council. As I mentioned, responsibility for the audit of local authorities in Scotland rests with the Accounts Commission rather than the Auditor General whose responsibilities cover the Scottish Government and health bodies. Audit Scotland provides services to enable both to undertake those audits and to undertake examinations of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the way public bodies and office-holders have used their resources in discharging their functions. I have passed the details you provided to me to the auditor of Aberdeenshire Council. As I suggested, the auditor will use the information as intelligence to inform the audit approach through which they gain assurance that appropriate systems and controls are in place to ensure the propriety of expenditure of public funds. Any concerns the auditor may have about the processes in place will be included the annual audit report to the Council and to the Commission. Auditors' reports are public documents and should be available in September. I appreciate your concerns about raising this matter directly with the Council but I would advise you to do so. The Council should operate a complaints procedure which should lead to some independent assessment of the issues by council officials who are in the best position to provide a more immediate and fuller explanation as to the circumstances surrounding your concerns. You might also wish to raise the matter with some Aberdeenshire councillors who have direct responsibility for holding officials to account. If you have evidence of fraudulent activity, this is a criminal matter and should be raised with the police. I hope this information is of use to you. Yours sincerely Bob Leishman Public Reporting Group
27 May 08 Letter Kevin Dunion OBE, Scottish information Commissioner to Ian Ref 200600082... Dear Mr Cameron, Application for decision – Aberdeenshire Council I refer to your letter of 14 March 2008, requesting an update regarding decision084/2006, given the delays in re-issuing the decision. I have discussed this case with Margaret Keyse and am aware of the outstanding issues. As you are aware, my decision will turn on whether your right (i.e. your “legitimate interest”) to receive the information outweighs the rights and freedoms and legitimate interests of the subjects of the information. This point is one which was discussed at the House of Lords last month in an appeal against one of my decisions. Your decision was therefore further delayed in the expectation that the Lords will issue a binding decision as to how this type of case should be addressed. I understand from Margaret that she did not advise you of the reasons for this further delay and she has asked me to apologise to you on her behalf for failing to do so. I have been advised by my solicitors that the House of Lords judgement should be issued next month, but it is possible that the judgement will not be issued until later this year. In any event, Margaret has assured me that she will prioritise this case when she returns to work from annual leave on 2 June. I have asked her to seek legal advice, if necessary, as to whether your decision can be issued without the need to wait for the judgement from the Lords on her return. In your letter, you expressed concerns that you have been whitewashed in the hope that you will go away. Please be assured that this is not the case. You have also offered to visit me in St Andrews to discuss the findings of your investigation. Given the detailed information you have provided me with, this should not be necessary. However, if I require any further information from you, I will let you know. Yours sincerely Kevin Dunion Scottish Information Commissioner
27 May 08 Press Release OSIC... Scottish Information Commissioner to tackle any persistent failings by Scottish public authorities... The Scottish Information Commissioner, Kevin Dunion, today (27 May 2008) wrote to Scottish public authorities setting out his new Enforcement Strategy which is intended to be used as a basis to identify and take action against authorities which persistently fail to comply with their responsibilities under Scotland's freedom of information legislation (FOI). Until now the Commissioner has rectified specific failings through his Decision Notices. The Enforcement Strategy is intended to identify and address patterns of persistent failure such as: not recognising freedom of information requests; not responding to requests within the required timescale; inadequate searches for information held; improperly calculating the costs of responding to requests. Launching the strategy, the Scottish Information Commissioner, Kevin Dunion said: "While I am heartened that many public authorities are displaying good practice in complying with their obligations under FOI, I want to identify any authorities which are persistently or seriously failing to comply. This enforcement strategy is intended to rectify any poor practice and to ensure that the public's right to information is respected." The Enforcement Strategy highlights the fact that most authorities subject to the provisions of FOI willingly comply with their obligations, and many will cooperate with the Commissioner in developing an improvement action plan. However if there is no agreement or if the failings are sufficiently serious the Commissioner will use his powers to make a practice recommendation or to issue an enforcement notice against the authority. The Strategy can be downloaded at: 
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ScottishPublicAuthorities/ComplianceEnforcement.asp
20 Jun 08... Audit Scotland... Best Value Audit Aberdeenshire Council... A sound performance by Aberdeenshire Council but a more strategic approach is needed... In the first report on Best Value at Aberdeenshire Council, published today, the Accounts Commission for Scotland welcomes the council’s decentralisation arrangements and devolved decision-making structure. It also highlights the council’s commitment to working with other bodies, its good service performance in a number of key areas and its sound traditional financial control. However, in order to deliver fully on its Best Value requirements, the council needs to adopt a more strategic approach and coordinate its plans more effectively. The Commission highlights particular areas for improvement, including the council’s approach to community planning, the need to ensure services are competitive, develop risk and asset management and to take a more strategic approach to financial management. Accounts Commission Chairman John Baillie said: “Aberdeenshire Council is providing good services in a number of key areas and is committed to working with other organisations. It has sound financial control and its decentralisation arrangements and decision-making structure work well. However it now needs to take a more strategic approach. It should be rigorous in implementing its strategic priorities and both increase and maintain the pace of change to ensure initiatives are followed through and evaluated. “We look forward to receiving an improvement plan from the council with measurable and achievable outcomes, which take forward the recommendations in the report by the Controller of Audit and the issues highlighted in these findings.”
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/media/article.php?id=82 
21 Jun 08… Letter from Alan Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council – Published in Aberdeen Press & Journal… Council’s Best Value Audit… Sir, I feel it is necessary to write to correct yesterday’s Press & Journal coverage of Aberdeenshire Council’s Best Value Audit. In the city edition, there was a positive headline “Council’s wins praise from watchdog” with a fair and balanced account of the report findings. However, anyone reading the Aberdeenshire version will have seen an identical article with the headline “Watchdog says council needs more effective leadership”. I would like to make it clear that nowhere in the audit report does it say that the council needs more effective leadership, in fact it is quite the opposite. Aberdeenshire Council is commended for it’s effective leadership in establishing a culture of continuous improvement, the leadership was also praised for tackling difficult issues and it records that Aberdeenshire leaders are well respected. Alan G. Campbell, Chief Executive, Aberdeenshire Council, Woodhill House, Westburn Road, Aberdeen.

25 Jun 08 Press Release Aberdeenshire Council... Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council to step down... Alan Campbell CBE, Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council has announced his resignation. His decision follows the publication of a very positive Best Value Report from Audit Scotland and 17 years leading Grampian Regional Council and Aberdeenshire Council. In a career spanning 40 years in local government he said that the publication of the positive Best Value Report was an important factor in his decision. "It is with some reluctance that I have decided to resign. "I am very satisfied with the findings of the Best Value Report which demonstrate that I will be leaving Aberdeenshire Council in a very good position, with sound financial management, a clear vision for the future and a committed and motivated workforce. "It would be easy for me to stay here for another four years until retirement, in a position where I am very happy and confident about the direction the Council will take. "However, I think that now the time is right to hand over the reins for someone else to continue to deliver our Vision to make Aberdeenshire Council the best in Scotland. I am keen to take on new challenges. I am passionate about the delivery of excellent public service delivery and feel that there will be new opportunities for me." During his recent years at the helm of one of Scotland’s largest local authorities Alan Campbell has seen the Council pick up numerous awards for its services, including a European Performance Award for its innovative Kaizen programme for continuous improvement, a Renewable Energy Award for its innovative approach to alternative fuels and the Delivering Excellence Award at this year’s Cosla awards ceremony. He has also seen Aberdeenshire come out top of the league tables twice in the past 12 months as having the best quality of life in Scotland, with many of the measures of success directly attributable to local government services. The Leader of the Council Anne Robertson paid tribute to the Chief Executive. She said: "Alan will leave Aberdeenshire Council in the best shape it has been in since its creation. He has worked tirelessly to deliver the quality services to our residents and has always led from the front with complete dedication and professionalism. "I want to personally thank Alan for his many years of loyal service and his approach to working with a range of people, not least in promoting excellent working relationships between councillors and officials. "Alan has also has also invested a great deal of time and energy in developing partnerships with other public sector agencies and the voluntary sector. "Those close working relationships result in the best outcome for local people and that’s exactly what we’re here to do. "He is one of the most respected Chief Executives in Scotland and I am very grateful to him for his commitment to local government services." Work will begin immediately on filling the Chief Executive position. Alan Campbell is expected to leave Aberdeenshire Council around October 2008. Contact Us For more information on any press-related matter please email news@aberdeenshire.gov.uk
http://www.aberdeenshire.gov.uk/news/release.asp?newsID=768 
26 Jun 08 BBC News... Chief executive defends departure... Aberdeenshire Council's chief executive Alan Campbell has insisted there is nothing sinister in his decision to resign from the post... Mr Campbell said he was the longest serving council chief in Scotland. He is resigning despite his successor inheriting high-profile unfinished projects such as the Trump golf project and the Aberdeen bypass. He told BBC Scotland: "I think now is the time to go and pass on all the good work we have achieved." Last week Mr Campbell welcomed a best-value report which the council said took it a step closer to its vision of being the "best in Scotland". The Accounts Commission report hailed the council's "commitment to working with other bodies, good service performance and sound finance control". Mr Campbell is expected to leave Aberdeenshire Council in October, and work will begin immediately on filling the chief executive position. He said: "The council has just had an extremely positive audit. "I would be 50 or 60 years in the post if I waited for everything to happen. "I think Aberdeenshire Council will easily recruit someone with the right credentials." 'Hard act' He added: "I would like to do another job somewhere." The leader of the council, Anne Robertson, said: "Alan will leave Aberdeenshire Council in the best shape it has been in since its creation." Gordon Lib Dem MP Malcolm Bruce said: "Alan has been a steady, calm and wise administrator over many years and at times when the north east has faced considerable challenges; he will be a hard act to follow." His impending departure leaves two councils looking to fill the chief executive post. Aberdeen City Council's chief executive Douglas Paterson earlier said he was taking early retirement. 
http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/scotland/north_east/7474872.stm 
26 Jun 08 Ian to Information Commissioner Scotland Office... Advice / Guidance Request... FAO: Ken MacDonald, Assistant Commissioner for Scotland http://www.ico.gov.uk/about_us/regional_offices/scotland.aspx  Dear Sir, I am writing to ask for some guidance / advice with regards to the Data Protection Act (1998), specifically the correction of inaccurate data. Since the nature of the information which requires correction has significant ramifications being sufficiently sensitive, I would be very grateful if I could speak in person with an appropriate Officer at the Information Commissioner's Scotland Office in Edinburgh. I look forward to hearing from you in due course. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

26 Jun 08 Anne Gordon, Information Commissioner Scotland Office to Ian... Advice / Guidance Request... Dear Mr Cameron, I regret to advise you that Ken Macdonald is out of the office for the rest of this week and for most of week commencing 30th June 2008. If you would care to provide further information as to the nature of your enquiry it may be that someone else here could be of assistance. You may wish to telephone the office on the number below, or respond by email. Yours sincerely, Anne Gordon, Advice Officer, Information Commissioner's Office – Scotland. 28 Thistle Street Edinburgh EH2 1EN Telephone: 0131 225 6341 Fax: 0131 225 6989

27 Jun 08 Ian to Information Commissioner Scotland Office... Advice / Guidance Request... Dear Ms Gordon, Thank you very much for your efficient reply, I appreciate it. I wouldn't necessarily need to speak to Ken MacDonald directly, an Advice Officer like yourself would be fine.

27Jun 08 Anne Gordon, Information Commissioner Scotland Office to Ian... Advice / Guidance Request... Dear Mr Cameron, I am sorry to advise you that as our office is not open to the public it will not be possible for you to visit our office. I suggest that you write, or phone us. If the matter is complex it may be advisable to write to us. Yours sincerely Anne Gordon, Advice Officer, Information Commissioner's Office - Scotland

30 Jun 08 Ian to Information Commissioner Scotland Office... Email 1 of 2 - Background Information... The Information Commissioner's Office – Scotland, 28 Thistle Street, Edinburgh EH2 1EN - Dear Ms Gordon, Thank you for your email Friday 27th June and information regarding no public visits to your Edinburgh Office. As suggested in my first email Thursday 26th June, my case is of a sensitive nature and I would appreciate if you could treat the information I am about to share with you confidentially… my official complaint has not been made to the Audit Commission yet and you will be the second person to see this report… the first being the Office of the Scottish Information Commission, submitted as evidence to prove that I have 'legitimate interest' to receive information in the following case. Decision 084/2006 http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp
 I have been looking into significant malpractice within Aberdeenshire Council using the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) and have completed the following Investigation. http://www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info In the course of this investigation I have exercised the use of a Subject Access Request (SAR) under DPA 1998 legislation. Initially, I experienced a significant breach of my Statutory Rights by Aberdeenshire Council who attempted to mislead me by stating the official Aberdeenshire Council SAR was a FOISA request and would be treated accordingly, (see form attachment #1 and reply letter attachment #2). 20 months later having written to Aberdeenshire Council again (attachment #3 and #4) to inform them of this intentional breach of my Statutory Rights, they finally complied. I eventually received the documentation which I had requested on 1st April 2008. Please read email 2 of 2 now – Request for advice

30 Jun 08 Ian to Information Commissioner Scotland Office... Email 2of 2 – Request for Advice... http://www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info I need your advice on the following point… In compliance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act (1998), I believe that I have suffered damage in the form of unfair decisions by Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner, by reason of inaccurate data, of which I am the data subject. I am the data subject as I am the applicant of the data request. Contained in the documentation received by me on 1st April 2008 from my Subject Access Request (SAR) to Aberdeenshire Council… was correspondence about my case between Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Office of the Scottish Information Commission (OSIC) and Alan Campbell, Chief Executive Aberdeenshire Council. Margaret Keyse is now issuing a Section 50(1)(a) notice on 12 December 2007 (attachment #6), to the Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council, as they have continued to withhold information which they should have released. This was trading information about a company allegedly supplying Aberdeenshire Council, which Aberdeenshire Council called Fischer Racquetline Limited. In Alan Campbell's subsequent answer of 18 December 2007 (attachment #7)… he talks on page 2 vividly about this company called Fischer Racquetline Limited… but the interesting fact about this company is… it has never existed… it is fictitious… created by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead my investigation into significant irregularities in the procurement of sports equipment, which Alan Campbell now uses to mislead Margaret Keyse. My case is as serious as it gets and is about the bias, corruption and manipulation of Public funds by employee's at Aberdeenshire Council for personal financial gain directing requisitions to purchase goods into their own businesses, and in my experience of Aberdeenshire Council to date, is systemic of a culture of corruption throughout several departments and very senior personnel within the Council itself. I am extremely concerned by the Chief Executive Alan Campbell's involvement based on the information I have and the ramifications that that has about the findings of my case being only the tip of the iceberg. The subsequent affect of this answer 18 December 2007 by Alan Campbell, is the acceptance by Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner to credit Alan Campbell on his word only and to ignore my concerns to him, that this company has never existed… Kevin Dunion issued 2 decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008 accepting that information is not held despite the Law stating that Invoices for the procurement of equipment must be kept for 6 years plus the current year… Decision 004/2008
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2008/200700820.asp  Decision 026/2008 http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2008/200700821.asp  The equipment claimed to be procured from this company by Aberdeenshire Council happened in 2004. Therefore Invoices for procurement must exist and the details of this company must be contained on these Invoices. The reality is the equipment is being procured and supplied by Aberdeenshire Council employees businesses. (This fact was amazingly admitted to by Aberdeenshire Council in an earlier answer 14 Oct 05 – see attachment #8) During the investigation by OSIC on the first Decision 084/2006, (which was appealed at the Court of Session by Aberdeenshire Council at considerable cost to the Taxpayer), information was checked by the OSIC Investigating Officer setting the precedent that information regarding the existence of Fischer Racquetlime Limited should have been checked after I had raised concerns about it. Decision 084/2006
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp.  To recap the existence of the company… I have recently made a full complaint to HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC), since Aberdeenshire Council claim they have absolutely no Financial Records of the procurement of these items in question. I have been assisting HMRC who have confirmed that this company has never existed in line with information at Companies House http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/ This case also has evidence of VAT fraud by the employees businesses as well as no financial records, therefore there is a likelihood of a submission to the Procurator Fiscals Sevice for a Criminal Investigation to be initiated. It cannot be proven that the employees are actually supplying the equipment in question. What should be done to correct the information Again, I believe that I have suffered damage in the form of unfair decisions by Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner, (Decision's 004/2008 & 026/2008) by reason of inaccurate data, of which I am the data subject. That Alan Campbell should explain to the Scottish Information Commission that no details of Fischer Racquetline Limited are held, because Fischer Racquetline Limited is a fictitious company, has never existed and was created by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead a request for information by the data subject (ie Ian Cameron). I appreciate that the nature of my case may on first reading may be complex, therefore I can call and explain any outstanding questions that you may have regarding the information I've detailed here. Please see attachment #9 to see a draft version of the letter I believe recourses my statutory rights and which I am seeking advice on to verify it's accuracy in Law. Thank you for taking the time to read my email… I look forward to hearing from you in due course. Yours sincerely Ian Cameron
09 Jul 08 House of Lords Decision Reference Kevin Dunion’s Letter 27 May 08...
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200708/ldjudgmt/jd080709/comm-1.htm
21 Jul 08 Letter Ian to Kevin Dunion OBE, Scottish information Commissioner... Dear Sir, Decision 084/2006
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp  I am now aware of the ruling by the House of Lords in the case... Common Services Agency (Appellants) v Scottish Information Commissioner (Respondent) (Scotland) http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200708/ldjudgmt/jd080709/comm-1.htm ... and the likely effect this will have on Decision 084/2006 going against me and in favour of Aberdeenshire Council. I am also aware that Northern Constabulary have subsequently launched an appeal against an order to reveal the names of officers based in Wick at the time a local man was found dead. Therefore, I feel it is necessary to re-affirm at this stage that I am not asking for any other information other than the names of the staff... My question on 02 Oct 05 was... “I would be grateful if you could send me the names of all staff employed by Aberdeenshire Council at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre since its establishment” I had also asked the following in that request... “Please include with this information start dates and terms of appointment, including current staff. If possible please specify the nature of the roles undertaken by each individual and the extent of their responsibilities.”  As you will be aware, I have been looking into significant malpractice within Aberdeenshire Council using the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) and have completed the following Investigation. http://www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info In the course of this investigation I have exercised the use of a Subject Access Request (SAR) under Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) legislation. Initially, I experienced a significant breach of my Statutory Rights by Aberdeenshire Council who attempted to mislead me by stating the official, completed Aberdeenshire Council SAR form was a FOISA request and would be treated accordingly, (see form attachment a and reply letter attachment b). (Please note that Aberdeenshire Council’s response of 14 July 06, is the exact opposite to what the guidance states on Subject Access Requests from the Information Commissioner’s Office (attachment c). 20 months later having written to Aberdeenshire Council again (attachment d and e) to inform them of this intentional breach of my Statutory Rights, they finally complied (attachment f). I eventually received the documentation which I had requested on 1st April 2008. As a result, in compliance with the provisions of the Data Protection Act (1998), I believe that I have suffered damage in the form of unfair decisions by Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner, by reason of inaccurate data. Contained in the documentation received by me on 1st April 2008 from my SAR to Aberdeenshire Council… was correspondence about my case between Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Office of the Scottish Information Commission (OSIC) and Alan Campbell, Chief Executive Aberdeenshire Council. Margaret Keyse is now issuing a Section 50(1)(a) notice on 12 December 2007 (attachment 10), directly to the Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council, as they have continued to withhold information which they should have released. This was trading information about a company allegedly supplying Aberdeenshire Council, which Aberdeenshire Council called Fischer Racquetline Limited. In Alan Campbell's subsequent answer of 18 December 2007 (attachment 11)… he talks on page 2 vividly about this company called Fischer Racquetline Limited… but the interesting fact about this company is… it has never existed… it is fictitious… created by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead my investigation into significant irregularities in the procurement of sports equipment, which Alan Campbell now uses to mislead Margaret Keyse.  
My case is as serious as it gets and is about the bias, corruption and manipulation of Public funds by employee's at Aberdeenshire Council for personal financial gain directing requisitions to purchase goods into their own businesses, and in my experience of Aberdeenshire Council to date, is systemic of a culture of corruption throughout several departments and very senior personnel within the Council itself. I am extremely concerned by the Chief Executive Alan Campbell's involvement based on the information I have and the ramifications that that has about the findings of my case being only the tip of the iceberg. The subsequent affect of this answer 18 December 2007 by Alan Campbell, is the acceptance by the Scottish Information Commissioner to credit Alan Campbell on his word only and to ignore my concerns to him, that this company has never existed… The Scottish Information Commissioner issued 2 decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008 accepting that information is not held despite the Law stating that Invoices for the procurement of equipment must be kept for 6 years plus the current year… Decision 004/2008
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2008/200700820.asp Decision 026/2008
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2008/200700821.asp The equipment claimed to be procured from this company by Aberdeenshire Council happened in 2004. Therefore Invoices for procurement must exist and the details of this company must be contained on these Invoices. The reality is the equipment is being procured and supplied by Aberdeenshire Council employees businesses. (This fact was amazingly admitted to by Aberdeenshire Council in an earlier answer 14 Oct 05 see attachment 12) During the investigation by OSIC on the first Decision 084/2006, (which was appealed at the Court of Session by Aberdeenshire Council at considerable cost to the Taxpayer), information was checked by the OSIC Investigating Officer setting the precedent that information regarding the existence of Fischer Racquetlime Limited should have been checked after I had raised concerns about it. To recap the existence of the company… I have recently made a full complaint to HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC), since Aberdeenshire Council claim they have absolutely no Financial Records of the procurement of these items in question. I have been assisting HMRC who have confirmed that this company has never existed in line with information at Companies House. http://www.companieshouse.gov.uk/ This case also has evidence of VAT fraud by the employees businesses in question, as well as no financial records, therefore there is a likelihood of a submission to the Procurator Fiscals Service for a Criminal Investigation to be initiated. It cannot be proven that the employees are actually supplying the equipment in question. I intend to submit this complaint during August. I would now also like to bring to your attention the significant and sustained defamation of my good character by Aberdeenshire Council to OSIC during correspondence regarding this case. This defamation has had the effect of causing me some considerable distress. I would like to remind you at this stage what it says on OSIC website... “Anyone - from anywhere in the world - has a right to see any kind of recorded information from a Scottish public authority, however old the information is.  You do not have to say why you want the information or what you want it for and the authority is obliged to respond to all information requests they receive within 20 working days of receipt.... Scottish Information Commission” I do not have to give a reason to Aberdeenshire Council when I ask a question, yet I have found myself being severely victimised by them... the question is... why? You will be able to see this for yourself in attachments 2, 4 and 6. Interestingly, when Alastair Nicol at Aberdeenshire Council is reminded about the facts of the case and their continued failure to answer the questions in attachment 7... his sustained personal attack on me stops... he doesn’t mention a single bad word in reference to this case in his reply of 19 Sep 07 and his denigration of my character stops (attachment 8). I now need to repeat what I have said before regarding my legitimate interest in receiving the names of the staff at the Centre. I believe this is directly in the public interest based on the investigation that I have completed. www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info There is legitimate public interest and a need to create public confidence in how public money is spent and in being reassured that it is being spent properly, by knowing what money is spent on within the rules. I believe the legitimate interest of members of the public, like myself in this case, regards the direct manipulation of public funds by staff members at Aberdeenshire Council... this in my opinion far outweighs or is greater than the personal data in question. I’d like to draw your attention to a case which recently went through the Information Tribunal Service heard between 7-8 Feb 08. This was a case between the Corporate Officer of the House of Commons vs The Information Commissioner and Ben Leapman, Heather Brooke and Michael Thomas regarding MP’s expenses. http://www.informationtribunal.gov.uk/Documents/decisions/HOCfinaldecisionwebsite260208.pdf  A copy of this case is attached and I’d like to draw your attention to the document as a whole with particular attention to point 74. I believe this case has direct relevance and its findings should be taken into consideration for Decision 084/2006. This case was precisely about the conflict between the Data Protection Act and the Freedom of Information Act. The decision clearly states that the public interest in transparency, value for money, accountability and the health of democracy versus privacy of individuals. In this case there are many good legal cases put forward to show why it is not in the public interest to keep secret the way in which public money is spent. I would be very grateful if you could take some time to examine the attachments that I have included with this letter. Thank you for taking the time to read my letter… Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

09 Aug 08 Letter Ian to Colin McKerracher. Chief Constable, Grampian Police, Force Headquarters, Queen Street, Aberdeen. AB10 1ZA... cc Mrs A Currie, Area Procurator Fiscal, Grampian, Procurator Fiscal’s Office, Atholl House, 84-88 Guild Street, Aberdeen. AB11 6QA... Dear Sir, I am writing with regard to a very serious matter which has indications of criminality. The case concerns the bias, fraud and corruption of public funds by employees at Aberdeenshire Council. The matter is systemic and involves senior management up to and including the Chief Executive Alan G. Campbell and centres on the manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts to supply equipment being directed into Aberdeenshire Council employee’s businesses. In course, Aberdeenshire Council have created a fictitious company to cover up the fraud and have kept no financial records with regard to the items in question, despite being required by Law to keep them for 6 years plus the current year. There are indications that Invoices are being submitted for payment to the employees businesses but not all the equipment detailed is being supplied. There is also evidence of VAT fraud to which I have already made a complaint (with evidence) to HM Revenue & Customs. There are legitimate reasons why I am involved in this case and I have completed a submission that I would like to make to an Investigating Officer in person. Thank you for taking the time to read my letter… Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

22 Aug 08 Meeting at Grampian Police Force HQ to make formal submission of concerns about criminality within the procurement of equipment within Aberdeenshire Council with DCI Jerry Cronin and DCI Rhona Grimmer.
22 Aug 08 Letter Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish information Commission to Ian... Our Ref: 200600082... Dear Mr Cameron Aberdeenshire Council – Decision 084/2006 Thank you for your letter of 21 July 2008. Unfortunately, I have to start this letter with further apologies for the delay in re​issuing your decision. It is clear that the decision will not be issued until the end of October at the earliest and I will come on to the reasons for that later in the letter. In your letter, you refer to the recent ruling by the House of Lords in the case of Common Services Agency v Scottish Information Commissioner. As you will appreciate, your decision could not be re-issued (a number of other cases involving personal data have also been held back until the judgement from the Lords was issued), as we did not know how far the judgement would go on the interaction between the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) and the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and, in particular, on the exemption in section 38(1)(b) of FOISA. However, while we are still digesting the judgement and what it means for us in practice, I do not think that it has a negative effect on your case. Once the House of Lords judgement was issued, I carried out some additional work on your case, with the intention of moving it on as quickly as possible. However, we then received the appeal by Northern Constabulary against the decision of the Commissioner ordering them to disclose the names of police officers in Wick. (You have of course referred to this appeal in your letter.) Northern Constabulary's appeal to the Court of Session is on the basis that the Commissioner has failed to show that the applicant in that case has legitimate interests in the information and that the Commissioner has failed to show that disclosure of the information is necessary, in terms of condition 6 of the Schedule 2 to the DPA. The Commissioner disagrees that this is the case and has lodged Answers with the Court of Session. A consultation with both senior and junior counsel has been arranged for the start of October to discuss the appeal and also the wider issues in respect of the issues raised by this case which are directly applicable to your live case. Given the 'similarity in the cases (or at least in the legal issues raised by the cases), it would be unwise to re-issue your decision until the Commissioner has obtained clarification on certain points from counsel. The biggest problem with this case has been the ever shifting sands when it comes to interpreting the exemption in section 38(1)(b) of FOISA with regards to alleged breaches of the first data protection principle and, in particular, to the interpretation of the sixth condition in the first principle. For example, it is now clear from legal advice given to the Commissioner (and also from decisions of the Information Tribunal), that it is no longer correct to say in all cases that applicants do not have to say why they want the information. It is now clear that where a public authority chooses to rely on the exemption in section 38(1)(b) (on the basis that condition 6 of the firs data protection principle contained in the DPA does not permit the processing), it is good practice (and in some cases will be necessary) for a public authority to ensure that the applicant does in fact have legitimate interests in the information. In many cases this will involve asking the applicant why he wants the information and what he intends to do with it. Without that information, the public authority cannot carry out the balancing exercise required by condition 6, i.e. balancing the legitimate interests of the applicant against those of the data subjects. This is why the Commissioner approached both you and the Council for further submissions in relation to your legitimate interests. (I should make it clear that it is probably true to say for other exemptions that the applicant does not have to say why he wants the information. The Commissioner is updating his advice on this point, but it will not be reissued until after the consultation with counsel in October.) Your letter refers to the Information Tribunal decision in the case of Corporate Officer of the House of Commons and the Information Commissioner of 26 February 2008, (in particular paragraph 74), which I am of course aware of. While fully supporting the outcome of that particular decision, the (Scottish) Commissioner is aware that the definition of "necessary" in condition 6 (see, for example, paragraphs 59 et seq of the decision) has not yet been determined by the Scottish courts and that another definition, closer to the everyday meaning of "necessary" has been suggested here. This is one of the matters the Commissioner will discuss with counsel at the start of October, both in relation to the McLeod case and to your case. That decision of the Information Tribunal relates to a request which went wider than simply names. The Tribunal has also issued a number of decisions relating to whether names of people should be disclosed. References to the main decisions and summaries of the outcomes are set out in guidance very recently issued by the Information Commissioner. I have enclosed a copy of this guidance for information. While the decisions of the Information Tribunal are not binding on the Scottish Information Commissioner, they are, naturally of interest to him. As you will see from the guidance, the Tribunal has come to a different view on whether the names of individuals should be disclosed, depending on matters such as the seniority of the role played by the individual and whether their role requires a significant level of personal judgement and individual responsibility. Clearly, these are all matters which the Commissioner will wish to take into account in coming to a new decision on your application. (While I do not think that the Commissioner requires any additional submissions from you, as you have already submitted very detailed submissions, please feel free to make additional submissions based on the contents of this guidance if you wish to do so.) The attachments to your letter contain a detailed commentary on the information which has been disclosed to you by the Council as a result of your subject access request to it. While I am happy to take account of any comments you have made in relation to the live case, there is little I can do in practice in relation to your comments on the cases where decisions have now been issued, particularly given that the time to appeal these cases has ended. I am aware that you consider that the Council has misled the Commissioner and his staff in relation to your applications which to which we gave the reference numbers 200700820 and 20700821. I was not involved with these cases (except to authorise and sign information notices under section 50 of FOISA on behalf of Jill Walker, the Investigating officer). However, in advance of responding to your letters, I have checked through the files and it is clear that Jill, Euan McCulloch (Deputy Head of Investigations) and, of course, the Commissioner, were satisfied that certain information was not held by the Council. Thank you once again for your forbearance with this case. Given that we fully expect the decision to be appealed again by the Council should we order the names of the officials in question to be disclosed, we need to be very being careful not only that we come to the correct decision, but that we can demonstrate that the myriad of tests involved in the section 38(1)(b) exemption have been dealt with properly by the Commissioner. However, I can assure you that the possibility of an appeal will have no effect on the outcome of the decision. I will contact you following the consultation with counsel to update you on what was discussed and to give you a more accurate date as to when you might expect the decision to be re-issued. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse Head of Investigations
27 Sep 08 Letter Dan Snowden, Casework and Advice Officer, Information Commissioners Office, Wycliffe House, Water Lane, Wilmslow, Cheshire. SK9 5AF to Ian...  Case Reference Number RFA0206440 Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your data protection complaint 30 June 2008 about Aberdeenshire Council (the council). You have made a complaint under section 42 of the Data Protection Act 1998 about the way in which your personal data has been processed by the council. In your email to the Information Commissioner's Office – Scotland, you make reference to a second email which you have labelled ‘Email 2 of 2'. Unfortunately, having reviewed the documents on the case, it would appear that a copy of this email has not been received. In order to identify the best way to proceed with your request I would be grateful if you could outline the precise nature of your data protection complaint. I would appreciate it if you could provide this information within the next 28 days. Once the information has been received we will begin to address your data protection complaint. Yours sincerely. Dan Snowden – Casework and Advice Officer
30 Sep 08 Letter to the Editor Press & Journal Aberdeen... Aberdeenshire Council leads way - SIR, – Congratulations are in order for Aberdeenshire Council which was named the best UK council to work for in a poll (P&J September 23). It was assessed as a great employer and an authority that seems to know how to run things efficiently and for the benefit of its employees. I know of many people who have left Aberdeen City Council’s employment to go and work in Aberdeenshire. They are even prepared to pay extra in travel and expenses and compare the difference as “chalk and cheese" Time for the city council’s administration to take note and pull their socks up. Dennis Grattan, Mugiemoss Road, Aberdeen.

21 Oct 08 Letter Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish information Commission to Ian... Our Ref: 200600082... Dear Mr Cameron Aberdeenshire Council – Decision 084/2006 I refer to my letter of 22 August 2008. The consultation took place with Counsel at the start of the month and the final piece of legal advice which the Commissioner needs for this case will be with me by the end of the week. (The legal advice is on the interpretation of the sixth condition of schedule 2 to the Data Protection Act 1998, which is central to this case.) All being well, the revised decision should be with the Commissioner within the next few weeks and should be issued shortly after that. Thank you, once again, for your patience. Yours sincerely Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations
26 Nov 08 Letter Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations, Scottish information Commission to Ian... Our Ref: 200600082...  Dear Mr Cameron... Aberdeenshire Council – Decision 084/2006... I refer to my letter of 21 October 2008. I am sorry to tell you that there will be a further delay to your decision being issued. As you know, we were waiting on legal advice on the interpretation of the sixth condition of schedule 2 to the Data Protection Act 1998 (the DPA), which is central to the consideration of the exemption in section 38 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 in your case. We received the advice on 27 October and I spent a day incorporating it into your revised decision. However, while I was working on the decision, I happened to check the up to date guidance from the (UK) Information Commissioner, who, as you know, is responsible for enforcing the DPA throughout the whole of the UK. He had published his guidance on condition 6 at the start of that week. Unfortunately, the guidance was very different from the legal advice we had received. This has meant that we have had to go back to senior counsel for further legal advice. This advice was received yesterday. The Commissioner and I are meeting with the (UK) Information Commissioner next Thursday and this matter is obviously on the agenda for the meeting. I will update you after that meeting. I am sorry for this further delay. Yours Sincerely Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations

20 Feb 09 Letter Ian to Charlie Scott, HM Revenue & Customs, Ruby House, 8 Ruby Place, Aberdeen AB10 1ZP...  cc Kevin Dunion, Scottish Information Commissioner, cc Mrs Anne Currie, Procurator Fiscal for Grampian, cc DCI Jerry Cronin, Grampian Police, cc Robert Black, Auditor General, Audit Scotland... Dear Sir, Towards the summer of 2008, I came into HMRC Offices at Ruby House to meet with you and present information regarding concerns about fraudulent Tax activity in the manipulation of Big Lottery grants and Aberdeenshire Council contracts. In doing so, I had prepared some information which you were unable to take possession of, but could take notes on. This included: a) Invoices charging VAT but not detailing the required 9 digit VAT number. b) Failure to keep any financial records relative to considerable quantities of ski equipment held by Aberdeenshire Council despite Aberdeenshire Council being required by law to do so for 6 years plus the current year. c) The same Aberdeenshire Council employee involved pricing goods at considerably under recommended retail price RRP, to outbid competition in the tendering process for Aberdeenshire Council contracts to supply equipment to his Aberdeenshire Council place of work. (HMRC advice states that pricing goods substantially under RRP is an indicator of VAT fraud.)... The reason I am writing to you at this point is twofold... One of my Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) requests has possibly become a test case between the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and FOISA. This will be Decision 084/2006. After a 3 year legal battle is due for public release imminently. As a result, I believe there will be considerable public interest, as the case involves a request for the names of staff at Aberdeenshire Councils Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. The staff in question, in Aberdeenshire Council’s own admission, have been raising requisitions to purchase equipment for the Centre, and then directing those purchase orders to supply equipment for their place of work into their own businesses. Additionally, the staff have set up supplier agreements with equipment distributors not using their business address, but using their Aberdeenshire Council work place address to front the arrangement, running their private business during working hours from their Aberdeenshire Council place of work and Council staff to facilitate the operation of those businesses. Since these staff members are also in charge of the stock/inventory of sports equipment held at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre, I requested first the inventory of equipment and secondly the invoices/receipts for the items detailed on that inventory. Since purchases had been made within the 7 year time period where complete financial records must be maintained by law... Aberdeenshire Council claimed they hold ​no receipts or invoices for any single item on the inventory in question... keeping in mind it’s Aberdeenshire Council staff members businesses that are supplying the equipment. As a result of this, I was concerned enough to contact the Procurator Fiscal for Grampian and had an interview with DCI Jerry Cronin at Grampian Police Force HQ in Queen Street to detail those concerns. Having no financial records suggests they are being destroyed and I believe there may be Criminal Fraud also taking place where these same employees are submitting Invoices for payment to their employer Aberdeenshire Council, but not actually supplying any equipment because they are not being held internally to account... hence the reason why there are absolutely no financial records, therefore a physical Audit tied into the paper invoices could not possibly be checked and made. The main Aberdeenshire Council staff member in question, was the one behind the applications for Big Lottery grants that I had unwittingly signed the contract for. With a successful Big Lottery grant of £5,000 and a second application in process, he wanted a third grant and that’s where I came in as Secretary of a hillwalking club approached to make this third application. Using FOISA to question the propriety of the first grant of £5,000 that had successfully been made, I determined that the Aberdeenshire Council staff member in question: *was a founder member of Huntly Nordic Ski Club *was Treasurer of Huntly Nordic Ski Club when the first application was made (AAS/2/010017491) *co-ordinated the application for the first grant as applicant *was one of three Committee members authorised to sign cheques on behalf of Huntly Nordic Ski Club *signed the contract of 'Terms and Condition' to ensure the grant was completed to the letter of the 'Awards for All Scotland' rules. *subsequently purchased equipment to the value of £4,000.17 (from the successful Awards for All Scotland grant of £5,000) through his own company Tout Tele. *is responsible as sole owner of Tout Tele and Treasurer of Huntly Nordic Ski Club to produce Annual accounts for both sides therefore able to run an illegal VAT receipt through the Ski Club without detection. *subsequently benefits from using the equipment bought. From this, he is both co-ordinating a Lottery application and putting the money through his own business. The illegal VAT Invoice submitted to the Big Lottery for the first grant application (AAS/2/010017491), is due to expire (dated 08 April 2002) therefore legally after 08 April 2009 this document would now not be required to be retained by law. Through the course of my questioning, I have encountered significant and systemic bias, corruption and manipulation of information throughout my contact with Aberdeenshire Council and have been misled with the provision of false information on several occasions by several different departments within Aberdeenshire Council. I thank you for taking the time to read my letter and that you’ll take a good look at the attachments provided. I have cc’d the relevant people involved in this case. Please contact me if you have any outstanding questions. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

11 Mar 09 Newspaper article... Aberdeen Press and Journal... Freedom of information rights ‘help fight injustice’ citizens urged to make use of laws...by Tim Pauling... PEOPLE are being encouraged to make full use of freedom of information legislation and hold public agencies and companies to account. Scottish Information Commissioner Kevin Dunion says open government increases public trust and helps people fight injustice. His annual report shows that between 2005 and 2008, the commissioner issued 10 decisions in appeals relating to Highlands Council, two for Western Isles Council, nine regarding Northern Constabulary and seven for ferry company Caledonian MacBrayne. Over the same period he issued 15 decisions relating to appeals against Aberdeenshire Council, 11 regarding Aberdeen City Council, five for Moray Council, 15 for Grampian Police and four for NHS Grampian. Freedom of information (FOI) gives people the legal right to ask questions of the Scottish public authorities which impact most on their public lives, Mr Dunion said. “Whether it’s an individual who wants to understand a decision which affects them personally, or a whole community which wants to shed light on local policy making and spending, FOI rights give local people the power to hold service providers to account,” he said. “Public trust is greater when people can see for themselves that public officials are doing a good job.” One case study highlighted in the report concerns the Scottish Rural Schools Network (SRSN), which was set up in 2005 at a time when about 75 schools were threatened with closure. Its chairman Sandy Longmuir used FOI to uncover the facts behind rural school closures. The group has since successfully campaigned to prevent the closure of 60 schools, including Roy Bridge in Inverness-shire. Mr Longmuir said the group started using FOI because information provided in public consultations was “either scant or very dubious”.

14 Mar 09 Letter Ian to Councillor Joanna Strathdee, Claremonte, Littlejohn Street, Huntly AB54 8HL... Dear Joanna, As per our conversation the other day, please find attached some documentation regarding the current status of the Investigation, highlighting some key points... although there is much more to it than this, I had to keep it as brief and precise as I could for HMRC. I’m counting on your support to help determine the facts and find out exactly what is going on at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre with regard to the procurement of considerable quantities of equipment by the staff members there. Additionally, these staff members businesses are supplying the same equipment... but more worryingly, Aberdeenshire Council state they have absolutely no financial records of these purchases. Clearly there is no supervision, coupled with a complete failure of the effectiveness Aberdeenshire Council’s auditing department. My attitude has always been if everything is above board then people will be happy to give answers, unfortunately this hasn’t been the case. Instead, I have been misled time and time again with the provision of false information or the attempts to block the release of information either through the issuing of a Section 14 Vexatious notice by Aberdeenshire Council or the considerable expense to the taxpayer made by Aberdeenshire Council to defend Case 084/2006 at the Court of Session in Edinburgh. The Centre in my mind, is being run to fulfil personal agendas with serious breaches in trust and confidence placed in the staff involved. I believe some form of accountability needs to restored in terms of the greater public interest. I’d be happy to speak to you at anytime to clarify any questions you have, or to keep you updated on the developments of the case. As you are aware, I have considered that there may be a significant criminal fraud taking place on top of the manipulation of public funds by Aberdeenshire Council staff members... and as a result I have referred the case to Mrs Anne Currie, Procurator Fiscal for Grampian and DCI Jerry Cronin at Grampian Police. Yours Faithfully Ian Cameron

29 Mar 09 Letter Ian to Kevin Dunion OBE, Scottish Information Commissioner, Scottish Information Commission, Kinburn Castle, Doubledykes Road, St Andrews. Fife. KY16 9BS... cc Charlie Scott, HM Revenue & Customs, cc Mrs Anne Currie, Procurator Fiscal for Grampian, cc DCI Jerry Cronin, Grampian Police, cc Robert Black, Auditor General, Audit Scotland, cc Councillor Joanna Strathdee, Aberdeenshire Council... Dear Sir, I’m writing to ask if it’s possible to receive an update regarding outstanding Decision 084/2006. Margaret Keyse, Head of Investigations at the Scottish Information Commission wrote to me again on 26th November 2008 stating there would be a further delay due to conflicting advice from the (UK) Information Commissioner’s Office. That a meeting would be held at the beginning of December 2008 with the (UK) Information Commissioner, with this case being on the agenda. Ms Keyse said she would update me after that meeting had taken place... that was 4 months ago and I have received no update to date. 2nd October 2009 will be the 4 year anniversary since I placed my FOISA request with Aberdeenshire Council regarding this case. You will be aware of the significance of the case, I copied yourself and other involved parties on a letter dated 20th February 2009 to HM Revenue & Customs regarding VAT fraud and also highlighted that a complaint has been made to Grampian Police and the Procurator Fiscal for Grampian as there are also indications of Criminal Fraud. I noted in a press article (11th March 2009) with reference to your annual report, that you were encouraging members of the public to make full use of FOISA legislation to hold public agencies to account saying open government increases public trust and helps people fight injustice. I of course was disappointed when decisions 004/2008 and 026/2008 failed to make Aberdeenshire Council accountable over the provision of a company called Fischer Racquetline Limited, which is central to this corruption case and that the former Chief Executive Alan Campbell had, while under a section 50(1)(a) notice issued by Margaret Keyse on 12th December 2007, continued to mislead your office with false information, which you accepted on his word only and failed to recognise that proper financial records must be kept for 7 years where this information would be held. Interestingly, what Alan Campbell did in this letter (dated 18th December 2007) was to admit that Aberdeenshire Council are breaking the law by failing to keep any financial records, since considerable quantities of ski equipment are claimed to have been purchased from Fischer Racquetline Limited... quite an incredible admission for a Chief Executive to make. Let’s remember that Aberdeenshire Council had previously attempted to provide a different companies trading address Thin Ice Sports, Elliot Road, Collinton, Edinburgh claiming that this address was Fischer Racquetline Limited’s address. After I overturned a Section 14 Vexatious notice when challenging this exact point, Aberdeenshire Council again provided Thin Ice Sports address in Edinburgh claiming it was the Fischer Racquetline Limited address... there was now no mistake that they had provided false information... with intent. I contacted the owner of Thin Ice Sports directly (Rab Reid) with regard to this, he said he was very concerned and in turn advised me that he was going to contact Fischer’s lawyers. I now remind myself of an answer Aberdeenshire Council gave on 14th October 2005 – reference number ACE 32775: The Centre has a close working relationship with Mr Roy Young, who operates a small local business under the trading name of ‘Tout Tele’, which supplies specialist roller ski and nordic skiing equipment. Whilst Mr Young is a Council employee, working within the Council’s Training Unit, and on a casual and occasional basis as a specialist British Association of Ski Instructors Coach for the Nordic Ski Centre, the registered trading address of ‘Tout Tele’ is My Young’s home address. For convenience, arrangements are in place where deliveries for ‘Tout Tele’ from certain specialist ski equipment suppliers (e.g. Fisher, Salomon and Orian) can, on occasion, be made to the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. Whilst this may give the impression that the business is operated from the Centre, the arrangement is simply for convenience as such deliveries are normally made during the day. There is one supplier, Fisher, which despite having been informed on a number of occasions that ‘Tout Tele’s’ trading address is Mr Young’s home address, continues to send invoices to ‘Tout Tele’ c/o the Huntly Nordic Ski Centre. The arrangements with ‘Tout Tele’ are therefore at an arms length, with staff making occasional, one-off purchases of specialist roller ski and nordic ski equipment and, on occasions, helping out by receiving daytime deliveries on behalf of the company. It’s the employee that has the Fischer supply agreement with Thin Ice Sports... not Aberdeenshire Council with Fischer Racquetline Limited... and that same employee has setup the agreement not using his home address, but using his employers address to front the arrangement and using Aberdeenshire Council staff members to run that same business during working hours from the Council outdoor facility. As you may appreciate after reading the above 3 paragraphs, that there is no mystery why Aberdeenshire Council claim they have no financial records for any single item of Ski equipment held at the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre. The question asked by the Court of Session when Aberdeenshire Council successfully challenged your first decision on 084/2006 (at considerable cost to the taxpayer), was, do I have legitimate interest to receive the names of the staff working at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre? You will be aware of other attempts by Aberdeenshire Council to mislead through the course of this case, one example is their attempt to suggest that a Subject Access Request I made was an FOISA request... this Subject Access Request was then subsequently ignored. I have attached those documents for your interest. Interestingly, the question is asked, why would a different department within Aberdeenshire Council be so incompetent at blatantly lying and attempting to mislead so poorly like this? I have up to this point respected due process and accepted the 084/2006 delay was being caused by waiting for a similar case with the Scottish Executive 04 Jun 07, (this didn’t reach the Court of Session)... I was then told that you were waiting for another similar case which was going through the House of Lords against one of your decisions 27 May 08, in expectation that the Lords decision would be relevant, this was delayed. It was then decided that my case should be given attention, but this 3rd wait, has now been arrested by conflicting information from the UK Information Commissioner. I am concerned about the continual delays regarding the re-issue of a new Decision and the detrimental effect it has had to public confidence, transparency and accountability where public funds have been involved.  This case is about serious breaches of public trust and the manipulation of significant sums of public money for personal gain by Council employees with indications of Criminal Fraud and Tax Fraud. I thank you for taking the time to read my letter and look forward to hearing from you in due course. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron
30 Mar 09 Letter Kevin Dunion OBE, Scottish Information Commissioner, to Ian...  Our ref 20060082/JW... SCOTTISH INFORMATION COMMISSIONER DECISION 084/2006 (REVISED) PUBLIC AUTHORITY: ABERDEENSHIRE COUNCIL - I refer to your previous correspondence with JiII Walker and Margaret Keyse in connection with your application to me for a decision regarding various pieces of information which you requested relating to people employed by Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) at the Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre. As you are aware, the decision which I issued in May 2006 was appealed to the Court of Session by the Council. When I sought legal advice as to the chance of success of the appeal, I was advised to concede the appeal. The Court of Session subsequently quashed the decision towards the end of 2006 and remitted it back to me to make a further decision. Since then, the case has been delayed as a result of uncertainties surrounding the exemption which the Council used to withhold the information from you (section 38(1 )(b) - Personal information) and, in particular, as a result of waiting to hear the outcome of the House of Lords decision in the case of Common Services Agency v Scottish Information Commissioner. Unfortunately, even that judgment did not clear up all the problems with the exemption, but instead led to further discussion on how it should be interpreted. It was only a matter of weeks ago that I was in a position to issue revised guidance on the section 38 exemption http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/Law/FOISA​EIRsGuidance/section38/Section38.asp. (Revised guidance on all of the other FOISA exemptions were published last summer.) I have now approved the revised decision and it is enclosed with this letter. The decision is different to the decision which was issued last time, in particular on how condition 6 of schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) is to be interpreted when dealing with requests for personal data under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). I have also taken account of the EU Directive behind the DPA and of comments made by the House of Lords in the Common Services Agency judgement. As you will see from the decision, I have now come to the conclusion that the Council complied with Part 1 of FOISA in dealing with your request for information. In summary, I found that the Council was entitled to rely on section 38(1)(b) of FOISA for withholding information about start and end employment dates and employee names and job titles from you. Having considered the first data protection principle I was satisfied that the start and end employment dates should not be released in response to a FOISA request, as to do so would contravene the requirement for personal data to be processed fairly and lawfully. In looking at the names and job titles of those staff employed at the Centre I considered whether condition 6 in schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act would allow this information to be disclosed in response to a FOISA request. Having considered your interests in receiving this information, I concluded that these could be satisfied otherwise than through the release of this information; as such, release of this information would breach the first data protection principle as it would not amount to fair and lawful processing. As a result I do not require Aberdeenshire Council to provide you with the information you asked for. I am aware that this outcome will be disappointing to you, particularly given the time you have had to wait for a revised decision to be issued. I am sorry that it has take so long for the new decision to be issued. However, I hope you will see from the decision that the case been considered carefully. If you want to contest my findings, you have a right to appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days of the date of intimation (ie date of posting) of this letter. A copy of the Decision Notice will be made available on my website after 5 working days. Yours sincerely Kevin Dunion Scottish Information Commissioner
30 Mar 09 
Decision 084/2006 Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council
Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre
Reference No: 200600082
Decision Date: 30 March 2009

Summary

Mr Ian Cameron asked Aberdeenshire Council to provide him with information relating to people employed by the Council at Huntly Nordic Ski and Outdoor Centre (the Centre).Mr Cameron also sought information about the relationship between the Centre and Huntly Nordic Ski Club (the Club).The Council provided Mr Cameron with information regarding the relationship between the Centre and the Club, but refused to disclose any information about its employees on the basis that the information was personal data and was exempt from disclosure in terms of section 38(1)(b) of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). 

Mr Cameron subsequently applied to the Commissioner for a decision as to whether the Council had been correct to withhold this information. Following an investigation, the Commissioner agreed that some of the information which had been withheld from Mr Cameron was exempt from disclosure, but issued a decision, on 18 May 2006, ordering the Council to disclose the names and job titles of its employees at the Centre to Mr Cameron.

The Council appealed the Commissioner's decision to the Court of Session and the Commissioner conceded the appeal. This led to the Court of Session quashing the original decision and remitting the case back to the Commissioner. This decision replaces the decision issued in 2006.

Relevant statutory provisions and other sources
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA): sections 1(1) and (6) (General entitlement); 2(1) and (2)(e)(ii) (Effect of exemptions) and 38(1)(b), (2)(a)(i) and (b) (Personal information)

Data Protection Act 1988 (the DPA): sections 1(1) (Basic interpretative provisions) (the definition of personal data); 2 (Sensitive personal data) and 4(4) (The data protection principles); Schedule 1 (The data protection principles) (the first data protection principle) and Schedule 2 (Conditions relevant for purposes of the first principle: processing of any personal data) (conditions 1 and 6(1))

The full text of each of the statutory provisions cited above is reproduced in the Appendix to this decision. The Appendix forms part of this decision.

Common Services Agency v Scottish Information Commissioner [2008] UKHL 47 

Decision of the (English) High Court in the case Corporate Officer of the House of Commons and the Information Commissioner and Leapman, Brooke and Thomas EA/2007/0060 etc.

Information Commissioner's guidance: "Freedom of Information: access to information about public authorities' employees" 

Background
1. On 2 October 2005, Mr Cameron submitted an information request to the Council for the following information: names of all staff employed by the Council at the Centre since its establishment their start dates and terms of appointment including current staff the nature of the roles undertaken by each individual and the extent of their responsibilities clarification on the nature of the relationship between the Centre and the Club, including any charges made by the Centre to the Club for use of its facilities.

2. The Council responded on 1 November 2005, providing Mr Cameron with information about the relationship between the Centre and the Club, but withholding the remaining information on the basis that it was exempt from disclosure under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA.

3. Mr Cameron asked the Council to review its decision on 4 November 2005.

4. The Council did so and notified Mr Cameron of the outcome of the review on 1 December 2005, advising him that it had upheld its original decision in full.

5. On 21 December 2005, Mr Cameron wrote to the Commissioner, stating that he was dissatisfied with the outcome of the Council's review and applying to him for a decision in terms of section 47(1) of FOISA. 

6. The application was validated by establishing that Mr Cameron had made a request for information to a Scottish public authority and had applied to the Commissioner for a decision only after asking the authority to review its response to that request. 

7. The Commissioner subsequently issued a decision in relation to Mr Cameron's application on 18 May 2006, ordering the Council to disclose the names and job titles of the employees to Mr Cameron. The Council appealed to the Court of Session against this decision under section 56(b)(ii) of FOISA. The Commissioner conceded the appeal on the basis that he had incorrectly interpreted one of the tests in condition 6 of Schedule 2 to the DPA, which is relevant to the interpretation of the exemption in section 38(1)(b) of FOISA. This led to the Court of Session quashing the original decision and remitting the case back to the Commissioner. This, therefore, replaces the original decision. It takes account of the investigation which initially took place following Mr Cameron's application to the Commissioner as well as the further investigation which took place after the Court of Session had remitted the case back to the Commissioner.

Investigation
8. A letter was sent by the investigating officer to the Council on 25 January 2006, notifying the Council of Mr Cameron's application and inviting its comments in terms of section 49(3)(a) of FOISA. The Council was asked to provide, amongst other items, a copy of the information which had been withheld and a detailed analysis of its use of the exemption under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA.

Submissions from the Council
9. As indicated previously, the Council relied on the exemption in section 38(1)(b) of FOISA for withholding information sought by Mr Cameron.In its submissions to the Commissioner, the Council advised that it took the view that information about an employee's terms and conditions of appointment, which would normally include starting date, hours worked and details of salary grade, is personal data within the meaning of section 1(1) of the DPA and that staff would not normally expect this level of detail to be public knowledge. The Council believe that disclosure of this personal data would breach the first data protection principle, which requires personal information to be processed fairly and lawfully. The Council also considered that no condition in Schedule 2 of the DPA would be met by disclosure of the information.

10. After the Commissioner's initial decision was remitted back to him by the Court of Session, the investigating officer sought further submissions from the Council with regard to its reliance on the exemption in section 38(1)(b) and, in particular, on the tests set out in condition 6 of Schedule 2 to the DPA.

11. In responding to this request, the Council also said that it was not apparent what legitimate interest Mr Cameron would have. The Council commented that Mr Cameron appears to be alleging impropriety against the Council, but that it was not clear how Mr Cameron having personal data in relation to one or more employees at the Centre would take him much further forward.

12. The Council also advised the Commissioner that, since September 2005, Mr Cameron had made ten separate information requests relating to the Centre and that it had endeavoured to respond to these requests as effectively as possible. The Council further advised the Commissioner that staff have offered to meet with Mr Cameron to discuss any concerns he might have, and to gain a better understanding of what he wants, but that (as at the time of the additional submissions from the Council), Mr Cameron had not taken up any such invitation.

13. The Council states that, given that Mr Cameron has never directly alleged any impropriety against the Council, it has not been able to investigate the validity of his claims. The Council considers, however, that Mr Cameron has never made a specific claim because his claim has no substance.

14. The Council believes that Mr Cameron is using FOISA to perpetuate a long standing grievance against the Centre and against one member of staff in particular. 

15. The Council concluded by stating that it did not believe that Mr Cameron has established that he has a legitimate interest in obtaining the requested information and that, although it was conceivable that there may be information in which Mr Cameron would have a legitimate interest if he made an allegation of impropriety against a specific individual, given that he has chosen not to do so, it does not consider that Mr Cameron has a legitimate interest in obtaining the information sought.

Submissions from Mr Cameron
16. After the case was remitted back to him by the Court of Session, the Commissioner also sought additional submissions from Mr Cameron as to why he considered that he had a legitimate interest in obtaining the information.

17. In response, Mr Cameron provided the Commissioner with very detailed submissions as to why he considered that he had a legitimate interest in the information. This related to the manner in which, according to Mr Cameron, business was being done by the Centre and the Council in terms of the acquisition of equipment and the involvement of staff in that process. Mr Cameron indicated that he was also concerned that policies relating to employment and procurement were not being complied with. Mr Cameron considered that his legitimate interests also reflect those of the general public in ensuring that public funds are spent appropriately and that Council procedures are complied with.

Commissioner's analysis and findings
19.In coming to a decision on this matter, the Commissioner has considered all of the information withheld from Mr Cameron, together with the submissions made to him by both Mr Cameron and the Council throughout the investigation, and is satisfied that no matter of relevance has been overlooked.

20. As noted above, the Council relied on the exemption in section 38(1)(b) to withhold the information from Mr Cameron. There are a number of exemptions contained within section 38(1)(b), but it is clear from correspondence with the Council that it was relying on the exemption as read with either section 38(2)(a)(i) or 38(2)(b).It is unclear whether the information held by the Council falls within categories (a) to (d) in the definition of data in section 1(1) of the DPA (in which case section 38(2)(a)(i) is relevant) or to category (e) data (in which case section 38(2)(b) is relevant).However, given that the exemption has the same effect regardless of the category of data involved, the Commissioner did not find it necessary to examine this point further during the investigation.

21. In order for the Council to be able to rely on the exemption under section 38(1)(b), as read with section 38(2)(a)(i) or section 38(2)(b), it must show that the information which has been requested is personal data for the purposes of section 1(1) of the DPA and that the disclosure of the information to a member of the public otherwise than under FOISA would contravene one or more of the data protection principles set down in the DPA. In this case, the Council has argued that the information in question is personal data and that disclosure of the data would breach the first data protection principle. This principle states that the processing of data must be fair and lawful and, in particular, that personal data shall not be processed unless at least one of the conditions in Schedule 2 to the DPA is met and, in the case of sensitive personal data, at least one of the conditions in Schedule 3 (again, to the DPA) is also met. 

22. Therefore, the Commissioner will first consider whether the information sought by Mr Cameron is personal data as defined in section 1(1) of the DPA. As noted above, Mr Cameron is seeking the names of the staff at the Centre employed by the Council, their job titles, start dates and terms of appointment, the nature of their roles and the extent of their responsibilities.

23. Section 1(1) of the DPA defines personal data as data which relate to a living individual who can be identified (a) from those data, or (b) from those data and other information which is in the possession of, or is likely to come into the possession of, the data controller (the full definition is set out in the Appendix).

24. Having considered the information which has been withheld from Mr Cameron, the Commissioner is satisfied that the names of the staff, their job titles, their start dates and their terms of appointment comprises the employees' personal data. The employees can clearly be identified from the data, or from the data and other information which is in the possession of the Council as data controller. The information relates to individual employees, is biographical in a significant sense and has the individuals as its focus.

25. However, the Commissioner is not satisfied that the nature of the employees' roles or the extent of the employees' responsibilities (i.e. their job descriptions) is personal data as he considers that this information relates to the posts undertaken by the employees rather than to the individual employees. 

26. In any event, following discussions with the Council during the initial investigation, the Council agreed to disclose copies of the job descriptions it held in relation to the posts undertaken by the employees in question. This information has already been provided to Mr  Cameron. Consequently, the Commissioner will not address the question of the job descriptions further in this decision notice.

27. Given that the Commissioner is satisfied that the remaining information which has been withheld from Mr Cameron is the employees' personal data, he must go on to consider whether the disclosure of this personal data would breach the first data protection principle.

28. Before going on to consider the first data protection principle, it makes sense to consider whether the personal data falls into one of the categories of sensitive personal data set out in section 2 of the DPA. The Commissioner has considered these categories (set out in full in the Appendix), but does not consider that the personal data requested by Mr Cameron is sensitive personal data.(He also notes that the Council did not argue that the personal data sought by Mr Cameron is sensitive personal data.)

29. As noted above, the first data protection principle requires that personal data be processed fairly and lawfully and, in particular, that it shall not be processed unless at least one of the conditions in Schedule 2 is met and, in the case of sensitive personal data, at least one of the conditions in Schedule 3 is also met. Given that the Commissioner is satisfied that the information is not sensitive personal data, he need only consider whether any of the conditions in Schedule 2 can be met.

30. Part II of Schedule 1 to the DPA provides assistance in defining "fairness" for the purposes of the first data protection principle. As Lord Hope notes in the case of Common Services Agency v Scottish Information Commissioner (the Collie judgment), "fairness" is concerned essentially with the method by which the data is obtained, and in particular with whether the person from whom the data was obtained was deceived or misled as to the purpose or purposes for which the data are to be processed.

31. As Lord Hope also noted in the Collie judgment, the concept of lawfulness cannot sensibly be addressed without considering the conditions set out in Schedule 2 (and Schedule 3 also, where it is applicable), because any disclosure which fails to meet at least one of the necessary conditions would be contrary to section 4(4) of the DPA (which provides that it shall be the duty of the data controller to comply with the data protection principles).There may also be other reasons as to why the disclosure of information is unlawful, e.g. because disclosure of the information would be a breach of confidence, or because there is a specific law forbidding disclosure.In this case, however, the Council has not put forward any arguments as to why the disclosure of the personal data is unlawful otherwise than as a result of breaching the first data protection principle.

32. When considering the conditions in Schedule 2, the Commissioner has also noted Lord Hope's comment in the Collie judgment that the conditions require careful treatment in the context of a request for information under FOISA, given that they were not designed to facilitate the release of information, but were designed to protect personal data from being processed in a way that might prejudice the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the data subject.

33. The Council considers that none of the conditions in Schedule 2 can be met. There are six conditions in Schedule 2, but only conditions 1 or 6(1) (set out in full in the Appendix) are likely to be relevant in the context of disclosing personal data under FOISA. Condition 1 could apply here if the employees had consented to their names and job titles being disclosed to Mr Cameron under FOISA, but the Council has advised the Commissioner that consent has not been given. This leaves condition 6(1).

34. Condition 6(1) of Schedule 2 to the DPA permits personal data to be processed (in this case, disclosed in response to Mr Cameron's information request), if the disclosure of the data is necessary for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued by the data controller or by the third party or parties to whom the data are disclosed, except where the processing is unwarranted in any particular case by reason of prejudice to the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the data subject (in this case, the Council employees).It is clear from the wording of this condition that each case will turn on its own facts and circumstances.

35. There are, therefore, a number of different tests which must be considered before condition 6(1) can be met. These are: Does Mr Cameron have a legitimate interest in obtaining the employees' personal data? If yes, is the disclosure necessary to achieve these legitimate aims? In other words, is the disclosure proportionate as a means and fairly balanced as to ends, or can Mr Cameron's legitimate interests be achieved by means which interfere less with the privacy of the employees in question? Even if the processing is necessary for Mr Cameron's legitimate purposes, would the disclosure nevertheless cause unwarranted prejudice to the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the employees? This will involve a balancing exercise between the legitimate interests of Mr Cameron and those of the employees. As noted by Lord Hope in the Collie judgment, there is no presumption in favour of the release of personal data under the general obligation laid down by FOISA. This highlights that only if the legitimate interests of Mr Cameron outweigh those of the employees will condition 6(1) permit the personal data to be disclosed. If the two are equally balanced, the Commissioner must find that the Council was correct to refuse to disclose the personal data to Mr Cameron.

37.As he did in the original decision, the Commissioner will address the start dates and terms of appointment and the names of the employees separately.

Start dates and terms of appointment
38. In line with the decision originally published by the Commissioner, he will consider, firstly, whether it is fair for the employees' start and end dates to be disclosed to Mr Cameron.(The Commissioner's decision on this point was not appealed to the Court of Session.)The Commissioner considered that the phrase "terms of appointment" was unclear and asked Mr Cameron to clarify what he had meant by this. He is satisfied that Mr Cameron's intention behind this particular request accords with that of the Council, in that the phrase means employment start and end dates.

39. In coming to a decision on this matter, the Commissioner has considered guidance issued by the (UK) Information Commissioner (who is responsible for enforcing the DPA throughout the UK) entitled "Freedom of Information: access to information about public authorities' employees".

40. In this guidance, the Information Commissioner sets out some general factors for public authorities to consider when deciding whether to release information identifying an employee, including whether the information is about an employee's professional or personal life. The Information Commissioner notes that the threshold for releasing professional information will generally be lower than that for releasing truly personal or sensitive information, e.g. information found in an employee's occupational health record.

41. The Commissioner agrees that personal data which is about the home or family life of an individual, personal finances, personal references or any disciplinary action taken in relation to that individual is likely to deserve protection. This is particularly so if the member of staff is junior or does not carry out a public facing role.

42. The Commissioner also considers that, in coming to a conclusion about what is – and is not – fair, account should be taken of matters such as the potential harm or distress that may be caused by the disclosure, whether the individual has objected to the disclosure (although this would not automatically make the disclosure unfair) and the reasonable expectations of the individual as to whether their personal data would be disclosed. 

43. Here, the Council has submitted that the employees in question would not have an expectation that information about their start (and, where relevant, end dates) would be made publicly available. The Commissioner accepts that this is the case.

44. While the employees would no doubt have an expectation that information about their employment start and end dates would be held and processed by the Council for the purposes of their personnel records, the Commissioner does not believe they would expect this information to be made publicly available, unless they themselves choose to make it so. This is not information which, in the Commissioner's view, the Council or any public authority would routinely disclose to the public and it is likely that if they did disclose this information it would be to another authority, such as the Inland Revenue, as a result of a legal requirement to provide this information. Although the information does relate to a person's employment, the Commissioner considers that it has more to do with the employees' personal as opposed to professional life. 

45. For these reasons, the Commissioner is satisfied that the release of this personal data would not be fair. In the circumstances, he is not required to go on to consider whether there any conditions in Schedule 2 can be met. Accordingly, he finds that disclosure of this personal data would breach the first data protection principle contained in the DPA and that the data is exempt from disclosure in terms of section 38(1)(b) of FOISA. 

Names and job titles of the employees
46. Mr Cameron also requested the names and job titles of the employees at the Centre. The Commissioner originally ordered names and job titles to be disclosed and this was the subject of the appeal to the Court of Session on the basis that the Commissioner had misdirected himself as to the interpretation of condition 6 of Schedule 2 to the DPA. The Commissioner therefore considers it appropriate to address condition 6 first, rather than the other aspects of the first data protection principle.

Does Mr Cameron have a legitimate interest?
47. In his submissions to the Commissioner, Mr Cameron set out why he considers he has a legitimate interest in the names and job titles of the employees being disclosed. Mr Cameron has concerns about the apparent way in which business is being done by the Centre and the Council in terms of the acquisition of equipment and the involvement of Council staff in that process. He considers that there a need to create public confidence in how public money is spent and in being reassured that it is being spent properly, and in line with the Council's own financial rules.

48. Mr Cameron therefore believes that it is not only he who has a legitimate interest in the disclosure of this information, but that there is also a wider legitimate interest in this information being disclosed. Mr Cameron believes that there is a legitimate interest in relation to the use of public funds by staff members at the Centre. He has also indicated that he believes that the case between the Corporate Officer of the House of Commons and the Information Commissioner and Leapman, Brooke and Thomas, which was heard by the Information Tribunal, supports his arguments.(This is addressed in more detail below.)

49. The Commissioner accepts that Mr Cameron, who is an Aberdeenshire Council tax payer, has a legitimate interest in the disclosure of the names and job titles of those persons employed at the Centre since its establishment, given his concerns about the running of the Centre, and about the relationship between the Centre and the Ski Club.(The Commissioner does not consider it necessary – or appropriate – to set out these concerns in any detail in this decision.)Furthermore, the Commissioner considers that Mr Cameron's legitimate interest also reflects the wider general legitimate interest in ensuring transparency and accountability on the part of public authorities, particularly with regard to the manner in which public funds are spent and whether Council policies and procedures are being followed and complied with. The Commissioner considers that the matters raised by Mr Cameron show a clear public interest in disclosure, rather than that of simple public curiosity as to the workings of the Council and the Centre.

50. The Tribunal case referred to my Mr Cameron looked at whether MPs' expenses should be disclosed in response to an information request under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.The Tribunal ordered the information to be disclosed and its decision was subsequently appealed to the (English) High Court. The High Court accepted that the public interest factors which had been brought to the Tribunal's attention, including concerns about transparency, accountability and value for money were legitimate interests. The Commissioner considers that the same can be said in Mr Cameron's case. However, the Tribunal also advised that "While it is proper to recognise the public interest in disclosure of information as being relevant under condition 6, we think that it is important not to lose sight of the principle object of the DPA, which is to protect personal data and allow it to be processed only in defined circumstances. The first part of condition 6 can only be satisfied where the disclosure is necessary for the purposes identified". This leads on to the second test for condition 6.

Is the disclosure necessary to achieve these legitimate aims?
51. The Commissioner must now go on to consider whether the disclosure of the employees' names and job titles is necessary to achieve these legitimate aims. As mentioned above, it is apparent from Mr Cameron's submissions that he is concerned about the running of the Centre and whether Council policies relating to employment and procurement are being complied with.The Commissioner understands why Mr Cameron is of the view that he needs this information to achieve his legitimate interests, but, having reconsidered this point in some detail, has come to the conclusion that these legitimate interests can be satisfied otherwise than through the disclosure of the employees' names and job titles under FOISA.

52. The Commissioner understands that the main reason Mr Cameron wants this information is to allow him to make a report or complaint to an appropriate body. However, the Commissioner is not satisfied that the disclosure of the information under FOISA is necessary to allow him to make such a report or complaint, on the basis that the appropriate body would be able to take any necessary steps including, if it considered it appropriate, identifying the relevant individuals.

53. In coming to this conclusion, the Commissioner has taken account of the comments made in the Information Tribunal/High Court case referred to in paragraph 50 above. In its decision, having been satisfied that the matters raised in the case did constitute a legitimate interest, the Information Tribunal decided, given their findings of fact concerning the inadequacies of the Parliamentary systems for claims and payment of expenses over a particular timescale, that disclosure of the information was necessary to meet the legitimate interest. The Tribunal also concluded that these objectives could not be met by means that interfere less with the privacy of the MPs personal data, but the High Court recognised that if the arrangement for oversight and control in relation to MPs' expenses were to change, then this might lead to a different conclusion. In considering Mr Cameron's case, however, the Commissioner has concluded that his legitimate interests can be met without the need for the disclosure of the employee's names and job titles, and that it is not proportionate to release this information given that his legitimate interests can be achieved by means which interfere less with the privacy of the employees. 

54. As the Commissioner is satisfied that Mr Cameron's legitimate interests can be fulfilled otherwise than by disclosure of the employees names and job titles, he will not go on to consider whether disclosure of the information would cause unwarranted prejudice to the rights and freedoms or legitimate interests of the employees.

55. The Commissioner is therefore satisfied that condition 6(1) of Schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act would not be fulfilled by release of the names and job titles of the staff employed at the Centre since its establishment. As a result, the Commissioner finds that disclosure of the personal data would breach the first data protection principle and that the information is therefore exempt under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA.

DECISION
The Commissioner finds that Aberdeenshire Council (the Council) complied with Part 1 of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) in responding to the information request made by Mr Cameron. 

The Commissioner is satisfied that the disclosure of the employees' start and end employment dates, together with their names and job titles, would breach the first data protection principle and that the information is therefore exempt under section 38(1)(b) of FOISA. 

Appeal
Should either Mr Cameron or the Council wish to appeal against this decision, there is an appeal to the Court of Session on a point of law only. Any such appeal must be made within 42 days after the date of intimation of this decision notice.

Kevin Dunion
Scottish Information Commissioner
30 March 2009
Analysis of Decision 084/2006...

Decision Notice – Decision 084/2006 Mr Ian Cameron and Aberdeenshire Council

Ref No: 200600082

Decision Date: 30 March 2009
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/applicationsanddecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp 

Taking 1,276 days from start to finish, Decision 084/2006 is the longest running case to date in the history of the Scottish Information Commission, since the inception of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA) on 1st January 2005. 

KEY EXTRACT

“49. The Commissioner accepts that Mr Cameron, who is an Aberdeenshire Council tax payer, has a legitimate interest in the disclosure of the names and job titles of those persons employed at the Centre since its establishment, given his concerns about the running of the Centre, and about the relationship between the Centre and the Ski Club. (The Commissioner does not consider it necessary – or appropriate – to set out these concerns in any detail in this decision.) Furthermore, The Commissioner considers that Mr Cameron’s legitimate interest also reflects the wider general legitimate interest in ensuring transparency and accountability on the part of public authorities, particularly with regard to the manner in which public funds are spent and whether Council policies and procedures are being followed and complied with. The Commissioner considers that the matters raised by Mr Cameron show a clear public interest in disclosure, rather than that of simple public curiosity as to the workings of the Council and the Centre.”

COMMENT – IAN CAMERON

Decision 084/2006 has been a long, drawn out case frustrated by due process. I am very disappointed that the Scottish Information Commissioner Kevin Dunion (the Commissioner), despite confirming my legitimate interest to receive the information, has chosen not to order Aberdeenshire Council to comply with its release. I have appreciated that this is due primarily to the nature of the case, which is about significant and systemic bias, corruption, and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts by Council employees for personal gain with indications of criminal fraud and tax fraud. Kevin Dunion will not be drawn into it.

I have examined the decision and have made the following preliminary comments below:

Submissions from the Council…

Paragraph 7. Having found originally in my favour, Aberdeenshire Council was ordered to release the names of staff working at Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre (HN&OC) on 19th May 2006. 

At considerable cost to the tax payer, Aberdeenshire Council engaged advocates Biggart Baillie in Edinburgh to defend the release of the information at the Court of Session, all the while advertising that same information on HN&OC’s website.

While already advertising this information, I believe the defence of its release through a FOI request has proven that Aberdeenshire Council are a secretive organisation, failing to recognise the purpose of FOISA legislation, which is to encourage accountability, transparency and restoration of public confidence.
Paragraph 12. 

Aberdeenshire Council advised the Commissioner that staff had offered to meet with me to discuss any concerns that I had, but I had not taken up any such invitation.

FOISA protocol at the time, stated that when a member of the public makes a request for information, they do not have to give an explanation why they want that information. It is for the public body in question to provide an answer if the information is held.

Aberdeenshire Council were attempting to breach my statutory rights by suggesting that a meeting take place and failed to recognise FOISA legislation. By mentioning this in their submission had the further effect of discrediting my good character.

Paragraph 13.

I had never alleged any impropriety at this stage of the process I was still collecting information. I had submitted reasons as to why I had legitimate interest to receive names of staff and it was the office of the Scottish Information Commission (OSIC), that suggested there was impropriety to Aberdeenshire Council.

Aberdeenshire Council continue to undermine my credibility by suggesting any claim I may have made, had no substance… but how could they know it has no substance if they don’t know what the claim is?

Paragraph 14.

While exercising my statutory rights under FOISA, I have found myself being victimised by Aberdeenshire Council in their submissions to the OSIC. Claiming in paragraph 14, that I was using FOISA to perpetrate a ‘long standing’ grievance against Aberdeenshire Council and against one member of staff in particular.

This has had the effect of causing me some considerable personal distress. This act of defamation has been used by Aberdeenshire Council maliciously to discredit my good character as well as any evidence that I may have supplied in my submissions to OSIC.

Submissions from Mr Cameron…

Paragraph 17.

OSIC correctly and precisely reveal that I have made very detailed submissions as to why I considered I had legitimate interest in the information. Also that my interests reflect those of the general public in ensuring public funds are spent appropriately and that Council procedures are being complied with.

Does Mr Cameron have legitimate interest…

Paragraphs 47. to 50.

Kevin Dunion correctly recognises in these paragraphs from my submissions, that there are significant breaches in procurement rules with the involvement of Council staff in that process. Kevin Dunion also considers the matters raised by me show a clear public interest in disclosure rather than a simple public curiosity as to the workings of the HN&OC.

The Commissioner also considered that my legitimate interest also reflects the wider general legitimate interest in ensuring transparency and accountability on the part of public authorities, particularly with regard to the manner in which public funds are spent and whether Council policies and procedures are being followed and complied with.
SUMMARY & BACKGROUND TO DECISION 084/2006

This case began with the uncovering of the manipulation of Big Lottery grants for personal gain and developed into the exposure of a culture of corruption, which is systemic within Aberdeenshire Council by its employees crossing several different departments up to and including the former Chief Executive Alan Campbell CBE.

This investigation into the procurement of equipment has employed the efficient and effective use of the FOISA and has also uncovered bias, corruption and manipulation of Aberdeenshire Council contracts for personal gain by employees within Aberdeenshire Council.

In the process, this investigation has also exposed the failure of the Big Lottery and Aberdeenshire Council to adhere to their own internal regulations and the regulations dictated to them by law on their modus operandi... and demonstrates that the FOISA is failing to achieve accountability and transparency within these public bodies as it was originally intended to do so. 

A completed report has called for the initiation of an 'Independent Investigation'  detailing a requirement for a submission to the Procurator Fiscal to determine if there has been any 'Criminality' in the misappropriation of public funds and whether it would be appropriate for separate criminal proceedings to be initiated in terms of public justice. 

During the course of this investigation, Aberdeenshire Council have remained highly secretive, using every means possible to withhold information, issuing a Section 14 Vexatious notice (which was overturned). They challenged the original 084/2006 Decision at the Court of Session at considerable cost to the tax payer claiming it would offend Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights, all this while Aberdeenshire Council had the information (the staff names in question), already published on the Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centres Website.

A detail of failure in Council policies regarding terms of employment, procurement, anti-fraud and corruption, Data Protection Act (1998) processing have highlighted a complete loss in public confidence not only in Aberdeenshire Council but also Audit Scotland, charged with enforcing standards within Scottish Local Authorities.

“Mr Campbell said there have been high points in his career, not least a glowing Best Value Report from Audit Scotland in June 2008, which praised Aberdeenshire’s “sound financial control” and good working relationships between officers and councillors.” (ref: Council chief reflects on career by Gillian Bell Aberdeen Press & Journal 11 Dec 08)

What has been highlighted in this report is the failure of the FOISA. 
The office of the Scottish Information Commission is not interested in whether content of answers are truthful, only that answers have been given. Therefore, as is demonstrated by the former Chief Executive of Aberdeenshire Council, public bodies will continue to mislead even when they are under a Section 50(1)(a) notice where they could be held in contempt of the Court of Session with no recourse coming from the Scottish Information Commission.

What also has been determined is the failure of FOISA to be available to all members of the general public. When a decision is finalised, a challenge/appeal can only be made on point of Law only at the Court of Session. Due to the significant cost, this makes the Law unavailable to all but a few wealthy individuals.

This case is about serious breaches in public trust and the manipulation of significant sums of public money for personal gain by Council employees, with indications of criminal fraud and tax fraud. Since so many Senior Aberdeenshire Council officials are involved in the attempt at a cover up, this investigation considers that the manipulation of public funds and working practices of employees uncovered at Aberdeenshire Council’s Huntly Nordic & Outdoor Centre may only be the tip of the Iceberg…

A full detail of the investigation can be viewed here…

www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info 

08 Apr 09 Ian to Margaret Keyse... Decision 084/2006... Dear Ms Keyse, Decision 084/2006 was released onto OSIC's website on Monday 6th April 2009. Although I noted it didn't feature in the recent Decisions webpage due to the format of the page. Since this case has been the longest running case in the history of OSIC, can I ask if you have any intentions to issue a press release about it? Although Kevin Dunion found in my favour, he chose not to require Aberdeenshire Council to release the information, which must be an unusual decision to make. With thanks Ian Cameron
09 Apr 09 Margaret Keyse to Ian... Decision 084/2006... Dear Mr Cameron, Thank you for your email. The decision did not feature on the front page of our decisions database because it retained the original decision number.  I will raise this matter with our Policy and Information Team who run the website to see if they have any suggestions about how similar decisions in the future could be given more prominence. We do not have any plans to issue a press release about the case.  It’s very rare for us to issue a press release when a decision is issued – we’ve issued almost 800 decisions but on looking through the list of press releases on our website http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/home/News/News_Releases.asp I think we’ve only issued six press releases to publicise a decision being issued. I think I should make it clear that the Commissioner did not find in your favour.  While he recognised that you had a legitimate interest in having the information, he did not consider that disclosure was necessary for you to fulfil that legitimate interest.  As a result, condition 6 of schedule 2 of the Data Protection Act did not permit the information to be disclosed to you. Kind regards Margaret Keyse Head of Enforcement
21 Apr 09 Telephone conversation with DCI Jerry Cronin regarding release of Decision 084/2006 etc
04 Jan 10 Letter from Ian to DCI Jerry Cronin cc Colin McKerracher, Chief Constable Grampian Police and MS Anne Currie, Area Procurator Fiscal, Grampian... Dear Sir, On 22nd August 2008, I came in to Grampian Police Force Headquarters speak to yourself and DCI Rhona Grimmer directly after writing the attached letter to the Chief Constable Colin McKerracher and the Procurator Fiscal (PF) Mrs A Currie. Decision 084/2006 was released on 30th March 2009 concluding directly with my concerns regarding significant irregularity within Aberdeenshire Council. Incidentally, decision 084/2006 is the longest running case ever dealt with from start to finish in the short history of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 taking 1,276 days to conclusion.
http://www.itspublicknowledge.info/ApplicationsandDecisions/Decisions/2006/200600082.asp
I contacted you and detailed that I’d completed an analysis of that decision and that I was preparing a Press Release. You made a request for me not to do that... and I agreed. You stated on the phone that 2 meetings had taken place with the Procurator Fiscal and you were in the process of detailing a final submission to the PF’s Office as a result. From the date of this letter, 500 days exactly have now past since we met on 22nd August 2008. Being very concerned about the abuse of Tax Payers money by Council staff members and the resulting culture of systemic corruption that has been exposed within Aberdeenshire Council through all departments in relation to this case, I am now writing to request an update regarding what’s currently happening? For your interest, I have attached an analysis of Decision 084/2006. This decision by the Scottish Information Commissioner Kevin Dunion, has direct relevance and clearly underlines my concerns. Thank you for taking the time to read this letter and the attachments… I look forward to hearing from you. Yours Sincerely Ian Cameron

14 Jan 10 Letter from MS Anne Currie, Area Procurator Fiscal, Grampian to Ian... Our Ref:A/B/1a/AMBC/LR... Dear Mr Cameron, I refer to your letter of 4 January 2010 and would advise that this matter has been carefully investigated by Grampian Police and presented to myself. I will revert to you in the very near future with the decision regarding the outcome of that investigation. Yours sincerely Anne M B Currie
To view current updates go to www.corruptioninaberdeenshire.info ... Navigate to “Discussion”
This chronological discussion will be updated at regular intervals as the Investigation continues to develop
Ian Cameron
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